
           
FINAL AGENDA

 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
TUESDAY
NOVEMBER 1, 2016

  COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
 

4:00 P.M. MEETING
 

Individual Items on the 4:00 p.m. meeting agenda may be postponed to the 6:00 p.m.
meeting.

             
1. CALL TO ORDER

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the
City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.
  
MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Work Session of October 11, 2016;
Regular Meeting of October 18, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of October
25, 2016.

 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be



called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times throughout
the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit your remarks
to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the
Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may appoint a
representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not
be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment,
appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public
officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS
 

A.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Patrick Flanigan, "Carmels
Flagstaff", 116 S. San Francisco St., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

B.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Paul Noir, "Grand Canyon
Cafe", 110 E. Route 66, Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

C.   Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Brent Schepper, "Fratelli
Pizza", 1850 N. Fort Valley Rd., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing,

staff recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

None
 



10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Intergovernmental Agreement between City of
Flagstaff and Northern Arizona University for the Assistant Director for Off-Campus Life and
Community Liaison Programs/ Neighborhood Liaison Position.   

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Flagstaff and Northern

Arizona University for Neighborhood Liaison Programming.
 

B.   Consideration and Approval of Purchase: Two (2) Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles.
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the purchase of two (2) 2017 Ford Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles from

Peoria Ford, who successfully completed the IFB process, at a total price of $55,390.48.
 

C.   Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract: Purchase to conduct
maintenance/rebuild of the Police Department Bomb Robot

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the sole source purchase of conducting maintenance/rebuild of Police

Department Bomb Robot through Remotec, Inc. in the amount of $59,521.02
 

D.   Consideration and Approval of Write-Offs: Delinquent and uncollectable Transaction
Privilege (Sales) Tax accounts for Fiscal Year 2016. (2016 Transaction Privilege (Sales)
Tax Account Write-offs)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the write-off of delinquent and uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax

accounts in the amount of $191,163.45.
 

E.   Consideration and Approval of Interagency Agreement:  Camp Navajo Prescribed
Wildland Fire Project 

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the Camp Navajo Prescribed Wildland Fire Project agreement, permitting City of

Flagstaff Fire Dept management of prescribed fire operations on Camp Navajo on a full
cost-recovery basis for any efforts undertaken.  

 



             
F.   Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Intergovernmental Agreement - Wildfire Crew

Operability.
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement, Wildfire Crew Operability - with:

1) Summit Fire And Medical District, and
2) Ponderosa Fire District

 

G.   Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract:  Library Radio Frequency
Identification (RFID) Project; Contract Number 1506849 with Tech Logic Corporation.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Approve the purchase agreement with Tech Logic Corporation for a library RFID

system.
 

H.   Consideration and Approval of Final Plat:  Request from True Life Communities PCAZ,
for the subdivision of approximately 19.20 acres into 32-single-family residential lots
located at 2705 E. Telluride Drive, within the Single-Family Residential (R1) Zone.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  Staff recommends the City Council approve the final plat and authorize the Mayor to

sign both the plat and City/Subdivider Agreement when notified by staff that all
documents are ready for recording

 

RECESS 

6:00 P.M. MEETING

RECONVENE
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS

COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA



 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Timber Sky
 

i.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No.  2016-38: A
public hearing, consideration and adoption of an Ordinance of the City Council of the City
of Flagstaff, extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City pursuant to the
provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona Revised Statutes, by annexing approximately
112.90 acres of land located at 3425 West Route 66, which certain land is contiguous to
the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff, and establishing city zoning for said
land as Rural Residential (RR); providing for severability, authority for clerical corrections,
and establishing an effective date.  (Timber Sky Annexation)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the November 1, 2016 Council Meeting

1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the November 15, 2016 Council Meeting
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-38

 

ii.   Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-39: 
Public hearing, consideration and adoption of an ordinance of the City Council of the City
of Flagstaff amending the Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 197.58 acres of
real property generally located at 3425 West Route 66 from the Rural Residential (RR)
zone to the Single-family Residential (R1) zone for 100.48 acres, the Medium
Density Residential (MR) zone for 34.6 acres, the High Density Residential (HR) zone for
38.97 acres, the Commercial Services (CS) zone for 10.02 acres and the Public Open
Space (POS) zone for 13.51 acres with conditions, and addition the Resource
Preservation Overlay (RPO) zone to 107.73 acres (APN 112-01-021) with conditions;
providing for severability, and establishing an effective date.  (Timber Sky Zoning Map
Amendment)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the November 1, 2016 Council Meeting

1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title only for the first time (if approved
above)
At the November 15, 2016 Council Meeting
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title for the final time



5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-39

 

15. REGULAR AGENDA
 

A.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-40:  An ordinance of the
Flagstaff City Council authorizing the acquisition of certain real property along the east side
of Fourth Street for public right-of-way and approving Real Estate Purchase and Sale
Contracts.  (Acquisition of public right-of-way for Fourth Street sidewalks)

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  At the November 1, 2016, Council Meeting:

1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only for the first time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only (if approved above)
At the November 15, 2016, Council Meeting:
3) Read Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only for the final time
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only (if approved above)
5) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-40

 

B.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-36: A resolution of the
Flagstaff City Council, Coconino County, Arizona, opposing certain portions of the National
Park Service proposed Backcountry Management Plan which would reduce the number of
use authorizations issued to local entities which are an important asset to the local tourism
industry.

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2016-36 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-36 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-36

 

C.   Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-37: A resolution of the
Flagstaff City Council supporting the City joining with other entities to form the Northern
Arizona Military Advocacy Council .

 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION:
  1) Read Resolution No. 2016-37 by title only

2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-37 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-37

 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

A.   Discussion:  Street Lighting to Enhance Dark Skies (SLEDS) Status Update
 

B.   Review: Regulations to Park Trailers, RVs and Boats.
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS



17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item will
be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE
AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 

CERTIFICATE OF POSTING OF NOTICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that a copy of the foregoing notice was duly posted at Flagstaff City Hall on ________, at
_________ a.m./p.m. in accordance with the statement filed by the City Council with the City Clerk.

Dated this _____ day of _________________, 2016.
 

____________________________________
Elizabeth A. Burke, MMC, City Clerk                                 



  4. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 10/27/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE
Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Work Session of October 11, 2016; Regular
Meeting of October 18, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of October 25, 2016.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Amend/approve the minutes of the City Council Work Session of October 11, 2016; Regular
Meeting of October 18, 2016; and Special Meeting (Executive Session) of October 25, 2016.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Minutes of City Council meetings are a requirement of Arizona Revised Statutes and, additionally,
provide a method of informing the public of discussions and actions being taken by the City Council.

INFORMATION:
COUNCIL GOAL

Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents,
neighborhoods and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and
development

8.

Attachments:  10.11.2016.CCWS.Minutes
10.18.2016.CCRM.Minutes
10.25.2016.CCSMES.Minutes



 WORK SESSION
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN AVENUE

6:00 P.M.
 

WORK SESSION
 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Nabours called the Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held October 11, 2016, to
order at 6:01 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to
the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive
session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s
attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S.
§38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. Pledge of Allegiance

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance.
 

 

3. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

ABSENT:

NONE

 

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

4. Preliminary Review of Draft Agenda for the October 18, 2016, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items may be taken under “Review of Draft Agenda Items”
later in the meeting, at the discretion of the Mayor. Citizens wishing to speak on agenda items
not specifically called out by the City Council for discussion under the second Review section
may submit a speaker card for their items of interest to the recording clerk. 

 
 

  



  Councilmember Overton stated that item 10-D is new technology and suggested that a more in
depth understanding in the staff summary would be helpful. Mayor Nabours also suggested a
sample from another area. Economic Vitality Director Heidi Hansen stated that staff is
planning on showing a sample video in addition to a PowerPoint presentation. Vice Mayor
Barotz asked if the vendor would be present. Ms. Hansen stated that the vendor will not be
able to attend physically, but she could try to make arrangements to have them available by
phone.

Mr. Copley stated that Consent Item 9-A will be moved to the Routine Section of the agenda
so a presentation can be made by staff.

 

5. Public Participation 

Public Participation enables the public to address the council about items that are not on the
prepared agenda. Public Participation appears on the agenda twice, at the beginning and at the
end of the work session. You may speak at one or the other, but not both. Anyone wishing to
comment at the meeting is asked to fill out a speaker card and submit it to the recording clerk.
When the item comes up on the agenda, your name will be called. You may address the
Council up to three times throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public
Participation. Please limit your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone to have an
opportunity to speak. At the discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting
and wishing to speak may appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes
to speak.

 
  Library Director Heidi Holland announced that beginning October 16, 2016, the downtown

library will be open on Sundays from 10:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. She added that it is the first time
the downtown library has been open on Sundays in a little over 13 years.

 

6. Discussion on policy direction for a possible of scope of work regarding a Revenue and
Rate Analysis for the Utilities Reclaimed Water Enterprise Fund.

  

 
  Utilities Engineering Manager Ryan Roberts provided a PowerPoint presentation that covered

the following:

OBJECTIVES OF TONIGHT’S DISCUSSION
BEFORE COUNCIL ANSWERS THE QUESTIONS
IF COUNCIL SAYS NO TO ANY CHANGE (OPTION 1)
EXISTING RECLAIMED WATER CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM
IF COUNCIL SAYS YES TO A CHANGE (OPTION 2)
PROPOSED NEW RECLAIMED WATER CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS
IF COUNCIL SAYS YES TO A CHANGE (OPTION 3)

Utilities Director Brad Hill continued the presentation.

ADVANCED TREATMENT OF RECLAIMED WATER FEASIBILITY STUDY
ADVANCED TREATMENT PILOT PROJECT
IF COUNCIL SAYS YES TO A CHANGE (OPTION 4)
SUMMARY

Mayor Nabours asked if the Water Commission reviewed and offered a recommendation on
the options. Mr. Roberts explained that the Water Commission looked at Option 1 and
Option 2; they considered no rate adjustment, a 3% rate adjustment and a 7% rate

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           2 



adjustment. The recommendation from the Commission was to go with the 3% annual
increase over five years and adopt the higher Capital Improvement Program (CIP).

Councilmember Overton stated that he would like to know at what point the City can consider
creating a more robust system. He asked if there is a wait list of large customers wanting
access to reclaimed water. Mr. Roberts indicated that there are not many large customers
waiting to have access to reclaimed water; there are several small residential and retail
customers waiting for access. He indicated that Warner’s Nursery approached the City about
reclaimed water. To service that area it would require a main extension along Butler and this is
something that is not an option financially for Warner’s. The capital projects that have been
identified will help add additional capacity and customers to the system. Councilmember
Overton indicated that he would like to vet out the CIP to see how robust the system can
become and strategically look at CIP in areas that match the land use and the ability of people
to take advantage of the system.

Mayor Nabours asked if the CIP list was capped at three due to the financial constraints and if
there are other projects that were kept off the list. Mr. Roberts stated that the list did stop at
three because of financial limitations; the CIP is broken into three phases with these three
being Phase 1. Cost is a big factor and they work to stay within the three percent increase.

Councilmember Putzova stated that she feels that the way the system is set up is problematic
and until that is resolved the rate discussion is premature. The reclaimed water system does
not count any dollar amount that is spent on treating the water and the system starts only after
the water is treated; wastewater customers pay for all the treatment of the reclaimed water.
Mr. Hill stated that she is correct and offered that the Arizona Department of Environmental
Quality, independent of if a City has reclaimed water users or not, requires wastewater
customers to pay for treating the water to a certain standard. Councilmember Putzova offered
that reclaimed water customers benefit from that treatment and their rates are kept artificially
low because the wastewater customers subsidize those rates. She is suggesting that it is time
to adjust the cost of water and look at what is a fair rate. The direction should be to look at how
the City attributes the cost of reclaimed water to different systems and how that is separated.
The rates should then be structured to incentivize conservation. Mr. Hill indicated that this
discussion and direction is something that can be considered in Option 4.

Mayor Nabours offered that his preference is Option 2 with the 3% annual increase.

Councilmember Overton offered that it is important to continue to advocate balance. In the
study he would like to know the community’s level of acceptance of a rate and determine at
what point the reclaimed user says that it is not worth it and returns to just using potable water.

Vice Mayor Barotz indicated that she is not prepared to make a decision and needs more
numbers and context to understand what the options mean. She did offer that she is not
interested in Option 1.

Councilmember Brewster asked what the end goal is to achieve water quality goals beyond
regulatory requirements. Mr. Hill offered that this question has been one of the struggles with
the communities that go down the path of Option 3 because there are no regulatory
requirements or guidelines. When a community goes through a feasibility study they have to
define the quality goals. Once the goals are established then they match the treatment with the
goals and look at the cost of implementing those treatment plans.

Councilmember Evans offered that she is not interested in Option 1 or Option 2. She would be
interested in Option 4 beginning with getting more information. Reclaimed water is a byproduct

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           3 



of wastewater and it has value; she would like to understand what that value is. The City has
charged less for this commodity to incentivize its use but it is important to know what it is
worth to better understand the corresponding rates. This information would help to determine
where and at what point the City would shift the cost to reclaimed users. The policy discussion
cannot happen until the value or cost is determined.

Councilmember Overton stated that he is not interested in looking at taking elements of the
wastewater treatment process and putting it into the reclaimed side because the reclaim
customer is not going to pay 100% of the treatment process because it would go beyond the
potable pricing. The CIP programs needs more attention and can be more robust, there needs
to be discussion on how the system works and what it does for availability and customer
reliability. He is not convinced that 3% is the perfect number but would not move that number
just to offset wastewater functions into the reclaimed water system. The same would apply to
the advanced treatment process; he does not want to spend money on a study to indicate that
something is a good system but the community cannot bear the cost burden.

Vice Mayor Barotz offered that she is not suggesting that 100% of the cost be shifted to the
reclaimed system but rather a portion; the users should bear some of the burden.

Councilmember Oravits asked what the cost is to produce the reclaimed water and the cost at
which it is sold. Mr. Hill stated that it is $1.62 per thousand to produce and it is sold anywhere
from $1.23 per thousand to $3.87 per thousand depending on customer class.

After further discussion, the direction of Council was for staff to provide further information on
the CIP including a comprehensive list for consideration and provide sub-options for Option 4.
Mr. Copley added that staff will be coming back to Council with a scoping tool that will provide
various options to include in a request for further study by a consultant.

A break was held from 7:11 p.m. through 7:20 p.m.   
 

7. Implementation of Comprehensive Parking Management.   

 
  Interim Parking Manager Karl Eberhard provided an electronic presentation that covered the

following:

Vice Mayor Barotz left the meeting at 7:23 p.m.

IMPLEMENTATION OF COMPREHENSIVE PARKING MANAGEMENT
ON-STREET PARKING MAP
CORE TENETS
GENERAL GUIDELINES
PROGRAM ROLL-OUT
INTRODUCTORY PERIOD
PARKING STEERING COMMITTEE
DEMAND REDUCTION
ECOPASS
DOWNTOWN RESIDENT PERMIT PARKING
EMPLOYEE/BUSINESS OWNER PERMIT PARKING (E PERMITS)
FACILITY SPECIFIC PERMIT PARKING (F PERMITS)
RESIDENTIAL PERMIT PARKING (R PERMITS AND G PERMITS)

Councilmember Putzova asked how the residential petition process works. Mr. Eberhard
indicated that the permitting is done on a block by block basis; each block would come in and

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           4 



indicated that the permitting is done on a block by block basis; each block would come in and
ask for parking control. There will be one permit issued for each water meter and Residential
Permit holders can obtain guest permits for the restricted spaces as well.

Mr. Eberhard continued the presentation.

PAY-TO-PARK
METER EXEMPTION PERMIT
TIME-LIMITED PARKING
COMPLIANCE AND COLLECTIONS
ASSETS
PARKING OFFICE

Councilmember Oravits asked how many staff are anticipated for the parking program.
Mr. Eberhard stated that in the Concept Plan there would be two to three employees and
through the Council budgeting process the intent is to add one employee for every 300
spaces.

Mr. Eberhard continued the presentation.

FINANCIAL
METER SCHEDULE

Councilmember Oravits offered concern about employees paying to park all day; if this is the
case there will be no alleviation of the problem. Mr. Eberhard offered that it was an issue that
was considered and discussed; the general feeling was that there are more affordable
opportunities available for employees and those will entice employees to save some money
and park in the areas available for them. If this activity is occurring staff is able to make
adjustments to the plan to discourage the behavior.

Mr. Eberhard continued the presentation.

NECESSARY ACTION ITEMS
FUTURE ACTION ITEMS
NO ACTION ITEMS
ALTERNATE IMPLEMENTATION STRATEGY

Council was not in favor of automatically opting in areas; however, it was suggested that the
Parking Manager have some discretion to make the decision based upon the efforts of the
residents to fulfill the requirements. It was also suggested that when dealing with absent
landlords that the signature threshold be lowered or if there is a certain percentage of
residents that want the zone it can be opted in with notification to the owners and
non-responses being considered a silent agreement. Mr. Eberhard indicated that he will work
with the Legal Department to understand any legal implications of the suggestions and further
discussion by Council can be had.

Mayor Nabours asked the Director of the Flagstaff Downtown Business Alliance (DBA) Terry
Medeksza if the DBA is on board with the plan. Ms. Medeksza stated that the DBA has been
supportive of all of the elements in this plan. She offered two considerations going forward; the
extensive outreach between now and when the kiosks go in and the option for the resident
permit in the southside has not been vetted yet with the downtown area and they will need to
discuss further.

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           5 



Councilmember Putzova asked the cost comparison to the parking permits on campus.
Mr. Eberhard explained that the employee parking permit is $45 per month which is slightly
higher than parking on campus.

Mr. Eberhard offered that the Parking Plan will be further discussed at next week's Council
meeting. He requested input from Council on the issue of hooding fees at that time.

 

8. Review of Draft Agenda Items for the October 18, 2016, City Council Meeting.*
 
* Public comment on draft agenda items will be taken at this time, at the discretion of the Mayor.

None
 

9. Public Participation

None
 

10. Informational Items To/From Mayor, Council, and City Manager, and future agenda item
requests.

 
  Councilmember Evans requested a stay on enforcement of the RV parking issue until the

Council discussion can take place. Mr. Copley stated that staff is currently sending out
notification letters but not taking action at this point. Mr. Solomon stated that he will provide a
legal memo to the Council regarding the issue.

Mr. Copley offered a reminder that the Council orientation tour leaves City Hall at 9:00 a.m. on
October 11, 2016. Additionally on Friday, October 14, 2016, at 5:00 p.m. City employees will
be marching with the NAU band from City Hall to Heritage Square as a pep rally for
Homecoming; Council is invited to participate if they would like.

Mr. Copley also reported that staff is preparing for Tequila Sunrise this weekend. There will be
24 Police Officers, 4 Liquor Control Agents and 1 State Officer in attendance. After the event,
staff will send a CCR to Council on the efforts of staff and the associated costs. The City has
been working with downtown and hope to have several port-a-potties and other amenities for
people to use.

Neighborhood Liaison Karissa Morgan has worked with approximately 40 student volunteers
to distribute door hangers in the southside neighborhood that talk about being a good
neighbor and the do's and don’ts when hosting social events.

Lastly, City staff continues to work collaboratively with the community planning team that is
working to coordinate and facilitate town halls on Native American issues; the first town hall is
scheduled for November 16, 2016, the second will be November 30, 2016 and then will
resume after the first of the year.

Mayor Nabours stated that the NAU Homecoming Parade on campus at 1:00 p.m. on
Saturday, October 15, 2016.

 

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           6 



           

11. Adjournment

The Work Session of the Flagstaff City Council held October 11, 2016, adjourned
at 8:47 p.m.

 

 
  

_______________________________
MAYOR

ATTEST:
 

 

 

_________________________________
CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff City Council Work Session October 11, 2016                           7 



CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 18, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M. AND 6:00 P.M.
   
 

MINUTES
 

               

1. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Nabours called the Regular Meeting of the Flagstaff City Council of October 18, 2016, to
order at 4:00 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and to the
general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into executive session,
which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with the City’s attorneys for legal
advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 

2. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.
  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Sterling Solomon.

ABSENT:

NONE        

     

 

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE AND MISSION STATEMENT

The audience and City Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance and Mayor Nabours read the
Mission Statement of the City of Flagstaff.

MISSION STATEMENT

The mission of the City of Flagstaff is to protect and enhance the quality of life of its citizens.
 

  



           

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Minutes:  City Council Special Meeting (Executive Session)
of October 4, 2016; the Regular Meeting of October 4, 2016; and the Special Meeting
(Executive Session) of October 11, 2016.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to

approve the minutes of the City Council Special Meeting (Executive Session) of October 4,
2016; the Regular Meeting of October 4, 2016; and the Special Meeting (Executive Session)
of October 11, 2016. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

5. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Public Participation enables the public to address the Council about an item that is not on the
agenda. Comments relating to items that are on the agenda will be taken at the time that the
item is discussed. If you wish to address the Council at tonight's meeting, please complete a
comment card and submit it to the recording clerk as soon as possible. Your name will be
called when it is your turn to speak. You may address the Council up to three times
throughout the meeting, including comments made during Public Participation. Please limit
your remarks to three minutes per item to allow everyone an opportunity to speak. At the
discretion of the Chair, ten or more persons present at the meeting and wishing to speak may
appoint a representative who may have no more than fifteen minutes to speak. 

None
 

6. PROCLAMATIONS AND RECOGNITIONS

None 
 

7. APPOINTMENTS

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council and
to the general public that the City Council may vote to go into executive session, which will not
be open to the public, for the purpose of discussing or considering employment, assignment,
appointment, promotion, demotion, dismissal, salaries, disciplining or resignation of a public
officer, appointee, or employee of any public body...., pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(1).

 

A. Consideration of Appointments: Sustainability Commission   

 
  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to

reappoint Amelia Blake to the Sustainability Commission, with a term to expire October 2019. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Karla Brewster, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to reappoint

Eli Chamberlain to the Sustainability Commission, with a term to expire October 2019. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          2 



  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Coral Evans to
appoint Amanda Ulmer to the Sustainability Commission, with a term to expire October 2019. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

8. LIQUOR LICENSE PUBLIC HEARINGS

None
 

9. CONSENT ITEMS

All matters under Consent Agenda are considered by the City Council to be routine and will be
enacted by one motion approving the recommendations listed on the agenda. Unless
otherwise indicated, expenditures approved by Council are budgeted items.

 

A. Consideration and Approval of Contract:  USGS facility Building #6, General Services
Administration Lease No 5AZ0152.  

  

 
  Real Estate Manager Charity Lee said that the City submitted a proposal to the GSA and

they accepted it. It was a new agreement for 20 years, 10 years firm.

Brief discussion was held on the meaning of the term "20 years, 10 years firm." It was noted
that the rate was based on a 20-year term lease. At the end of the ten years, the lease rate
will not change, but operating costs would be adjusted. The GSA would have the option to
walk away at the end of ten years; the City would not.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to accept the
lease agreement by the General Services Administration to enter into a new lease for 20 years
(10 years firm term) for Building #6 at the USGS campus. Lease term commencing on August
 , 2017. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

10. ROUTINE ITEMS
 

A. Consideration and Approval of Cooperative Agreement:  Payroll Time Entry Software and
Implementation Services with Kronos Incorporated.

  

 
  Finance Director Brandi Suda gave a brief PowerPoint presentation which addressed:

CONTRACT FOR PAYROLL TIME ENTRY SOFTWARE & IMPLEMENTATION SERVICES

NEED FOR THE TIME ENTRY SOFTWARE
Current Process
     Manual / labor and paper intensive process
          Timesheet tracking
          Data entry
          Approval/review process
     Over 900 time sheets manually entered each pay period

BENEFITS
Employee can electronically enter hours worked; no more need for paper
Ensures compliance with City policy, and state and federal laws

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          3 



Ensures compliance with City policy, and state and federal laws
Improves timeliness and decreases errors
Provides additional Affordable Care Act reporting
Time savings across organization; ability to be more productive on other job duties
Integrates well with new Innoprise payroll system

TIME ENTRY SOFTWARE
Kronos, Inc.
     Leader in industry
     40 million employees worldwide that use this system
     Fire Department uses Kronos scheduling software
Cooperative Agreement
     Software and implementation services
NTE $206,116
     $50,000 budgeted for project (2008 carryover)
     $156,000 from projected budget savings (personnel and nondepartmental)

Councilmember Oravits asked what the term of the contract was. Mr. Gallegos said that the
term was five years. After that they will come back, and if there is new software they would
go through this process again.

Ms. Suda said that the $206,000 is the one-time service and the first year they waive
maintenance contract. After that it is about $20,000 a year for maintenance.

Mayor Nabours asked if Payroll and Human Resources were on board with the software.
Ms. Suda said that they were very much on board; everyone is very excited.

Mayor Nabours said that it was an unusual way that they got the contract, through a
cooperative agreement in Massachusetts. Ms. Suda said that they did a Request for
Information on this type of software back in 2010 and at that time Kronos was one of their
top picks. They did not implement it then because they were implementing Innoprise. She
said that they are a leader in the industry and it worked well to find them available through
the cooperative agreement.

Councilmember Oravits asked if they anticipated covering the $20,000 a year for
maintenance through cost savings. Ms. Suda said that they do, but it will be a budgeted item.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to approve a
Cooperative Agreement with Kronos Incorporated (Kronos) and the City of Flagstaff as
procured through a cooperative contract agreement with Harford County Public Schools for
payroll time entry software and implementation for an amount not to exceed $206,116.19.  

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

B. Consideration and Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-36:  An ordinance of the Flagstaff City
Council authorizing the City of Flagstaff to accept specific deeds of real property and
establishing an effective date.

  

 
  Moved by Councilmember Scott Overton, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to read

Ordinance No. 2016-36 by title only for the final time. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          4 



  AN ORDINANCE OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF TO ACCEPT SPECIFIC DEEDS OF REAL PROPERTY AND EASEMENTS
AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours to adopt
Ordinance No. 2016-36. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

C. Consideration and Approval of a Consent, Assignment and Assumption of
Obligations of Ground Lease:  No. 130132 - City property located at 4 South San Francisco
Street. (Assignment from Thomas William Moffitt III Revocable Trust to Thomas William
Moffitt IV Revocable Trust)

  

 
  Mayor Nabours declared a conflict of interest as he represented the parties on this lease in

the past, and left the room. Vice Mayor Barotz assumed control over the meeting.
 

  Moved by Councilmember Eva Putzova, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to
consent to the assignment of the leasehold interest to Thomas William Moffitt IV Revocable
Trust. 

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously
 

D. Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract:  Purchase a Refurbished Engine
and Re-Chassis our Rescue Unit from Fire Trucks Unlimited.

  

 
  Deputy Fire Chief Mark Wilson gave a brief PowerPoint presentation which addressed:

TWO SPECIFIC REQUESTS AND ONE GENERAL AWARENESS PLAN
1) Purchase a used 2001 Pierce Engine for refurbishment from Fire Trucks Unlimited
2) Purchase a new chassis for R-2 from Fire Trucks Unlimited

He said that they started in November of last year in looking to purchase a new engine for
$500,000. With the discussion that took place since that time, it put them in a great spot to
look at another option. He said that they sent four individuals over to Henderson, Nevada
(two from Fleet and two from the Apparatus Committee) and they inspected the plant and got
a bird's eye view of the work going on, and they were able to climb all over the other unit that
was on hold. He said that they spent two days there and came back very impressed with the
end result. He said that they strip the units down to its frame; everything is gone through.
They are projecting a 10-15 year purchase. They are anticipating that it should last as a new
unit, and it also includes all new standardization for safety.

CURRENT RESCUE ISSUES
RE-CHASSIS BENEFITS

He said that in the past they did a bid process and ended up with two different companies
that were brought together to work on the project. They ended up with an undersized unit,
with a larger box than it was adequately slated to carry. They had to make changes and it
has been out of service over 35% of the time because of that.  He said that the unit is eight
years old. Fire Trucks Unlimited will do everything in house.

Chief Wilson said that as they went through this process, they looked at how best to
appropriate the money so they developed a eight-year reboot plan. He said that they are

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          5 



appropriate the money so they developed a eight-year reboot plan. He said that they are
looking at a recommended fleet replacement schedule of $7.127 million over the next 8
years. By doing these additional steps, they save $3.23 million. He said that there have been
a lot of people looking at the plan and it is supported by the Fleet Committee. He said that it
also takes all other divisions into consideration. He said that it was also supported by the
City Manager and the Budget Team.

He said that at the end of the eight years they will be required to buy a new engine, but it
allows them to update their current reserve engines and allows them to do pseudo
refurbishment on those. He said that next month he hopes to bring back a request to use
impact fee funds for an additional transport unit.

Chief Wilson briefly reviewed the plan, noting that they have a reserve quint right now, and it
is in the replacement timeline. They have been talking with Fleet about using an additional
$100,000 to do a pseudo refurbishment on it.

 

  Moved by Councilmember Jeff Oravits, seconded by Mayor Jerry Nabours 
to approve the sole source purchase of a refurbished engine in the amount of $305,000.00
and re-chassis the City's rescue unit in the amount of $155,000.00. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

E. Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract:  XplorIt agreement is for a virtual
video tour of Flagstaff.

  

 
  Marketing and Media Relations Manager Lori Pappas introduced this item, and recognized

Greg Murtha, President of XPlorIt, who was joining the meeting via telephone.

She said that they were before Council to present and gain approval for a tool they plan to
use to get people to stay in Flagstaff, or stay longer. She said that Trace Ward would
normally be presenting the item, but he was out of town.

Mr. Murtha then gave a demonstration of the XPlorIt Virtual Tour, stating that the way they
communicate has changed tremendously. He said that sight, sound and motion are a way for
communication and it is getting stronger.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if staff had decided they wanted this technology or if they had
been approached by the vendor. Ms. Hansen said that Mr. Ward had been attending a
conference where several vendors could provide some of this work, but this vendor was the
only one that provided everything.

Councilmember Putzova said that the university uses a similar product and asked if staff had
done research on other vendors. Ms. Hansen replied that Mr. Ward was the staff member
who did the research, but she could let Mr. Murtha speak to that issue as well.
Councilmember Putzova said that she would prefer to hear it from staff.

Ms. Pappas said that there is some intellectral property with this vendor. She said that she
did look at NAU's site, and what they have to gain with this software is spherical imaging and
live cams.

Ms. Hansen noted that another feature only they were offering was a reduced rate for
stakeholders. As an example, Flag Extreme could pay a reduced rate to have them shoot
their business as well and link to the City's site.

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          6 



Mr. Murtha then gave the demonstration of the product. Ms.Hansen said that the partners
being proposed to be included at this time were listed in Exhibit A of the packet, which
included Snowbowl, Lowell Observatory, Fourth Street, Grand Canyon Monuments, etc.

Ms. Pappas said that they hope to do some cost recovery with an eye on 40% from the
various partners. Ms. Hansen said that they would be looking at a similar arrangement as
they had with the Cool Zone.

Councilmember Evans said that it was really cool and it went into the new model of how
people decide where they want to go. She asked how they would update the films. Ms.
Hansen said that they would have to continue to have a relationship with XPlorIt, which
would be included in future base budgets.

Councilmember Evans asked if they could use local film producers. Ms. Hansen said that
they could update the film however they want, but because they started with XPlorIt they
would probably want to continue that relationship.

Councilmember Putzova asked who owns the intellectual rights to the product and what
happens if they choose not to extend the contract after the first year. She said that Flagstaff
has a number of excellent videographers capable of shooting first-person experiences. Also,
she asked how shooting with a drone in Flagstaff would work and what the legal context was
in using drones for video. Mr. Solomon said that if they were to postpone action, staff could
research that issue further.

Mr. Murtha said that while he was sure there were a great number of videographers in
Flagstaff, their product includes almost 300,000 lines of code that drives the product. It is
seven years in development and is a combination of media and technology. He said that they
would provide the City with all of the video and raw files, but anything that requires their
capabilities on the back end to drive the media would be retained by them; otherwise they
would have to reveal all of their code.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that her challenge was with going with the most current,
cutting-edge technology and executing a contract with an out-of-town vendor, knowing that
they have so many talented artists in town. She said that it becomes a value statement. She
acknowledges they may not have this technology, but it is a balancing act between that and
providing local jobs.

Ms. Hansen noted that the City is currently working with a local videographer, providing an
airport video, but staff is recommending using XPlorIt for this product. Ms. Pappas noted that
the Downtown Business Alliance is also a strong partner with them.

Vice Mayor Barotz told Legal that if the Council enters into such a contract she would like to
clearly understand what their legal obligations are and at what point they could go
elsewhere, should they choose to do so in the future.

Councilmember Overton said that he was not there yet with the virtual travel; he personally
wants to experience it first-hand. He would like to better understand how spending this
money on this product will change the demographics of those visiting Flagstaff. Additionally,
he said that this was a late request, rather than going through the normal budget request
process.

Ms. Pappas said that many of them have millenials living with them. It is proven that they

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          7 



have a great deal of anxiety and a lot of that comes from technology. This product alleviates
some of that anxiety in researching places to visit.

Ms. Hansen said that she agreed with Councilmember Overton when they first brought this
to her, but she was reminded that so many people are not coming here, but rather coming
through Flagstaff to go to the Grand Canyon. They have to continue to give these people
reasons to stay in Flagstaff; they are missing them extending their stay.

She said that with the CVB (Convention and Visitors Bureau), they bring things forward; all
of their four measurements have increased year after year and they believe this will help that
to continue.

Councilmember Evans said that if this comes back, it may be good to have someone from
the younger generation to explain further how they would use this product.

Councilmember Oravits thanked staff for bringing this forward. He said that when they talked
about the use of BBB funds, this is something he supports. It is a tool that can be used.

Councilmember Putzova said that when they come back, she would like staff to make a case
on why they would just not have a well-produced video that will give them a taste of all of the
great things in Flagstaff. She would like them to make a case, using data from other
communities, on how the virtual reality product is superior to a video. Mr. Murtha said that
videos are a powerful tool, but they are linear; they cannot be interactive.

Vice Mayor Barotz said that she would like to see a correlation between using this type of
product and an increase in hotel room occupancy. Ms. Hansen said that they look at more
than just BBB. With the hoteliers, they had Visit Cool in their bookings so they know when
people came, and they tracked that way. This last year they had a scavenger hunt and
tracked those people.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Vice Mayor Celia Barotz to postpone this to
the first available slot as determined by the City Manager. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

F. REMOVED FROM THE AGENDA BY THE CITY MANAGER   

 

RECESS 

The 4:00 p.m. portion of the October 18, 2016, Regular Council meeting recessed at 5:26 p.m.

6:00 P.M. MEETING
 

RECONVENE

Mayor Nabours reconvened the Regular Meeting of October 18, 2016, at 6:02 p.m.
 

NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          8 



NOTICE OF OPTION TO RECESS INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION
 

Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the members of the City Council
and to the general public that, at this regular meeting, the City Council may vote to go into
executive session, which will not be open to the public, for legal advice and discussion with
the City’s attorneys for legal advice on any item listed on the following agenda, pursuant to
A.R.S. §38-431.03(A)(3).

 
 

11. ROLL CALL
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Sterling Solomon.
 

ABSENT:

NONE       

        

 

 

12. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
 
  Cabe Gills, NAU student, said that he was involved with community reporting and came to

the meeting to get a feel for what it was. He said that Vice Mayor Barotz came to their class
last week and he hoped to learn from tonight.

John Viktora, Flagstaff, recited the Pledge of Allegiance and noted that they are doing a
horrible job in provide equal pay for equal work.

Andy Fernandez, Flagstaff, addressed several issues.
 

13. CARRY OVER ITEMS FROM THE 4:00 P.M. AGENDA

None 
 

14. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
 

A. Public Hearing for Resolution No. 2016-31: A resolution of the Flagstaff City Council
amending the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 by amending Chapter 3 to change the categories
of Major Plan Amendments and establishing an effective date.  

  

 
  Comprehensive Planning Manager Sara Dechter continued her PowerPoint presentation

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          9 



  Comprehensive Planning Manager Sara Dechter continued her PowerPoint presentation
which addressed:

MINOR AMENDMENTS TO THE FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN
Chapter 3: How This Plan Works
REMINDERS
PROPOSED AMENDMENT CRITERIA
MAJOR AMENDMENTS - Special Districts

Council was okay with proposed changes

MAJOR AMENDMENTS - Parks/Open Space

Council was okay with proposed changes

MAJOR AMENDMENTS - Urban/Suburban
Option A: Proposed Criteria
Option B: Moving existing Activity Center would be a Major Plan Amendment and future
Activity Centers would be a Minor Plan Amendment
Option C: All moves of the Activity Center would be a Major Plan Amendment
Option D: Moving a Regional Scale Activity Center would be a Major Plan Amendment and
Neighborhood Scale would be Minor

After some discussion, Council agreed to have staff present one replacement with Option B
and one with Option C.

MAJOR AMENDMENTS - Corridors and Great Streets

After some discussion Council agreed with Option C.

FOOTNOTE: 3 and 4

Council agreed with both of these footnotes. Vice Mayor Barotz suggested that Footnote 4
define City of Flagstaff.

Ms. Dechter thanked the Council for their time on this process. She said that at the next
meeting she would like to go through the explanatory language and will provide new
replacement pages.

 

  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Jeff Oravits to continue the
Public Hearing to November 15, 2016. 

  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 

15. REGULAR AGENDA

None
 

16. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

A. Discussion:  Implementation of Comprehensive Parking Management   

 
  Community Design and Redevelopment Manager Karl Eberhard reviewed the schedule for

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          10 



  Community Design and Redevelopment Manager Karl Eberhard reviewed the schedule for
this project, noting that he would be back on November 15 with a handful of items to
consider for action. He said that between then and March they anticipate getting other items
resolved. He said that they will have a soft start in March and be fully live in May.

Mr. Eberhard said that last week he worked through the items he wanted to present. Tonight
he did not plan to reiterate any items, but he was looking for feedback on 1) the concept of
hooding fees or exception fees, and 2) alternate implementations.

Mayor Nabours asked if they were deciding tonight on the Parking Steering Committee
being an official City commission. Mr. Eberhard said that he was proposing to have an
informal committee as backup for him, a group that he could bounce ideas off. His hope is
that after the initial install, such a group will not be necessary.

Mayor Nabours asked if he needed interim authority. Mr. Eberhard said that he did not
believe so. He wants to use the steering committee to help him and the authority was
created through changes made in February.

Mayor Nabours asked Ms. Madeksza to come forward and share the Downtown Business
Alliance's (DBA) thoughts on the opt in / opt out.

Ms. Madeksza said that their main concern about the alternative implementation plan
centers around the fact that it has not been discussed with any of the stakeholders. They
have worked hard for over a year and they have unanimous support for this plan. To come
in at a late date with something different jeopardizes the plan.

She said that they understand the need and pressure, and she believed that with the Parking
Manager's support and Steering Committee there are ways to address those needs. Those
residents having a harder time getting the solutions in place, the Steering Committee will be
able to assist on an as-needed basis. She said that they would it implemented as approved,
with the Opt In procedure.

Councilmember Oravits said that he did not want to see the wheels come off.

Mr. Eberhard then reviewed the area layout and what properties would be considered in the
Opt In procedure.

Discussion was held on the hooding fees. Mr. Eberhard said that they were proposing $1 for
a half-day space for events and for encroachment for contractor trucks and dumpsters, $5 a
day.

Mayor Nabours said that he did not feel that $1 was near enough. Mr. Eberhard said that the
current street closure is $12.50; it will now be $25 or $30, which is a significant increasse.
On the other hand, he did not want to not have any fee in the plan. In the future they could
adjust the fee. He wanted it to be included, but not be crazy compared to what is being
charged currently. He said that to change the fee it would have to come back to Council ad
there are noticing requirements to change fees.

Consensus of Council was to go with the Opt In process and the Hooding Fees.

Mr. Eberhard reminded everyone to visit their Facebook page and "like" them.
 

17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          11 



17. FUTURE AGENDA ITEM REQUESTS

After discussion and upon agreement by a majority of all members of the Council, an item will
be moved to a regularly-scheduled Council meeting.

 

A. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Mayor Nabours to place on a future
agenda a discussion regarding a resolution joining in / supporting the Northern Arizona
Military Advocacy Council.

  

 
  Mayor Nabours said that he was proposing the attached resolution, and he was open to any

editing. He said that this was a group that he had asked to come toghether to learn about the
City's different military installations such as Camp Navajo, the Naval Observatory, etc. He
said that if an installation was being contemplated for a reduction or cutback, then the people
of that facility, federal employees, are prohibited for expressing any opinion; they cannot
lobby for themselves.

He said that they need local people to lobby for them, if that is appropriate. He said that he
brought together representatives of the County, Lowell Observatory, Northern Arizona
Leaders Association, the Chamber and ECoNA and have met four or five times to look at
this. He said that they all agree that they would like to go forward with this and have this
organization knowledgeable and ready in case there was a reason to do any lobbying.

He said that he did not want to any farther with the group unless there was a resolution of
support from the Council.

Vice Mayor Barotz asked if it was a Commission and if it would be staffed by the City. Mayor
Nabours said that it was a private body that the City would appoint a representative to,
similar to other such organizations.

Consensus of the Council was to put this on a future agenda.
 

B. Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.): A request by Councilmember Oravits to place on a
future agenda a discussion regarding pedestrian and bike improvements at Foxglenn/Butler
and safety enhancements from Continential/Butler to Sinagua/Knoles area.

  

 
  Councilmember Oravits said that he met with staff last week and looked further at the traffic

situation at the site. He said that a lot is being triggered by the new gas station and all the
people crossing the street. They have come up with suggestions for signage improvements
and he was willing to withdrawn his request at this time,understanding that he would monitor
this to see if the safety issues are addressed.

Mayor Nabours asked if it was something needed to take to the Traffic Commission.
Councilmember Oravits said that staff came up with ideas for signs similar to those in Bow
and Arrow. He said that it may not be the final solution, but is the first step. If it remains an
issue they could take it to the Traffic Commission, but he felt they were moving in the right
direction.

 

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          12 



           

18. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS AND REPORTS FROM COUNCIL AND STAFF, FUTURE AGENDA
ITEM REQUESTS

 
  Councilmember Overton thanked Kristi, Charity, Devin and Meg from Administration for their help

earlier in the day with the Marshall Elementary second graders who came to City Hall to learn
about civics and voting. He said that they held a mock Council meeting and voted to rent the
Aquaplex out for a day for all Marshal students.

 

19. ADJOURNMENT
 
  The Regular Council meeting of the Flagstaff City Council held October 18, 2016, adjourned at

7:23 p.m.
 

 

  
 __________________________________________

MAYOR

________________________________________
CITY CLERK

 

  
CERTIFICATION

I, ELIZABETH A. BURKE, do hereby certify that I am the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, County of
Coconino, State of Arizona, and that the above Minutes are a true and correct summary of the Meeting of
the Council of the City of Flagstaff held on October 18, 2016. I further certify that the Meeting was duly
called and held and that a quorum was present.
  
DATED this 1st day of November, 2016.          

  
 ________________________________

CITY CLERK

  

Flagstaff Regular City Council Meeting October 18, 2016                          13 



SPECIAL MEETING (EXECUTIVE SESSION)
TUESDAY, OCTOBER 25, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
211 WEST ASPEN

4:00 P.M.
   

MINUTES
  

 

               

1. Call to Order
 
  Mayor Nabours called the Special Meeting (Executive Session) of October 25, 2016, to order at

4:01 p.m.
 

2. Roll Call
  
NOTE: One or more Councilmembers may be in attendance telephonically or by other technological means.

  
PRESENT:

MAYOR NABOURS
VICE MAYOR BAROTZ
COUNCILMEMBER BREWSTER
COUNCILMEMBER EVANS (telephonically)
COUNCILMEMBER ORAVITS (telephonically)
COUNCILMEMBER OVERTON
COUNCILMEMBER PUTZOVA

Others present: City Manager Josh Copley and City Attorney Sterling Solomon.

ABSENT:

NONE                    

         

 

 

3. Recess into Executive Session.
 
  Moved by Mayor Jerry Nabours, seconded by Councilmember Karla Brewster to recess into

Executive Session for legal advice regarding a possible Development Agreement with Juniper Point. 
  Vote: 7 - 0 - Unanimously
 
  The Flagstaff City Council recessed into Executive Session at 4:01 p.m.
 

  



           

4. Executive Session:
 

A. Discussion or consultation for legal advice with the attorney or attorneys of the public body, pursuant to
A.R.S. 38-431.03(A)(3).

 

i. Possible Development Agreement with Juniper Point.
 

5. Adjournment
 
  The Flagstaff City Council reconvened into Open Session at 4:45 p.m.
 

 

 _______________________________________
Mayor

ATTEST:

____________________________________
City Clerk

 

  

Flagstaff Special Meeting (Executive Session) October 25, 2016        2 



  8. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Patrick Flanigan, "Carmels Flagstaff", 116
S. San Francisco St., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 12 license allows the holder of a restaurant
license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for consumption on the premises of an establishment
which derives at least forty percent (40%) of its gross revenue from the sale of food. This is a new
restaurant in Flagstaff. The property has been posted as required, and the Police, Community
Development, and Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no concerns noted. 

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation. 

Key Considerations:
Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the



Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the
applicant's personal qualifications.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is November 11, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on October 7, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Carmels - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 12 Description
Carmels - PD Memo
Carmels - Code Memo
Carmels - Tax Memo
Carmels - Map



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

October 18, 2016

Carmels Flagstaff
Attn: Patrick Flanigan
4542 E. Mountainview Rd.
Phoenix, AZ  85028

Dear Mr. Flanigan:

Your application for a new Series 12 liquor license for Carmels Flagstaff at 116 S. San Francisco 
St., was posted on October 7, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a public 
hearing during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, November 1, 2016
which begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application. We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on October 27,
2016 and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 12 Restaurant License

Non-transferable
On-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE: 
Allows the holder of a restaurant license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for 
consumption on the premises of an establishment which derives at least forty percent (40%) 
of its gross revenue from the sale of food. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
An applicant for a restaurant license must file a copy of its restaurant menu and Restaurant 
Operation Plan with the application. The Plan must include listings of all restaurant equipment 
and service items, the restaurant seating capacity, and other information requested by the
department to substantiate that the restaurant will operate in compliance with Title 4. 

The licensee must notify the Department, in advance, of any proposed changes in the seating 
capacity of the restaurant or dimensions of a restaurant facility. 

A restaurant licensee must maintain complete restaurant services continually during the hours 
of selling and serving of spirituous liquor, until at least 10:00 p.m. daily, if any spirituous liquor 
is to be sold and served up to 2:00 a.m. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-day 
operations must attend a basic and management training class. 

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept DELIVERY of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must be 
posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

A log must be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at the premises including each 
employee's name, date and place of birth, address and responsibilities. 

Bar, beer and wine bar, and restaurant licensees must pay an annual surcharge of $20.00. 
The money collected from these licensees will be used by the Department for an auditor to 
review compliance by restaurants with the restaurant licensing provisions of ARS 4-205.02. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 911 SAWMILL RD  FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001 (928) 779-3646 

 ADMIN FAX (928)213-3372 

 TDD 1-800-842-4681 
 

  
 

 Chief of Police 
      Kevin D. Treadway  
 
 

MEMORANDUM                             16-110-01 

 

 

 

 

TO    Chief Kevin Treadway    

 

FROM  Sgt. Gregory Jay   

 

DATE   October 10, 2016  

 

REF  LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION – SERIES 12- for “Carmels Flagstaff” 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

On October 10, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a series 12 (restaurant) 

liquor license filed by Patrick Flanigan, the owner of a new restaurant called Carmels Flagstaff. 

Patrick Flanigan is the only listed owner and will run the day to day operations.  The restaurant 

will be located at 116 S San Francisco St in Flagstaff. This application is for a series 12 license 

#12033408.   

I conducted a query through local systems and public access on Patrick Flanigan. No derogatory 

records were found in the last five years. Patrick has attended the mandatory liquor law training 

course and provided proof.  I spoke with Patrick who stated he had not been arrested in the last 

five years.  Patrick stated he has never received any liquor law violations. Patrick said the 

business will be a restaurant and has no plans to operate it as a bar or a club after hours.  The 

location is currently under construction and Patrick said they plan to open for business in 

December of 2016.  

As a result of this investigation the recommendation to Council is for approval of the series 12 

license.   

 





      Liquor License Memo 
To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: October 13, 2016 

Re: Series 12 Liquor License – Carmels Flagstaff 

I have reviewed our records for Carmels Hospitality, LLC, DBA Carmels Flagstaff, and 
I have no objection to approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



116 S San Francisco St

ssaltzburg
Polygonal Line



  8. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Paul Noir, "Grand Canyon Cafe", 110 E.
Route 66, Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 12 license allows the holder of a restaurant
license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for consumption on the premises of an establishment
which derives at least forty percent (40%) of its gross revenue from the sale of food. This is an existing
restaurant in Flagstaff that is under new management. The property has been posted as required, and
the Police, Community Development, and Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no
concerns noted. 

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation. 

Key Considerations:



Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the
applicant's personal qualifications.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is November 29, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on October 7, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Grand Canyon Cafe - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 12 Description
Grand Canyon Cafe - PD Memo
Grand Canyon Cafe - Code Memo
Grand Canyon Cafe - Tax Memo
Grand Canyon Cafe - Map



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

October 18, 2016

Grand Canyon Cafe
Attn: Paul Moir
PO Box Z
Flagstaff, AZ  86002

Dear Mr. Moir:

Your application for a new Series 12 liquor license for Grand Canyon Cafe at 110 E. Route 66,
was posted on October 7, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a public hearing 
during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, November 1, 2016 which 
begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application. We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on October 27,
2016 and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 12 Restaurant License

Non-transferable
On-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE: 
Allows the holder of a restaurant license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for 
consumption on the premises of an establishment which derives at least forty percent (40%) 
of its gross revenue from the sale of food. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
An applicant for a restaurant license must file a copy of its restaurant menu and Restaurant 
Operation Plan with the application. The Plan must include listings of all restaurant equipment 
and service items, the restaurant seating capacity, and other information requested by the
department to substantiate that the restaurant will operate in compliance with Title 4. 

The licensee must notify the Department, in advance, of any proposed changes in the seating 
capacity of the restaurant or dimensions of a restaurant facility. 

A restaurant licensee must maintain complete restaurant services continually during the hours 
of selling and serving of spirituous liquor, until at least 10:00 p.m. daily, if any spirituous liquor 
is to be sold and served up to 2:00 a.m. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-day 
operations must attend a basic and management training class. 

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept DELIVERY of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must be 
posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

A log must be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at the premises including each 
employee's name, date and place of birth, address and responsibilities. 

Bar, beer and wine bar, and restaurant licensees must pay an annual surcharge of $20.00. 
The money collected from these licensees will be used by the Department for an auditor to 
review compliance by restaurants with the restaurant licensing provisions of ARS 4-205.02. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 911 SAWMILL RD  FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001 (928) 779-3646 

 ADMIN FAX (928)213-3372 

 TDD 1-800-842-4681 
 

  
 

 Chief of Police 
      Kevin D. Treadway  
 
 

MEMORANDUM                             16-112-01 

 

 

TO    Chief Kevin Treadway    

 

FROM  Sgt. Gregory Jay   

 

DATE   October 10, 2016  

 

REF  LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION – SERIES 12- for Grand Canyon Cafe 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

On October 10, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a series 12 (restaurant) 

liquor license filed by Paul Moir (Agent), Laura Moir, Michael Marquess and Alissa Marquess, 

(Controlling Persons) for an existing restaurant called Grand Canyon Cafe. This is an application 

for a new series 12 license #12033410. The Grand Canyon Cafe is currently under renovation at 

110 E Route 66, in Flagstaff and is scheduled to open in the middle of December 2016.   

I conducted a query through local systems and public access on Paul Moir, Laura Moir, Michael 

Marquess and Alissa Marquess. No derogatory records were found in the last five years. I 

learned Paul Moir is the manager/member, or controlling person on eight other liquor licenses of 

businesses located in Flagstaff and Tucson.  I located one administrative violation for the Brix 

Restaurant and Wine Bar from October 1, 2013, for purchasing from other than primary source.  

The Criollo Latin Kitchen received two administrative violations in October 1, 2013, one for no 

manager’s agreement form on file and for purchasing from other than primary source.  I located 

25 violations for The Good Oak Bar located in Tucson, Az.   

I spoke with Paul who stated he had not been arrested in the last five years.  Paul stated the 

administrative violations for Brix and Criollo Latin Kitchen were dismissed for the purchasing 

from other than primary source.  Paul said these violations occurred due to an administrative 

error on the distributor’s part.  Paul explained the no manager’s agreement on file violation was 

rectified immediately by completing the necessary administrative paperwork.  Paul stated all the 

violations for The Good Oak Bar were under the previous owners and prior to him being a 

controlling person.  Paul has attended the mandatory liquor law training course and provided 

proof. 

As a result of this investigation the recommendation to Council is for approval of the series 12 

license.   





      Liquor License Memo 
To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: October 10, 2016 

Re: Series 12 Liquor License – Grand Canyon Cafe 

I have reviewed our records for Grand Canyon Cafe, LLC and I have no objection to 
approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



110 Historic Rte 66

ssaltzburg
Polygonal Line



  8. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stacy Saltzburg, Deputy City Clerk

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Action on Liquor License Application:  Brent Schepper, "Fratelli Pizza", 1850 N.
Fort Valley Rd., Series 12 (restaurant), New License.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Hold the Public Hearing; absent any valid concerns received from the public hearing, staff
recommends the Council forward a recommendation for approval to the State.

Executive Summary:
The liquor license process begins at the State level and applications are then forwarded to the respective
municipality for posting of the property and holding a public hearing, after which the Council
recommendation is forwarded back to the State. A Series 12 license allows the holder of a restaurant
license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for consumption on the premises of an establishment
which derives at least forty percent (40%) of its gross revenue from the sale of food. Fratelli Pizza
currently has two locations in Flagstaf, this will be a third. The property has been posted as required, and
the Police, Community Development, and Sales Tax divisions have reviewed the application with no
concerns noted. 

Financial Impact:
There is no budgetary impact to the City of Flagstaff as this is a recommendation to the State.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Liquor licenses are a regulatory action and there is no Council goal that applies.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not applicable. 

Options and Alternatives:
1) Table the item if additional information or time is needed.
2) Make no recommendation.
3) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for approval.
4) Forward the application to the State with a recommendation for denial, stating the reasons for such
recommendation. 

Key Considerations:



Because the application is for a new license, consideration may be given to both the location and the
applicant's personal qualifications.

The deadline for issuing a recommendation on this application is November 27, 2016.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
This business will contribute to the tax base of the community.

Community Involvement:
The application was properly posted on October 7, 2016. No written protests have been received to date.

Attachments:  Fratelli - Letter to Applicant
Hearing Procedures
Series 12 Description
Fratelli - PD Memo
Fratelli - Code Memo
Fratelli - Tax Memo
Fratelli - Map



OFFICE OF THE CITY CLERK

September 7, 2016

Fratelli Pizza
Attn: Brent Schepper
2120 N. 4th St.
Flagstaff, AZ  86004

Dear Mr. Schepper:

Your application for a new Series 12 liquor license for Fratelli Pizza at 1850 N. Fort Valley Rd.,
was posted on October 7, 2016. The City Council will consider the application at a public hearing 
during their regularly scheduled City Council Meeting on Tuesday, November 1, 2016 which 
begins at 4:00 p.m.

It is important that you or your representative attend this Council Meeting and be prepared to 
answer any questions that the City Council may have.  Failure to be available for questions could 
result in a recommendation for denial of your application. We suggest that you contact your legal 
counsel or the Department of Liquor Licenses and Control at 602-542-5141 to determine the 
criteria for your license.  To help you understand how the public hearing process will be 
conducted, we are enclosing a copy of the City’s liquor license application hearing procedures.

The twenty-day posting period for your liquor license application is set to expire on October 27,
2016 and the application may be removed from the premises at that time.

If you have any questions, please feel free to call me at 928-213-2077.

Sincerely,

Stacy Saltzburg
Deputy City Clerk

Enclosure



GA02 2005-350/060321 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Flagstaff 
 

 

Liquor License Application 

Hearing Procedures 
 

 

1. When the matter is reached at the Council meeting, the presiding officer will open the 

public hearing on the item.   

 

2. The presiding officer will request that the Applicant come forward to address the Council 

regarding the application in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question the Applicant regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by the 

Applicant. 

 

3. The presiding officer will then ask whether City staff have information to present to the 

Council regarding the application.  Staff should come forward at this point and present 

information to the Council in a presentation not exceeding ten (10) minutes.  Council may 

question City staff regarding the testimony or other evidence provided by City staff. 

 

4. Other parties, if any, may then testify, limited to three (3) minutes per person.  Council may 

question these parties regarding the testimony they present to the Council. 

 

5. The Applicant may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) 

minutes.  During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of the Applicant. 

 

6. City staff may make a concise closing statement to the Council, limited to five (5) minutes.  

During this statement, Council may ask additional questions of City Staff. 

 

7. The presiding officer will then close the public hearing. 

 

8. The Council will then, by motion, vote to forward the application to the State with a 

recommendation of approval, disapproval, or shall vote to forward with no 

recommendation. 

 

 





License Types: Series 12 Restaurant License

Non-transferable
On-sale retail privileges 
Note: Terms in BOLD CAPITALS are defined in the glossary. 

PURPOSE: 
Allows the holder of a restaurant license to sell and serve spirituous liquor solely for 
consumption on the premises of an establishment which derives at least forty percent (40%) 
of its gross revenue from the sale of food. 

ADDITIONAL RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES: 
An applicant for a restaurant license must file a copy of its restaurant menu and Restaurant 
Operation Plan with the application. The Plan must include listings of all restaurant equipment 
and service items, the restaurant seating capacity, and other information requested by the
department to substantiate that the restaurant will operate in compliance with Title 4. 

The licensee must notify the Department, in advance, of any proposed changes in the seating 
capacity of the restaurant or dimensions of a restaurant facility. 

A restaurant licensee must maintain complete restaurant services continually during the hours 
of selling and serving of spirituous liquor, until at least 10:00 p.m. daily, if any spirituous liquor 
is to be sold and served up to 2:00 a.m. 

On any original applications, new managers and/or the person responsible for the day-to-day 
operations must attend a basic and management training class. 

A licensee acting as a RETAIL AGENT, authorized to purchase and accept DELIVERY of 
spirituous liquor by other licensees, must receive a certificate of registration from the 
Department. 

A PREGNANCY WARNING SIGN for pregnant women consuming spirituous liquor must be 
posted within twenty (20) feet of the cash register or behind the bar. 

A log must be kept by the licensee of all persons employed at the premises including each 
employee's name, date and place of birth, address and responsibilities. 

Bar, beer and wine bar, and restaurant licensees must pay an annual surcharge of $20.00. 
The money collected from these licensees will be used by the Department for an auditor to 
review compliance by restaurants with the restaurant licensing provisions of ARS 4-205.02. 

http://www.azliquor.gov/licensing/glossary.asp


 FLAGSTAFF POLICE DEPARTMENT 
 911 SAWMILL RD  FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA 86001 (928) 779-3646 

 ADMIN FAX (928)213-3372 

 TDD 1-800-842-4681 
 

  
 

 Chief of Police 
      Kevin D. Treadway  
 
 

MEMORANDUM                             16-109-01 

 

 

 

 

TO    Chief Kevin Treadway    

 

FROM  Sgt. Gregory Jay   

 

DATE   October 10, 2016  

 

REF  LIQUOR LICENSE APPLICATION – SERIES 12- for Fratelli Pizza 

 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

On October 10, 2016, I initiated an investigation into an application for a series 12 (restaurant) 

liquor license filed by Brent Carleton Schepper (Agent), and Peter Alex Schepper (Controlling 

Person) for a new Fratelli Pizza location in Flagstaff.  Brent and Peter Schepper are percentage 

owners and Brent will run the day to day operations.  The new restaurant will be located at 1850 

N Fort Valley Rd in Flagstaff and this is in addition to their two existing locations, 119 W 

Phoenix, and 2120 N 4th St.  This is an application for a series 12 license #12033409.   

I conducted a query through local systems and public access on Brent and Peter Schepper. No 

derogatory records were found in the last five years. Brent and Peter have attended the 

mandatory liquor law training course and provided proof.  I spoke with Brent who stated he had 

not been arrested in the last five years.  Brent stated he has never received any liquor law 

violations at either of his two existing Flagstaff locations. Brent said the business will be a 

restaurant and have no plans to operate as a bar or a club after hours.  The location is currently 

under construction and Brent said they plan to open for business in November of 2016.  

As a result of this investigation the recommendation to Council is for approval of the series 12 

license.   

 





      Liquor License Memo 
To: Stacy Saltzberg, Deputy City Clerk 

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director 

Date: October 10, 2016 

Re: Series 12 Liquor License – Fratelli Pizza 

I have reviewed our records for Fratelli Pizza, Inc., DBA Fratellia Pizza Fort Valley, and 
I have no objection to approval of this liquor license. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1850 N Fort Valley Rd

ssaltzburg
Polygonal Line



  10. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Stephanie Smith, Assistant to City Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Intergovernmental Agreement between City of Flagstaff
and Northern Arizona University for the Assistant Director for Off-Campus Life and Community Liaison
Programs/ Neighborhood Liaison Position.   

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement between the City of Flagstaff and Northern Arizona
University for Neighborhood Liaison Programming.

Executive Summary:
The purpose of this IGA is to memorialize the partnership between the City of Flagstaff and Northern
Arizona University and provide a mechanism for joint funding of the Neighborhood Liaison position.

The Assistant Director for Off Campus Life and Community Liaison Programs, also known as the
Neighborhood Liaison, will help foster relationships in the Flagstaff community at the neighborhood level.
The liaison will work directly with residents, students and neighborhood associations and provide
additional opportunities for collaboration between Northern Arizona University and the City.  The position
is jointly funded and managed by the University and the City of Flagstaff.

Financial Impact:
The FY 2017 budget adopted by City Council includes partial funding for the new joint position for an
initial two year term in account 001-09-402-1310-1-4290. Staff anticipates the funding necessary to jointly
support the salary for this position will be $30,000 per year for the City.  The University will cover all
benefit costs.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
7) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
8) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments
  
REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal LU.1. Invest in existing neighborhoods and activity centers for the purpose of developing complete,
and connected places.



Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Yes, Council's adopted FY 2017 Budget included funding for this position.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Adopt the Intergovernmental Agreement as proposed.
2. Modify and Adopt the Intergovernmental Agreement.
3. Do not adopt the Intergovernmental Agreement.

Community Involvement:
Collaborate - The City and NAU engaged the community on the development and recruitment of the
Neighborhood Liaison position.  First, the City, County and NAU sponsored a community symposium in
October 2014 on the topic of student housing.  As a result a  steering committee was developed to
initiate a Student Housing Action Plan.  The hiring of a neighborhood liaison was a direct result of these
community planning efforts.  Furthermore, the community was invited to participate in the recruitment of
this position.  This participation included a neighborhood interview panel and a public meet and greet of
the final candidates. 
 

Attachments:  IGA
Job Description



 1 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 

 

by and between 

City of Flagstaff and Northern Arizona University 

regarding the 

 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR FOR OFF CAMPUS LIFE AND COMMUNITY 

LIAISON PROGRAMS/ NEIGHBORHOOD LIAISON POSITION 

 
 

 THIS INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT (hereinafter “Agreement”) dated this 

_________________, 2016, is by and between CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, a municipal corporation 

of the State of Arizona (the "CITY"), and ARIZONA BOARD OF REGENTS, a body corporate 

with perpetual succession pursuant to the laws of the State of Arizona, for and on behalf of 

NORTHERN ARIZONA UNIVERSITY, a public institution of higher education (the 

“UNIVERSITY”).  Pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 11-952 and 15-1625, the City and the University 

agree as follows: 

 

RECITALS: 

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY is authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to A.R.S. § 11-

952 and 41-2632 and Article I, Section 3 of the Flagstaff City Charter; and 

 

WHEREAS, the UNIVERSITY is authorized to enter into this Agreement pursuant to 

A.R.S. § 11-952 and 15-1625 and Arizona Board of Regents Policy 3-808; and 

  

 

 WHEREAS, the CITY and the UNIVERSITY desire to jointly hire, and fund a shared 

personnel position known as Assistant Director for Off Campus Life and Community Liaison 

Programs/ Neighborhood Liaison (“Neighborhood Liaison”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Neighborhood Liaison will jointly benefit the CITY and the 

UNIVERSITY by helping foster relationships in the Flagstaff community at the neighborhood 

level; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the intent and desire of the parties hereto to provide for the respective 

obligations of each party with regard to the shared Neighborhood Liaison position. 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations set forth, 

the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. TERM. 

 

 A.  The initial term of the Agreement shall be from the date the parties execute this 

Agreement, until October 3, 2018, unless terminated by either party pursuant to the provisions of 



 2 

this Agreement.  This Agreement shall automatically renew each year thereafter unless 

terminated by either party by mutual agreement. 

 

 B.  In recognition of and deference to the budgeting needs and obligations of the parties 

hereto, any party wishing to terminate the provisions of this Agreement shall provide a 90-day 

written notice.   

 

2. JOINT EMPLOYEE. 

 

 A.  The UNIVERSITY shall provide a Neighborhood Liaison employee to be shared 

jointly with the CITY for the purpose of working directly with residents, students and 

neighborhood associations and providing additional opportunities for additional collaboration 

between the UNIVERSITY and the CITY.  

 

 B.  The Neighborhood Liaison will be a regular employee of the UNIVERSITY and 

subject to the UNIVERSITY’S employment policies, procedures, and systems.  Management of 

the Neighborhood Liaison and related programming will be shared by both the UNIVERSITY 

and the CITY.  Performance evaluations will be managed using the UNIVERSITY’S process, 

with input from the CITY.  The UNIVERSITY and the CITY will each provide work space for 

the Neighborhood Liaison at their respective locations.  A shared work plan for the 

Neighborhood Liaison will be developed, implemented, evaluated collaboratively, and agreed 

upon by both parties. 

 

 E.  The CITY and the UNIVERSITY will work together to develop and coordinate 

effective training and professional development for the Neighborhood Liaison.   

 

3. FUNDING. 

 

 A.    The Neighborhood Liaison position is to be funded jointly by the CITY and the 

UNIVERSITY.  If appropriation by either party is unavailable or is terminated for whatever 

reason, the obligation of the parties to this Agreement will also be terminated regarding funding 

for the Neighborhood Liaison position.  Should funding not be available for any reason, neither 

the CITY nor the UNIVERSITY will be held responsible to continue the position or fund the 

position beyond the current contracted term of the Neighborhood Liaison.   

 

 B.    The UNIVERSITY will provide partial funding in the amount of 50% total salary for 

the Neighborhood Liaison position.  The UNIVERSITY is solely responsible for payment of the 

employer portion of benefits, including mandatory retirement.  The UNIVERSITY will provide 

worker’s compensation coverage.   

 

 C.    The CITY will provide partial funding in the amount of 50% total salary for the 

Neighborhood Liaison position.  This percentage will remain the same should the UNIVERSITY 

modify its salary structure, provide for salary increases or decreases for any reason or provide 

merit, incentive, or any other type of compensation or benefit.  The UNIVERSITY will consult 

with the CITY before reclassifying the Neighborhood Liaison position to a higher salary range or 



 3 

provide any career progression pay increase without consultation with the CITY. Compensation 

changes will be made consistent with UNIVERSITY policies and procedures. 

 

4. INDEMNIFICATION, NOTIFICATION, AND JOINT RESOLUTION. 

 

 The CITY and the UNIVERSITY agree to accept responsibility and indemnify the other 

for any claims arising from the employment of the Neighborhood Liaison with respect to claims 

arising from circumstances under their respective control or on their premises.  The CITY and the 

UNIVERSITY each agree to promptly notify the other of any claims, complaints, or grievances 

made by the shared employee to allow for a joint resolution of any claim, complaint, or 

grievance, if desired.   

 

5. INSURANCE. 

 

 The CITY shall maintain adequate insurance, which may include a bona fide self-

insurance program, to cover any liability arising from the acts and omissions of its employees or 

agents. 

 

 The UNIVERSITY shall maintain adequate insurance, which may include a bona fide 

self-insurance program, to cover any liability arising from the acts and omissions of its 

employees or agents. 

 

6. AMENDMENTS; INTEGRATION. 

 

 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the parties relating to the subject 

matter hereof. All amendments or modifications of the Agreement shall be in writing and 

approved by the Flagstaff City Council and the UNIVERSITY. 

 

7. DISPUTE RESOLUTION. 

 

 If a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement, and if the dispute cannot be settled 

through negotiation, the parties agree first to try in good faith to resolve the dispute by mediation 

before resorting to arbitration, if required under A.R.S. § 12-1518, litigation or some other 

dispute resolution procedure.  Mediation will be self-administered and conducted under the CPR 

Mediation Procedures established by the CPR Institute for Dispute Resolution, 366 Madison 

Avenue, New York, NY 10017, (212)949-6490, www.cpradr.org, with the exception of the 

mediator selected provisions, unless other procedures are agreed upon by the parties.  Unless the 

parties agree otherwise, the mediator(s) shall be selected from panels of mediators trained under 

the Alternative Dispute Resolution Program of the Coconino County Superior Court.  Each party 

agrees to bear its own costs in mediation.  The parties will not be obligated to mediate if an 

indispensable party is unwilling to join the mediation.  This mediation provision is not intended 

to constitute a waiver of the parties’ right to initiate legal action if a dispute is not resolved 

through good faith negotiations or mediation, or if a party seeks provisional relief under the 

Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure.   

 



4 

8. STATUTORY REQUIREMENT OF CANCELLATION FOR CONFLICT OF 

INTEREST. 

 

 This Agreement may be cancelled for conflict of interest in accordance with the 

requirements of Section 38-511 of the Arizona Revised Statutes. 

 

9. NON-DISCRIMINATION. 

 

 The parties agree to comply with all applicable state and federal laws, rules, regulations 

and executive orders governing equal employment opportunity, immigration (Executive Order 

13465 – Employment Eligibility Verification, E-Verify; 73 FR 67704), nondiscrimination 

(Executive Order 11246), and affirmative action. The CITY and the UNIVERSITY shall abide 

by the requirements of 41 CFR §§ 60-1.4(a), 60-300.5(a) and 60-741.5(a). These regulations 

prohibit discrimination against qualified individuals based on their status as protected veterans or 

individuals with disabilities, and prohibit discrimination against all individuals based on their 

race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Moreover, these regulations require that covered 

prime contractors and subcontractors take affirmative action to employ and advance in 

employment individuals without regard to race, color, religion, sex, national origin, protected 

veteran status or disability. 

 

10. NO BOYCOTTS OF ISRAEL. 

 

 Pursuant to A.R.S. §§ 35-393 and 35-393.01, the parties certify that they are not currently 

engaged in and agree, for the duration of the Agreement, to not engage in a Boycott of Israel. 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have set forth their hands, through 

representatives duly so authorized, the day and date first above written. 
 

NORTHERN ARIZONA UNIVERSITY 

 

____________________________________ 

President Rita Hartung Cheng  

 

Print name:___________________________ 

 

Title:________________________________ 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

       

Michelle G. Parker, General Counsel 

 



5 

 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor Gerald Nabours 

 

Print name:___________________________ 

 

Title:________________________________ 

 

 

Attest: 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

____________________________________ 

City Attorney’s Office 
 

 
 



 

ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, OFF-CAMPUS LIFE (OCL) 
COMMUNITY LIAISON PROGRAMS JOB DESCTIPTION 

A COLLABORATIVE EFFORT BETWEEN THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AND NORTHERN ARIZONA UNIVERSITY 

 
Position Title: Assistant Director, Off-Campus Life-Community Liaison Programs 
 
Reports To:  Dean of Students or Designee and City of Flagstaff (Staff Member TBD) 
 
Job Summary 
  
Works in a variety of ways to promote relationships between students and non-students residing 
in Flagstaff neighborhoods.  Responsible for managing high-level collaborative efforts between 
the City and NAU including communications, program management, and regular interaction with 
students and the community. Represent NAU/City relationships and efforts in public meetings, 
and on committees, task forces, and where needed.  Occasional evenings and weekends 
required.  
 
Job Description 
 

 Develops and implements programming to create positive relationships, including developing 
strategies and advice for handling specific problems and requests, coordinating effective 
communications and campaigns, and providing exemplary customer service. 

 Implements, evaluates, and provides overall management of outreach programs to students 
and non-student residents. 

 Determines opportunities and creates programs and processes to address community needs. 

 Responsible for work strategies, preparation of final reports, and managing program budgets.  

 Participates with established joint work teams (e.g. Good Neighbor Coalition, League of 
Neighborhoods, etc.) created to address commonly identified goals and coordinates 
implementation of goals and tasks. 

 Manages Off-Campus Life web pages and electronic and print publications. 

 Manages and participates in all aspects of University/City activities to improve City/NAU 
relations and neighborhood quality of life issues. 

 Coordinates efforts with the Office of the President to ensure coordinated messages. 

 Maintains and enhances link with City and NAU staff and offices to advance common goals. 

 Acts as a point of contact in resolving student/non-student resident controversies by making 
referrals, providing advice/coaching to involved parties including preparing responses for 
City/NAU leadership. 

 Acts as a conduit to establish direct relationships with students and non-student residents. 

 Create and implement processes for information exchange among students, non-student 
residents, City staff and NAU to strengthen relationships and obtain stakeholder perspective 
on issues, business decisions, and policy implementation.   

 Is available to attend appropriate meetings for the City, NAU, neighborhood groups, 
collaborative task forces, and public forums. 

 Works with property owners/managers on issues associated with education, code 
enforcement, parking, neighbor relations, and local ordinances. 

 Assists in selecting, training, evaluating and supervising any future full-time, graduate or 
student staff or interns, when available. 

 Stays knowledgeable of landlord/tenant issues and resources available on campus and in the 
community. 



 

 Develops program evaluation system for outcome measurements and benchmarks; modifies 
and develops programs to improve services to meet community needs. 

 Secures outside funding sources for programming through grant-writing and solicitation of 
donations. 

 Assists with the development of long-range goals and objectives for the Off Campus Life.  
Initiates relevant policies and procedures; makes recommendations and carries out 
implementation, when appropriate. 

 Carries out additional projects as appropriate and with the mutual support of the Dean of 
Students and City of Flagstaff designee. 

 
Minimum Qualifications 
 

 Bachelor’s degree and four years of full-time professional in program planning, 
implementation, and evaluation that specifically relates to community relations and 
community building/organizing.   

  
Preferred Qualifications 
 

 Master’s Degree in Student Affairs/Higher Education, Conflict Resolution, Counseling, 
Psychology, Public Administration/Policy or related field and two years of full-time 
professional experience in program planning, implementation, and evaluation that specifically 
relates to community relations and community building/organizing.   

 Demonstrated public speaking and group facilitation experience. 

 Demonstrated ability to work successfully with students, community partners, and 
administrators. 

 Demonstrated mediation, conflict resolution, and /or counseling experience. 

 Excellent written communication skills. 

 Strong interpersonal skills, including one-on-one support and working on a team. 

 Demonstrated understanding of unique University/City issues and relationships. 

 Public relations and marketing experience. 

 Experience working in a University setting and/or a municipal government. 

 Demonstrated program budgeting experience. 

 Demonstrated commitment to diversity. 
 
Knowledge Skills and Abilities 
 

 Excellent skills in program development, organization, execution and assessment. 

 Strong ability to analyze problems and make well-reasoned, sound decisions. 

 Excellent communication and presentation skills. 

 Effective interpersonal skills including the ability to work with diverse students, staff, elected 
officials, city residents and other entities. 

 Skill in budget preparation and forecasting. 

 Ability to work with people from a variety of culturally diverse backgrounds. 

 Knowledge of and ability to communicate university policies and procedures. 

 Ability to work independently 

 Sound organizational and administrative skills, including accurate data entry, documentation 
of student meetings, and organization of work schedule. 

 Strong supervisory, organizational and training skills. 

 Awareness and commitment to NAU's EEO/Affirmative Action Plan and Safe Working and 
Learning Environment goals. 

 



 
 
Background Information   
 
This position has been identified as a safety/security sensitive position.  Therefore, per AZ 
Revised Statute, Northern Arizona University requires satisfactory results for the following:  a 
criminal background investigation, employment history investigation, degree verification (in some 
cases) and fingerprinting. 
 
Additionally, as an employer in the state of Arizona, NAU is required to participate in the federal 
E-Verify program that assists employers with verifying new employees' right to work in the United 
States. 
 
Finally, each year the Northern Arizona University Police Department releases an annual 
security report.  The report is a result of the federal law known as the Clery Act and contains 
policy statements that address the school’s policies, procedures and programs concerning safety 
and security including policies for responding to emergency situations and sexual offenses.  The 
report contains three years of data for Clery reportable crime statistics for the campus along with 
the most current year’s Fire Safety Report, which includes policy statements and fire statistics for 
Flagstaff on-campus student housing.  
 
The report may be viewed at http://nau.edu/clery or by visiting the NAUPD website at: 
http://http//www.nau.edu/police .  A printed copy of the report is available upon request by 
contacting the NAU Police Department, Records Department at (928)523-8884 or by visiting the 
department at Building 98A on the NAU Mountain Campus. 
 
Salary   
  
$56,000 – 60,000 Commensurate with education and experience. 
 
FLSA Status   
 
This position is exempt from the overtime provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and 
therefore will not earn overtime or compensatory time for additional time worked.  
 
Benefits   
  
This is a Service Professional (SPF) position.  NAU offers an excellent benefit package including 
generous health, dental and vision insurance; participation in the Arizona State Retirement 
System or the Optional Retirement Program; 22 days of vacation and 10 holidays per year; and 
tuition reduction for employees and qualified dependents.  More information on benefits at NAU 
is available at: https://nau.edu/Human-Resources/Benefits/Eligibility-Enrollment/ 
 
Service Professionals are hired on a contract basis, renewable each 6 months according to 
terms of the Conditions of Professional Service, which may be found at: 
http://hr.nau.edu/sites/default/files/files/Conditions%20of%20Service%20Professional%20Dec%2
02012%20Rev.pdf/ 
 
Employees offered a position will be eligible for state health plans (including NAU's BCBS Plan).  
New employees are eligible for benefits on the first day of the pay period following their 
enrollment, after their employment date.  Employees will have 31 days from their start date to 
enroll in benefits. If a new employee chooses the ASRS retirement option, participation in the 
Arizona State Retirement System, and the long-term disability coverage that accompanies it, will 
begin on the first of the pay period following 6 months after the new employee's start date. New 

http://nau.edu/clery
http://http/www.nau.edu/police
https://nau.edu/Human-Resources/Benefits/Eligibility-Enrollment/
http://hr.nau.edu/sites/default/files/files/Conditions%20of%20Service%20Professional%20Dec%202012%20Rev.pdf/
http://hr.nau.edu/sites/default/files/files/Conditions%20of%20Service%20Professional%20Dec%202012%20Rev.pdf/


 
employees who choose to participate in the Optional Retirement Plan (ORP), which is an 
alternative to the ASRS plan for faculty and other appointed staff, will begin to participate on the 
first day of employment.  Additionally, the long-term disability plan that accompanies the ORP will 
begin on the first day of employment.  More information is available at: https://nau.edu/Human-
Resources/Benefits/Eligibility-Enrollment/ 
 
Application Deadline   
  
June 13, 2016 at Midnight. 
 
How to Apply   
  
To apply for this position, please click on the "Apply Now" button on this page.  You must submit 
your application by clicking on the "Submit" button by midnight of the application deadline.  If you 
need assistance completing your application there are instructions available on line at 
http://nau.edu/human-resources/ or in person in the Human Resources Department located in 
Building 91 on the NAU Campus - on the corner of Beaver and DuPont Streets.  
 
If you are an individual with a disability and need reasonable accommodation to participate in the 
hiring process please contact the Office of Equity and Access at: 928-523-3312/TDD - 928-523-
1006 or PO Box 4083, Flagstaff AZ  86011. 
 
Equal Employment Opportunity   
  
Northern Arizona University is a committed Equal Opportunity/Affirmative Action Institution.  
Women, minorities, veterans and individuals with disabilities are encouraged to apply.  NAU is 
responsive to the needs of dual career couples. 
 
EEO Law Poster:  http://www.dol.gov/ofccp/regs/compliance/posters/pdf/eeopost.pdf 
 
NAU is an Employer of National Service.  AmeriCorps, Peace Corps, and other National Service 
alumni are encouraged to apply. 
 
 
Revised:  2/12/2016 
 

https://nau.edu/Human-Resources/Benefits/Eligibility-Enrollment/
https://nau.edu/Human-Resources/Benefits/Eligibility-Enrollment/
http://www.dol.gov/ofccp/regs/compliance/posters/pdf/eeopost.pdf


  10. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Chad Smith, Special Services Supervisor,
Police Department

Co-Submitter: Damian Gallegos

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Purchase: Two (2) Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the purchase of two (2) 2017 Ford Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles from Peoria Ford,
who successfully completed the IFB process, at a total price of $55,390.48.

Executive Summary:
We are seeking to procure two (2) vehicles to replace two (2) Ford Crown Victoria vehicles, which are
set for replacement due to age, mileage and/ or other contributing factors used to determine the
retirement of a patrol vehicle.  The purchase of these two vehicles was approved by the Fleet
Management Committee as well as the Budget Committee; these will be purchased utilizing allocated
funds from the department's Rolling Stock/ Fleet account. 

Financial Impact:
The Budget Committee allocated the necessary funds to accommodate this purchase during FY2017. 

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS: 
1) Invest in our employees and implement retention and attraction strategies:

It is disheartening and causes concern when officers arrive to work and no vehicles are available to them,
preventing them from conducting patrol field activities and responding to calls for services.

4) Develop and implement guiding principles that address public safety service levels through
appropriate staff levels:

Even with appropriate staff levels, public safety services may suffer when there are insufficient or
inadequate vehicles available.  In the event there is an insufficient number of vehicles, it may require
officers to double up in a vehicle, resulting in one less patrol unit available to respond to calls or conduct
proactive policing.

11) Ensure that we are as prepared as possible for extreme weather events:

Since the Ford Police Interceptor Utility's introduction in 2015, the utility platform has proven its



Since the Ford Police Interceptor Utility's introduction in 2015, the utility platform has proven its
effectiveness in all of Flagstaff's weather conditions.  The increased frame and engine clearance allows
for safer travel through elevated waters and in the event of a fire, driving on non-maintained roads.  The
All-Wheel Drive has proven effective in snow and on slick road surfaces. 

Previous Council Decision on This:
There have been no previous Council decisions on this matter.

Options and Alternatives:
Forego the purchase of the vehicles and manage the increase in vehicle downtime.  Increases in vehicle
downtime are likely to have a direct impact on response times to emergency calls and non-emergency
calls for service.  There will also be additional mechanical costs associated with maintaining an older
fleet, negatively impacting the FY2017 budget. 

Background/History:
State procurement procedures ARS 41-2533 "G" states: "The contract shall be awarded to the lowest
responsible and responsive bidder whose bid conforms  in all material respects to the requirements and
criteria set forth in the invitation for bids".  Peoria Ford was the only responsive and responsible bidder.  

An "Invitation For Bid" (IFB# 2017-14) was posted to Planet Bids on August 27, 2016, the city's online bid
system; the bid closed on September 21, 2016. The only responsive party was Peoria Ford with a bid of
$27,695.24 per unit. The IFB was for the purchase of two (2) units, bringing the total to $55,390.48.
Communication was entered into the Civic Plus system to advise all vendors that a new bid was entered
into the Planet Bids system. The Purchasing Department contacted N. Cashatt at Babbitt Ford to advise
of the new posting. The only bidder that entered a bid on the Planet Bids online bidding website was
Peoria Ford and they were determined to be the only Responsive bidder. 
  



  

Key Considerations:
The purchases being recommended have been reviewed and approved by both the Fleet Management
Committee and Budget Committee.  Approval of these purchases will help ensure a functional patrol fleet
and continue to move the fleet in the direction of best practices in vehicle replacement. 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Forego the purchase at this time and attempt to replace the vehicles out of the Fleet General Fund
FY2018 Budget.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Sustaining a reliable police fleet helps minimize vehicle downtime, maximizing the number of police
vehicles available for use, which may result in faster response times and an elevated level of service to
our citizens. 

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Planet Bids IFB2017-14



Bid Results for Project Two Ford Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles 
(2017-14)

Issued on 08/27/2016

"Bid Due on September 21, 2016  3:00 PM (Mountain)"

Exported on 09/29/2016

VendorID Company Name Address Address 2 City State ZipCode
Country Contact Phone Fax Email Vendor Type

461357 "PFVT Motors, LLC" 9130 W Bell Rd Peoria
85382 United States Chad Welsh 480-696-5930 480-393-5536
cwelsh@peoriaford.com

Respondee Respondee Title Respondee Phone Respondee Email

"PFVT Motors, LLC" Fleet Manager 480-696-5930
cwelsh@peoriaford.com

Bid Format Submitted Date Delivery Method Responsive Status
Confirmation # Ranking

Electronic "September 16, 2016  12:13:42 PM (Mountain)" Ford Factory 
lead time 10-12 weeks as of 09/16/2016 Yes Submitted 88663 0

Respondee CommentBuyer Comment

Only one responsive responsible bidder.

Attachments

File Title File Name File Type

"PFVT Motors, LLC DBA Peoria Ford Bid Docs for IFB 2017-14" City of 
Flagstaff - Peoria Ford Bid Docs for IFB 2017-14.pdf General 



Attachments

Line Items

Discount Terms: no discount

Item Num Section Item Code Description Unit of Measure
Manufacturer ModelNum Brand RequirementBrandSpec
DeliveryLoc Quantity Unit Price Line Total Discount Line Price
Response Comment

1 Section 1 K8A 2017 Ford Police Interceptor Utility Vehicle 3.7L 
V6 Each 2 "$27,695.24 "

"$55,390.48 " "$55,390.48 " Yes
2 Section 1 51Y "Spot Lamp-Incandescent Bulb, Driver Only" Each

2 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
Yes

3 Section 1 595 Remote Keyless Entry Key Fob Each
4 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Yes

4 Section 1 76R Reverse Sensing Each
2 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Yes

5 Section 1 43D Dark Car Each 2
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Yes

6 Section 1 55B BLIS Blind Spot Monitoring Each
2 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 Yes

Subtotal
"$55,390.48 " "$55,390.48 "

Total
"$55,390.48 " "$55,390.48 "



  10. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Scott Mansfield, Police Lieutenant

Co-Submitter: Stacey Brechler-Knaggs

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract: Purchase to conduct maintenance/rebuild of
the Police Department Bomb Robot

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the sole source purchase of conducting maintenance/rebuild of Police Department Bomb
Robot through Remotec, Inc. in the amount of $59,521.02

Executive Summary:
Initially the FPD Bomb Robot was purchased with AZ Homeland Security Grant Funds approximately 15
years ago. No maintenance has been performed on the robot since that time and the equipment has
become outdated and worn out. Therefore, this is a much needed upgrade to perform the duties required
of a Tier 1 bomb team.

Financial Impact:
FY 2016 funding has been received from the Arizona Department of Homeland Security Grant Program
in the amount of $32,506 for the Bomb Robot Upgrade. In addition, the Police Department has received
funding from Coconino County Rico funds for $13,000 and Navajo County Rico funds for $13,000 for a
total amount of $58,506. The remaining balance of $1,015.02 will come from the Police Department
budget to fund the total purchase. Repairing and refurbishing the current robot is more cost effective than
the purchase of a new robot which would cost in excess of $200,000 dollars. The FY2017 budget for this
contract is $102,000 in account 001-04-062-0691-2-4405.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
Effective Governance

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
No

Options and Alternatives:
1) Approve the recommended sole source purchase. This will allow the Police Department to safely
respond to emergency calls involving possible explosive devices, and other emergency response needs.
2) Not approve the recommended sole source purchase.



Background/History:
The Flagstaff Police Department Bomb Squad consists of four Bomb Technicians and averages about 20
calls a year throughout the Northern Arizona region. The FPD Bomb Squad is the primary Tier 1
response team for all critical infrastructure located within Coconino, Navajo, and Apache counties.
Currently, the FBI and AZ DPS no longer have Bomb Technicians stationed in the Northern Arizona
region. This leaves the Flagstaff Police Department as the closest available unit for all calls within
Northern Arizona. As previously stated, the Bomb Robot is approximately 15 years old and has not
received any maintenance or equipment upgrades.

Key Considerations:
For safety reasons, bomb technicians are required to work remotely with a robot to render safe CBRNE
devices whenever possible. This requirement was reinforced years ago during a render safe procedure
of an IED near Tuba City . During the render safe procedure, the device initiated a high order detonation
severely damaging the FPD Bomb Squad's first (original) robot. Without that robot, the bomb technicians
involved in this incident could have been severely injured or killed. To remain qualified as a Regional Tier
1 Bomb Squad, the Flagstaff Police Department is required to possess at least one operational robot for
remote render safe procedures of CBRNE devices.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
The Bomb Robot will help the Police Department preserve life and safety.

Attachments:  Remotec Inc Qoute
Sole Source Letter







Northrop Grumman Corporation Information Systems October 10, 2016

Remotec
353 JD Yarnell Parkway
Clinton, TN 37716
(865) 483-0228
(865) 483-1426 Fax

Scott Mansfield,

REMOTEC, A Subsidiary of Northrop Grumman, is the sole manufacturer and distributor for the 
ANDROS line of hazardous duty robots including the ANDROS RONS, Wolverine, Mark V-A1, 
F6 Series, Titus, Mini-ANDROS II and HD Series Robot Systems including all related upgrades, 
accessories, parts, training, refurbishments and service. 

Our ANDROS Robots are in use by police departments and many different organizations in 52 
countries around the world.  Some of these organizations include all branches of the U.S. 
Military, the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the U.S. Secret Service.

REMOTEC’s ANDROS systems have a unique articulated track design, which is patented under 
U.S. Patent No. 4,746,977, Patent No. 4,923,831 and Patent No. 5,022,812.  REMOTEC is the 
only manufacturer that offers the articulated track design.

REMOTEC does not have any product dealers or resellers within the United States.  All parts are 
sold and all maintenance is performed directly from REMOTEC’s facility located in Clinton, 
Tennessee. If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me at (865) 483-1492. 

Sincerely,

Lance Beaty
Remotec Service Department
353 J. D. Yarnell Parkway
Clinton, TN  37716
PH: 865-483-1492
FAX: 865-483-1436
remotecservice@ngc.com



  10. D.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Sandy Corder, Interim Revenue Director

Co-Submitter: Rick Tadder

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE:
Consideration and Approval of Write-Offs: Delinquent and uncollectable Transaction Privilege (Sales)
Tax accounts for Fiscal Year 2016. (2016 Transaction Privilege (Sales) Tax Account Write-offs)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the write-off of delinquent and uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax accounts in
the amount of $191,163.45.

Executive Summary:
Generally accepted business and accounting practices allow for the write-off of uncollectable accounts
annually. City staff has exhausted collection efforts on the eligible accounts and will no longer actively
collect them. Where possible, City collection efforts include contacting credit agencies to identify debt
owed by taxpayers, recording tax liens against property, and seeking recovery through the Arizona
Department of Revenue's debt set-off program per A.R.S. Section 42-1122. Also the City will not do
business with delinquent taxpayers (purchase goods and services). As a result, debt which has been
previously written-off is occasionally paid some time later to clear a taxpayer's outstanding debt.
Pursuant to state law, taxpayer delinquent account information is not subject to public release unless
otherwise a public record (e.g. recorded property tax liens).

Financial Impact:
Each year, the City anticipates that there will be uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax accounts
and reserves an amount at year end for these accounts.  The current allowance for uncollectable account
for sales tax is $195,000.00.  The amount requested to write off is below this allowance.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
8) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments

Previous Council Decision on This:
No

Options and Alternatives:
• Authorize the write-off of uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax accounts.



• Authorize the write-off of uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax accounts.
• Do not authorize the write-off off uncollectable transaction privilege (sales) tax
accounts and continue collection efforts.

Background/History:
Before any account is eligible for write-off, staff must initiate collection efforts on each account after it
becomes delinquent. When collection efforts are exhausted, the account is eligible for write-off. 
 
In FY16, the City estimates receipt of $49.6 million in transaction privilege (sales) taxes and franchise
fees. The write-offs are 0.3849% of the total estimated amount of revenues.
 
Pursuant to state law, taxpayer information is confidential and information is not subject to public
release.  

Write-Off Year
 

Amount of Write-Off
 

Annual Amount
Collected

% of Amount
Collected

 
FY 16 $191,163.45 $49.6 million 0.385%
FY 15 $94,271.80 $40.6 million 0.232%
FY 14 $140,569.91 $35.3 million 0.400%
FY 13 $100,866.05 $34.4 million 0.293%
FY 12 $113,481.22 $33.0 million 0.344%
FY 11 $109,121.32 $31.1 million 0.350%

Transaction Privilege (Sales) Tax Account Write-Offs (6 Year History)

 

Key Considerations:
Staff, using billing statements, letters, and telephone calls, has worked the delinquent accounts prior to
write-off.

Expanded Financial Considerations:
It is sound financial management practice to reduce assets to reflect their true valuation. Failure to
write-off accounts deemed uncollectable overstates the asset value of the City.

Community Involvement:
Inform. Yearly write-offs ensure that the City is following generally accepted business practices.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None.

Attachments: 
No file(s) attached.



  10. E.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Paul Summerfelt, Wildland Fire Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Interagency Agreement:  Camp Navajo Prescribed Wildland Fire
Project 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Camp Navajo Prescribed Wildland Fire Project agreement, permitting City of Flagstaff
Fire Dept management of prescribed fire operations on Camp Navajo on a full cost-recovery basis
for any efforts undertaken.  

Executive Summary:
The City has a long history of assisting Camp Navajo regarding prescribed fire projects on the facility, to
include the most-recent five-year agreement (with extension) completed March 31st 2016,   All previous
agreements, like the one now proposed, are on a full-reimbursement basis. As a serious wildfire on the
facility has in the past, and will in the future, involve city resources, it is in our best interest to engage in
a proactive partnership with the State to reduce the wildfire threat and improve responder/public safety
on the facility during a fire event. 

Financial Impact:
All city costs incurred to implement any prescribed burn operation under this Agreement are
fully-reimbursed by the State: there is no city match (in-kind or cash) required.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
7) Address key issues and processes related to the implementation of the Regional Plan
11) Ensure that we are as prepared as possible for extreme weather events.
 
REGIONAL PLAN:
Environmental Planning & Conservation – Vision for the Future:  In 2013, the long-term health and
viability of our natural resource environment is maintained through strategic planning for resource
conservation and protection.
Policy E&C.3.3 – Invest in forest health and watershed protection measures.
Policy E&C.6.1 – Encourage public awareness that the region’s ponderosa pine forest is a fie-dependent
ecosystem and strive to restore more natural and sustainable forest composition, structure, and
processes.
Policy E&C.6.3 – Promote protection, conservation, and ecological restoration of the region’s diverse



ecosystem type and associated animals.
Policy E&C.6.6 – Support collaborative efforts for forest health initiatives or practices, such as the Four
Forest Restoration Initiative (4FRI), to support healthy forests and protect our water system.
Policy E&C.10.2 – Protect, conserve, and when possible, enhance and restore wildlife habitat on public
land.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not on this specific agreement/award.  Council did, however, approve the previous five-year agreement
with ADEM for this same service at Camp Navajo in 2010.    

Options and Alternatives:
Two exist: 

Approve the Agreement, permitting city-managed prescribed fire operations to occur on the facility
on a fully-reimbursable basis. 

1.

Reject the Agreement, thereby fostering a situation where the implementation of this much-needed,
and highly beneficial, work may not occur. 

3.

Background/History:
Damage and loss of our forests from destructive wildfire and insect infestations are ever-present threats
to our community.  Areas that have undergone proactive forest treatments (ie – thinning, debris disposal,
and/or prescribed/managed fire) are not only healthier and more resilient to damaging agents, they also
provide a barrier to the spread of these agents once they do become established.  Such treated areas
enhance public safety, ensure infrastructure protection, and safe-guard community well-being.   Within
our community and immediate area, the Woody Fire (2005), Hardy Fire (2010), and Slide Fire (2014)
dramatically demonstrate the value of these treatments: the Schultz Fire (2010) and the Engineer Fire
(Camp Navajo - 2011) show what can happen when such treatments are not in-place. 

Key Considerations:
Serious wildfires on any jurisdiction in the greater Flagstaff area can-and-will impact our community. 
Implementation of prescribed fire operations has proven highly effective in reducing occurrence and
severity of these events.  In addition, Camp Navajo is an important economic entity in our area, and
ensuring that its mission continues unaffected by destructive wildfire is highly important.  

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Every Purchase Order (PO) issued by the State to support specific prescribed burn operations will be
costed-out by city staff to allow for full-reimbursement for any-and-all expenses incurred in implementing
that particular burn operation.  The State has currently issued a $33,000 PO to cover expenses incurred
for any pile burn operations between approval of this Agreement and Dec 31st, 2016.  Beginning Jan
2017, and continuing each year until the termination of the Agreement, a new PO will be issued to cover
any expenses related to any prescribed burn operations conducted on the facility in that year.   

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Camp Navajo Natural Resource staff employ numerous partnerships to plan, implement, and monitor
forest treatment work on the facility.  In addition to ourselves, these include AZ Game & Fish
Department, US Fish & Wildlife Service, Greater Flagstaff Forests Partnership, and the NAU Ecological
Restoration Institute.  Completion of past, on-going, and future forest treatment work on the facility
expands the work being undertaken by others in the greater Flagstaff area to protect  communities,
recreational opportunities, and wildlife habitat, while promoting forest resiliency and sustainability.

Community Involvement:



Consult & Involve – We’ve been engaged with Camp Navajo staff on their forest treatment activities for
over a decade.  This Agreement allows that relationship to continue in the planning, implementation, and
monitoring of all prescribed fire operations.  

Collaborate – The planned forest treatments are part of a larger effort underway in our area and
throughout northern AZ.  We and our many partners have been engaged for nearly two decades in this
work, on various jurisdictions and site conditions, and have utilized a variety of prescriptions and
approaches to ensure we have a full-suite of treatments across the greater landscape.  The work to be
completed as a result of this Agreement is based upon credible and proven science-based forest
restoration and hazard fuel management standards and knowledge.  It adheres to guidelines established
in the Greater Flagstaff Area Community Wildfire Protection Plan (City & County - 2005, updated 2012),
is consistent with forest treatments designed and implemented by the Greater Flagstaff Forests
Partnership (1999-present) and the City of Flagstaff Wildland Fire Management program (1998-present),
meets the goals of the State of AZ 20-Year Strategy (2007), and is consistent with both the Four Forests
Restoration Initiative's and the Flagstaff Watershed Protection Project's Final Records of Decision (USFS
- 2015).   

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  Interagency Agreement









































  10. F.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Paul Summerfelt, Wildland Fire Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Contract:  Intergovernmental Agreement - Wildfire Crew Operability.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the Intergovernmental Agreement, Wildfire Crew Operability - with:
1) Summit Fire And Medical District, and
2) Ponderosa Fire District

Executive Summary:
This Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) facilitates joint Wildland Fire Crew operations between Flagstaff
Fire Dept and, respectfully, Summit Fire & Medical District and Ponderosa Fire District.  Specifically, it
enhances the ability for crews/personnel from each Dept to work cooperatively together in the areas of
wildfire suppression, hazard mitigation, and public outreach.

Financial Impact:
The IGA is meant to be cost-neutral.  Either one party is provided full-cost reimbursement for services
rendered to the other (should funding be available and identified prior to service delivery) or the two
parties exchange services on an hour-for-hour or project-by-project basis.  These determinations are to
be made, and agreed to, by the two parties before any work/service occurs. 

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
2) Ensure Flagstaff has a long-term water supply for current and future needs
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
7) Address key issues and processes related to the implementation of the Regional Plan
11) Ensure that we are as prepared as possible for extreme weather events.
 
REGIONAL PLAN:
Environmental Planning & Conservation – Vision for the Future:  In 2013, the long-term health and
viability of our natural resource environment is maintained through strategic planning for resource
conservation and protection.
Policy E&C.3.3 – Invest in forest health and watershed protection measures.
Policy E&C.6.1 – Encourage public awareness that the region’s ponderosa pine forest is a fie-dependent
ecosystem and strive to restore more natural and sustainable forest composition, structure, and
processes.
Policy E&C.6.3 – Promote protection, conservation, and ecological restoration of the region’s diverse



ecosystem type and associated animals.
Policy E&C.6.6 – Support collaborative efforts for forest health initiatives or practices, such as the Four
Forest Restoration Initiative (4FRI), to support healthy forests and protect our water system.
Policy E&C.10.2 – Protect, conserve, and when possible, enhance and restore wildlife habitat on public
land.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Not on this specific issue.  Council did, however, in 2015 approve a Mutual Aid IGA with Fire
Departments in our area.

Options and Alternatives:
.Three exist: 

Approve the IGA, thereby permitting exchange of wildland fire related services among the entities
for the mutual benefit of all involved.

1.

Pass on the IGA, and seek different terms/conditions for later consideration. 2.
Reject the IGA thereby continuing the current practice of each entity undertaking their respective
activities unto themselves.

3.

Background/History:
Each entity has trained and available wildland crew personnel.  Each, at times, is faced with staffing
issues, operational deadlines, or emerging opportunities which can be a challenge to address.  This IGA
allows us to merge work forces with our partners when necessary in order to meet needs and achieve
success.  The effort, and the accomplishments, will allow us in a collaborative way to educate our
publics, manage our forests to prevent loss from destructive wildfire and insect infestations (thereby
protecting our communities), and work together seamlessly to suppress wildfires. 

Key Considerations:
This IGA facilitates a regional approach among area Fire Departments to address the issue of forest
health and wildland fire.  By combining forces for specific activities, we can improve our respective
capabilities and the delivery of needed services in a timely manner. 

Expanded Financial Considerations:
Unlike a true Mutual-Aid agreement,which is typically limited in terms of time and/or scope-of-services,
this IGA allows us to undertake joint projects on a reimbursable basis, either via payment ($) for work
requested/rendered, or by exchange of time/services.  

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Completion of the joint public outreach/education efforts, forest treatment work, or suppression measures
undertaken as a result of this IGA will protect homes and neighborhoods, recreational opportunities, and
wildlife habitat, promote forest resiliency and sustainability, and ensure safe, effective, suppression
actions.

Community Involvement:
Consult & Involve – The joint operations undertaken as a result of this IGA are part of a larger effort
underway in our area and throughout northern AZ.  We and our many partners have been engaged for
nearly two decades in this work. 

Empower - The work that occurs will adhere to guidelines established in the Greater Flagstaff Area
Community Wildfire Protection Plan (City & County - 2005: updated in 2012), is consistent with forest
treatments designed and implemented by the Greater Flagstaff Forests Partnership (1999-present) and



the City of Flagstaff Wildland Fire Management program (1998-present), meets the goals of the State of
AZ 20-Year Strategy (2007), is consistent with both the Four Forests Restoration Initiative's and the
Flagstaff Watershed Protection Project's Final Records of Decision (USFS - 2015), and meets the goals
of the National Cohesive Strategy (Restored/resilient forests, protected communities, and safe/effective
wildfire response). 

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
None

Attachments:  SF&MD Crew IGA
PFD Crew IGA























  10. G.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Mark Cesare, Library Information Technology
Manager

Co-Submitter: Heidi Holland

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Sole Source Contract:  Library Radio Frequency Identification (RFID)
Project; Contract Number 1506849 with Tech Logic Corporation.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Approve the purchase agreement with Tech Logic Corporation for a library RFID system.

Executive Summary:
This RFID system will be used to convert the existing collection, at both the Downtown and the East
Flagstaff Libraries, from barcode tags to RFID tags, replace the automated self-check-out kiosks to more
current technology aligning with RFID, implement automated self-check-in/intelligent return, and procure
RFID inventory readers. The advancement to RFID technology is synonymous with the library's move
from a card catalog to an online catalog which will create a comparable community impact because of the
timeliness and accuracy of the system.

Community benefits from using RFID: 

RFID system should result in shorter lines and speedier check-out with more powerful self-service
options.
RFID “smart gates” provide real-time security alarm data, creating a friendlier staff-patron
interaction when handling security incidents.
New self-check-out kiosks will be more accessible and ADA compliant for all patrons.
RFID automation will reduce the number of staff hours spent checking-in and sorting returned
library materials. Not only does this get library materials back on the shelf faster, this also reduces
the potential for repetitive stress injuries.
Those freed-up staff hours may be reallocated to other library services, including assistance to
people seeking employment (computer skills/training, resume help, and finding job resources)
Staff would spend more time enhancing outreach and educational initiatives (tourism, Job Help,
STEM, etc.).

RFID technology will streamline process/workflow congestion in materials check-out and check-in
mechanisms, which are cornerstones of library services. In part this means fewer people waiting in line at
the circulation desk; it also means a faster turn-around time for checked-in materials to become available
for the next person. RFID technology offers the library an opportunity to continue meeting the ever
increasing demand for services while minimizing the need for additional staff hours. In addition to the
circulation benefits, RFID also provides new opportunities in the areas of customer service, collection
management, collection security, and risk management.



Financial Impact:
The library has been saving money for quite some time to do several projects at the libraries. We have
created a master plan that includes three phases for enhancements we need at both libraries. The Phase
one FY2017 budget (account 030-07-035-0140-5-4435) is $621,735. Of this budget, we budgeted
$450,000 for the purchase of this Radio Frequency Identification (RFID) system.

Due to diligent negotiations with Tech Logic Corporation, we were able to reduce the original RFID sole
source contract quote from an initial estimate of $625,000 to $450,000, basically including the Eastside
library's system for free.

The FY2017 City's General Fund contribution for Phase one projects is $7,735.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
7) Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans
8) Improve effectiveness of notification, communication, and engagement with residents, neighborhoods
and businesses and about City services, programs, policies, projects and developments
10) Support and assist the most vulnerable

REGIONAL PLAN:
Policy CC.5.1. Promote first class arts, research, and educational facilities
Policy PF.2.3. Provide accessible public facilities and services in strategic locations.
Policy ED.2.3. Encourage efforts to provide a full range of high-quality educational
opportunities for life-long learning for all residents.
Policy ED.2.4. Promote science, technology, engineering, mathematics, liberal arts,
and entrepreneurship education at all levels

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
No.

Options and Alternatives:
1. Approve the purchase agreement with Tech Logic Corporation for a library RFID system..

2. Approve RFID at the downtown library only.  In this case, we'd lose the excellent pricing we've
garnered from intensive negotiations with Tech Logic Corporation.

3. Do not approve the Library RFID Project contract with Tech Logic Corporation.  In this case, the library
would continue using the older, less efficient barcode technology to identify and track circulating materials

Community Involvement:
Inform

Attachments:  Tech Logic RFID Contract
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit A
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit B
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit C
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit E



Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit F
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit G
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit H
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit I
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit J
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit K
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit L
Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit M
Library RFID Project PowerPoint
Sole Source Justification
Sole Source Attachment



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 1

Tech Logic System
This CONTRACT FOR TECH LOGIC SYSTEM (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”), is made and 
entered into on the date of execution, by and between the City of Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State of 
Arizona (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), and Tech Logic Corporation, a corporation duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin (hereinafter referred to as “Tech Logic”).

THE PARTIES RECITE AND DECLARE THE FOLLOWING:

1. The City desires and hereby requests that Tech Logic design, construct and install a Tech Logic System at 
the Flagstaff City-Coconino County Public Library located at 300 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001 
and at the Flagstaff East Community Library located at 3000 North Fourth Street #5, Flagstaff, AZ 86004 
(“Library Locations”), to receive, convey, sort and/or deliver books and other materials to and from 
locations within the Library Locations, install RFID based Self Check-Out Systems and NX Series Security 
Gates, as required under this Agreement.

2. Tech Logic represents that it possesses the skill, experience, knowledge and qualifications to design, 
develop, install and implement a Tech Logic System as required by this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the herein above recitals, and the amounts to be paid, and of the 
mutual promises, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements hereinafter stated, and upon the terms 
and subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS:

Article 1: Definitions

The following terms and phrases shall have, for the purposes of this Agreement, the meanings set forth below, 
unless a different meaning is clearly required by the context.

1.01 “Agreement” means this Contract for the Tech Logic System and all attachments, Exhibits and 
Addendums incorporated herein, including all modifications, amendments and Change Orders executed 
in accordance with the requirements set forth herein.

1.02 “Change Order” means a written order for any change in the goods or services to be provided under 
this Agreement which increases or decreases the total Contract Price to be paid by City hereunder, 
which Change Order shall be in the form of the Change Order attached hereto as Exhibit E.

1.03 “Effective Date” means the date on which this Agreement is finally executed by all required signatories.

1.04 “ILS” means the City’s current Integrated Library System for tracking, recording and accounting for the 
location, lending and return of library materials, as the system is existing on the date of execution of this 
Agreement, and as the same may, from time to time, be modified or enhanced.

1.05 “Library Automation Vendor” or “LAV” means a supplier of computer software capable of 
processing and recording the City’s materials lending activities, including book check-out and check-in.

1.06 “Manufacturing Design” means the final design for manufacture of the Tech Logic System. The 
drawings in the Manufacturing Design serve as the “blueprint” for the manufacture and assembly of the 
system component parts. The Manufacturing Design, depending on the jurisdiction, may need to be 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 2

certified by an engineer licensed in the State and/or the municipality of the location of the City as 
complying with all applicable requirements of the Building Code as adopted by the State and/or 
municipality of the location of the City, including all engineering calculations for seismic restraints.

1.07 “Notice of Completion” means Tech Logic’s written Notice of Completion to the City that installation 
has been completed and is ready for testing by City, which Notice of Completion shall be in the form of 
the Notice of Completion attached hereto as Exhibit F.

1.08 “Notice of Shipment” means the City’s written Notice of Shipment informing Tech Logic that the City 
is prepared to receive the Tech Logic System, which Notice of Shipment shall be in the form of the 
Notice of Shipment attached hereto as Exhibt L.

1.09 “NX Series Security Gates” refers to the inventory system security pedastals.

1.10 “Project Manager” means the individual designated, as such by Tech Logic, having substantial 
knowledge and experience with respect to all aspects of the Tech Logic System development, 
manufacture, installation and testing, including but not limited to the machinery, software, engineering, 
hardware and related theories utilized in the design, development, installation, testing and operation of 
the System. 

The intent of Tech Logic is to designate one (1) individual to be the Project Manager throughout the 
term of this Agreement. Tech Logic shall advise the City of the name of such individual within ten (10) 
days of the Effective Date.

1.11 “RFID” means Radio Frequency Identification, which is a method of identifying or detecting data 
stored on a microchip with an antenna, and which method is more fully defined in Exhibit B attached 
hereto.

1.12 “Tech Logic System” or “TLS” means a system and encompasses the entire product line as offered by 
Tech Logic to its customers, including, but not limited to, RFID or barcode check-in or check-out 
systems, book drops and delivery systems, storage systems, sorting systems, branch distribution 
systems, patron reserve systems, gate inventory systems, and computer systems that are designed, 
manufactured or otherwise developed for the library industry. 

The specific reference to the TLS under this Agreement means only such hardware, software, and 
material components purchased by the City under this Agreement as set forth in Exhibit C, and as may 
be amended from time to time pursuant to a Change Order.

Article 2: Statement of Work

2.01 The TLS. The TLS shall be designed by Tech Logic, after consultation with City, and shall be 
manufactured and installed in accordance with the plans and specifications contained in Exhibit A 
“System Layout Drawings and Components.” The work shall be performed in a workmanlike and 
commercially reasonable manner.

A. Manufacturing Design - TLS. Commencing on the Effective Date, Tech Logic shall complete the 
TLS Manufacturing Design, based on the Plans contained in Exhibit A, “System Layout Drawings 
and Components,” and designed to achieve the functionality described the Description of 
Functionality of TLS. Upon completion and approval by the City, a written Notice of Completion of 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 3

the Manufacturing Design for the TLS shall be delivered to the City, which Notice shall specify 
Tech Logic’s estimated date of testing by Tech Logic.

B. Shipment. Tech Logic shall not ship the TLS until it receives a written Notice of Shipment from the 
City as attached in Exhibit L. Shipment of the components shall be FOB Destination, Prepaid and 
Allowed. In an event that an outside shipping firm is utilized, all shipment charges shall either be 
forwarded to the City for direct payment or shipped collect to be paid for by the City on delivery. At 
the discretion of Tech Logic, Tech Logic may elect to deliver the entire TLS or any portion thereof 
via Tech Logic’s own means. If Tech Logic elects to use its own means, such shipment shall be at no 
cost to the City.

C. Delivery. 

1. General. Delivery of all components of the TLS shall be made to a location mutually agreed to 
by the parties in advance. Tech Logic shall coordinate delivery of all components with the City.

2. Storage. The City shall provide safe enclosed storage of all components of the TLS. Should 
storage of the TLS at the site be unavailable, the components of the TLS shall be delivered to a 
storage space designated by the City, and the City shall be both physically and financially 
responsible for delivery of all components of the TLS from such storage space to the City for 
installation. Alternately, City may employ Tech Logic for storage of the TLS, as previsioned for 
in this Agreement.

2.02 Installation and Testing.

A. Pre-Shipment Factory Testing. Tech Logic shall assemble and test the TLS prior to shipment to the
City. The City may elect to attend each system test at the City’s expense, provided, however, that the 
failure of the City to attend such test shall not constitute the City’s acceptance of the TLS.

B. Installation. The TLS shall be installed at the Library Locations by Tech Logic and its agents in one 
or more phase(s) at the sole discretion of Tech Logic, during the hours of 7am-9pm MST time, with 
the first phase of installation within a reasonable period time of the delivery of the TLS to the 
Library Locations. Installation of all components of the TLS purchased hereunder will be made with 
the reasonable assistance of City and its agents as provided in Article 3. Tech Logic shall assist the 
City in any technical conversations with the LAV regarding the interface of the TLS software with 
the ILS. 

Tech Logic shall be responsible for providing all lifts, scaffolding, tools and other needed equipment 
as required to install all TLS components. It shall be the responsibility of Tech Logic to familiarize 
itself with the installation site(s) and to make arrangements for all necessary equipment and tools.

C. Notice of Completion of Installation. Following the installation of the TLS, Tech Logic shall notify 
City that all TLS components for that part of the system are installed at the Library Locations and 
running under permanent power by delivering Exhibit F, “Notice of Completion and 
Acknowledgment” (“Notice of Completion”) to City.

D. Testing and Correction Following Installation. Upon completion of the training described in Section 
2.03 for each component of the TLS, City shall have twenty one (21) business days to test the newly 
installed components, and, if necessary, complete Exhibit G, “Notice of Corrections,” which shall 
include an itemized list of corrections, if any, and submit the Notice of Corrections to Tech Logic for 
review and corrective action. Upon receipt of the Notice of Corrections, at its expense, Tech Logic 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 4

shall repair, replace, reprogram and/or otherwise remedy the corrections to the City’s reasonable 
satisfaction within fifteen (15) business days of receipt of the Notice of Corrections.

E. City’s Acknowledgment of Notice of Completion. Within ten (10) business days after Tech Logic has 
completed the corrections identified in the Notice of Corrections to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
City, the City shall execute and deliver to Tech Logic a Notice of Completion, acknowledging that 
all TLS components for that part of the system are installed at the Library Locations and running 
under permanent power. If City does not deliver a Notice of Corrections within the twenty-one (21) 
day period described in Section 2.02D, then the TLS shall be deemed complete, correct, and fully 
operational in all respects, and the Notice of Completion shall itself serve as a Notice of Completion 
without City’s execution thereof.

2.03 Training. In addition to the onsite training described in this Section, Tech Logic shall train system 
managers and operators through its customer support service as provided herein.

A. Maintenance and Operating Manuals. Not later than the effective date of this Agreement, Tech 
Logic shall provide City with the Maintenance and Operating Manuals (“Manuals”) that shall 
include mechanical, electrical and program design documentation for the City to adequately test, 
troubleshoot and maintain the TLS.

B. System Training. Tech Logic shall provide personnel onsite at the City to train City staff on the 
operation and maintenance of the TLS as described in Exhibit C, “System Pricing, Component 
Description and Contract Amendment Schedule.” Tech Logic and City shall negotiate a mutually 
agreeable training period. Any agreement regarding a training period does not release the City from 
making its timely final payment as described in Article 9 of this Agreement. 

Tech Logic shall perform the training services in a timely and professional manner by capable and 
qualified trainers. The City shall incur no additional costs from Tech Logic for delays in technical 
implementation and training services within the control of Tech Logic. 

Additional training will be provided at a rate of $1,500.00 per day, plus travel expenses, for each 
additional day, if requested by City in a Change Order.

2.04 Application of Contract to Components Subsequently Purchased. The TLS may or may not include
all system components that Tech Logic offers or that the City may need as a finished materials handling 
system. Tech Logic however represents that even without all available options, the TLS will meet the 
functionality standards contained in Exhibit B, and that it can adjust the TLS to add system components 
at any time in the future.

The City shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to purchase system components at any time, or 
from time to time, within one (1) year following City’s execution of the Acknowledgment of the Notice 
of Completion for the TLS at the current prices, and subject to the following:

A. Increased Costs. Except as expressly provided for in this Agreement, no price increases will be 
approved.

B. Change Order. All terms and conditions shall be stated in a Change Order signed by both parties, 
and shall be subject to current pricing and to Section 9.04.

C. Schedule. The parties shall agree on the schedule for manufacture, delivery and installation of all 
subsequent purchases, which Project Schedule shall be in the form of the Project Schedule attached 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 5

hereto as Exhibit H. 

In any event, during the course of this agreement, the City shall receive the lowest pricing that Tech 
Logic offers to any other customer.  Except as otherwise stipulated herein or agreed by the parties, 
the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the design, construction, installation, testing, training 
and support of, and in all other matters related to the TLS.

Article 3: Obligations of City

3.01 Acceptance of Risk and Storage of TLS Components. City shall provide safe and enclosed storage of 
all TLS components until Tech Logic is onsite for installation in accordance with section 2.01 C (2), 
supra. Except for damage caused by Tech Logic’s agents, City shall bear all risk of loss and damage of 
TLS components from and after delivery at the location designated by City. 

3.02 City’s Responsibilities for Installation. 

A. Interface with ILS. If the TLS requires an interface with the City’s ILS, the City shall be responsible 
for purchasing and/or contracting with the City’s LAV for a connection that will allow the TLS 
software to interface with the ILS. City shall provide remote access to ILS and SIP server for testing 
capability.  All connections required by this Section 3.02 will be made in accordance with Tech 
Logic’s schedule for installation.

B. Electrical and Mechanical Work. City shall hire, at its own expense, an electrical and mechanical 
contractor to wire power to the TLS, to provide “Unistrut” installation where applicable and shall 
provide millwork necessary for installation of Self Check-Out System components, as described in 
Exhibit A.

C. Availability of Facilities. The City shall provide adequate work space and storage space at the City
to facilitate the performance of services by Tech Logic during the installation of the TLS for up to 
four (4) of Tech Logic’s personnel, subject to the following conditions:

1. Tech Logic personnel shall have continuously free and unobstructed access to all areas in which 
components are to be installed. Any delay during installation of the TLS resulting from action or 
inaction of parties other than Tech Logic personnel themselves, as determined in the sole 
discretion of Tech Logic, shall constitute an obstruction.

2. Additional labor shall be paid by City to Tech Logic at a rate of $200.00 per hour per Tech Logic 
personnel, or $2,000.00 per day per Tech Logic personnel, for any obstruction while such 
obstruction exists as determined in the sole discretion of Tech Logic, plus any associated travel 
expenses incurred by Tech Logic. Such payments for additional labor shall be due and paid by 
City within ten (10) days of each occurrence of an obstructed installation.

3. City is particularly aware that when installing system components, Tech Logic personnel must be 
free to work in conjoined linear paths, installing conveyor sections end-to-end, without having to 
move operations to other areas.

4. Any interruption in the installation schedule that is not attributable to Tech Logic and which 
develops into non-workable days shall be fully paid by City within thirty (30) days of invoice 
thereupon. City’s and Tech Logic’s project managers/supervisors will jointly decide whether 
economics would dictate the return of Tech Logic personnel to Minnesota; in either case, any 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 6

additional expenses incurred by Tech Logic shall be paid by City within thirty (30) days of 
invoice thereupon.

3.03 Training and Testing. City shall fully cooperate with Tech Logic in all installation, testing, and training 
activities described in Article 2 such that entry of a Notice of Completion is not delayed in any respect 
thereby.

Article 4: Work Schedule

4.01 Work Schedule. Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date, City and Tech Logic shall complete 
Exhibit H, “Project Schedule,” to create a schedule for all work to be completed on the TLS under 
Article 2. A separate Project Schedule shall be created within thirty (30) days of the execution of a 
Change Order for the purchase of additional TLS components.

4.02 Delay by City. City may request a rescheduling of the delivery or installation of any part of the TLS as 
necessary or convenient to City, provided that:

A. City’s request shall not be made less than forty-five (45) business days prior to the scheduled 
delivery or installation date;

B. Payment obligations of City under this Agreement shall not be delayed in any respect thereby and 
specifically such request shall not delay payments due under Article 9 hereof or any other provisions 
of this Agreement specifying payments to Tech Logic;

C. City shall fully pay, or reimburse Tech Logic, for commercially reasonable storage charges relative 
to such rescheduling request at a rate of one-tenth (1/10) of one percent (1%) per week of the total 
contract price; and

D. City may, as an alternative to storage with Tech Logic, elect to take delivery off-site and at a 
location other than that of Tech Logic, with any storage costs associated therewith being the 
exclusive responsibility of the City.

4.03 Delay by Tech Logic. Tech Logic shall not unreasonably delay delivery and installation of any part of 
the TLS without prior written consent of City, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

Article 5: Tech Logic’s Covenants Concerning Staffing & Work Conditions

5.01 Project Manager. Tech Logic shall designate a Project Manager, within ten (10) days of the Effective 
Date, for all work to be done hereunder. The Project Manager shall be accountable and accessible to the 
City at all times regarding performance, progress and completion of all phases of work during the 
development, manufacturing, installation and testing of the TLS. The Project Manager shall supervise 
the work of Tech Logic’s personnel and those of the Tech Logic’s subcontractors, if any. Tech Logic 
shall provide the City fifteen (15) days written notice of assignment of a new Project Manager.

5.02 Tech Logic’s Agents. In addition to the Project Manager, Tech Logic shall engage, at its own expense 
and discretion, such other persons as may be necessary in Tech Logic’s judgment to fulfill the 
obligations of Tech Logic herein. Tech Logic agrees that all individuals so engaged shall be properly 
trained, competent and qualified to perform assigned tasks. Tech Logic may replace any person so 
engaged provided that such substitute person possesses the qualifications above specified.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 7

5.03 Access to and Use of City’s Property. Tech Logic shall invite only those persons performing tasks for 
Tech Logic to come upon the Library Locations. Tech Logic shall not bring any property, other than 
what is required pursuant to the services herein specified, onto any City premises. 

Tech Logic shall not use, suffer or permit the use of the space provided by the City to Tech Logic 
hereunder, nor any part thereof, in any manner or for any purpose, nor permit anything to be done, 
brought or kept thereon (including, but not limited to, the installation or operation of any electrical, 
electronic or other equipment) which, in the reasonable judgment of the City would: 

A. Delivery of Services. Impair or interfere in any way with the delivery by the City of services, or the 
proper and economic heating, air-conditioning, cleaning or other services of the City by, or occasion 
discomfort, inconvenience or annoyance to, any of the occupants of the City or impair the 
appearance of the City.

B. Business. Be prejudicial to the business of the City, or reflect unfavorably on the City.

C. Relationship. Confuse or mislead the public as to any connection or relationship between the City
and Tech Logic.

D. Impairment of Other Work. Except as agreed in advance between Tech Logic and the City, perform 
or fail to perform any action that results in the impairment of any work being performed by the 
City’s other agents, consultants or contractors.

5.04 City’s Access to Inspect the Work. Tech Logic shall permit representatives of the City, at reasonable 
times, to have access to and inspect Tech Logic’s installation work of the TLS.

5.05 Cleanliness and Safety. No rubbish, dirt, tools or other articles, items or things shall be put in the public 
areas of the Library Locations by Tech Logic, its officers, employees, agents, invitees, partners or 
contractors. Tech Logic shall at all times keep the Library Locations free from accumulations of waste 
material or rubbish caused by its employees, agents or contractors or their work; and at completion of 
the work, Tech Logic shall remove all its tools, equipment and waste, leaving the work area broom 
clean. Tech Logic shall conduct the work in a safe and orderly manner and shall take every reasonable 
precaution so as not to allow injury to any person or damage to the Library Locations.

5.06 Action following Termination. Upon termination of this Agreement, whether by completion of all 
work or otherwise, Tech Logic shall remove all of its property from the City premises. Any property of 
Tech Logic, its agents or subcontractors, which remains on City premises more than thirty (30) days 
after the completion or termination of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been abandoned, and may 
either be retained by the City as its property or disposed of in such manner as the City deems 
appropriate.

5.07 Compliance with City’s Rules. Tech Logic shall observe and comply with any reasonable rules which
the City has made or may make and communicate hereafter to an extent not inconsistent with this 
Agreement, at any time in writing, to Tech Logic.

5.08 Direction of Project Manager. Tech Logic shall cause its employees to cooperate with all directions of 
the City’s project manager while at the City.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 8

Article 6: Change Orders

6.01 When Change Order Required. No change in the work to be performed hereunder that will increase or 
decrease the total Contract Price, including but not limited to any change in the TLS layout, design or 
components made following completion of the final manufacturing drawings, shall be made except by a 
Change Order. Upon receipt of a duly executed Change Order, Tech Logic shall proceed with the work 
involved. All work shall be accomplished under the applicable conditions of this Agreement.

6.02 Requirements of Change Order. Before a Change Order is approved, it shall include all costs directly 
related to the change, and Tech Logic shall itemize the costs and provide the City appropriate supporting 
data to establish their correctness. The City shall have the option to decrease the amount or quantity of 
goods or services to be provided hereunder only if Tech Logic has not irrevocably committed to 
purchasing such equipment, goods or services.

No Change Order will be effective to change the Contract Price hereunder unless signed by both a 
qualified representative of the City and Tech Logic. A qualified representative shall have authority to 
fully bind its party to terms and conditions of this Agreement, and to any additional expenditure under 
any Change Order.

Article 7: Licenses & Proprietary Rights

7.01 Maintenance and Operating. Tech Logic’s Manuals and software licenses reflect designs and 
programs, as well as other components, which comprise the TLS as identified herein, and which have 
been developed by Tech Logic. The TLS and its related designs, programs, components, and operating 
systems contain proprietary and/or trade secret information owned by Tech Logic and third party 
vendors who have entered into licensing agreements with Tech Logic. Use of the software and the 
Manuals in a manner not related to the City’s use of the TLS is prohibited.

7.02 Licenses. Tech Logic hereby grants and licenses to the City the right to use all software that Tech Logic 
has developed. Tech Logic shall also provide City with all third-party software licenses, if any, 
necessary to grant the City the right to own and operate the TLS as provided in this Agreement. City
shall, however, be subject to the Full Service Agreement as set forth in Exhibit J.

7.03 Use of TLS. All items comprising the TLS are deemed to be for City as a single user, the City, and may 
not be resold by City, or its successors in interest, without the express written consent of Tech Logic.
Tech Logic does not by this Agreement transfer the right to use any of its proprietary technology, 
including software and mechanical devices, by City, except for its use in the TLS.

7.04 Tech Logic’s Assurances. Tech Logic represents and warrants that it has the right to enter into this 
Agreement and grant to the City the right to own and use all software, hardware, machinery, systems 
and Manuals hereunder provided. Tech Logic has not transferred to the City, or its successors in interest, 
the right to use or otherwise sell or convey the proprietary technology that comprises the TLS and its 
operations to a third party; however, the City shall have the right to modify, enhance or relocate the TLS 
to other City uses and facilities, subject to loss of any warranty hereunder, if such modification, 
enhancement or relocation is not performed as provided in Article 8.

7.05 Intellectual Property Rights. Tech Logic (or its licensors) retains ownership of all intellectual and 
industrial property rights (including, without limitation, patents, copyrights, trade secrets, trademarks 
and designs) in and relating to the TLS and all enhancements, modifications and updates thereof. 



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 9

Except for the limited license rights expressly granted in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement 
shall be construed as granting to the City or implying the grant of any other rights, by license, 
assignment, transfer or otherwise, under any intellectual and/or industrial property rights in or relating to 
the TLS or information provided by Tech Logic. No source code will be communicated to the City. The 
City shall not make any copies, reverse engineer, disassemble, or decompile any software or part 
thereof.

7.06 Intellectual Property Indemnification. Tech Logic shall indemnify and hold harmless the City against 
any liability, including costs and expenses, for infringement of any patent, trademark or copyright or 
other proprietary rights of any third parties arising out of this Agreement performance or use by the City 
of materials furnished or work performed under this Agreement.  Tech Logic shall promptly assume full 
responsibility for the defense of any suit or proceeding which is, has been, or may be brought against the 
City and its agents for alleged infringement, or alleged unfair competition resulting from similarity in 
design, trademark or appearance of goods, and indemnifiy the City against any and all expenses, losses, 
damages, attorneys’ fees and costs resulting from such proceedings or settlement thereof.  This 
indemnification shall survive termination or expiration of the Agreement.

Article 8: Customer Support & Warranty

8.01 Customer Support. The City shall contract to use the TLS Full Service Agreement as defined 
specifically in Exhibit J, as if fully incorporated hereto, to begin immediately upon the expiration of the 
Extended Warranty Period.

8.02 Warranty. During the warranty periods described below, Tech Logic warrants that the TLS will be free 
of material defects and perform substantially as described in Tech Logic’s Manuals and in Exhibit B. 
Tech Logic warrants that the TLS will comply with applicable law covering installation and operation of 
such systems, and Tech Logic further warrants that the TLS will be installed in a workmanlike manner. 
Warranty coverage established by this Agreement begins, for the TLS and each component of the TLS 
purchased under a Change Order, upon Tech Logic’s delivery of a Notice of Completion for that part of 
the TLS.

A. Warranty Periods. There are two specific time periods governing each of Tech Logic’s warranties:

1. Run-In Period. The “Run-In” period for each warranty covers thirty (30) days following the date 
of the Notice of Completion for that warranted component. During this time, Tech Logic will 
correct conditions that adversely affect the functionality of the TLS, without charge.

2. Extended Support Period. The “Extended Support” period begins on the expiration of the 
applicable Run-In period and ends on the one-year anniversary of the date of the Notice of 
Completion. Tech Logic warrants that for a period of eleven (11) months immediately following 
the “Run-In” period, the TLS shall not exhibit any defect in materials or workmanship. Tech 
Logic shall repair or replace, at its option, and at no additional cost to the City, any mechanism 
that is defective in material or workmanship.

B. Condition to Warranty. City shall notify Tech Logic within ten (10) business days of any defects or 
malfunctions in the TLS of which it learns from any source. Failure to do so will void the warranty 
against that defect.

C. Warranty Action. Correction of defects of the TLS shall be accomplished by Tech Logic in a timely 
and expeditious manner, according to the following procedure:



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 10

1. Telephone Assistance. Tech Logic may attempt to address City’s warranty complaint by 
telephone assistance or by written or electronic messaging communication between the hours of 
(Mon-Fri 9am-6pm MST) before taking further action.

2. Further Action. If Tech Logic determines that the problem with the TLS is not merely due to 
City’s incorrect operation, or if a system manager or team leader having the necessary 
qualifications is unable to correct the problem with telephonic or other assistance, within five (5) 
business days, Tech Logic shall provide all further assistance required to correct the problem, 
including labor and materials.

3. Shipping & Handling. There shall be no charge to City for shipping and handling throughout the 
course of the Warranty.

4. Not Covered by Warranty. If the problem is not one covered by warranty, City shall pay for all 
costs of labor and materials at Tech Logic’s standard rate for additional labor of $200.00 per 
hour (Mon-Fri 9am-6pm MST) per Tech Logic personnel (2 hour minimum), or $2,000.00 per 
day per Tech Logic personnel. Mon-Fri, “after hours” and Saturdays labor rate is $300 per hour 
with a 2 hour minimum. Sunday labor rate is $400 per hour with a 3 hour minimum. Such 
payments for additional labor shall be due and paid by City within ten (10) days of each 
occurrence of such further action.

D. Non-Covered Items. Component or system failures caused by the City’s lack of maintenance or by 
the City’s misuse of the TLS, including the introduction of “non-standard” items as described below 
and the results thereof, are conditions that are not included in warranty coverage. The TLS will not 
be designed to process the following materials:

Materials with minor dimensions less than 4 inches;
Materials with major dimensions greater than 16 inches;
Materials with a thickness less than 3/16 inch;
Materials with covers that are off (i.e. puzzles, games, etc.);
Materials contained in thin or limp bags;
Materials with loose, torn or bent covers or with rolled or curled pages;
Video tape, compact disc, DVD, and cassettes with open covers, or items that have come out of 
their containers;
Materials with protruding paper such as book marks or “date due” slips;
Paper bags;
Mailing tubes;
Pamphlets, sheet music, newspapers or magazines that are not in a hard case;
Transparent items;
Children’s toys that are not in a hard case;
Materials with worn or malfunctioning identification strips or markers; and
Other items not a part of the City’s circulating library collection.

If Tech Logic determines that a lack of maintenance, misuse, or a non-covered item has caused a 
component or system failure, then City shall pay for all costs of labor and materials to correct such 
failure at Tech Logic’s standard rate for additional labor of $200.00 per hour per Tech Logic 
certified technician, or $2,000.00 per day per Tech Logic personnel, plus any associated travel 
expenses incurred by Tech Logic. Such payments for additional labor shall be due and paid by City
within ten (10) days of such correction activity by Tech Logic.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 11

E. Further Limitation. All warranties given by Tech Logic are limited to replacement or repair of 
defective components including hardware and computer software. Tech Logic shall determine 
whether the components should be replaced or repaired. Any warranty is void if the TLS is modified 
or altered without the knowledge and written permission of Tech Logic. The warranty herein shall 
remain in effect should the City move the TLS to another location only if said move is engineered 
and coordinated by Tech Logic.

Article 9: Prices & Payment

9.01 Contract Price. The total contract price for the TLS is set forth on Exhibit C (herein referred to as the 
“Contract Price”), which Contract Price shall be paid in installments under the schedule described in 
Section 9.02. The Contract Price for all other components of the TLS shall be established by a Change 
Order, but subject to the Pricing Schedule attached hereto as Exhibit C, and adjusted as provided in 
Section 2.04.

Work to be performed by Tech Logic for City under this Agreement comprises four phases:

A. Systems engineering and manufacturing design professional services (accounting for forty percent 
(40%) of the Contract Price); and

B. Manufacturing (accounting for fifty percent (50%) of the Contract Price); and

C. Manufacturing final testing and pre-shipment inspection at Tech Logic (accounting for five percent 
(5%) of the Contract Price); and

D. Installation (accounting for five percent (5%) of the Contract Price).

9.02 Payment Schedule. Payment of the Contract Price for Tech Logic Products in Pricing Schedule Exhibit 
C shall be made as follows:

A. A first payment, in an amount of fifty percent (50%) of the Contract Price, shall be due to Tech 
Logic on or before. Work pursuant to this Agreement shall not begin until receipt of such payment is 
verified by Tech Logic. A separate invoice shall be included with the Notice of Completion and shall 
include the Contract number.

B. Final payment, in an amount of fifty percent (50%) of the Contract Price plus all additional 
payments required under executed Change Orders, if any, shall be due to Tech Logic within ten (10) 
days of Tech Logic’s delivery to the City of the Notice of Completion.

9.03 Payment Schedule for Change Orders. The payment of any Change Order shall be made in 
installments, with the first installment being due ten (10) days after the execution of the Change Order. 
The amount and payment terms of the Change Order shall be as set forth in Sections 9.02 and 9.03, but 
specifically excluding RFID systems and components. Any RFID systems and components shall be 
purchased by City via a separate purchase order prepared by Tech Logic, having payment terms of being 
due and payable in full upon entry of the purchase order.

In addition to provisions of section 2.04 herein, the parties understand and agree that Tech Logic may 
purchase commodities from foreign sources for use in the TLS. Consequently, upon execution of a 
Change Order, if applicable foreign currency exchange rates pertaining to such commodities have 
fluctuated by at least five percent (5%) versus U.S. currency from the Effective Date of this Agreement, 
then prices stated shall be adjusted accordingly by Tech Logic for such Change Order.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 12

9.04 Interest Charges. If any payments due from City to Tech Logic are deemed to be, in the sole discretion 
of Tech Logic, overdue, then interest charges thereon shall be paid by City to Tech Logic at a rate of one 
and one-half percent (1.5%) per month.

9.05 Applicability to other locations. The terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, extend and 
apply to purchases of Tech Logic’s goods and services by other libraries located within the State of 
Arizona, subject to provisions specific to each individual location, including but not limited to System 
Layout Drawings and Components (Exhibit A); Description of Functionality (Exhibit B); System 
Pricing, Component Description and Contract Amendment Schedule (Exhibit C); Change Order (Exhibit 
E); Notice of Completion and Acknowledgement (Exhibit F); City Notice of Corrections (Exhibit G); 
Project Schedule and Delivery Schedule (Exhibit H); and Software License Agreement (Exhibit I).

9.06 Taxes. Tech Logic shall be responsible for payment of all taxes including federal, state, and local taxes 
related to or arising out of Tech Logic’s performance of this Agreement.  Such taxes include, but are not 
limited to, federal and state income tax, social security tax, unemployment insurance taxes, transaction 
priviledge taxes, used taxes, and any other taxes or business license fees as required.

Article 10: Resolution of Questions & Disputes

10.01 Dispute Resolution. Tech Logic and City will exercise their good faith and reasonable effort to 
negotiate and settle promptly any dispute that may arise with respect to this Agreement. The parties may 
obtain the services of a mediator or other “alternate dispute resolution” upon their mutual agreement 
prior to seeking redress through a Court of competent jurisdiction. The parties will share equally in the 
cost of alternate dispute resolution.

10.02 Venue. Any formal dispute resolution proceeding, including, but not limited to, mediation, arbitration or 
litigation, shall be conducted within the County of Coconino, State of Arizona.

10.03 Arbitration. If the work to be performed under this Agreement will be a part of new construction or a 
renovation or remodeling project, or if installation of the TLS will require coordination with any other 
construction activities, then Tech Logic agrees to join in any arbitration proceeding involving a dispute 
to which Tech Logic is a necessary party.

For any other dispute, arbitration between the City and Tech Logic will be voluntary, but once engaged, 
binding. If such arbitration is commenced under this Agreement, the arbitration shall be conducted under 
the rules of the American Arbitration Association, as modified by the provisions of Arizona law, and 
any award rendered (including an award requiring specific performance) shall be final and binding upon 
the parties hereto, and the judgment on the award rendered by the Arbitrator or Arbitrators may be 
entered in any Court having jurisdiction thereof.

Article 11: Indemnity

Tech Logic agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City, its council, boards and commissions, 
Cityofficers, employees and agents harmless from any liability, claims, damages, costs, judgments or expenses, 
including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to the extent any of the foregoing results, directly or indirectly, from any 
error or omission and/or willful or negligent act of Tech Logic, its agents, employees or subcontractors in the 
performance of this Agreement and against all loss by reason of the failure of Tech Logic fully to perform, in 
any respect, all obligations under this Agreement. In no event will Tech Logic be liable for any damages caused 
by the City’s failure to perform its responsibility hereunder, except to the extent any such failure is attributable 
to the action or inaction of Tech Logic.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 13

Article 12: Insurance

Tech Logic shall maintain during the performance of any work under this Agreement the insurance coverage
identified in Exhibit M and shall deliver a Certificate of Insurance to the City prior to execution of this 
Agreement.

Article 13: Independent Manufacturer

Nothing herein creates or establishes the relationship of a joint venture or partnership between the parties, nor 
constitutes Tech Logic as the agent, representative or employee of the City for any manner whatsoever. Tech 
Logic is and shall remain an independent manufacturer under this Agreement. Any and all personnel employed 
by Tech Logic or its subcontractors while engaged in the performance of any activity under this Agreement, 
shall have no implied contractual arrangement with the City and shall not be considered employees of the City; 
and any and all claims of said personnel while so engaged that may arise under the Workers Compensation Act, 
and any and all claims whatsoever of any personnel arising out of employment or alleged employment by Tech 
Logic including, without limitation, claims of any discrimination against Tech Logic, its officers, agents, 
contractors or employees shall in no way be the responsibility of the City; and Tech Logic shall defend, 
indemnify and hold the City, its trustees, officers, agents and employees harmless from any and all such claims.

Article 14: Termination

14.01 Termination by Tech Logic. This Agreement may be terminated by Tech Logic without penalty in the 
event that City is in breach of any of its obligations hereunder with respect to City’s obligations to 
facilitate installation of the TLS, provided that, the City shall first have been given a written notice that 
specifies the nature of the breach and Tech Logic offers City not less than thirty (30) business days to 
correct the breach.

Notwithstanding this provision, City shall be fully obligated to pay all amounts owed to Tech Logic 
under this Agreement, and any non-compliance thereof shall constitute an immediate breach of this 
Agreement.

14.02 Termination by City. This Agreement may be terminated by the City if Tech Logic is in breach of its 
obligations hereunder, provided that Tech Logic shall have first been given a written notice that 
specifies the nature of the breach and the City offers Tech Logic not less than thirty (30) business days 
to correct the breach.

14.03 Termination for Nonappropriation of Funds. The City may terminate all or a portion of this 
Agreement due to budgetary constraints and non-appropriation of funds for the following fiscal year, 
without penalty or liability to the City.

14.04 Action upon Termination. Except in the event of City’s termination for breach by Tech Logic, upon 
termination of this Agreement prior to expiration:

A. Tech Logic shall be entitled to payment for work performed prior to the date of termination; and

B. City shall immediately return to Tech Logic all of Tech Logic’s Manuals and licenses except for 
those licenses for hardware or software not created by Tech Logic.

14.05 No Limitation on Remedies. Except as expressly provided, nothing in this Article 14 shall be deemed 
to waive or limit any other action, proceeding or remedy to which either party would otherwise be 
entitled as a result of the breach of this Agreement by the other party.



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 14

Article 15: Performance Bond

If requested by City, Tech Logic shall provide to City at City’s sole expense pursuant to and as specifically 
stated in Exhibit C, a Performance Bond. The Performance Bond shall be delivered to City within forty-five 
(45) days of City’s first payment under Section 9.02A.

The parties understand and agree that the Performance Bond is intended to secure Tech Logic’s faithful 
performance of its obligations under Phases II, III & IV as stated in Article 9, and not as security for 
professional services that comprise Phase I thereof. The parties further understand and agree that the Contract 
Price includes Tech Logic’s cost in procuring the bond provided it is so itemized in Exhibit C.

Article 16: Miscellaneous Provisions

16.01 Compliance with Laws, Codes, Licensing, and Other Standards. Tech Logic at its expense shall 
maintain current federal, state, and local licenses, permits and approvals required for the performance of 
the Agreement and provide copies to the City upon request.

Each TLS is generally designed in conformity with the National Electrical Code (NEC) and other 
standards. However, due to unique designs and observance of various OSHA safety concerns for guards 
and the like, some deviations from the NEC and other standards may be necessary.

16.02 Force Majeure. Neither party shall be deemed to be in default of any provision of this Agreement for 
any delay, suspension or failure in performance resulting from acts or events beyond the reasonable 
control of such party. For purposes of this Agreement, such acts shall include, but are not limited to, acts 
of God, civil or military authority, civil disturbance, war, fires, other catastrophes, or other “force 
majeure” events beyond the parties’ reasonable control.

If either party is unable to perform as the result of such an event, such party shall send the other party 
written notice stating the delay and cause thereof, within at least fifteen (15) days from the date of the 
occurrence of the force majeure event.

16.03 Governing Law. The validity, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona.

16.04 Severability. If any provision of this Agreement, or portions thereof, is found to be invalid by any court 
of competent jurisdiction, the remainder of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and 
effect.

16.05 Notices. Until one party provides written notice with other instructions to the other party, any written 
notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be deemed given when delivered personally, 
when delivered by prepaid certified mail with return receipt requested, or when delivered by electronic 
transmission with telephonic confirmation as follows:

If to Tech Logic: Gary W. Kirk, President
Tech Logic Corporation 
835 Hale Avenue
Oakdale, Minnesota 55128
Phone: 651-747-0492
Email: gwkirk@tech-logic.com
FAX: 651-747-0493



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 15

If to City: William Ascarza-Collection Manager
Flagstaff City – Coconino County Public Library
300 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001
Phone: 928-213-2386
Email: wascarza@flagstaffaz.gov

16.06 Assignment. Tech Logic shall not assign or sublet the whole or any part of this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of the City.

16.07 Attorneys’ Fees. If a dispute arises between the parties as a result of which an action is commenced to 
interpret or enforce any of the terms of this Agreement, or if there is a breach of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, or the Exhibits attached hereto, the losing or defaulting party or parties shall pay to the 
prevailing party or parties reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with 
prosecution or defense of such action as such Court shall adjudge.

16.08 Modification. No modification or cancellation of any portion of this Agreement shall be effective unless 
in writing and signed by t he parties or their duly authorized representatives.

16.09 Complete Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with regard 
to the subject matter hereof. No other representations, understandings or agreements have been made or 
relied upon in the making of this Agreement other than those specifically set forth herein. The parties 
herein acknowledge that they have read this Agreement, understand it and agree to be bound by its 
terms, and further agree that it is the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement between the 
parties.

16.10 Public Records. This Agreement and any related materials are a matter of public record and subject to 
disclosure pursuant to Arizona Public Records Law, A.R.S. § 39-121 et seq.  If Tech Logic has clearly 
marked is proprietary information as “confidential”, the City will endeavor to notify Tech Logic prior to 
release of such information.

16.11 Cancellation for Conflict of Interest (A.R.S. § 38-511): The City may cancel this Agreement within 
three (3) years after its execution, without penalty or further liability to Tech Logic.

16.12 Nondiscrimination. Tech Logic shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment or person to whom it provides services because of race, color, religion, sex, national origin, 
disability, genetic information, veteran’s status, pregnancy, familial status, and represents and warrants 
that it complies with all applicable federal, state and local laws and executive orders regarding 
employment.  In addition, because Tech Logic is performing services within the City of Flagstaff limits, 
it shall comply with the City Code, Chapter 14-02, Civil Rights, which also prevents discrimination 
based on sexual orientation, or gender identity or expression.

16.10 Incorporation of Exhibits. The following Exhibits attached hereto are hereby incorporated into and 
form a part of this Agreement.

Exhibit A: System Layout Drawings and Components

Exhibit B: Description of Functionality

Exhibit C: System Pricing, Component Description and Contract Amendment Schedule



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 16

Note: There is no Exhibit D in this Agreement.

Exhibit E: Change Order

Exhibit F: Notice of Completion and Acknowledgment

Exhibit G: City Notice of Corrections

Exhibit H: Project Schedule and Delivery Schedule

Exhibit I: Software License Agreement

Exhibit J: Service Agreement for TLS

Exhibit K: Self-Checkout Warranty

Exhibit L: Notice of Shipment

Exhibit M: Required Insurance Provisions



Contract Number 1506849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 17

* * IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, as of the dates set forth below. 

TECH LOGIC CORPORATION

By:  _____________________________
Gary W. Kirk
President

_________________________________
Date

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date

Attest:

______________________________
City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff

Approved As to Form:

_______________________________
City Attorney of the City of Flagstaff



Contract Number 15006849

Exhibit A: 5 Bin sort system – Coconino Branch

Exhibit A: 9 Bin sort system – Main Branch



Contract Number 15006849



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

Exhibit B: Description of Functionality
The Description of Functionality is commonly referred to as a “Sequence of Operations” and describes how 
the system works from both a controls point of view and mechanical view. It further defines system 
specifications that provide the City with a good understanding of anticipated performance objectives. 
Throughput rates, speeds of moving devices, and reaction times of the system are all best guesses based on 
previous system performances. This is so because many variables such as network speeds, automated 
circulation system response times, City personnel variances in performance and City collection variables may 
all have an impact on system throughput rates, speeds and reaction times.

Tech Logic’s “suite” of software programs is used throughout its systems. Each system is unique and custom 
configured to fit the City’s specific environment, yet the basic underlying code is the same from system to 
system. It is important for the reader to understand that deviations from Tech Logic’s standard suite of
functions can produce additional programming costs to the City.

Tech Logic Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “TLC”) systems are broken into several major categories 
each having its own, unique “sequence of operations”. The basic categories are Safety and Emergency Stop 
Systems, Book Drops and Delivery Systems, Check-In/Out Systems and Asset Management Systems.

A Tech Logic system may consist of one or more of these categories in any combination. Therefore, this exhibit 
includes all of the above mentioned categories even though some of the categories may not apply to the City’s 
final system composition.

Article 1: Definition of Terms

1.01 “AMH” means Automated Material Handling System and is used for all levels of handling 
sophistication within a TLC System.

1.02 “CircIT Application” is the TLC title for the Visual Basic .NET program that resides on the System PC 
or City’s PC and interfaces the City’s ILS Software.

1.03 “Book(s)” shall refer to all materials including but not limited to books, tapes, CD’s, DVD’s, magazines 
and all City items that must generally be handled by the System within the City environment.

1.04 “Delivery System” refers to that portion of the System that receives Books from book drops and 
transports the Books to the Process Area.

1.05 “ILS” refers to the Integrated Library System that has provided the City with its asset tracking software.

1.06 “MS” refers to licensed Microsoft Corporation software that resides on the System PC or the City’s PC. 
When a PC is purchased by the City from TLC, the license is transferred to the City and is considered 
third party pass through licensing. 

1.07 “MS Software(s)” refers to software that is purchased by TLC from Microsoft Corporation for use on 
the System PC. These software’s are considered “Third Party” and licenses are passed through to the 
City at the time of System installation and acceptance. 

1.08 “NX Series Security Gates” refers to the inventory protection system security pedestals.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 2

1.09 “Process Area” means that portion of the System that processes the Books for final placement of Books 
into storage bins or is stored for patron holds.

1.010 “RFID” means Radio Frequency Identification that is the method of identifying or detecting data stored 
on a microchip with an antenna. RFID consists of three components; RFID Tag, RFID antenna, and 
RFID Reader. The antenna is for amplifying transmission to and from a reader via radio frequency 
technology. The reader receives the data from the RFID Tag and sends a raw data stream to a PC and is 
interpreted by the TLC Software to identify the City Item that the RFID tag is attached to.

1.011 “System Item(s)” refers to numerated system components as described in Exhibit “C” and identified in 
Exhibit “A”.

1.012 “System PC” refers to one or more personnel computer “PC(s)” that control all aspects of the System, 
including but not limited to all the machines within the System and all communication software’s that 
interface with the City’s host computer.

1.013 “System I/O” refers to all input and output devices within the System. Inputs (I) include all hardwired 
electronic signals such as photo-eyes, proximity switches, and other electronic devices that the System 
PC relies on for System status conditions. Outputs (O) include all hardwired electronic signals to System 
machine devices such as air valves, motors, lights, and other electronic devices that the System PC 
controls.

1.014 “Tag Conversion” is the process of transferring industry standard barcoded item ID’s onto RFID Tags.

1.015 “TLC Code” is programmed instructions written in various computer languages and run via compilation 
of various software’s that reside on the TLC’s System PC or the City’s PC. TLC Code is proprietary 
property of Tech Logic Corporation and licensed for use to the City, all as stated within the Software 
License Agreement.

1.016 “TLC Hot Keys” is a set of predefined quick keys which allows the staff members at the Library
Locations to quickly toggle to different modes of operations, or application modules.

1.017 “TLC Suite” refers to the underlying program modules that have been written and developed by TLC 
to quickly and expeditiously assemble whole system top level programs. 

1.018 “TLC-HMI” refers to TLC’s Human Machine Interface software graphics. TLC-HMI is the visual 
layer of software code, messages and graphics that the System Operator sees on the System PC.

1.019 “TLC-MI” refers to the TLC Machine Interface and communicates between hardware calls from the 
TLC-HMI to the instruction sets of various devices in the AMH.

1.020 “VB” refers to Microsoft’s Visual Basic software which resides on the System PC(s) or the City’s PC(s) 
and runs TLC Systems via compiled code written by TLC. 

Article 2: Safety, E-Stops, Control Cabinets, and System Control

2.01 Safety Features are designed into every aspect of a TLC System. Mechanical Systems and machines are 
designed with safety guards that are painted OSHA yellow. These guards are labeled and should never 
be removed when the system is powered up and running. Line shaft conveyor rollers are powered using 
urethane bands that will stop when touched by human hands.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 3

2.02 Operational Manuals are provided with each TLC System. These manuals need to be read and studied 
by all System Operators and Maintenance personnel prior to System operation. The Operation Manuals 
include many topics including safety, start-up and shut down procedures, maintenance procedures and 
an extensive disclosure of each control cabinet circuit for each aspect of the system. A spare parts 
manual will be supplied for AMH systems.

2.03 All TLC Systems incorporate a separately wired “closed loop” emergency stop system. The E-Stop 
Circuit is a hard wired, independently run electrical circuit that has the ability to stop the entire system 
with the push of a button. It “kills” (cuts power) to all System machines, regardless of where they are 
located, thereby halting all machine operations. The red mushroom shaped push button is located 
throughout the system and is designed specifically to offer safety to all City personnel. Its function is 
required by law and should be used only for emergency conditions that may be hazardous to human 
health and/or damaging to machines or Books within the system. Its design is “Push” to halt, “Pull” to 
reset. The offending, activated E-Stop within the system must be visited and reset before the system can 
be started. This key feature of the E-Stop circuit means that the system cannot be restarted until all E-
Stops within the system are reset. E-Stops are located on system control panels and at additional 
locations, in small enclosures, as required for adequate personnel safety.

2.04 Control Panels are located throughout the system and are identified in Exhibit “A” of this Agreement. 
Control panels provide the system with power distribution to all System Outputs and gather System 
Inputs for the System PC. Control panels, when required, may have an electrical disconnect, green 
illuminated “start” button and/or a red mushroom shaped E-Stop button. In all cases, the system cannot
be started until all disconnects are turned on, all E-Stops are reset, as previously mentioned, and all start 
buttons are pushed. Should a start button refuse to light green when pushed, then an E-Stop within the 
system is not reset and/or a power disconnect is not turned on. When all the green start buttons on all 
system control panels are on and lighted, the system can then be started by the System PC.

2.05 The System PC, as further described in Exhibit “C”, must be compliant with and runs the following 
software, if required, each having a distinct purpose within the overall System operation:

A. Microsoft Windows OS

B. Remote Proxy

2.06 When the System PC boots, it runs on Microsoft Windows as the operating system software. Once 
Windows is running and the system has been powered up, as previously mentioned, the operator 
“double-clicks” on the “Tech Logic” icon which is located on the desk-top and/or within windows 
“start” menu.

2.07 From the System Operator’s point of view, all the programs are loaded and run behind the scenes and 
the only software program visible is TLC-HMI. The TLC-HMI is a dynamic, colored picture of the 
system that shows all the machinery; conveyors full status, SMART BIN® Container full status etc. in a 
manner that is user friendly. Literally, each graphical device changes color as its status changes. For 
instance, belt conveyors change colors from green to yellow to red depending on their status, which 
could be empty and stopped, on and moving, or stopped and waiting for upstream traffic to clear. 
Similarly, the entire system is dynamically changing in the form of status messages and graphical color 
images. These features are easy for system operators to understand. Once the System PC is booted and 
all software is up and running, the system runs on its own, virtually capable of running unmanned.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 4

2.08 The MS Visual Basic Software programs, written by Tech Logic, are divided up into “mini-programs” 
each one controlling various portions of the system and communicating with each other. This unique 
feature provides independent “logic”, as can be seen throughout this exhibit.

Article 3: Book Drops and Delivery Systems

3.01 Book Drops and Delivery Systems consist of book drops and conveyors that deliver books to the 
Processing area. Book drop doors are monitored via photo-eye switches and when the book drop door is 
opened, the immediate conveyor starts to run. As books pass through the system, each belt conveyor, 
equipped with photo eyes that detect a book’s presence, will start and stop based on its “Full/Not-Full” 
status.

3.02 The Delivery System has redundant activities programmed into its logic. It runs the belt conveyors in 
“accumulate-mode”, “run/purge-mode” or “night time mode”. The System runs in “run/purge-mode” 
most of the time and merely delivers books to the processing area as expeditiously as possible. 
Accumulate mode can be used to queue items on the conveyor belt.  Night time mode sets the transfer to
sort items into the first available bin without checking the item in.  Night time mode minimizes the 
number of transfers used when the machine is unattended.

3.03 If De-Shingler Conveyers are included in the System package, the De-Shingler Conveyor(s) will act to 
separate multiple items inserted in the Book Drop. The incline and speed of the De-Shingler Conveyor 
will separate any items not listed in Section 8.01, E of the Tech Logic contract.

Article 4: Smart Bin® Container Sorting Systems

4.01 SMART BIN® Sorting Systems are designed to check-in books and sort them into bins using the City’s 
pre-assigned collection codes as the sort criteria. They are designed to use either barcodes or RFID tags 
as the identification method. Additionally, the System PC(s) uses TLC’s Interface Software to 
communicate with the ILS for check-in.

4.02 The Sequence of Operations for a SMART BIN® Container Storage System Process Area starts at the 
last belt conveyor of delivery system. Books are transferred from the Delivery System belt conveyors 
and passed onto the Process Area line-shaft and pop-up transfer conveyors. Under ideal conditions this 
process of belt conveyor to line-shaft conveyor transfer can be as fast as 1-1/2 to 2 seconds per book.

4.03 If Loader/Unloader Machines are included in the System package, the Loader/Unloader machine(s) 
will act as delivery system buffers and remote system automatic loading of SMART BIN® containers. 
These machines have two basic modes, Load or Unload. The System PC will switch from mode to mode 
to maintain an even flow of materials to the sorting area. 

4.04 If Barcode is the identification method of the City’s collection a camera based vision system will be 
used.  The camera system will be designed based on the size and location of the barcodes labels. If no 
barcode is found the book is rejected and moves to the end “reject” SMART BIN® Container. Once a 
barcode has been recognized, the barcode is processed per section 5.08 of this article.

4.05 If RFID Tag is the identification method, it is scanned by the RFID Antenna.  If no RFID tag is found 
the book is rejected and moves to the end “reject” SMART BIN® Container. Once an RFID tag has been 
recognized, the Item ID is processed per section 5.08 of this article.

4.06 If RFID Tag Encoding is included in the System Package, the system will also include Barcode 
scanning.  The RFID Tag Encoding section will validate that an RFID tag has no data written to it and 



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 5

will write the Item ID of the item on to the blank tag. If the item has valid data on the RFID tag, it will 
be processed per section 5.08.

4.07 If Print and Apply Holds are included in the System package, the Print and Apply section will align the 
items under the print head and apply a printed holds slip to the top of the item.  The holds slip has a light 
adhesive that will not leave residue on the item.  

4.08 Processing a Book is similar for both barcode and RFID tags and takes the following software steps to 
determine shelf sortation:

A. TLC-MI Software determines if the barcode or RFID tag is valid before it tries to process the data.  
If it’s not valid the book is tagged “Reject” and the system then tracks its destination to the end 
Smart-Bin for rejection.

B. If the barcode or RFID tag is valid, TLC-MI then assembles the ILS “request” string that is written 
using Standard Interface Protocol (SIP) messaging.

C. The “request” string is then passed to the ILS via TCP-IP network communications.

D. Once the Book’s barcode or RFID tag is processed by the City’s ILS, in other words “Checked-In”, 
the ILS sends a “return” string back to TLC-HMI software via the Software Interface. The “return” 
string is also written in SIP, and includes the necessary data to perform sortation. The data required 
from the ILS includes the following fields of data:

1. Collection Code

2. Call Number

3. Item Type Code

4. Agency Destination

5. Patron Name (only if Book is on reserve)

E. TLC’s HMI directs, tracks, conveys and transfers the Book to the correct SMART BIN® Container.

Article 5: RFID Check-In/Check-Out Systems

5.01 TLC is a North American Partner of Multiple RFID Vendors, all of which are world class suppliers of 
RFID tags and hardware that reads the RFID tags. TLC buys, uses in its products and has otherwise 
developed many innovative RFID Check-in and Check-out City material handling workstations using 
this technology. RFID’s advantage over industry barcode technology provides the City with ergonomic, 
invisible and fast identification of City items.

5.02 TLC Uses RFID Technology along with TLC Software, Check-in and Check-out workstations, Tag 
Conversion workstations and Asset Management Software to increase the efficiencies within the City
realm. Key to the implementation of the RFID technology into the City arena is TLC’s Software Suite 
and its interfaces with most ILSs. Specifically, TLC uses standard SIP to interface with the ILS. 

5.03 The Sequence of Operations for each Check-in and Check-out product is explained as follows:



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 6

A. The Combo (Self or Assist) Check-Out Workstation is a unique Patented concept that TLC has 
developed to eliminate the need for remote, common place “self-check-out” workstations. Combo 
workstations incorporate dual, back to back, flat touch-screen monitors that are placed along 
circulation and check-out counters within the City. Along the side of each dual touch screen is a “top 
of counter mounted” antenna that allows patrons the ability to “self or assist” check-out stacks of 
Books within seconds. This method of check-out, under ideal conditions, can be up to ten to fifteen 
times faster than conventional self or staff type check-out workstations depending on the speed of 
the interface with the ILS. The Combo workstation works as follows:

1. When Patrons walk up to the outside of the Combo workstation, they set a stack of books along
with their patron card on the antenna area. The flat-touch screen monitor on the Patron’s side of 
the counter informs the Patron that their account is ok and to press the check-out button. When 
the patron presses the ok button, all books in the stack are checked out within seconds.

2. At check-out each Book’s RFID tag has its theft bit disabled. The RFID tag’s theft bit must be 
turned off before a Patron may leave the City. Each City exit door is retrofitted with a set of 
security pedestals. The Pedestals look for theft bits that not turned off. If a tag’s theft bit is still 
on, the security gate will sound an alarm informing the City staff that an item is being stolen.

3. If a Patron has a problem with their account when using the Combo station, a City staff member 
behind the counter can switch to the ILS software package and fix the Patron’s account using 
their normal ILS Terminal Client software.

4. The entire Combo workstation is intuitive for both the Patron and the City staff person. One staff 
person can monitor and manage up to 4, 5 or 6 Combo stations along a typical circulation desk. 
This savings in labor benefits the City by allowing the staff to work with Patrons outside of the 
circulation desk.

B. The RFID Self-Check-Out Workstation is similar to the Combo workstation and is recommended for 
use in areas that are remotely located to the service or circulation work desk. Self-check-out 
workstations are ideal for places where the City feels that their Patrons can deal with self-check-out 
conditions that arise, such as overdue books and other flags that may not permit a Patron to fully 
transact a self-check-out. TLC believes that the City is the best judge as to whether or not their 
Patrons are willing to accept the possibilities of personal account problems. In such a case, the RFID 
Self-Check-out Workstation Software will ask the Patron to seek help at the service or circulation 
desk.

C. The RFID Staff Workstation consists of a desktop antenna and reader that allows staff personnel the 
ability to perform back room reading, writing and general collection management duties. TLC 
Software Suite empowers staff personnel with the following RFID tag and general collection 
maintenance features:

1. Writing collection code ID’s to the tag

2. Reading collection code RFID tag ID’s

3. Checking-in or out Books using the TLC Interface Software

4. All other functions that normal back-room staff may be required to perform



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 7

D. The RFID Tag Workstation allows staff members to easily convert existing barcoded Books to RFID 
tagged Books. RFID Tag generation is a four-step process. It entails defining the data fields to be 
written, applying a tag to the item, placing the item on the RFID antenna and scanning the barcode 
located on the item. The RFID tag is automatically written when the barcode is scanned.  The 
workstation consists of a PC running TLC CircIT software, barcode scanner and RFID antenna. 

E. Tech Logic Self Check Out Kiosk Description of Functionality

1. The Tech Logic Self Check Out kiosk is a free-standing kiosk that allows the unassisted 
check out of library items by patrons.

2. Patrons initiate a self-check session by means of a touch-screen. 

3. For a patron to log in and start a self-check session, the self-check software will present the 
instruction on-screen to scan a barcoded patron card. The kiosk has a bar-code imager with a 
light that presents to the patron where to hold their patron card for scanning.

4. If so configured, the patron may be asked for a PIN as well.

5. If the kiosk is used for barcode self-checkout, instructions will appear on-screen for the patron 
the patron to scan items using the same imager. The items will be read and entered into a queue 
display on-screen which verifies to the patron the items they are checking out.

6. If the kiosk is used for RFID self-checkout, instructions will appear on-screen for the patron 
to set the items in the front facing opening which is fitted with a RFID antenna beneath it. 
The items will be read and entered into a queue display on-screen which verifies to the 
patron the items they are checking out. Security will be turned off on the items' RFID tags at 
this time.

7. If so chosen, a receipt will print for the transactions chosen, and present itself to the patron at the 
front of the kiosk. Patrons can also decline a receipt, or receive it via e-mail. 

8. On-screen instructions display other options for the patron, if the City desires that functionality. 
They will be able to check books in, pay fines or take surveys as well.

F. Tech Logic Self Check Out Credit Card Payments. If so chosen, the patron may pay with a credit
card. The patron's credit card will be verified using the chip and PIN system. This is a credit card 
industry standard,  whereby a patron entered PIN, associated with the credit card, will validate the 
credit card and the transaction.

Article 6: Asset Management Systems

6.01 TLC Inventory Software & Inventory Wand includes inventory management and comparison 
software that utilizes the hand held inventory scanner for quick reading of all City RFID tags. The 
inventory wand may be used for the following key functions:

A. Inventory. The typical scan rate of the inventory wand is 10 books per second and can help to 
organize books on shelves in groups of logical/un-logical Dewy or Author last name order. The 
inventory software can hold more than 1 million records.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 8

B. Lost Items. The inventory wand, when loaded with a list of Item Numbers, can quickly locate lost or 
misplaced books within the library’s collection. 

C. Hold Items. The inventory wand, when loaded with a list of Item Numbers, can quickly locate hold 
items within the City’s collection. 

D. Transit Items. The inventory wand, when loaded with a list of Item Numbers, can quickly locate 
transit items within the City’s collection.

E. Security. The inventory wand can be used for theft protection detection and body searches at security 
doors. The unique features of RFID tags with theft bit technology allow the inventory wand to locate 
and detect items that have been stolen.

F. Wireless Connectivity. The Inventory wand uses wireless technology to communicate to the PC 
which runs the inventory management software. The system uses wireless communications using 
802.11b to connect to the host local network.

6.02 NX Series Security Gates are security pedestals that protect against theft and can be sited in various 
areas of the Library Locations. Each gate package includes an RFID reader, which can control up to 
four pedestals.  This for an eight pedestal installation, two RFID readers are required. The gates will 
activate audio and/or visual alarms, and can capture the barcode number of the item that has not been 
properly checked out. There is a people counter tool that counts all patron traffic, both inbound and 
outbound.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128

Exhibit C:



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Avenue ■ Oakdale, MN 55128

Full Service Program for 5 & 9 Bin Systems

5 Bin Automated Material Handling System – Coconino Branch

9 Bin Automated Material Handling System – Main Branch

*Note: Tech Logic would like to extend an additional discount of the systems if purchased together at a 
total price of: $450,000.  

This price requires the library purchases Tech Logic’s Full Service Maintenance Program (FSA) each 
year for 4 years @ $33,000 per year (this does not need to be paid up front).



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT E: CHANGE ORDER
AMENDMENT NO. 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Pursuant to Article 6, Section 6.02 of the Agreement, Tech Logic Corporation (“Tech Logic”) and the City of 
Flagstaff (“City”) herein agree to Contract Amendment(s) as follow:  

Item No. Last Qty New Qty Part No. Amendment Part Description Price Each Total Price

Total Amendment Price Change $

Comments:

TECH LOGIC CORPORATION

By:  _____________________________
Gary W. Kirk
President

_________________________________
Date

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT F: 
NOTICE OF COMPLETION & ACKNOWLEDGMENT

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Pursuant to Article 2, Section 2.02, Paragraphs C & E of the Agreement, Tech Logic herein notifies City that all 
or part of the TLS is installed and completed at the Main Branch of the Flagstaff City-Coconino County Public 
Library, located at 300 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001, and at the East Flagstaff Community Library 
located at 3000 North Fourth Street #5, Flagstaff, AZ 86004 (“Library Locations”) and running under 
permanent power.  

Comments: 

Tech Logic Corporation 

Date: , 20____. 
Gary W. Kirk, 
President

Acknowledgment 

Pursuant to Article 2, Section 2.02, Paragraphs C & E of the Agreement, City hereby acknowledges that the 
TLS is installed and completed at the Library Locations, and running under permanent power.

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT G: 
LIBRARY NOTICE OF CORRECTIONS 

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Pursuant to Article 2, Section 2.02, Paragraphs D and E of the Agreement, the City of Flagstaff (“City”) herein 
notifies Tech Logic Corporation (“Tech Logic”) of the following items within the TLS System that are not to 
the City’s satisfaction and need to be repaired, replaced, adjusted, reprogrammed or otherwise made correct in 
response to Tech Logic’s Notice Of Completion.  The following corrections need to be made at the expense of 
Tech Logic: 

Item No. Description TLC 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT H: 
PROJECT SCHEDULE & DELIVERY SCHEDULE 

[SAMPLE]

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Within thirty (30) days of the Effective Date of the Agreement, City of Flagstaff (“City”) and Tech Logic 
Corporation (“Tech Logic”) shall complete this Exhibit H, “Project Schedule,” to create a schedule for all work 
to be completed on the TLS under Article 2. A separate Project Schedule shall be created within thirty (30) days 
of the execution of a Change Order for the purchase of additional TLS components.

Project Schedule 

Finalized Contract:
Dwg Approval Finalized:
Site Survey:
Begin Purchasing:
Begin Manufacturing:
Begin Assembly:
Assembly Complete:
Run, test, QA & QC:
Crate System:
Ship system:
Installation
Testing
Training
Aftercare begins

TECH LOGIC CORPORATION

By:  _____________________________
Gary W. Kirk
President

_________________________________
Date

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT I: Software License Agreement

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

This Software License Agreement (“Agreement”) is made this ____ day of _____________, 2016 by and 
between Tech Logic Corporation (“Licensor”) and City of Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State of 
Arizona (“City”).

1. License Grant.

A. License. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Licensor grants City a perpetual, 
nontransferable, nonexclusive license to use the computer program and user documentation listed in 
Exhibit B (the ‘Software’) at the Installation Address set forth in the Agreement. City may install 
and use the Software’s computer program only on one machine at one time at the Installation 
Address. If City desires additional copies of the Software’s computer program or user 
documentation, Licensor will provide such copies at the rates set forth in Exhibit C. 

B. Restrictions. City shall not (i) use the Software to provide services under any name other than that of 
City; (ii) use the Software to process the data of third parties without Licensor’s prior written 
consent; (iii) use the Software in the operation of a service bureau; (iv) modify or change the 
Software; or (v) decompile, disassemble or otherwise reverse engineer the Software. 

2. Deliverables.

A. Software. Licensor shall provide City one executable copy of the Software’s computer program and 
one copy of the Software’s user documentation. City shall not copy the Software (except for one 
archival copy for back up purposes only) or the user documentation. 

B. Hardware. City shall arrange for the purchase or lease, installation, testing and maintenance of 
adequate hardware. City shall be solely responsible for hardware maintenance, including periodic 
inspections, adjustments, and repair.

3. Installation, Maintenance and Training.
Licensor shall install and maintain the Software and provide training to City’s employees pursuant to the 
terms of the Maintenance Agreement. City shall internet capability to allow Licensor to access, review 
and modify the Software remotely. 

4 . Payments. City shall pay Licensor the Software license fees, in the amounts and under the terms set 
forth in Exhibit C. All fees shall be payable upon presentation of invoices. Licensor may change its 
license fees for additional copies of the Software upon thirty (30) days prior written notice. 

5. Confidentiality. City agrees that neither City, its agents, nor, its employees shall in any manner use, 
disclose or otherwise communicate any information with respect to the Software which might enable 
copying of all or any portion of the Software. City agrees to take all necessary action to protect the 
confidential and proprietary information included in the Software, including appropriate instructions and 
agreement with its employees.

6. Title. City agrees that Licensor owns all copyright, trade secret, patent, trademark and other proprietary 
rights in and to the Software, including all modifications thereto.

7. Warranties. Licensor warrants that it has clear title to the Software. Licensor further warrants that for a 
period of three hundred sixty five (365) days after installation, the Software, if used by City in 



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 2

accordance with the Software’s user documentation, will substantially perform the functions set forth in 
Exhibit B. LICENSOR MAKES NO OTHER WARRANTIES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING 
WARRANTIES AS TO MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

8. General Provisions.

A. Assignability. This Agreement and all rights and obligations thereunder shall not be assignable by 
City except with the prior written consent of Licensor. A change in control shall be deemed an 
assignment subject to this subsection. This Agreement shall be binding upon each party’s permitted 
successors and assigns. 

B. Liability. Licensor shall not be liable for special, indirect, incidental or consequential damages, 
whether arising from contract or negligence. In no event shall Licensor’s liability exceed the initial 
license fee for the Software paid by City. No action or claim relating to this Agreement or the 
Software may be instituted more than one (1) year after the event giving rise to such action or claim. 

C. Indemnification. Licensor shall indemnify and hold City harmless from and against any claim of 
infringement of a United States patent or copyright based upon the Software, provided City gives 
Licensor prompt notice of and the opportunity to defend any such claim. Licensor shall have the 
right to settle such claim or, at Licensor’s option, provide City (i) a paid-up license; (ii) substitute, 
functionally equivalent software; or (iii) a refund of a pro rata portion of the license fee paid for the 
Software based on a deemed license term of five (5) years. 

D. Entire Agreement; Amendment. This Agreement with its exhibits is the complete and exclusive 
agreement of the parties and supersedes all other communications, oral or written, between the 
parties relating to the Agreement’s subject matter. Any change to this Agreement shall not be valid 
unless it is in writing and signed by both parties. 

E. Choice of Law/Arbitration. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Arizona. 
All unresolved disputes arising under this Agreement shall be submitted to arbitration under the rules 
of the American Arbitration Association. The award of the arbitrator shall be binding and may be 
entered as a judgment in any court of competent jurisdiction. 

F. Default. In the event of any default of any obligation under this Agreement which remains uncured 
fifteen (15) days after receipt of written notice of such default, the non-defaulting party may 
terminate this Agreement. If this Agreement is terminated, all outstanding fees will immediately 
become due and payable and City shall return all copies of the Software to Licensor and erase any 
copies residing in any machine. 

G. Waiver. Neither the failure nor any delay to exercise a right, remedy or privilege under this 
Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of a right, 
remedy or privilege preclude any further exercise of the same. 

H. Severability. A determination that any provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable shall not affect the enforceability of any other provision. 

I. Notices. All notices and other communications required under this Agreement shall be in writing and 
shall be deemed to have been received when personally delivered or when deposited in the United 
States mail, sent registered mail by first class, postage prepaid, addressed as set forth at the end of 
this Agreement.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, as of the dates set forth below.

TECH LOGIC CORPORATION

By:  _____________________________
Gary W. Kirk
President

_________________________________
Date

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 1

EXHIBIT J: Full Service Agreement

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

This FULL SERVICE AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as the “Service Agreement”), is made and 
entered into on the date of execution, by and between the City of Flagstaff, a political subdivision of the State of 
Arizona (hereinafter referred to as the “City”), and Tech Logic Corporation, a corporation duly organized and 
existing under the laws of the State of Wisconsin (hereinafter referred to as “Tech Logic”).

THE PARTIES RECITE AND DECLARE THE FOLLOWING: 

1. The City desires and hereby requests Tech Logic to provide Full Service Program benefits to its Tech Logic 
System (“TLS”) located at the Main Branch of the Flagstaff City-Coconino County Public Library, located 
at 300 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 86001, and at the East Flagstaff Community Library located at 
3000 North Fourth Street #5, Flagstaff, AZ 86004 (“Library Locations”). 

2. Tech Logic represents that it possesses the skill, experience, knowledge and qualifications to provide 
services as required by this Service Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the herein above recitals, the amounts to be paid, and of the mutual 
promises, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements hereinafter stated, and upon the terms and 
subject to the conditions hereinafter set forth, THE PARTIES AGREE AS FOLLOWS.

Article 1: Term

1.01 Immediate Coverage. The term of the Service Agreement is four (4) years and shall begin immediately 
at the end of the “Extended Support” period.

1.02 Annual Renewal.  The City will be invoiced year to year in automatic renewal at the anniversary date. 
Either Party may give written notice to the other not less than thirty (30) business days before the annual 
anniversary of the Effective Date of this Service Agreement should renewal be declined. The City will 
be responsible for full payment of any remaining renewal years should the Service Agreement be 
discontinued before that term has been fulfilled. The City will not be responsible for full payment of any 
remaining renewal years should the Service Agreement be discontinued by Tech Logic before the term 
has been fulfilled.

Article 2: Compensation

2.01 The price of the Service Agreement shall be $33,000.00 per year, and shall remain $33,000.00 for years 
two (2) through five (5).

2.02 The first $33,000.00 payment shall not be paid until the term of the Service Agreement begins.

Article 3: Terms and Conditions

3.01 Excluded from Service Agreement.

A. Routine Weekly/Monthly Maintenance. Routine weekly/monthly maintenance for the TLS as 
described in the Maintenance and Operating Manuals (“Manuals”) provided at the time of sale shall 



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 2

continue to be the responsibility of City. Issues arising from the City’s lack of this maintenance may 
incur additional charges outside of this Service Agreement or may render the end of this Service 
Agreement.

B. Damage. Any damage caused by the City to the automated sorter or its components caused by the 
misuse, neglect, or unauthorized repair and maintenance of the equipment of the City, is specifically 
not covered under this Service Agreement.

C. Fire Protection. Fire suppression systems/components are not covered under the Service 
Agreement.  The City is responsible for coverage of extended maintenance for fire suppression.

D. City Network/Troubleshooting.  City network issues/troubleshooting are not covered under the 
support parameters of this Service Agreement and are billable to the City if support actions by Tech 
Logic are deemed necessary to make corrective action.

E. Software

1. Any damage by the City to the software or its components caused by misuse, a malicious virus, 
unauthorized changes in the software, or unsupported operating systems, is specifically not 
covered under this Service Agreement.

2. ILS migration or upgrade support to the ILS migration.

3. Software customization. This is a quotable activity based on scope of work.

4. Changes to ILS provider and any reconfiguration and/or testing specific to an ILS upgrade and/or 
conversion will be a billable service to the City for software support. 

i. Software support under the aforementioned conditions is billable at $150.00 per hour or 
$2900.00 minimum for onsite support with a charge of $1450.00 per day for each additional 
day.

ii. A quote for services will be provided and a scope of work determined for the project. 

3.02 Adequately Trained City Personnel. Tech Logic will provide the Service Agreement with the 
understanding that City will provide adequately trained personnel to run the TLS, including the 
following: 

A. System Manager or Team Leader. A broad base of computer skills is required as well as a 
background and understanding of current Microsoft operating system software that runs the TLS. 
Knowledge of City operations is equally important. In addition, this person should have good 
personnel skills and experience in supervision. This person will be required to schedule personnel 
and provide back-up and training for the people on this team. This person shall be the principal 
contact with Tech Logic for operation and maintenance of the TLS. Further, this person shall 
possess, in addition to computer and software literacy, mechanical troubleshooting skills. 

B. System Operators. TLS operators shall be capable of running basic Microsoft Windows software 
applications and have a general familiarity with personal computers. Additionally, the system 
operators shall be capable of taking readable notes and have the skills to train and pass on their 
knowledge to other system operators. 



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 3

C. System Maintenance Personnel. City’s System Maintenance Personnel shall have experience in 
building and facilities maintenance which shall include heating and ventilating systems, power 
distribution systems and generalized personal computer operation. Further, City’s System 
Maintenance Personnel shall also particularly possess a working knowledge of control wiring, and 3-
phase electronics. In general, such Personnel shall be willing and able to help trouble shoot system 
mechanical problems when other City staff members need assistance. Tech Logic strongly 
recommends that the Library’s System Manager, System Operator(s), and System maintenance 
personnel attend an additional training course at Tech Logic’s Minnesota plant. This ensures that the 
machine owner(s) is prepared to maintain the system and to satisfy the requirement for offering 
customer support to the library as mentioned above. The training course cost and the travel expenses 
for the associated attendees is the exclusive responsibility of the City. Tech Logic will provide a 
quote for the training course and propose dates that the course would be available.

3.03 Included In the Service Agreement

A. Telephone Support.

1. The City shall have 24-hour access to the Tech Logic Online Customer portal to check the 
progress of support issues. There will be no telephone support on Tech Logic holidays defined,
as New Year's Day, Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, the Friday after 
Thanksgiving and Christmas Day. Holidays falling on Saturday will be observed on the Friday 
before. Holidays falling on Sunday will be observed the Monday after.

2. The City shall have unlimited telephone support for “Non-Excluded” issues between the hours of 
Mon-Fri 9am-6pm MST with a response from the right expert within two (2) hours. 

3. The City shall have telephone support for “Excluded” issues between the hours of Mon-Fri 9am-
6pm MST with a response from the right expert within (2) hours at a cost of $180.00 per hour.

4. The City shall have telephone support on nights (after 6pm MST) and weekends with a response 
from the right expert within three (3) hours at a cost of $350.00 per hour.

5. Tech Logic will attempt to correct the issue via telephone support and remote proxy.

B. Preventative Maintenance. The proper Tech Logic employee or qualified service provider will 
conduct quarterly visits to the Library Locations to provide preventative maintenance up to eight (8) 
hours each visit.

C. Software Support.

1. Tech Logic will pay for and, if necessary, install all software renewals, updates, patches, and 
provide routine trouble shooting throughout the entire term of the Service Agreement.  

2. The City will notify Tech Logic of any Mechanical or Software issue via telephone. Should City
and Tech Logic agree that an onsite visit is required, Tech Logic shall provide the City with an 
action plan including the anticipated on-site time for the technician. Upon receiving 
authorization from the City, Tech Logic or its partnered national service provider will proceed 
with the site visit. 



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 4

3. The City will contact Tech Logic for specific, task-oriented questions regarding the operation of 
currently supported TLS software. Types of support available include usage, product 
compatibility, diagnostic information, and defect inquiries about eligible software products. 

4. Software maintenance is available only on the license(s) covered and the software versions that 
are currently supported by Tech Logic. The City is entitled to software support only on the 
licenses covered. 

5. Onsite Response for Critical Calls within 24 hours.

D. Mechanical Labor. Tech Logic will provide all mechanical labor, except for routine maintenance.

E. Parts. Non-normal wear parts and normal wear parts are specifically covered under the terms of this 
Service Agreement.  At Tech Logic’s discretion, new, non-original manufacturer or remanufactured 
parts may be used to perform any repairs. Tech Logic may elect to discontinue certain products for a 
variety of reasons, including but not limited to; the product is obsoleted at the end of its life cycle, 
key product components are no longer being manufactured, vendor obsolescence or technology 
obsolescence.  

1. Normal wear parts include, but are not limited to, the following:

a. AST Systems
i. Bearings
ii. Belts
iii. Chains
iv. Elastic Drive Bands
v. Rollers
vi. Sprockets
vii. Valves
viii. Air Hoses
ix. Electric motors
x. Sensors

b. I.A Bins
i. Batteries
ii. Brakes
iii. Brake Cables
iv. Cables
v. Chains
vi. Sprockets

c. Gates

F. Shipping. Standard Shipping and Handling on normal and non-normal wear parts is included in the 
Service Agreement.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 5

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement, as of the dates set forth below.

TECH LOGIC SYSTEM

By:  _____________________________
Gary W. Kirk
President

_________________________________
Date

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Contract Number 15006849
City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 1

Exhibit K:

Self- Checkout Hardware Extended Limited Warranty Program

Program Definition, Terms and Conditions

The following terms and conditions shall be applicable herein:

Parts: Parts will be repaired or replaced with those of like-kind and quality, and may be new, non-original 
manufacturer or remanufactured. Expendable and/or consumable items or parts included with the equipment are not 
covered under this program. If parts are not available due to the age of the equipment, end of product life or 
discontinuation by the manufacturer, then the equipment owner will be given notification by Tech Logic and we 
will advise of new purchase options. Discontinued parts and/or products will then be removed from the warranty 
program.

Service Support: City will notify Tech Logic of any hardware issue via telephone (1-866-880-9981 or 651-389-
4990), email to customercare@tech-logic.com or via support request through the customer secure portal. Service 
support hours are from (9:00am-6:00pm MST), Mon.-Fri. excluding company holidays defined as New Year's Day, 
Memorial Day, July 4th, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day, the Friday after Thanksgiving and Christmas Day. 
Holidays falling on Saturday will be observed on the Friday before. Holidays falling on Sunday will be observed the 
Monday. Tech Logic will attempt to correct the issue via telephone support and remote proxy. Should City and 
Tech Logic agree that an onsite service visit is required, Tech Logic shall provide the City with an action plan 
including the anticipated travel and on-site time expected to correct the issue as well as a quote for the technician 
service call.  Upon receiving authorization from the City, Tech Logic will proceed with the service site visit.

Product Service Procedures: If a defect should appear during the extended warranty period, City should 
promptly contact Tech Logic Customer Service. Customer Service will advise City to return the equipment or 
propose a schedule for repair. If applicable, a return merchandise authorization (RMA) will be assigned and the City
shall return the defective equipment, freight and insurance prepaid, in the original shipping container to, Tech 
Logic, 1818 Buerkle Road, White Bear Lake, MN 55110 or to other designated service location. All returned 
merchandise must include the RMA number. Tech Logic shall not be responsible for any loss or damage incurred in 
shipping. If a defect is covered by this limited warranty program, the repaired or replaced equipment will be 
returned to the City at Tech Logic’s cost. Requests for expedited return will be considered and difference between 
normal delivery charge and expedited return pricing will be the responsibility of the City. 

Access: Tech Logic will inform the City of any access to the system via remote proxy prior to the access. Tech 
Logic will inform the City of the reason for accessing the system.

Shipping: Shipping charges will be incurred by City when ordering replacement items under this program. 

Exclusions/Limitations: Any damage to the System or its components caused by the misuse, neglect, or 
unauthorized repair and maintenance of the equipment, is specifically not covered under this Extended Warranty 
program. For security gates; should the gate(s) be removed for any reason and then reinstated by the City, additional 
charges may be incurred for reconfiguration and system optimization. Tech Logic accepts no responsibility for 
functionality after re-installation unless the gate(s) are reinstated by Tech Logic personnel or our third party 
maintenance organization. Extended warranty may be voided.

Routine Weekly Maintenance not included: Routine weekly maintenance as described in the original 
maintenance documentation provided at the time of sale shall continue to be the responsibility of the Equipment 
Owner.

Finance Charge: Delinquent payments shall incur a finance charge of 1.5% per month, with service being 
suspended until the account is cleared.



Contract Number 15006849
City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Tech Logic ■ 835 Hale Ave. ■ Oakdale, MN 55128 Page 2

Compliance with Laws, Codes, Licensing, and Other Standards: The Equipment Owner shall timely advise 
Tech Logic of any State and/or Local statutes, rules, codes, licensing, regulations, and other standards which may 
affect this program and work performed hereunder; and Equipment Owner shall pay for, and solely bear, all costs of 
compliance associated therewith.

Liability: Tech Logic shall not be liable for special, indirect, incidental or consequential damages, whether arising 
from contract or negligence.

Assignment: This Extended Warranty Program and all rights and obligations hereunder shall not be assignable by 
City except with the prior written consent of Tech Logic. A change in control shall be deemed an assignment 
subject to this subsection. This Extended Warranty Program shall be binding upon each party's permitted successors 
and assigns.

Modification: Any modification or alteration of this Extended Warranty Program shall be effective only upon 
written agreement of the parties thereupon.

Notices: To give notice under this Agreement, the Notice must be in writing and sent by postage prepaid first-class 
mail, receipted courier service, or electronic mail to the address which appears below each party's signature below 
or to such other address as any party shall specify. 

Term: The Extended Warranty Program commences on the Effective Date and, subject to this Warranty Program, 
continues from year to year in automatic renewal to be invoiced yearly at anniversary date. Either Party may give 
written Notice to the other not less than thirty (30) business days before the annual anniversary of the Effective Date 
of this Warranty Program for renewal to be declined. 

Complete Agreement: This Extended Warranty Program constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 
regard to the subject matter hereof. No other representations, understandings or agreements have been made or 
relied upon in the making of this Extended Warranty Program other than those specifically set forth herein. The 
parties herein acknowledge that they have read this Extended Warranty Program, understand it and agree to be 
bound by its terms, and further agree that it is the complete and exclusive statement of the agreement between the 
parties.

Force Majeure: Neither party shall be liable to the other party for any failure to perform any of its obligations 
(except payment obligations) under this Program during any period in which such performance is delayed by 
circumstances beyond its reasonable control including, but not limited to, fire, flood, war, embargo, strike, riot or 
the intervention of any governmental authority (a "Force Majeure"). In such event, however, the delayed party must 
promptly provide the other party with written notice of the Force Majeure. The delayed party's time for performance 
will be excused for the duration of the Force Majeure, but if the Force Majeure events lasts longer than thirty (30) 
days, the other party may immediately terminate the applicable Program by giving written notice to the delayed 
party.



Contract Number 15006849

Tech Logic ■ 1818 Buerkle Rd ■ White Bear Lake, MN 55110 Page 1

EXHIBIT L NOTICE OF SHIPMENT

City of Flagstaff, Arizona

Pursuant to Article 2, Section 2.01, Paragraph B of the Agreement, the City of Flagstaff (“City”) herein notifies 
Tech Logic Corporation (“Tech Logic”) that the City is prepared to receive the TLS system at the Main Branch 
of the Flagstaff City-Coconino County Public Library, located at 300 West Aspen Avenue, Flagstaff, AZ 
86001, and at the East Flagstaff Community Library located at 3000 North Fourth Street #5, Flagstaff, AZ 
86004.

Comments: 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF

By:  __________________________
Josh Copley
City Manager

_________________________________
Date



Form GS-3:  Insurance for Purchase of Materials and/or Services.  Revised December 19, 2014

CONTRACT FOR TECH LOGIC SYSTEM

Exhibit M

INSURANCE

1. In General. Contractor shall maintain insurance against claims for injury to persons or damage to
property, arising from performance of or in connection with this Contract by the Contractor, its 
agents, representatives, employees or contractors. 

2. Requirement to Procure and Maintain. Each insurance policy required by this Contract shall be in 
effect at, or before, commencement of work under this Contract and shall remain in effect until all 
Contractor’s obligations under this Contract have been met, including any warranty periods.  The 
Contractor’s failure to maintain the insurance policies as required by this Contract or to provide 
timely evidence of renewal will be considered a material breach of this Contract.  

3. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  The following insurance requirements are minimum 
requirements for this Contract and in no way limit the indemnity covenants contained in this 
Contract.  The City does not represent or warrant that the minimum limits set forth in this Contract 
are sufficient to protect the Contractor from liabilities that might arise out of this Contract, and 
Contractor is free to purchase such additional insurance as Contractor may determine is necessary.

Contractor shall provide coverage at least as broad and with limits not less than those stated below.

a. Commercial General Liability - Occurrence Form

General Aggregate $2,000,000
Products/Completed Operations $1,000,000
Each Occurrence $1,000,000

b. Umbrella Coverage $2,000,000

c. Automobile Liability –
Any Automobile or Owned, Hired 
and Non-owned Vehicles
Combined Single Limit Per Accident
for Bodily Injury & Property Damage $1,000,000

d. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability

Workers’ Compensation Statutory
Employer’s Liability: Each Accident $500,000
Disease - Each Employee $500,000
Disease - Policy Limit $500,000

4. Self-Insured Retention. Any self-insured retentions must be declared to and approved by the City.  
If not approved, the City may require that the insurer reduce or eliminate such self-insured 
retentions with respect to the City, its officers, agents, employees, and volunteers. Contractor shall 
be solely responsible for any self-insured retention amounts. City at its option may require 



Form GS-3:  Insurance for Purchase of Materials and/or Services.  Revised December 19, 2014

Contractor to secure payment of such self insured retention by a surety bond or irrevocable and 
unconditional letter of credit.

5. Other Insurance Requirements. The policies shall contain, or be endorsed to contain, the following 
provisions:

a. Additional Insured. In Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability Coverages, the City 
of Flagstaff, its officers, officials, agents and employees shall be named and endorsed as 
additional insureds with respect to liability arising out of this Contract and activities performed by 
or on behalf of the Contractor, including products and completed operations of the Contractor,
and automobiles owned, leased, hired or borrowed by the Contractor.

b. Broad Form. The Contractor’s insurance shall contain broad form contractual liability coverage.

c. Primary Insurance. The Contractor’s insurance coverage shall be primary insurance with 
respect to the City, its officers, officials, agents, employees and volunteers.  Any insurance or 
self-insurance maintained by the City, its officers, officials, agents and employees, shall be in 
excess of the coverage of the Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute to it.

d. Each Insured. The Contractor’s insurance shall apply separately to each insured against whom 
a claim is made or suit is brought, except with respect to the limits of the insurer’s liability.

e. Not Limited. Coverage provided by the Contractor shall not be limited to the liability assumed 
under the indemnification provisions of this Contract.

f. Waiver of Subrogation. The policies shall contain a waiver of subrogation against the City, its 
officers, officials, agents and employees for losses arising from work performed by Contractor 
for the City.

6. Notice of Cancellation.  Each insurance policy required by the insurance provisions of this Contract 
shall provide the required coverage and shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled, reduced in 
coverage or in limits unless prior written notice has been given to the City.  Notices required by this 
section shall be sent directly to the Buyer listed in the original Solicitation and shall reference the 
Contract Number: 

Attention: Rick Compau, Buyer
Contract No. 2017-32
Purchasing Department
City of Flagstaff,
211 W.  Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, Arizona  86001.

7. Acceptability of Insurers.  Contractor shall place insurance hereunder with insurers duly licensed or 
approved unlicensed companies in the State of Arizona and with a “Best’s” rating of not less than A-
: VII.  The City does not represent or warrant that the above required minimum insurer rating is 
sufficient to protect the Contractor from potential insurer insolvency.

8. Certificates of Insurance.  The Contractor shall furnish the City with certificates of insurance 
(ACORD form) as required by this Contract.  The certificates for each insurance policy shall be 
signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  Any policy 
endorsements that restrict or limit coverage shall be clearly noted on the certificate of insurance.



Form GS-3:  Insurance for Purchase of Materials and/or Services.  Revised December 19, 2014

The City project/contract number and project description shall be noted on the certificates of 
insurance. The City must receive and approve all certificates of insurance and endorsements before 
the Contractor commences work.  

9. Policies. The City reserves the right to require, and receive within ten (10) days, complete, certified 
copies of all insurance policies and endorsements required by this Contract at any time.  The City 
shall not be obligated, however, to review any insurance policies or to advise Contractor of any 
deficiencies in such policies and endorsements.  The City’s receipt of Contractor’s policies or 
endorsements shall not relieve Contractor from, or be deemed a waiver of, the City’s right to insist 
on strict fulfillment of Contractor’s obligations under this Contract.

10. Modifications. Any modification or variation from the insurance requirements in this Contract must 
have the prior approval of the City’s Attorney’s Office in consultation with the City’s Risk Manager, 
whose decision shall be final.  Such action will not require a formal Contract amendment but may 
be made by their handwritten revision and notation to the foregoing insurance requirements.



Library RFID Project

Financial Impact: Only $7,735 from the General Fund was designated for FY17 

library projects. The balance of funds is already in the library budget.



Library RFID Project

What is RFID?

Radio-Frequency Identification

is the use of radio waves to

read and capture information

stored on a tag attached

to an object.



What comprises the 

Library RFID System ?

 RFID Tags

 RFID Antennas & Readers

 Automatic Materials Handling

 Security Gates 

 Self Check-out

& self check-in
 CircIT Software

 Inventory wands



Community

Impact

Benefits of RFID Technology at the Library
• Happier Customers

• Immediate check-in of materials
• Fewer “claims-returned” situations
• Faster turn-around time

• Better Self Service
• Improved Accuracy
• Better ADA compliance
• Customizable display

• Kids like to watch the AMH
• Higher check-out limits

• The shift to RFID is as big as when libraries shifted from the card 
catalog to online catalog systems.



Community Impact:
Other Libraries’ Stories

UltraSort [AMH] technology has allowed Salt Lake to increase circulation and 
provide exceptional service without increasing staff size. As one of their sorter 
libraries puts it, “‘We love Lucy,’ our sorter, and treat her like a staff member with 
her own way of doing work. She works best when we adjust our workflow to take 
advantage of what she can do for us. We could never keep up with our 
workload without Lucy on our staff.” 

-- Gretchen Freeman, Assoc. Dir. for Technology, Salt Lake County Library System

With automated handling, return accuracy has improved, resulting in fewer 
claims re-turns and happier customers. The number of human touches from 
return to shelf has been minimized, improving turnaround time and reducing the 
number of repetitive motion injuries among staff.

-- Jennifer J. Hoffman, Manager of Books and Borrowing, Denver Public Library

I love that [CircIT] software is completely customizable. Libraries today are 
getting savvy with their brand, and the fact that we can completely change 
the look and feel of the software is very empowering.

-- Juliane Morian, Associate Director, Clinton-Macomb Public Library (MI)



Community Impact:

Library Opportunities

• Job Help

• General Computer Help

• MobileCirc & Roaming Help

• Collection Management & Development

• Book Displays & Programs

• Digital Projects

• More Frequent Courier Between Libraries

• Cleaning



Questions?



 

 
City of Flagstaff 

Management Services Division 
Purchasing Section 

 
 

The Purchasing Section has researched and reviewed sole source justification 
and we are recommending a “Sole Source” procurement under Article 18 “Sole 
Source” of the City’s Procurement Code Manual as follows: 
 
A contract may be awarded for a material, service or construction item 
without competition if the director determines in writing that there is only 
one source for the required material, service or construction item. The 
director may require the submission of cost or pricing data in connection 
with an award under this section. Sole source procurement shall be 
avoided, except when no reasonable alternative sources exist. A written 
determination of the basis for the sole source procurement shall be 
included in the contract file.  
 
The Purchasing Agent shall negotiate with the sole source Bidder or 
Proposer, to the extent practicable, a contract advantageous to the City. 
Sole Source purchases authorized by the Purchasing Agent, which exceed 
the formal procurement limit, shall be awarded pursuant to Article 26, 
“Award of Contract”. 
 
Sole Source, Evidence Request 
 
A. Sole Source procurement shall not be used unless there is clear and 
convincing evidence that there is only one source as determined by the 
Purchasing Agent.  
 
B. In the event a Department or Division requests a Sole Source 
procurement, written evidence and report of research to support the 
request shall be provided to the Purchasing Agent. 
 
C. Negotiations involving Sole Source purchases shall not commence until 
the Purchasing Agent has approved the Sole Source purchase. 
  
Extensive Research Taken 
 
The City of Flagstaff library RFID team researched RFID system options 
through onsite vendor demonstrations, visits to other libraries, and phone 
interviews with other RFID libraries.  
 
 



 

 
City of Flagstaff 

Management Services Division 
Purchasing Section 

 

In addition, the Flagstaff libraries reached out to the Yavapai Library 
Network, which had needs similar to those of Flagstaff.  The City learned 
that Yavapai Library Network conducted a formal competitive request for 
proposal (RFP) process in the fall of 2014. There were a total of 5 proposal 
responses, these five represent all of the known library RFID vendors. After 
completing the evaluation scoring process, the county determined that 
Tech Logic was the only proposer who could meet all of the technological 
needs for the Yavapai Library Network.  
 
Through the City’s own investigation process, the Flagstaff libraries arrived 
at the same technical requirements that Tech Logic supplied to the Yavapai 
Library Network. Since Yavapai Library Network conducted a formal RFP 
process and determined Tech Logic to be a sole source vendor, the City of 
Flagstaff determined this to be clear and convincing evidence to be a sole 
source vendor.  
 
Given the identified technological needs, Tech Logic was qualified as a 
sole source vendor for the Yavapai Library Network RFID system.  
 
Due to diligent negotiations with Tech Logic Corporation, library staff was 
able to reduce the original RFID contract quote from an initial estimate of 
$625,000 to $450,000, basically including the Eastside library's system for 
free. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 



Sole Source Justification 

 

Tech Logic Corporation is the only manufacturer of the CircIT™ software for libraries and the related 

database components.  Any specific software development related to CircIT™ can only be developed and 

programmed by Tech Logic’s development team. 
 

CircIT™ is a powerful, flexible, and feature-rich library self check-out solution that works with all ILS 

systems, functions simultaneously with RFID and barcodes and operates on standard PC hardware and 

Windows OS.  
 

CircIT is a dedicated HTML server based system that allows administrators to customize user interfaces. 

Customizable elements include self-service screens and process flow step order. Each self-check-out 

station can also be configured to offer unlimited localized interfaces at no additional cost. CircIT allows 

you to create custom templates to ensure a consistent look and feel for all terminals. 
 

CircIT key unique features only offered by Tech Logic include: 

 

• CircIT is a client-server solution that can simultaneously read RFID tags with different data models.  

This is important because ISO has not certified their data standards. So reads are transparent to your 

patrons when performing Self Check out or staff functions.  

• CircIT is the only software that powers our unique Combo Station® Self-Check-Out system and 

Personal Payment System as a single work station. 

 

CircIT’s other key features include: 

 

• CircIT is a client-server solution that is highly scalable. 

• Customizable reporting, receipts, screens, and processes. 

• Configure self-check-out stations to read both RFID tags and barcodes. 

• Perform circulation functions, reads and write RFID tags with one software program. 

• Provides for unlimited interface customization 

 



  10. H.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Approval of Final Plat:  Request from True Life Communities PCAZ, for the
subdivision of approximately 19.20 acres into 32-single-family residential lots located at 2705 E. Telluride
Drive, within the Single-Family Residential (R1) Zone.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends the City Council approve the final plat and authorize the Mayor to sign both the
plat and City/Subdivider Agreement when notified by staff that all documents are ready for
recording

Executive Summary:
This is a request for final plat approval for 32-single family lots of an undeveloped tract within the larger
Pine Canyon Development.

Financial Impact:
No financial liabilities are anticipated by the approval of this final plat.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient and
effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics

REGIONAL PLAN:
Goal LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment and
neighborhood shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.

Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural neighborhoods in the
Flagstaff region.

Goal NH.3. Make available a variety of housing types at different price points, to provide housing
opportunity for all economic sectors.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
The City Council approved the Coconino Ridge at Pine Canyon Preliminary Plat on November 17, 2015.,

Options and Alternatives:



1.  Approve the Final Plat, as recommended by staff.
2.  Approve the Final Plat with new or modified conditions.
3.  Deny the Preliminary Plat based on non-compliance with the approved preliminary plat, the Zoning
Code, the Subdivision Code and/or the Engineering Design Standards and Specifications for New
Infrastructure.

Background/History:
In 1987, the City of Flagstaff annexed 445 acres of land into the city limits in conjunction with a 752-acre
development known as Fairway Peaks.  After development approvals lapsed for this project a new case
was brought forward for what is today Pine Canyon.  In June of 2000, the City Council approved a
rezoning request and development agreement allowing the development of Pine Canyon, which includes
a mixture of condominium, estate twin houses (duplex units), estate homes, clubhouse and recreation
facilities, maintenance and storage facilities, and an 18-hole private golf course with accessory facilities,
located on approximately 660 acres.

All development, including all subdivision plats, within the property known as Pine Canyon are subject to
the requirements of the City's Zoning Code, Subdivision Code and Engineering Standards as well as the
ordinance rezoning the property to its current zoning categories and subsequent agreements.  The
proposed Preliminary Plat meets the requirements of the Zoning Code (City Code Title 10), the
Subdivision Code (City Code Title 11), and the Engineering Design Standards and Specification for New
Infrastructure (City Code Title 13).  The final plat was reviewed and approved by the Inter-Division Staff
on October 4, 2016

Community Involvement:
Inform.  The existing zoning of the Subject Property allows for the proposed subdivision.  No public
hearings or public outreach are required by either the Zoning Code or the Subdivision Regulations as
part of the final subdivision plat review process.

Attachments:  Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 1
Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 2
Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 3









  14. A. i.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No.  2016-38: A public hearing,
consideration and adoption of an Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff, extending and
increasing the corporate limits of the City pursuant to the provisions of Title 9, Chapter 4, Arizona
Revised Statutes, by annexing approximately 112.90 acres of land located at 3425 West Route 66,
which certain land is contiguous to the existing corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff,
and establishing city zoning for said land as Rural Residential (RR); providing for severability, authority
for clerical corrections, and establishing an effective date. (Timber Sky Annexation)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the November 1, 2016 Council Meeting
1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the November 15, 2016 Council Meeting
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-38 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-38

Executive Summary:
Timber Sky Annexation

An Annexation request of approximately 112.90 acres located at 3425 West Route 66. The property is
identified as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 112-01-021 and includes adjacent right-of-way
for West Route 66.

The Planning and Zoning Commission conducted public hearings to consider the annexation request. 
The Commission voted (6-0) to forward the request with a recommendation of approval.

Financial Impact:
The proposed Timber Sky development includes substantial public infrastructure that will ultimately be
maintained by the City including the provision of daily services to the residents of Timber Sky. In general,
the cost of maintenance and services to an area can be based on the benefit theory of taxation. When
residential property is taxed soundly, over a period of time, it tends to be revenue neutral. Residential
development is an essential element of the entire economic picture for the City.

The proposed Timber Sky project will provide a series of infrastructure improvements provided entirely by
the applicant as well as in conjunction with the City of Flagstaff. Improved roadways, upgraded and



extended sewer lines and additional water resources infrastructure are required for the development of
this site. Many of these resources will be dedicated to the City of Flagstaff for continued maintenance and
operation.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS: 

Ensure Flagstaff has a long-term water supply for current and future needs
Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an
efficient and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
Provide a well-managed transportation system
Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
Policy LU.7.2.Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, or
that a pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Policy WR.4.3.Development requiring public utility services will be located within the Urban Growth
Boundary.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
The City Council may approve the ordinance as proposed, approve the ordinance with conditions, or
deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
A request by Vintage Partners (VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC) to annex approximately 112.90 acres
located south of West Route 66 and north of I-40 between Woody Mountain Road and Flagstaff Ranch
Road. The property subject to the annexation is Assessor’s Parcel Number 112-01-021. The parcel is
primarily vacant and was once part of the McAllister Ranch holdings. The site maintains significant forest,
slope, and rock outcropping resources. The parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary as
shown in the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030). 

The FRP 2030 designates this parcel as a mixture of Future Suburban and Future Employment area
types. A portion of this parcel is also located within the pedestrian shed of a Suburban Activity Center
located at the intersection of West Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch Road. The Suburban area type allows a
density range from two (2) to ten (10) residential units per acre with increased densities preferred within
the pedestrian shed of six (6) residential units per acre or greater. The Employment area type is intended
to provide for new manufacturing, research and development, flex space, industry incubators,
professional office, and similar uses that range from high-intensity, mixed-use office centers, large
business parks, warehouses, and distribution facilities to manufacturing and other heavy industrial areas.
An Employment Center may include mixed-use; research and development offices; medical offices;
office space; business park; retail, restaurant, and tourism center; light industrial; heavy-industrial; and
live-work spaces. 

This annexation is the first of a three-step process. The second being a Concept Zoning Map
Amendment request to zone the subject parcel and the adjacent parcel to a combination of High Density
Residential, Medium Density Residential, Single-family Residential, Commercial Services and Public
Open Space for a 1,300 unit master planned community. The Concept Zoning Map Amendment
application processed concurrently with this application will not become effective until after the
annexation is completed. A full Concept Zoning Map Amendment policy analysis can be found in that



staff report. The third part of this request is approval of a Preliminary Block Plat for the entire
development site.

Key Considerations:
Annexations are adopted by the City Council via ordinance. Ordinance No. 2016-38 annexes 112.90
acres located at 3425 West Route 66 and the adjoining West Route 66 right-of-way into the City of
Flagstaff. 

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this request are addressed in more detail in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report, dated September 28, 2016. Annexing this
property provides for extended development opportunities in western Flagstaff and provides necessary
infrastructure improvements to support future development.

Community Involvement:
Inform/Consult
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for annexation. In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing
was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to
all property owners within 300 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder,
County Assessor, County Community Development Department, and the Chair of the Board of
Supervisors.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this case. The first meeting was Tuesday,
December 8, 2015, between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Kilted Cat. Twenty-nine individuals attend the
first meeting. The second meeting was held Monday, January 11, 2016, also between 6:00pm and
8:00pm, at the Doubletree Hotel. Sixteen individuals attended this second meeting. Attendees had
questions and concerns in regards to traffic and public safety, outdoor lighting impacts, impacts to
wildlife, protection of forest resources and general project design. A citizen participation report was
prepared in relation to the comments and concerns presented dated March 10, 2016 and is attached to
the Concept Zoning Map Amendment report for review .

The Planning & Zoning Commission held public hearings on Wednesday, September 28, 2016 and
October 12, 2016 at 4 pm.  At the first public hearing, three members of the public spoke on the subject
cases.  Concerns were presented in relation to potential downstream stormwater impacts and traffic
impacts.  At the second hearing, 11 member of the public spoke on the subject case. Nine of those that
spoke were in favor of the project. Two presented concerns in relation to drainage and traffic.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
(Recommended Action): The City Council may approve the Annexation as recommended by the
Planning and Zoning Commission and staff by reading and adopting Ordinance No. 2016-38.
The City Council may approve the Annexation with conditions of approval.
The City Council may deny the Annexation.

Attachments:  Annexation Application
P&Z Staff Report
Annexation Legal Description
Public Hearing Notice
Letter from Coconino County
Timber Sky Annexation Ordinance







PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DIVISION
ANNEXATION REPORT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 20, 2016
PZ-15-00115-02 MEETING DATE:     September 28, 2016

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

An annexation request of approximately 112.90 acres located at 3425 West Route 66.  The property is 
identified as Coconino County Assessor’s Parcel Number 112-01-021.  This annexation request is the first 
part of a three-part request.  The second is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment and the third is a Preliminary 
Block Plat.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the annexation request to the City Council 
with a recommendation for approval.  

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject site consists of mostly undeveloped land in the General (G) Zone under Coconino County 
jurisdiction. A former ranch house and accessory structures is centrally located within the project boundaries.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

If this annexation is approved, the property will be designated with Rural Residential (RR) zoning within 
Lighting Zone I.  The accompanying zoning map amendment will change the zoning on the property from
the Rural Residential (RR) Zone to a mix of High Density Residential (HR), Medium Density Residential 
(MR), Single-family Residential (R1), Commercial Service (CS) and Public Open Space (POS) for a 1300 
dwelling unit development called Timber Sky. The property will also be placed in the Resource Protection 
Overlay (RPO) zone as part of the Zoning Map Amendment.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: W Route 66; Clay Avenue Wash Detention Basin owned by the City of Flagstaff in the Rural 
Residential (RR) Zone.

East: Vacant land in the Rural Residential (RR) Zone and General (G) Zone under Coconino County 
jurisdiction.

South: I-40; W.L. Gore Woody Mountain Campus in the Research and Development (RD) Zone. 
West: Vacant land and an APS substation in the Commercial Heavy (CH-10,000) Zone, 

Vacant Land and the Coca-Cola Plant in the Light Industrial (M1-10,000) Zone and 
Vacant Land in the General (G) Zone all under Coconino County jurisdiction. 

REQUIRED FINDINGS:

The Commission shall find that the requested annexation complies with Section 9-471 of the Arizona 
Revised Statutes; the applicable goals and policies set forth in the City’s General Plan, “Flagstaff Regional 
Plan 2030”; and Division 10-20.90 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.



PZ-15-00115-02
September 28, 2016
Page 2

STAFF REVIEW:

INTRODUCTION/BACKGROUND:

A request by Vintage Partners (VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC) to annex approximately 112.90 acres 
located south of West Route 66 and north of I-40 between Woody Mountain Road and Flagstaff Ranch 
Road.  The property subject to the annexation is Assessor’s Parcel Number 112-01-021.  The parcel is 
primarily vacant and was once part of the McAllister Ranch holdings.  The site maintains significant forest, 
slope, and rock outcropping resources.  The parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary as shown in 
the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP 2030).

The FRP 2030 designates this parcel as a mixture of Future Suburban and Future Employment area types.  A 
portion of this parcel is also located within the pedestrian shed of a Suburban Activity Center located at the 
intersection of West Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch Road. The Suburban area type allows a density range 
from 2 to 10 residential units per acre with increased densities preferred within the pedestrian shed of 6 
residential units per acre or greater.  The Employment area type is intended to provide for new 
manufacturing, research and development, flex space, industry incubators, professional office, and similar 
uses that range from high-intensity, mixed-use office centers, large business parks, warehouses, and 
distribution facilities to manufacturing and other heavy industrial areas.  An Employment Center may 
include mixed-use; research and development offices; medical offices; office space; business park; retail, 
restaurant, and tourism center; light industrial; heavy-industrial; and live-work spaces.  

This annexation is the first of a three-step process.  The second being a Concept Zoning Map Amendment 
request to zone the subject parcel and the adjacent parcel to a combination of High Density Residential, 
Medium Density Residential, Single-family Residential, Commercial Services and Public Open Space for a 
1300 unit master planned community.  The Concept Zoning Map Amendment application processed 
concurrently with this application will not become effective until after the annexation is completed.  A full 
Concept Zoning Map Amendment policy analysis can be found in that staff report. The third part of this 
request is approval of a Preliminary Block Plat for the entire development site. 

ARIZONA STATE STATUTE COMPLIANCE:

State statutes only allow the City to adopt a zoning classification that permits densities, intensities, and uses
no greater than those permitted by the County immediately before the annexation. The current county 
zoning is G, General that requires ten-acre minimum lot size.  The most similar city zoning district is the RR, 
Rural Residential District, which provides for one dwelling unit per acre where utility infrastructure and 
public roads are available and five dwelling units per acre where utility infrastructure and public roads are
not available.

FLAGSTAFF REGIONAL PLAN 2030 CONFORMANCE:

Policy/Analysis
All proposed annexations shall be evaluated as to whether the application is consistent with the policies of 
the General Plan.  The proposed annexation should not be detrimental to the majority of the persons or 
property in the surrounding area or the community in general.  The City’s basic position regarding 
annexation is that the annexation must demonstrate a favorable benefit to the taxpayers of the City.



PZ-15-00115-02
September 28, 2016
Page 3

The Regional Plan establishes growth boundaries to reduce sprawl development, and where possible, to 
promote a more compact development pattern with efficient infrastructure within the City.  Outward 
expansion may be a demonstrated growth need in balance with infill development.  Undeveloped lands
within the urban growth boundary are excellent locations for such expansions.  The Flagstaff West Side 
Small Area Plan and Infrastructure Study was prepared in 1999 as an update of the 1989 West Side Study 
Area Concept Plan.  These plans examined the current and future infrastructure needs of the area as well as 
provided updates to the land use plans for the area.  By directing growth to well-defined, contiguous areas, 
development is more efficiently served; open lands and natural resources can be better protected; public 
facilities and services can be delivered more effectively; and neighborhoods can provide a greater range of 
options for housing types.  The following policies are considered by staff to be the most pertinent to this 
annexation:

FRP 2030

Policy LU.7.2.Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City services, 
or that a pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.

Policy WR.4.3.Development requiring public utility services will be located within the Urban Growth 
Boundary.

Summary of Regional Plan & Annexation Compliance
This parcel is located within the Urban Growth Boundary and all infrastructure necessary to serve the 
development will be provided upon annexation.  The proposed annexation is consistent with the goals and 
policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 and furthermore the application complies with all the 
requirements set forth in the Arizona Revised Statutes related to annexations.

PUBLIC FACILITIES AND SERVICE IMPACT ANALYSIS:

Traffic/Access/Pedestrian/Bicycle Impact
The site is bounded on the north by West Route 66, on the east by Woody Mountain Road, and on the south 
by Interstate 40. Vehicular access to the site will be provided from West Route 66 and Woody Mountain 
Road.  A Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared for the applicant by CivTech, Inc. to demonstrate the 
anticipated traffic volumes generated from the proposed development.  The City Traffic Engineer has 
reviewed the TIA and subsequently accepted the results subject to conditions. ADOT has also reviewed and 
conditionally approved the TIA.  The results of the TIA and specific roadway requirements will be addressed 
in the subsequent reports for the Concept Zoning Map Amendment and Preliminary Block Plat.

The project site is not currently serviced by transit.  This area is identified in the FRP 2030 for future service.  
Pedestrian and bicycle access to the subject property is limited.  There are currently no sidewalks along West
Route 66 or Woody Mountain Road near this project.  Bike lanes are provided along West Route 66 up to 
Woodlands Village Boulevard beyond which a striped shoulder exists continuing out to the subject property.  
Future access for both pedestrians and bicycles will be possible through Presidio in the Pines into Boulder 
Pointe and beyond once the roadways within Presidio in the Pines are fully constructed.

Water System Analysis
A Water and Sewer System Analysis was prepared on behalf of the City.  The closest source of Zone A+ 
water for this site are an 18” waterline located within West Route 66 along the northern property boundary 
and a  12” waterline located in Woody Mountain Road.  These existing Zone A+ waterlines are fed by the 



PZ-15-00115-02
September 28, 2016
Page 4

Railroad Springs tank and a booster pump located in Railroad Springs Subdivision. A minimum of three 
connections will need to be made to the existing distribution system for this development.  The applicant is 
proposing and will be required to provide a looped water system from West Route 66 to Woody Mountain 
Road.  The applicant will also be required to allow for future accessibility to adjacent undeveloped parcels.  
The proposed development plan associated with this request creates water supply demands that the current 
City of Flagstaff water resources cannot provide.  The applicant will be required to construct a well or 
multiple wells necessary to meet the proposed developments’ average daily usage and dedicate the well(s) to 
the City of Flagstaff.  This will also be covered in more detail in the subsequent reports.

Sewer System Analysis
The Water and Sewer System Analysis identified two possible connection points to the City sewer system.  
The nearest existing sewer line is located along Woody Mountain road where there is an 8’ PVC serer main.  
The second is the yet-to-be constructed Westside Sewer line extension to the existing 18” PVC sewer 
interceptor located in Adirondack Avenue.  The Rio De Flag Wastewater Treatment Plant, which is currently 
operating below maximum capacity, will treat all sewage collected in these lines.  Modification to the 
existing sewer collection system will be required for the applicants proposed development plan.  The first 
improvement includes replacement of the 8” sewer line with an 18” sewer line for a stretch of approximately 
3,100 feet along Thompson Street and West Kaibab.  This is a planned City of Flagstaff project that is 
budgeted for fiscal year 2021.  The second off-site sewer improvement includes installation of the 18” sewer 
line connecting Adirondack Avenue to the project site.  This reach of the proposed Westside Sewer Line 
Extension is approximately 5,170 feet in length and runs along the Clay Avenue Wash adjacent to the 
McAllister Ranch. The City of Flagstaff will be extending the Westside Sewer Line to within 300 feet of 
West Route 66 in order to serve the Cores Services facility located north of the subject site.

Stormwater
A Preliminary Drainage Report and Drainage Impact Analysis has been prepared for property. In lieu of a 
downstream analysis, the project has elected to store the volumetric flow difference between the pre-
development conditions and the post-development conditions on-site.  Timber Sky will have an open space 
corridor that will manage major portions of the stormwater on the project site. LID requirements will be met 
per City standards.  The Stormwater Manager has provided preliminary acceptance of the proposed on-site 
mitigation and LID methods. 

Parks and Recreation:
The City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Organizational Master Plan identifies a future community scale
park (20+ acres) within the westside area.  The current Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 does not identify a park 
at this location.  While zoning regulations do require some type of open space areas, they do not require the 
dedication of land and facilities for the development of public parks.  

The Zoning Code requires residential developments with 50 or more dwelling units to provide a minimum of 
five percent of the site in civic spaces that are either privately held and open to the public or publicly owned 
and set aside as a civic space.  Development with the High Density Residential and Medium Density 
Residential require a total of 15% open space be provided as well. Any project developed as a Planned 
Residential Development also requires 15% open space.  Resource preservation such as floodplains, slopes,
and forests may be used to satisfy this standard and includes active and passive recreation uses, landscape 
areas, and community gardens. The applicant has provided more detailed open space and civic space 
allocations as part of their Concept Zoning Map Amendment request.



PZ-15-00115-02
September 28, 2016
Page 5

In order to offset the parks and recreation demands of the proposed development, on-site active and passive 
recreation amenities have been incorporated into the community to meet the civic and open space 
requirements.  Those amenities include a clubhouse, pickle ball court, walking trails, BBQ grills, picnic 
tables and a pavilion, the locations of which will be determined through site plan review.  The developer will 
also be required to provide Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) improvements along the West Route 66 
frontage and through the open space corridor to the southwestern portion of the of the property and an in-lieu 
contribution to the portion of the FUTS along Woody Mountain Road as part of the roadway edge 
improvements.   

Schools:
The proposed development of the subject site is anticipated to increase students within the local school 
district. The project has been reviewed by Flagstaff Unified School District (FUSD), which has stated that 
Marshall Elementary is not accepting additional students at this time so elementary students from this project 
will need to attend either Sechrist or Kinsey elementary schools or in the future the FUSD may re-district the 
school boundaries to assure efficiencies.

Fire Protection:
According to Fire Department staff, the site is within the desired four-minute response time from Fire Station 
No. 1, located at 1972 S. Thompson Drive.

ZONING REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSED ZONING:

As was noted above, if annexed, the property will need to be brought into the City as a zone similar to the 
existing County zoning.  In this case, the City’s RR, Rural Residential Zone, best matches the county G,
General Zone.  Arizona statues require that once annexed, the zoning is to remain in place for a period of 30 
days.  As a result, an ordinance modifying the zoning must include an effective date 30 plus days after the 
annexation ordinance becomes effective. The Concept Zoning Map Amendment application and the staff 
report have been provided in conjunction with this application and will explain the proposed High Density 
Residential (HR) Zone, Medium Density Residential (MR) Zone, Single-family Residential (R1) Zone, 
Commercial Service (CS) Zone, and Public Open Space (POS) Zone.

OTHER REQUIREMENTS:

Citizen Participation

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction 
with requests for annexation.  In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing was provided by 
placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners 
within 300 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder, County Assessor, County 
Community Development Department, and the Chair of the Board of Supervisors.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this case.  The first meeting was Tuesday, 
December 8, 2015, between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Kilted Cat.  Twenty-nine individuals attend the first 
meeting. The second meeting was held Monday, January 11, 2016, also between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the 
Doubletree Hotel.  Sixteen individuals attended this second meeting.  Attendees had questions and concerns 
in regards to traffic and public safety, outdoor lighting impacts, impacts to wildlife, protection of forest 
resources and general project design.  A citizen participation report was prepared in relation to the comments 



PZ-15-00115-02
September 28, 2016
Page 6

and concerns presented dated March 10, 2016 and is attached to the Concept Zoning Map Amendment report 
for review.

RECOMMENDATION:

Two public hearings are required for the associated Concept Zoning Map Amendment because the development
includes more than 300 residential dwelling units. 

At the September 28, 2016 Commission meeting staff recommends opening the public hearing and continuing 
the hearing until October 12, 2016.

For the October 12, 2016 Commission meeting staff recommends that the Commission forward the annexation 
request to the City Council with a recommendation of approval. 

ATTACHMENTS:

Application 
Annexation Legal Description and Map
Public Hearing Legal Advertisements
Letter from Coconino County in regards to right-of-way
Heritage Preservation Commission Report dated 2-26-16

















ORDINANCE NO.  2016-38

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF,
EXTENDING AND INCREASING THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY
OF FLAGSTAFF, COCONINO COUNTY, STATE OF ARIZONA, PURSUANT
TO THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE 9, CHAPTER 4, ARIZONA REVISED
STATUTES, BY ANNEXING CERTAIN LAND TOTALING APPROXIMATELY 
1 1 2 . 9 0  ACRES LOCATED AT 3425 WEST ROUTE 66, WHICH LAND IS
CONTIGUOUS TO THE EXISTING CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF
FLAGSTAFF, AND ESTABLISHING CITY ZONING FOR SAID LAND AS
RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR); PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AUTHORITY 
FOR CLERICAL CORRECTIONS, AND ESTABLISHING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, petitioner, VP 66 & Woody Mountain LLC, owns a certain 107.73 acre parcel
of land located at 3425 West Route 66 (the “Property”), which is located within Coconino
County, Arizona, as property adjacent to the boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, and
described in Exhibit A (APN 112-01-021), attached to and made a part hereof; and

WHEREAS, Coconino County maintains jurisdiction of the adjacent 5.17 acres of right-of-
way known as West Route 66, which is also described in Exhibit A (“US Highway 66”), 
attached to and made a part hereof; and

WHEREAS, a petition in writing ("Petition") accompanied by a map of the Property,
having been filed and presented to the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff,
Arizona, signed by the owners of one-half or more in value of the real property and
more than one-half of the persons owning real and personal property as would be 
subject to taxation by the City of Flagstaff in the event of annexation of the territory
and land hereinafter described as shown by the last assessment of Property, which said
territory is contiguous to the City of Flagstaff and not now embraced within its
corporate limits, asking that the Property be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and that the
corporate limits of the City of Flagstaff be extended and increased so as to embrace the
same; and

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, are desirous of
complying with the Petition and extending and increasing the corporate limits of the City
of Flagstaff to include said territory, as described in Exhibit A; and

WHEREAS, the Petition sets forth a true and correct description of all the exterior
boundaries of the entire area proposed to be annexed to the City of Flagstaff, and
had attached thereto at all times an accurate map of the territory desired to be annexed;
and

WHEREAS, no alterations increasing or reducing the territory sought to be annexed have
been made after the Petition had been signed by an owner of real or personal
property in such territory; and



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-38 PAGE 2

WHEREAS, the provisions of Section 9-471 of the Arizona Revised Statutes, and
amendments thereto, have been fully observed; and

WHEREAS, proper and sufficient certification and proof of the foregoing facts are now
on file in the office of the City Clerk of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, together with a
true and correct copy of the original Petition, which is on file in the office of the
Coconino County Recorder; and

WHEREAS, the development of the Property will be controlled by the relevant provisions
of the Zoning Code and other City codes regulating the development of the Property;
and

WHEREAS, the Council finds that the proposed annexation of the Property has been
considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission and that City staff and the
Commission have each recommended that the Council proceed with the annexation at
this time; and

WHEREAS, the Council has reviewed the Staff Summary Report, which discusses the 
proposed annexation, and now finds that the annexation of the Property would be 
consistent with the objectives and policies of the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 enacted
in May, 2014 ("Regional Plan"); that the annexation of the Property would not be
detrimental to the majority of the persons or property in the surrounding area or to the
community in general; and the Council specifically further finds that the annexation of
the Property and the existing and proposed uses thereon will further the objectives of
the Regional Plan.

ENACTMENTS:

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  That the following described territory be, and the same hereby is, annexed
to the City of Flagstaff, and that the present corporate limits be, and the same hereby
are, extended and increased to include the following described territory contiguous to
the present City of Flagstaff corporate limits:

See attached Exhibit A which is incorporated herein by this reference.

SECTION 2. That the territory described in Exhibit A is annexed to the City of
Flagstaff subject to the following conditions:

1. That a copy of this Ordinance, together with an accurate map of the territory
hereby annexed to the City of Flagstaff, certified by the Mayor of said City of
Flagstaff, be forthwith filed and recorded in the office of the County
Recorder of Coconino County, Arizona.

SECTION 3. That, pursuant to the provisions of Section 9-471(L), Arizona Revised
Statutes, upon this Ordinance becoming final under the provisions of Section 9-471(D),
Arizona Revised Statutes, the municipal zoning designation for the Property under the
Zoning Code shall be Rural Residential (RR).



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-38 PAGE 3

SECTION 4. The Community Development Department of the City of Flagstaff is
hereby directed to enter such changes and amendments as may be necessary upon the
Zoning Map of said Zoning Code in compliance with this ordinance.

SECTION 5. That the  Flagstaff City Clerk shall provide a copy of the adopted
annexation ordinance to the Clerk of the Coconino County Board of Supervisors within
sixty days of the annexation becoming final.

SECTION 6. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or 
any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.

SECTION 7. The City Clerk is hereby authorized to correct typographical and grammatical 
errors, as well as errors of wording and punctuation, as necessary related to this ordinance as 
amended herein, and to make formatting changes needed for purposes of clarity and form, or 
consistency, within thirty (30) days following adoption by the City Council.

SECTION 8. This Ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after adoption by the
City Council. If the accompanying Concept Zoning Map Amendment is not approved this 
Annexation Ordinance may be immediately rescinded and terminated, upon written request 
by the petitioner made prior to the effective date.  If any person or entity, other than the 
petitioner, files a valid petition appearing to be in proper form and to have the requisite number 
of valid signatures to cause a referendum challenging the Concept Zoning Map Amendment 
and/or this Annexation Ordinance, the City agrees to use its best efforts to accomplish the 
intent of this Section, even if a special meeting of the City Council must be called for the 
purpose of repealing the Annexation Ordinance.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 15th day of November,
2016.

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

CITY ATTORNEY



  14. A. ii.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT
To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Tiffany Antol, Planning Development
Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting
Date:

11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Public Hearing, Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-39:  Public hearing,
consideration and adoption of an ordinance of the City Council of the City of Flagstaff amending the
Flagstaff Zoning Map to rezone approximately 197.58 acres of real property generally located at 3425
West Route 66 from the Rural Residential (RR) zone to the Single-family Residential (R1) zone for 100.48
acres, the Medium Density Residential (MR) zone for 34.6 acres, the High Density Residential (HR) zone
for 38.97 acres, the Commercial Services (CS) zone for 10.02 acres and the Public Open Space (POS)
zone for 13.51 acres with conditions, and addition the Resource Preservation Overlay (RPO) zone
to 107.73 acres (APN 112-01-021) with conditions; providing for severability, and establishing an
effective date. (Timber Sky Zoning Map Amendment)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the November 1, 2016 Council Meeting
1) Hold Public Hearing
2) Read Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title only for the first time
3) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title only for the first time (if approved above)
At the November 15, 2016 Council Meeting
4) Read Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title for the final time
5) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-39 by title for the final time (if approved above)
6) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-39

Executive Summary:
Timber Sky Concept Zoning Map Amendment

A Concept Zoning Map Amendment request for approximately 197.58 acres at 3425 West Route 66 from
Rural Residential (RR) zone to the Single-family Residential zone, Medium Density Residential zone, 
High Density Residential zone, Commercial Services zone, Public Open Space zone and the application
of the Resource Protection Overlay. 

The Flagstaff Planning & Zoning Commission conducted public hearings to consider the zoning map
amendment request.  The Commission voted (6 - 0) to forward the request with a recommendation of
approval with conditions.

Financial Impact:
The proposed Timber Sky development includes substantial public infrastructure that will ultimately be



The proposed Timber Sky development includes substantial public infrastructure that will ultimately be
maintained by the City including the provision of daily services to the residents of Timber Sky.  In general,
the cost of maintenance and services to an area can be based on the benefit theory of taxation.  When
residential property is taxed soundly, over a period of time, it tends to be revenue neutral.  Residential
development is an essential element of the entire economic picture for the City.

The proposed Timber Sky project will provide a series of infrastructure improvements provided entirely by
the applicant as well as in conjunction with the City of Flagstaff.  Improved roadways, upgraded and
extended sewer lines and additional water resources infrastructure are required for the development of
this site.  Many of these resources will be dedicated to the City of Flagstaff for continued maintenance
and operation.

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:

COUNCIL GOALS: 

Ensure Flagstaff has a long-term water supply for current and future needs
Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an
efficient and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
Provide a well-managed transportation system
Continue to implement the Flagstaff Regional Plan and focus efforts on specific plans

REGIONAL PLAN:
A complete analysis of the regional plan goals and policies can be found within the attached Planning &
zoning Commission staff report.  All relevant goals and policies have been attached separately.

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
None

Options and Alternatives:
The City Council may approve the ordinance as proposed, approve the ordinance with modified
conditions, or deny the ordinance.

Background/History:
The Timber Sky application is a 1300 residential dwelling unit development located in both the City of
Flagstaff and Coconino County. The development proposes a mixture of high, medium, and single-family
residential units combined with commercial service and open space on 197.58 acres. Currently, the
eastern 90.4 acres of the property are located within the City of Flagstaff’s city limits. The remaining
107.20 acres of the western portion of the site are within Coconino County’s jurisdiction. An annexation
request is included concurrent with this Concept Zoning Map Amendment. If the Concept Zoning Map
Amendment is approved, it will not become effective until after the property has been officially annexed
into the City of Flagstaff.

The site is situated north and south between Route 66 and Interstate-40 and east and west between
Woody Mountain Road and Flagstaff Ranch Road. The site slopes gently from south to north with most of
the onsite drainage flowing toward an existing culvert under Route 66, which eventually discharges into
the Clay Wash Detention Basin located north of Route 66. There are no designated floodplains on the
site. In 2006, the property partially burned in a fire, leaving a 700-foot wide corridor of deforested land
through the middle of the subject property. The remainder of the site is forested with Ponderosa Pine.
The site has two pockets of slopes greater than 17% with other basalt rock outcrop features throughout
the property. A large amount of fill placed on site, which has the appearance of a steep slope, will not be
protected. An existing above ground 69 KV transmission line crosses the site in an east-west direction
connecting to an existing APS substation at the southwestern corner of the property. This line is required



to be underground with the development of Timber Sky. 

Key Considerations:
The applicant, Vintage Partners (VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC), is requesting rezoning approval to
permit 492 multi-family dwelling units and 808 single-family dwelling units, located on approximately
197.58 acres referred to as “Timber Sky”. The majority of the dwelling units are planned for single-family
ownership. Because this application is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment, the applicant has provided
the required examples of housing types. Final lot layout design, actual elevations, and floor plans for
individual units are not required and are determined through the platting of individual subdivisions. The
concept zone plan shows a mix of high density, medium density, and single-family residential
development across the site. The high-density development areas, placed in regards to the activity
centers located at the intersections of Route 66 and Woody Mountain and Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch
Road, take advantage of the areas that have been most heavily disturbed by fill and fire. The Commercial
Services land is proposed to allow compatible commercial development complimentary to the community.
The development of this site will be subject to market demands and the applicants have provided a list of
potential uses for the site. The concept plan for this site shows a mini-storage facility.

Conceptual cross sections are provided for the Route 66 frontage, Woody Mountain Road, and the
internal collector corridor. The applicant is intending to exceed the city’s requirement in terms of the
internal collector roadway by providing a large landscaped median. A unified landscaping theme, which
is maintained by the Homeowners Association, is planned for the development of this project along all
major corridors and subdivision entrances. A community connectivity, civic space, and open space plan
has been provided that shows how the individual blocks are proposed to link with open space areas and
trails. A large open space tract traverses the western portion of the property, which provides a portion of
the Flagstaff Urban Trail System in relation to the planned loop trail and serves as a drainage feature for
the property. A community center, located centrally to the development provides civic space with smaller
open space areas shown within the individual blocks. The community center will include a large plaza
with a ramada, playground, pickle ball courts, a community garden, and possibly a dog park. The plaza
will be large enough to host events such as community farmers market.

The subject property is currently located in Lighting Zone 1 due to its close proximity to the US Naval
Observatory. The applicant has worked with the US Naval Observatory to self-restrict their development
beyond the Lighting Zone 1 requirements of the Flagstaff Zoning Code. These additional lighting
restrictions will be managed and enforced by the Homeowners Association for Timber Sky. Specifics on
the lighting restrictions are included in the Development Agreement covering the project.

The applicants are proposing to provide 100 housing units at the time of sale to the ultimate purchaser at
100% of the Area Median Income (AMI) affordability level, which is approximately $220,000 based on
current income levels. These units may be located in any of the zoning categories, but will most likely be
included in the high and medium density zoning categories. The applicant has agreed to work with the
City to try to make as many units permanently affordable as possible.

Community Benefits and Considerations:
Community benefits and considerations related to this request are addressed in more detail in the
attached Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report, dated September 28, 2016.  Rezoning this
property provides for extended development opportunities in western Flagstaff and provides necessary
infrastructure improvements to support future development.

Community Involvement:
Inform/Consult



Inform/Consult
Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in
conjunction with requests for annexation. In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing
was provided by placing an ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to
all property owners within 300 feet of the site. The notices were also provided to the County Recorder,
County Assessor, County Community Development Department and the Chair of the Board of
Supervisors.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this case. The first meeting was Tuesday,
December 8, 2015, between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Kilted Cat. Twenty-nine individuals attend the
first meeting. The second meeting was held Monday, January 11, 2016, also between 6:00pm and
8:00pm, at the Doubletree Hotel. Sixteen individuals attended this second meeting. Attendees had
questions and concerns in regards to traffic and public safety, outdoor lighting impacts, impacts to
wildlife, protection of forest resources and general project design. A citizen participation report was
prepared in relation to the comments and concerns presented dated March 10, 2016.

The Planning & Zoning commission held public hearings on Wednesday, September 28, 2016 and
October 12, 2016 at 4 pm.  At the first public hearing, three members of the public spoke on the subject
cases.  Concerns were presented in relation to potential downstream stormwater impacts and traffic
impacts.  At the second hearing, 11 member of the public spoke on the subject case.  Nine of those that
spoke were in favor of the project.  Two presented concerns in relation to drainage and traffic.

Expanded Options and Alternatives:
(Recommended Action):  The City Council may approve the Concept Zoning Map Amendment as
recommended by the Planning and Zoning Commission and staff by reading and adopting
ordinance No. 2016-39.
The City Council may approved the Concept Zoning Map Amendment with modified conditions.
The City Council may deny the Concept Zoning Map Amendment.

Attachments:  Concept Zoning Map Amendment Application
Planning & Zoning Commission Staff Report
Project Narrative
Concept Zoning Plan
Notice of Public Hearing
FRP 2030 Applicable Goals and Policies
FRP 2030 Map 7 Enlargement of subject property
FRP 2030 Map 22 Enlargement of subject property
FRP 2030 Map 25 Enlargement of subject property
Citizen Participation Plan
Timber Sky Lighting Mitigation Standards
Traffic Impact Analysis Exhibits
ADOT Letter
ADOT Timber Sky Traffic Mitigation Agreement
Zoning Map Amendment Ordinance
Development Agreement





PLANNING DIVISION REPORT
CONCEPT ZONING MAP AMENDMENT

PUBLIC HEARING DATE: September 22, 2016
PZ-15-00115 MEETING DATE: September 28, 2016 

REPORT BY: Tiffany Antol, AICP

REQUEST:

Concept Zoning Map Amendment of approximately 197.58 acres at 3425 West Route 66 (“Route 66”) from the RR, 
Rural Residential Zone to HR, High Density Residential Zone (38.97 acres); from RR, Rural Residential Zone to MR,
Medium Density Residential Zone (34.6 acres), from RR, Rural Residential Zone to R1, Residential Single-family 
Zone (100.48 acres); from RR, Rural Residential Zone to CS, Commercial Services Zone (10.02 acres); and from RR, 
Rural Residential Zone to POS, Public Open Space Zone (13.51 acres).  The Resource Protection Overlay will be 
added to the parcel of land currently located in Coconino County (107.2 acres) to match the existing parcel in the City 
of Flagstaff (90.4 acres).

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Staff recommends the Planning and Zoning Commission forward the Concept Zoning Map Amendment request to 
the City Council with a recommendation for approval subject to conditions of approval.  

PRESENT LAND USE:

The subject property consists of mostly undeveloped land in the Rural Residential (RR) Zone. A former ranch house 
with accessory structures is centrally located within the project boundaries.

PROPOSED LAND USE:

Proposed development of the site is a 1300 residential dwelling unit development known as Timber Sky.  The project 
is intended to provide a mix of housing types with supporting commercial services and open space areas.

NEIGHBORHOOD DEVELOPMENT:

North: Route 66; Clay Avenue Wash Detention Basin owed by the City of Flagstaff in the Rural Residential 
(RR) Zone;

East: Vacant land in the Rural Residential (RR) Zone and General (G) Zone under Coconino County 
jurisdiction;

South: I-40; W.L. Gore Woody Mountain Campus in the Research and Development (RD) Zone;
West: Vacant land and an APS substation in the Commercial Heavy (CH-10,000) Zone, Vacant land and the 

Coca-Cola plat in the Light Industrial (M1-10,000) Zone and Vacant land in the General (G) Zone all 
under Coconino County jurisdiction.

REQUIRED FINDINGS

Staff Review

An application for a Concept Zoning Map Amendment shall be submitted to the Planning Director and shall be 
reviewed and a recommendation prepared.  The Planning Director’s recommendation shall be transmitted to the 
Planning Commission in the form of a staff report prior to a scheduled public hearing.  The recommendation shall 
include: an evaluation of the consistency and conformance of the proposed amendment with the goals and policies of 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 2

2

the General Plan, and any applicable specific plans; the grounds for the recommendation based on the standards and 
purposes of the zones set forth in Section 10-40.20 (Establishment of Zones) of the Zoning Code (page 40.20-1); and, 
whether the amendment should be granted, granted with conditions to mitigate anticipated impacts caused by the 
proposed development, or denied.  

Findings for Reviewing Proposed Zoning Map Amendments

Proposed Concept Zoning Map Amendments shall be evaluated based on the following findings:  the proposed 
amendment is consistent with and conforms to the goals and policies of the General Plan, and any applicable specific 
plans; the proposed amendment will not be detrimental to the public interest, health, safety, convenience, or welfare of 
the City of Flagstaff (the “City”), and will add to the public good as described in the General Plan; and, the affected 
site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, operating characteristics, and the provision of public
and emergency vehicle access, public services, and utilities to ensure that the requested zone designation and the 
proposed or anticipated uses and/or development will not endanger, jeopardize, or otherwise constitute a hazard to the 
property or improvements in the vicinity in which the property is located. If the application is not consistent with the 
General Plan, and any other applicable specific plan, the applicable plan must be amended in compliance with the 
procedures established in Chapter 11-10 of the City Code (Title 11: General Plans and Subdivisions) prior to considering the 
proposed amendment.

Introduction/Background

The Timber Sky application is a 1300 residential dwelling unit development located in both the City of Flagstaff and 
Coconino County.  The development proposes a mixture of high, medium, and single-family residential units 
combined with commercial service and open space on 197.58 acres.  Currently, the eastern 90.4 acres of the property 
are located within the City of Flagstaff’s city limits.  The remaining 107.20 acres of the western portion of the site are 
within Coconino County’s jurisdiction.  An annexation request is included concurrent with this Concept Zoning Map 
Amendment.  If the Concept Zoning Map Amendment is approved, it will not become effective until after the property 
has been officially annexed into the City of Flagstaff.

The site is situated north and south between Route 66 and Interstate-40 and east and west between Woody Mountain 
Road and Flagstaff Ranch Road.  The site slopes gently from south to north with most of the onsite drainage flowing 
toward an existing culvert under Route 66, which eventually discharges into the Clay Wash Detention Basin located 
north of Route 66.  There are no designated floodplains on the site. In 2006, the property partially burned in a fire, 
leaving a 700-foot wide corridor of deforested land through the middle of the subject property.  The remainder of the 
site is forested with Ponderosa Pine.  The site has two pockets of slopes greater than 17% with other basalt rock 
outcrop features throughout the property.  A large amount of fill placed on site, which has the appearance of a steep 
slope, will not be protected.  An existing above ground 69 KV transmission line crosses the site in an east-west 
direction connecting to an existing APS substation at the southwestern corner of the property.  This line is required to 
be underground with the development of Timber Sky.  

In addition to the Annexation and Concept Zoning Map Amendment cases, the applicant has also submitted a 
Preliminary Block Plat application.  This Preliminary Block Plat proposes to divide the property into 16 separate 
blocks with an internal minor collector roadway in four phases.  Each block will then be subdivided further (except 
those designated as open space or community center – Blocks 14, 15 and 16) into the individual lots that will be sold 
to homeowners.  



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 3

3

Proposed Rezoning and Development Concept Plan

The applicant, Vintage Partners (VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC), is requesting rezoning approval to permit 492 
multi-family dwelling units and 808 single-family dwelling units, located on approximately 197.58 acres referred to as 
“Timber Sky”.  The majority of the dwelling units are planned for single-family ownership.  Because this application 
is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment, the applicant has provided the required examples of housing types.  Final lot 
layout design, actual elevations, and floor plans for individual units are not required and are determined through the
platting of individual subdivisions.  The concept zone plan shows a mix of high density, medium density, and single-
family residential development across the site.  The high-density development areas, placed in regards to the activity 
centers located at the intersections of Route 66 and Woody Mountain and Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch Road, take 
advantage of the areas that have been most heavily disturbed by fill and fire.  The Commercial Services land is 
proposed to allow compatible commercial development complimentary to the community.  The development of this 
site will be subject to market demands and the applicants have provided a list of potential uses for the site.  The 
concept plan for this site shows a mini-storage facility.

Conceptual cross sections are provided for the Route 66 frontage, Woody Mountain Road, and the internal collector 
corridor.  The applicant is intending to exceed the city’s requirement in terms of the internal collector roadway by 
providing a large landscaped median.  A unified landscaping theme, which is maintained by the Homeowners 
Association, is planned for the development of this project along all major corridors and subdivision entrances.  A 
community connectivity, civic space, and open space plan has been provided that shows how the individual blocks are 
proposed to link with open space areas and trails.  A large open space tract traverses the western portion of the 
property, which provides a portion of the Flagstaff Urban Trail System in relation to the planned loop trail and serves 
as a drainage feature for the property.  A community center, located centrally to the development provides civic space
with smaller open space areas shown within the individual blocks.  The community center will include a large plaza 
with a ramada, playground, pickle ball courts, a community garden, and possibly a dog park.  The plaza will be large 
enough to host events such as community farmers market.

The subject property is currently located in Lighting Zone 1 due to its close proximity to the US Naval Observatory.  
The applicant has worked with the US Naval Observatory to self-restrict their development beyond the Lighting Zone 
1 requirements of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.  These additional lighting restrictions will be managed and enforced by 
the Homeowners Association for Timber Sky.  Specifics on the lighting restrictions are included in the Development 
Agreement covering the project.

The applicants are proposing to provide 100 housing units at the time of sale to the ultimate purchaser at 100% of the 
Area Median Income (AMI) affordability level, which is approximately $220,000 based on current income levels.  
These units may be located in any of the zoning categories, but will most likely be included in the high and medium 
density zoning categories.  The applicant has agreed to work with the City to try to make as many units permanently 
affordable as possible.

General Plan/Flagstaff Regional Plan (FRP 2030)

As discussed in the “How This Plan Works” chapter (page III-4), the Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (FRP2030) is 
used in the regulatory decision-making process by the Planning & Zoning Commission, City Council and City 
staff.  The Commission and the Council are responsible for making development decisions such as zoning map 
amendments, which depends on whether the proposed changes or projects are consistent with the Plan’s goals and 
policies.  The Future Growth Illustration on Maps 21 and 22 (same map; one is regional scale and one city scale) 
and the text of the Plan will provide supplemental information for the interpretation of goals and policies.  In case 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 4

4

of any conflict between the Future Growth Illustration and the Plan’s goals and policies, the goals and policies will 
prevail.  The Future Growth Illustration has two types of land use designations: “Area Types” describe the place-
making context of Urban, Suburban, Rural, or Employment and “Place Types” such as activity centers, corridors,
and neighborhoods provide the framework for the density, intensities, and mix of uses within the area types.  The 
subject property falls within the Future Employment (blue shading on map), Future Suburban (yellow shading on 
map), and Future Urban (orange shading on map) area types.

On this site, the Future Employment 
Area Type and Future Suburban Area 
Type overlap one another on the 
western edge.  In the instances of 
overlapping area types, the property 
owner may elect to utilize either.  The 
majority of the development proposed is 
suburban with pockets of higher density 
and a piece of commercial to support 
both area types.  A small portion of the 
property is identified as the Urban Area 
Type.  The applicant has located higher 
densities of residential development in 
this location but the overall density for 
the project was an average of the entire 
site.

There is a Suburban Activity Center 
(S10) located at the intersection of 

Flagstaff Ranch Road and Route 66 and an Urban Activity Center (U7) located at the intersection of Woody 
Mountain Road and Route 66.  Portions of the subject property fall within the pedestrian sheds of both of these 
activity centers.  Route 66 is also defined as a “Great Street” up to the Woody Mountain Road intersection.  The 
Suburban area type is intended to have medium to low densities (2 to 10 units per acres) of residences, jobs, and 
activities.  The Urban area type is intended to have a higher density (minimum 8 units per acre) of residences, jobs,
and activities.  The Employment area type is meant to encourage employment centers that include mixed-use; 
research and development offices; medical offices; office space; business park; retail, restaurant, and tourism 
center; light-industrial; heavy industrial; and live-work spaces.  The average gross density proposed for this project
is based on the applicant’s self-imposed cap of 1300 dwelling units, which averages to 6.57 dwelling units per acre.  
The Zoning Code includes minimum densities that must be achieved for the property, which in this case would be no 
less than 910 dwelling units, which average to 4.61 dwelling units per acres.

Applicable General Plan Goals and Policies 

Staff has identified Regional Plan Goals and Policies that could be applied to support or not support the proposed 
Concept Zoning Map Amendment.  These goals and policies are located in an attachment to this report.  The following 
is a discussion of how the project’s meets or conflicts with goals and policies in each chapter.

Environmental Planning & Conservation (Air Quality, Climate Change and Adaptation, Dark Skies, 
Ecosystem Health, Environmentally Sensitive Lands, Natural Quiet, Soils, and Wildlife)

West Route 66

I-40

Woody Mountain Road

Flagstaff Ranch Road



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 5

5

Map 7 (see attached) illustrates significant natural resources in the area including wildlife, vegetation, hydrology, 
and geology.  The natural resources identified include a stand of large diameter Ponderosa Pine trees in the 
southeast portion of the site and a Montane Grassy area located centrally along the northern property boundary.  
The portion of the property currently located in the City is within the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) Zone
and the portion to be annexed will be added to the RPO Zone.  A preliminary resource protection plan developed 
for the site identifies the required percentages of each resource to be preserved which includes forests and steep 
slopes.  

The most significant policies in this chapter for this site are the ones in relation to dark skies.  The applicant has 
worked with the Naval Observatory to develop additional regulations for outdoor lighting on the subject property.  
These requirements will be enforced by the Homeowner’s Association and included in the Development 
Agreement.  These lighting requirements are attached to this report for the Commission’s review.  The property 
has not been specifically identified as a wildlife corridor but animals are known to forage on site.  The open space 
corridor running through the property will continue to attract wildlife to the site.  Staff has identified fencing 
strategies with Arizona Game and Fish to ensure that wildlife and residents remain safe.

Open Space
Multiple open space areas are integrated throughout the proposed development including pocket parks areas, the 
open space corridor, and Overlook Park.  These areas are intended to provide active and passive recreation 
opportunities for residents.  The open space corridor is the only open space currently defined.  The other open 
space areas will be defined when platting the individual Blocks.  The applicant intends to provide connectivity 
throughout the development to these open space areas as appropriate.

Water Resources (Water Sources, Water Demand, Stormwater and Watershed Management and Water 
Quality)
Per Map 21, the Property is located within the Urban Growth Boundary.  A Water Sewer Impact Analysis was 
completed for the project.  The conclusions and requirements of this analysis are addressed below. Similarly, a 
Drainage Impact Analysis was completed for the proposed project.  The conclusions and requirements of this 
analysis are addressed below as well.  Both of these analyses adequately address the goals and policies of this 
chapter.  

Community Character (Scenic Resources and Natural Setting, Heritage Preservation, Community Design, 
and Arts, Sciences and Education)
The Regional Plan does not identify specific viewshed corridors for protection; however, the subject property 
should not interfere with existing viewsheds due to location and the tree coverage.  The project is designed to 
preserve natural resources including rock outcroppings and large diameter trees.  Route 66 is a gateway corridor 
into Flagstaff and the applicant has worked to create a visual attractive community with fencing, entry monuments 
and landscaping details.  A cultural resource report was prepared for the property.  The report was reviewed and 
approved by the Heritage Preservation Commission.  The main Timber Sky streetscape is designed to exceed City 
standards, include a large landscaped median, parkway, sidewalk, and additional landscape areas.  The Timber Sky 
project will also underground an existing 69KV line that traverses the property from east to west.

Growth Areas & Land Use (Reinvestment, Greenfield, Urban Area, Suburban Area, Rural Area, 
Employment Area, Special Planning Area, and Activity Centers)
The majority of the goals and policies in this chapter are covered above in the general discussion of regional plan 
compliance.  The proposed development is meeting the intent of the designated area and place types.  The property 
is located within the Urban Growth Boundary and will be annexed prior to the provision of city services.  The 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 6

6

proposed development provides a mix of housing types and densities.  Many of the policies in this chapter relate to 
compliance with existing development standards and requirements, which is covered below.  This chapter does 
contain polices that conflict with the current proposal, specifically in relation to compact development and 
preference for infill development over peripheral expansion.  Recreational amenities as previously discussed are 
included in the proposal for this site.  The site is not currently served by transit but is identified for future 
expansion of service.  Bicycle and pedestrian connectivity will be provided through the site as well as along the 
frontages of the property; however, there are missing pieces of infrastructure that would make the site easily 
accessible via alternative modes.

Transportation (Mobility and Access, Safe and Efficient Multimodal Transportation, Environmental 
Considerations, Quality Design, Pedestrian Infrastructure, Bicycle Infrastructure, Transit, Automobile, 
Passenger Rail and Rail Freight, Air Travel, and Public Support for Transportation)
The proposed Timber Sky development includes a series of on-site and off-site transportation improvements that 
are detailed below.  The proposed road network is consistent with Map 25.  The block plat provides a minor 
collector level roadway that traverses the site, designed to be contextually sensitive to the neighborhood and 
gateway corridor.  The site will provide adequate facilities for alternative transportation modes as well as the 
provision of additional Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails.  The site is not currently served by transit but 
service is shown to be provided sometime in the future.  The site is not easily accessible by pedestrian and bicycles 
due to existing missing infrastructure off-site from the subject property.  Map 25 also identifies a future 
interchange at Woody Mountain Road and I-40.  Currently there is not sufficient right-of-way to accommodate this 
future interchange.  It is important to consider the impacts of the proposed development on this right-of-way 
acquisition.  Policy T.8.4 specifically calls for the protection of rights-of-ways for future transportation corridors.

Cost of Development
This chapter primarily addresses new development paying its fair share of public facilities, services, and 
infrastructure.  Impact analysis helps to determine the specific proportion share for each development.  A review of
the impact analysis for this project and the mitigation required is discussed below.

Neighborhoods, Housing, and Urban Conservation
The applicants have designed their project to be a complete neighborhood with a mix of housing types, open space 
areas, and commercial uses.  Affordable housing options have been provided even though the applicant is not 
taking advantage of any of the incentives offered.  

Economic Development (Responsive Government, Education and Workforce Training, Business Retention, 
Expansion and Entrepreneurship, Business Attraction, Tourism, Community Character and 
Redevelopment and Infill)
This chapter supports the provision of workforce housing, which is the intention of the Timber Sky community.

Recreation
Development projects are encouraged to integrate active and passive recreation sites into their design.  The Timber 
Sky community has provided several locations for both types of recreation.  Final designs of each site will be 
resolved at the time of platting each Block.

Policy Analysis

This list below identifies several key points and community benefits supporting (+) or not supporting (-) the 
proposed amendment:



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 7

7

+ The Property is considered Greenfield development, is within the Urban Growth Boundary, and can be 
efficiently and effectively provided with facilities and services by the City

+ Existing transportation infrastructure and existing water infrastructure is available at this site;  
+ The project will complete a regional sewer system that can serve other areas in the City;
+ The project will provide a mix of housing types, is intended to provide workforce level housing and 100 

affordable housing units;
+ The project will provide open space amenities and extensions of the Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS); 
- The project utilizes the Suburban Area Type over the Employment Area Type intended to attract new 

employment opportunities; and,
- Timber Sky is not a centrally located project with convenient access to many required resources, including 

transit.

Zoning – City of Flagstaff Zoning Code

If the Concept Zoning Map Amendment request is approved, 100.48-acres will be rezoned to the Single-family 
Residential Zone, 34.60-acres to the Medium Density Residential Zone, 38.97-acres to the High Density Residential 
Zone, 13.51-acres to the Commercial Service Zone, and 13.51-acres to the Public Open Space Zone.  The concept plan 
shows how the zoning categories layout on the site but specifics on lots have not yet been determined. The Concept 
Zoning Plan includes site data sheets, vicinity map, context analysis map, site analysis map, concept zone plan, 
conceptual community connectivity, civic space and open space plan, conceptual utility and drainage plan, conceptual 
phasing plan, and conceptual building types.

Site Planning Standards
In accordance with Section 10-30.60.030 of the Zoning Code (Page 30.60-2), the applicant conducted a site analysis, a 
copy of which is attached to this report, that considers the topography of the site, solar orientation, existing/native 
vegetation types, view corridors, climate, subsurface conditions, drainage swales and stream corridor, and the built 
environment and land use context.  The findings of the site analysis have been used for the layout of the zoning 
categories and open space areas on site and will be used when reviewing the more detailed future site plan/subdivision 
plat submittals. 

Resource Protection
The applicant has provided resource calculations of existing resources found on the property. Based on the 
preliminary calculations, it appears that the minimum protection threshold requirements can be met. The Zoning Code 
protection factors for residential uses as follows:  

80% of steep slopes   (25% and over)
70% of moderate slopes (17-24.9%)
50% of forest canopy

The Zoning Code allows a 5% reduction in the required forest preservation rates if civic space is provided. A more 
detailed analysis of resources will be required with the plat/site plan submittals, provided the rezoning case is 
successfully concluded.

Open Space & Civic Space
The Zoning Code requires residential developments in the High Density and Medium Density Zones, or projects in 
any zone utilizing the Planned Residential Development (PRD) option, and commercial development in the 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 8

8

Commercial Services Zone to provide 15% of the total site as open space.  Resource preservation such as 
floodplains, slopes, and forests may be used to satisfy this standard and includes active and passive recreation uses, 
landscape areas, and community gardens.  In addition, Section 10-30.60.060.B.1.b of the Zoning Code (Page 
30.60-11) requires developments with 50 or more dwelling units to provide a minimum of five percent of the site 
as civic space.  A total of 9.98-acres of civic space are required for this project.  The open space requirement is 
more difficult to calculate because it is undetermined how many blocks will utilize the PRD option. Based on just 
zoning categories a total of 12.53-acres of open space are required.  The project intends to provide a total of 14.73-
acres of open space and 11.54-acres of civic space.  See Table 6 in the applicant’s narrative for complete 
breakdown.

Pedestrian and Bicycle Circulation Systems
On-site pedestrian and bicycle circulation will be provided per the City Engineering Standards in conjunction with the 
proposed collector level roadway that will serve the interior of the project.  A conceptual connectivity plan has been 
provided to show how internal site connections are intended.  Final determinations of these connections will be 
determined during the site plan/plat review of the individual Blocks.  Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trails will 
be provided along a portion of Route 66 as part of the first phase development of Timber Sky.  A portion of the FUTS 
is required along Woody Mountain Road but the City has requested an in-lieu contribution for this improvement until 
other improvements can be made to this right-of-way.  Additionally, a FUTS trail will be provided through the open 
space corridor shown for this site.  This trail will connect with the larger loop trail that is intended to circle the City. 
Staff will work with the applicant during the site plan/plat review to ensure that adequate facilities for pedestrians and 
bicycles are accommodated.

Compatibility and Architectural Design Standards
“Scale” refers to similar or harmonious proportions, overall height, and width, the visual intensity of the development, 
and the building massing.  The proposed development consists of structures similar in scale to single-family residential 
housing, which is consistent with much of the surrounding development. Example elevations, copies of which are 
attached to this report, were provided for the residential units and future commercial development as part of this 
application.  Architectural design standards will be reviewed at the time of site plan approval and staff will confirm 
that all elevations are consistent with current requirements.   

Landscaping
Landscaping plans are not required in conjunction with a Concept Zoning Map Amendment.  The applicant will be 
required to provide plans that meet the requirements of parking lot landscaping, public right-of-way landscaping, open 
space landscaping, and landscape screening standards found within Section 10-50.60 of the Zoning Code (Page 50.60-
1).  A final landscape plan will be reviewed at the time of site plan/plat submittal.  The Timber Sky Homeowners 
Association will be required to maintain all landscaping located within the City right-of-way.

Outdoor Lighting
All of the subject property is located within Lighting Zone 1 due to the proximity to the US Naval Observatory. The 
applicant has worked with the US Naval Observatory to create additional standards for the subject site that will be 
enforced by the Timber Sky Homeowners Association.  A copy of the additional lighting requirements is attached. 
The development will be required to comply with the City’s outdoor lighting standards at the time of application 
review.



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 9

9

PUBLIC SYSTEMS IMPACT ANALYSIS

Traffic/Access/Right-of-Way Impact

Access to Timber Sky is provided from Route 66 and Woody Mountain Road.  Route 66 will be the primary route 
to access Timber Sky and portions will require widening to provide a second through lane of travel in each 
direction.  The applicant is responsible for building the half-street improvements along their frontage on Route 66 
per ADOT and City standards in Phase 1 (eastern half) and Phase 4 (western half).  The internal circulation will be 
provided with a collector roadway providing one lane in each direction of travel and bike lanes separated by a 
raised median.  All of the interior streets within the subdivision will be public and maintained by the City in 
conjunction with the Homeowner’s Association. A minimum 5-foot parkway (except for allowed variances)
between the sidewalk/FUTS and the back of curb will be provided on all public roads.  Right and left turn-lanes are 
required at appropriate intersections and major driveways on all public roads. Proposed on-site roadway 
improvements will be specifically detailed in the Preliminary Block Plat report.

The approved Timber Sky Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) dated June 23, 2016, was prepared by CivTech, and 
reviewed by the City, County, and ADOT.  The analysis is based on the demands generated by Timber Sky.  A 
copy of the executive summary is provided with this report.  Figure 19 of the TIA identifies proposed 
improvements needed to mitigate the impacts of the Timber Sky development.  Most of the improvements involve 
Route 66, the majority of which is under ADOT’s jurisdiction with City connecting roads.  The applicant has 
prepared a mitigation agreement in conjunction with ADOT.  The City has also negotiated required traffic 
mitigation efforts on City right-of-ways, itemized in the development agreement. The County has also identified 
specific mitigation efforts that will need to be addressed with the first phase of development.

CivTech prepared a conceptual preliminary cost estimate for the total cost of all related improvements at 
$6,648,097.  The proportional share for Timber Sky averaged out to approximately 21% of the impacts.  Timber 
Sky has agreed to contribute $1.5 million to the Off-site Roadway Improvements on the Route 66 corridor 
affecting both ADOT and the City.  All of the Off-site Roadway Improvements will be constructed in conjunction 
with Phase 1 of the Timber Sky Development.  No improvements will be made as part of the second phase of 
Timber Sky.  The improvements for the first phase include the following:

Woodlands Village Boulevard & Route 66 intersection improvements including:
o the addition of dual left turn lanes in the west to south movement, 
o provide for two thru lanes on Route 66 in each direction, 
o convert the existing eastbound Route 66 left turn lane, through lane, bike buffer and right 

turn lane into a left turn lane, through lane, through/right lane and bike buffer,
o convert the existing westbound right turn lane at Woodlands Village Boulevard on Route 66 

to a thru-right,
o modification of the northbound Woodlands Village left turn lane/median to a minimum of 

250 feet; and,
o revise striping to extend westbound receiving lanes as feasible

Addition of a second eastbound lane, along with curb, gutter, and sidewalk to Route 66 from
Woodlands Village Boulevard to the east of Woodlands Village Boulevard near the existing bus 
shelter in front of the former Radisson Hotel (approximately 300 feet east).
Addition of a second westbound lane, along with curb, gutter, and sidewalk on Route 66 between 
Pinnacle Street and Woodlands Village Blvd.



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 10

10

Installation of the remaining underground infrastructure for the future signal at the Woody 
Mountain Road and Route 66 intersection.
Convert the existing right turn lane on westbound Route 66 at Pinnacle Street to a thru/right lane.
Add new curb, gutter, and sidewalk along the south side of Route 66 from the Pinnacle Street 
intersection to close the existing gap.

As part of the development of the third phase of Timber Sky, the applicant has agreed to make a cash contribution 
to the City in an amount equal to $1.5 million less what Timber Sky was already spent on the Off-site Roadway 
Improvements in Phase 1.  This contribution will be used to mitigate traffic congestion on Route 66 between 
Milton Road and the Timber Sky project.

There are two Phase 1 improvements that fall outside of the $1.5 million contribution for improvements to the 
Route 66 corridor.  They are as follows:

The addition of an exclusive/permitted left turn phasing to both eastbound and westbound 
approaches at Woodlands Village Boulevard and University Avenue; and,
Installation of a left turn lane on Route 66 at Flagstaff Ranch Road in the County right-of-way in 
accordance with the recommendations of the approved TIA. Improvement to be designed to ADOT 
standards and installed at the time of phase1 development.

A copy of the applicant’s agreement with ADOT and a draft of the Development Agreement with the City are 
attached to this report.

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 identifies a future traffic interchange at Woody Mountain Road and I-40 (see 
attached FRP 2030 Map 25).  Staff has requested that the applicant provide the necessary right-of-way for the 
future interchange in accordance with the policies of the Regional Plan.  Initial design work shows that 
approximately 1.88-acres of the subject site will be necessary to accommodate the future interchange.  The 
applicant does not want to dedicate the right-of-way for the interchange at this time because of potential impacts to 
the development of the property.  They have requested that the need for right-of-way be determined at the time of 
development of Phase 3, Block 4. The applicant has agreed to place a note on the final plat of this Block that 
would indicate that right-of-way could be acquired in the future through condemnation. Staffs concern is that the 
cost of the necessary right-of-way will be increased if this rezoning is approved.  The City Council will be asked to 
consider purchasing the right-of-way prior to approving the Concept Zoning Map Amendment in order to preserve 
the future traffic interchange as shown within the Regional Plan. Note, if the Traffic Impact Analysis had included 
the interchange in the model the City would have required the right-of-way as part of the mitigation.

Water and Wastewater Impact

Civil Design & Engineering, Inc., on behalf of the City of Flagstaff Utilities Department, prepared the Water/
Wastewater Impact Analysis.  The analysis is based on the demands generated by Timber Sky and the residential 
dwelling cap of 1,300 units.  

Water
The closest source of Zone A+ water for this site include an 18” waterline located within Route 66 along the 
northern property boundary and a  12” waterline located in Woody Mountain Road.  These existing Zone A+ 
waterlines are fed by the Railroad Springs tank and a booster pump located in the Railroad Springs Subdivision.  A 
minimum of three connections will need to be made to the existing distribution system for this development.  The 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 11

11

applicant will be required to provide a looped water system from Route 66 to Woody Mountain Road.  Each of the 
development parcels in this development will be connected to the water main within the collector roadways 
running through Timber Sky.  The water system will be extended in coordination with the phasing and as needed 
for the individual parcels. The applicant will also be required to allow for future accessibility to adjacent 
undeveloped parcels.

The proposed development plan associated with this request creates water supply demands that the current City of 
Flagstaff water resources cannot provide.  The applicant will be required to construct a well or multiple wells 
necessary to meet the proposed developments’ average daily usage and dedicate the well(s) to the City of Flagstaff.  
Because of the limitation of 1,300 total residential units, Timber Sky will be required to install a new well(s), on 
the City water system that produce at least 260.5 gallons per minutes (gpm).  Any well provided must produce a 
minimum of 200 gpm and be furnished with a well house.  It is the applicant’s responsibility to obtain the 
appropriate land right-of-way to place the well(s).  The City may issue building permits for up to 420,000 gallons 
per day of peak water demand which is equivalent to 480 single-family residential units (phase 1).  Before any 
further building permits are issued, the applicant must have installed the acquired new well(s) capacity. If the 
well(s) installed have a capacity greater than the required 260.5 gpm then the applicant may be reimbursed a 
prorated amount by the City.  This reimbursement potential is covered in the development agreement for this 
project.

Wastewater
The Water and Sewer System Analysis identified two possible connection points to the City sewer system.  The 
nearest existing sewer line is located along Woody Mountain road where there is an 8’ PVC sewer main.  The 
second is the yet-to-be constructed Westside Sewer line extension to the existing 18” PVC sewer interceptor 
located in Adirondack Avenue.  The Rio De Flag Wastewater Treatment Plant, which is currently operating below 
maximum capacity, will treat all sewage collected in these lines.  

Modification to the existing sewer collection system will be required for the applicants proposed development 
plan.  The first improvement includes off-site replacement of the 8” sewer line with an 18” sewer line for a stretch 
of approximately 3,100 feet along Thompson Street and West Kaibab.  This is a planned City of Flagstaff project 
that is budgeted for fiscal year 2021 with a budget of $1.4 million. Because Timber Sky intends to develop the
first phase in 2017 with homes needing certificates of occupancy in early 2018, Timber Sky will need to build this 
sewer in advance of the City timeline.  The applicant has requested that the funding for this improvement be 
moved to fiscal year 2020, making funds available July 2019.  The development agreement includes a provision 
that a reconsideration of the project funding may be considered subject to future City Council approval. 

The second off-site sewer improvement includes installation of the 18” sewer line connecting Adirondack Avenue
(Railroad Springs) to the project site.  This reach of the proposed Westside Sewer Line extension is approximately 
5,170 feet in length and runs along the Clay Avenue Wash adjacent to the McAllister Ranch. Turner Engineering, 
Inc. prepared construction plans for this extension.  The City is constructing a new Public Works Core 
Maintenance Facility on the North side of Route 66 across from the Timber Sky development and intends to build 
the first leg of the Westside Sewer Line Extension to approximately 300 feet North of Route 66 (Manhole #18).  
Timber Sky will be required to build the next leg of the sewer from Manhole #18 to the Timber Sky development 
in order to gain sewer service.  The sewer line will be completed in its entirety during Phase 2; however, the 
applicant has agreed to provide the full easement for this regional sewer line through their property in conjunction 
with Phase 1.  

Both off-site improvements are required to be completed prior to the issuance of the first building permit.  All water 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 12

12

and wastewater systems for the project are required to be designed and constructed per the City's Engineering Design 
Standards and Specifications.

Stormwater Analysis
Woodson Engineering & Surveying completed a Drainage Impact Analysis for the project.  In lieu of a 
downstream analysis, the project has elected to store the volumetric flow difference between the pre-development 
conditions and the post-development conditions on-site. Timber Sky will have an open space corridor that will 
manage major portions of the stormwater on the project site.  The majority of the site outlets to an existing box 
culvert under Route 66.  The box culvert eventually discharges flow to the Clay Wash Detention Basin located 
north of Route 66 within the Rio De Flag watershed area.  Minor portions of the site on east side currently 
discharge to two culverts under Woody Mountain Road across private property.  The flow from this portion of the 
site will either be redirected west to the same outfall as the remainder of the project or will be discharged in a 
similar condition and at rates at or below the existing pre-development flow rates to avoid impact of downstream 
property.  The preferred option is for the stormwater to be directed west rather than following the existing flow 
patterns to help alleviate existing downstream flooding.  

Low Impact Development (LID) requirements are being met in several ways.  The water quality aspects of the LID 
requirements are being met in the upper reaches of the site at the discharge points of impervious surface areas. The 
use of bio-retention areas on single-family lots are proposed to meet the requirements for the residential 
impervious areas.  Maintenance of the bio retention areas on single-family lots will be the responsibility of the 
Homeowner’s Association.  These maintenance requirements have been added to the development agreement for 
this project.  The commercial and high-density parcels (1, 2,9,12 and 13) will be responsible for construction their 
own onsite storm water management facilities to address LID requirements.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS

Parks and Recreation
The City of Flagstaff Parks and Recreation Organizational Master Plan identifies a future community scale park 
(20+ acres) on or near the subject property.  The current Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 does not identify a park at 
this location.  While zoning regulations do require some type of open space areas, they do not require the 
dedication of land and facilities for the development of public parks.  

In order to offset the parks and recreation demands of the future Timber Sky residents, active and passive 
recreation amenities have been incorporated into both the civic and open space requirements.  Those amenities 
include a clubhouse with BBQ grills, picnic tables, and a pavilion, sports courts and walking trails.  The applicant
will also be required to provide portions of the Flagstaff Urban Trail System (FUTS) trail through the open space 
corridor and along part of Route 66 as part of the roadway edge improvements.  This will be a significant 
improvement to the Route 66 corridor for alternative modes of transportation.

Cultural Resources
A phase 1 cultural resource study was prepared by Paleo West for the subject site.  The cultural resources inventory of 
the project area resulted in the recording of one previously recorded prehistoric archeological site, the identification of 
one historic property (50 years or older), and the discovery of eight isolated occurrences.  Neither the site nor the 
isolated occurrences are considered eligible for listing on the Nation Register of Historic Places (NRHP).  The historic 
property older than 50 years does not have sufficient integrity to merit a recommendation of eligibility.  The Heritage 
Preservation Commission reviewed the phase 1 study and determined that additional studies were not required for this 
site.



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 13

13

Affordable Housing
The applicant did not propose 10% of the housing units to qualify for the incentives allowed in the Zoning Code.  
However, recognizing that affordable housing is a priority planning consideration for the Planning and Zoning 
Commission and the City Council, the developer has agreed to build and sell affordable homes as part of this 
development.  The Project will deliver 100 residential ownership units at 100% Area Median Income affordability 
level in the first three phases of the development. Because this is a Concept Zoning Map Amendment, the 
applicant has not fully developed the final lotting for the Blocks within Timber Sky.  The applicant is in discussion 
with a homebuilder who is familiar with providing affordable housing units but no final commitments have been 
made.  The applicant has agreed to work in good faith with the City to develop a program that ensures that these 
units will be permanently affordable and owner occupied.  The location of the AMI-accessible units will be 
determined as the Blocks are platted, and it is intended that they be located within the MR and HR zoning districts 
and disbursed throughout the first three phases of development.  The applicant will work with the City to establish 
the application process for the AMI-accessible units to ensure that the buyers meet ownership and income 
eligibility requirements as determined by the City.  The applicant has agreed to cooperate in the preparation of a 
development-specific Affordability Plan understanding that restrictions on lending and market conditions could 
require that the terms may need to evolve over time.   

Three-Phase Power
At the time of Phase 1 infrastructure construction, the applicant has agreed to install an additional conduit so that 
APS can provide three-phased power to the north side of Route 66 at Alvin Clark Way (internal project roadway)
to support the Core Facilities project and installation of a new well pump.

CITIZEN PARTICIPATION

Public hearings before the Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council are conducted in conjunction with 
requests for annexation.  In accordance with State statute, notice of the public hearing was provided by placing an 
ad in the Daily Sun, posting notices on the property, and mailing a notice to all property owners within 300 feet of 
the site.  The notices were also provided to the County Recorder, County Assessor, County Community 
Development Department and the Chair of the Board of Supervisors.

The applicant held two neighborhood meetings in regards to this case.  The first meeting was Tuesday, December 
8, 2015, between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Kilted Cat.  Twenty-nine individuals attend the first meeting. The 
second meeting was held Monday, January 11, 2016, also between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Doubletree Hotel.  
Sixteen individuals attended this second meeting.  Attendees had questions and concerns in regards to traffic and 
public safety, outdoor lighting impacts, impacts to wildlife, protection of forest resources and general project 
design.  A citizen participation report was prepared in relation to the comments and concerns presented dated 
March 10, 2016.

RECOMMENDATION:

Two public hearings are required for Zoning Map Amendments that involves a development with more than 300 
residential dwelling units. 

At the September 28, 2016 Commission meeting staff recommends opening the public hearing and continuing the 
hearing until October 12, 2016.

For the October 12, 2016 Commission meeting staff recommends approval of PZ-15-00115 with the following 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 14

14

conditions as well as an accompanying development agreement (attached).  The Development Agreement contains 
commitments by the developer and the City of Flagstaff to set additional conditions, terms, and requirements to 
facilitate the development of the property.

1. The subject property must be developed in accordance with the concept zoning plan and narrative dated 
August 12, 2016 for "Timber Sky" as presented with this rezoning request. The development of Timber Sky 
shall not exceed 1,300 dwelling units and shall have no less than 910 dwelling units within the residential 
zones.  Allowed uses are limited to those included in the above referenced concept zoning plan.

2. If any use(s) within the concept zone plan are proposed but were not modeled in the approved Traffic Impact 
Study or Water and Sewer Impact Analysis, a revised impact analysis must be prepared, approved and 
mitigated.

3. All other requirements of the Zoning Code and other City codes, ordinances and regulations, are met by the 
proposed development.

4. Applicant must install at their expense, with no financial obligation to the County, a left turn lane on Route 
66 at Flagstaff Ranch Road in the County right-of-way in accordance with the recommendations of the 
approved Traffic Impact Analysis. Improvements must be designed to ADOT standards and installed prior
to the issuance of the first building permit in Phase1.

5. The public utility easement for the portion of the Westside Sewer Line Extension (Route 66 to I-40) across 
the subject property shall be provided as a dedication on the final plat for Phase 1.

6. Internal connections between Blocks must be provided to the greatest extent feasible with special attention 
to connections from each block to the designated open space/civic space areas as well as adjacent activity 
centers.

7. Each phase of the Timber Sky development must meet all requirements independently.

8. Applicant must grant permanent public pedestrian easements on all trails within the development of Timber 
Sky. Such easements must be shown on final plats.

9. A new Drainage Impact Analysis must be submitted and approved for the eastern side of the property if all 
drainage flows cannot be directed towards the westerly drainage corridor.  

10. All terms, conditions, and restrictions detailed within the “Timber Sky Annexation and Development 
Agreement” must be fully satisfied.

11. If the applicant fails to obtain final plat approval for Phase 1 of Timber Sky, or obtain an extension of zoning 
within five (5) years of the effective date of the rezoning ordinance, the City Council may take action to revert 
the zoning back to the former classification of RR, Rural Residential District, per Section 10-20.50.060 of the
Zoning Code.

Attachments:

Application 



PZ-15-00115
September 28, 2016
Page 15

15

Legal Notice
Zoning District Legal Descriptions
Concept Zoning Plan
Concept Zoning Plan Project Narrative
FRP 2030 Applicable Goals and Policies
FRP 2030 Map 21 Enlargement of subject property
FRP 2030 Map 7 Enlargement of subject property
FRP 2030 Map 25 Enlargement of subject property
Proposed Lighting Mitigation 
Timber Sky TIA Executive Summary
Timber Sky agreement with ADOT
Draft Development Agreement
Citizen Participation Plan



Concept Zoning Plan
Project Narrative

August , 2016

Case #PZ-15-00115



Concept Zoning Narrative Table of  Contents 
 
Title           Page 
 
Project Introduction        1 
 
Concept Zoning Narrative 
 
Project Application        2 
Reason for Request        2 
General Plan Consistency       2 
Generalized Land Uses in Vicinity      3 
Location / Size / Shape       3 
Existing Site Characteristics      3 
Existing Site Improvements and Vegetation    4 
Project Benefit to Public / Community Benefit    4 
Affordable Housing        6 
Proposed Design and Land Uses      7 
Public and Emergency Vehicle Access     8 
Preservation of Special Scenic and View Corridors   9 
Community Connectivity and Open Space    9   
Community Center        10 
Overlook Park        10 
Preservation of Existing Rock Outcroppings    11 
Required Open Space and Civic Space     11 
Project Theming and Entry Monumentation    12 
Landscape Theme        13 
Fencing         14 
Development Phasing       14 
Public Services        15 
Fire Protection        15 
Police Protection        15 
Schools         15 
Potable Water        16 
Solid Waste         17 
Storm Water Drainage       17 
Waste Water         18 
Electric and Gas Services       18 
Pending Legal Issues       19 
Resource Protection Overlay District     19 
Historical and Archeological Resources     19 
Traffic Impacts        20 
Additional Reports and Studies      20 
Development Team        21 
 



 
 
List of  Exhibits 
 
Exhibits         Number 
 
Vicinity Map         1 
Context Analysis Map       2 
Site Analysis Map        3 
Concept Zone Plan        4 
Conceptual Route 66 Cross Section     5 
Conceptual Woody Mountain Road Cross Section   6 
School Location Exhibit       7 
Conceptual Utility and Drainage Plan     8 
Conceptual Overall Community Connectivity, Civic Space and 

Open Space Plan       9 
Conceptual Collector Corridor Plan     10 
Conceptual Open Space Corridor Plan     11 
Conceptual Community Center Plan     12 
Conceptual Overlook Park and East Entry Monument Plan  13 
Conceptual Primary Entry Monument Plan    14 
Conceptual Primary Entry Monument Elevation    15 
Conceptual Overlook Park and East Entry Monument Elevation 16 
Conceptual Walls and Fences      17 
Conceptual Wall and Fence Location     18 
Conceptual Phasing Plan       19 
Conceptual Collector Street Cross Section    20 
Conceptual 55’ Local Street Cross Section    21 
Conceptual 65’ Entry Local Street Cross Section   22 
Conceptual Local Street Entry Plan     23 
 
List of  Tables 
 
Table          Number 
 
Site Data Chart        1 
Site Data by Zoning Category Chart     2 
Commercial Services Allowed Uses     3 
Residential Zones Allowed Uses      4 
Public Open Space Allowed Uses      5 
Conceptual Open Space and Civic Space Chart   6 
Preliminary Development Phasing Data Chart    7 
Conceptual Open Space by Development Phase Chart  8 
 
 



List of  Appendix 
 
Appendix         Number 
 
Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis     1 
ALTA Survey         2 
Legal Description        2 
Title Report         2 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 1 
 

Project Introduction 
 
Timber Sky was conceived as a master planned community for Flagstaff.  The concept, 
designs and amenities all flow from the Flagstaff lifestyle and commitments.  The 
community celebrates the rural beauty and rugged character of Northern Arizona from 
the integration of the roadway system into the existing topography, the proposed land 
uses strategically located to reduce disturbance of the existing trees, the preservation of 
the natural features and vegetation, the community amenities which appeal to the 
culturally diverse Flagstaff residents, and the entry monumentation design which 
incorporates two strong historical aspects of the City, the timber industry and star 
gazing. 
 
One of Flagstaff’s commitments is the preservation of the dark skies. Flagstaff is one of 
eleven International Dark Sky Cities. Timber Sky is designed to become the finest dark 
sky’s compliant master planned community in the state. In fact, it is our intention to meet 
and exceed the City’s Zone 1 lighting standards. We will do this by creating a coalition 
of consultants, community activists and the astronomy community contributing to set a 
new standard in dark skies development. Chris Luginbuhl and the team from the Naval 
Observatory Flagstaff Station (NOFS) have worked closely with Vintage Partners to 
design, plan and codify through our development agreement and the CC&Rs a lighting 
vision that will control all development on Timber Sky throughout the life of the project. 
 
Timber Sky was also conceived as “Flagstaff friendly” through its amenities design.  The 
amenities at Timber Sky reflect this commitment by having a daytime focus that is 
athletic, outdoor and affordable. Golf and other expensive, second-home market 
pursuits are not a part of the community program.  The Timber Sky amenities are 
accessible to the average Flagstaff full-time resident and include a potential dog park, 
Community gardens, Pickle Ball courts, trail systems as well as a widened internal 
collector roadway corridor.   
 
Another way Timber Sky will target Flagstaff residents is to address the current run-
away housing costs in Flagstaff. One of the primary project goals is to deliver housing at 
nearly 50% of the current median home price - thus opening up home ownership to 
many more Flagstaff residents. Currently many City staff, first-responders, educators 
and many other residents either rent or commute. These factors continue to drive up the 
resale market making it even more difficult for long-time Flagstaff residents to purchase 
a home. Timber Sky will not completely solve the housing problem, but by offering 
housing product starting in the low $200’s (based on today’s market conditions), it will 
add a meaningful supply of housing accessible to some of the most important members 
of our community. 
 
Timber Sky is a unique master planned offering to the residents of Flagstaff with a goal 
of protecting the dark skies as well the true Flagstaff lifestyle and the economic future of 
the city by delivering work force housing.  By creating a thoughtful partnership with the 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 2 
 

Dark Skies community, the County and the City can work together to deliver this 
desperately needed community to the benefit of local residents and the long-term 
economic wellbeing of Flagstaff and the greater Northern Arizona region. 
 

Concept Zoning Narrative 
 
Project Application 
 
Timber Sky is a proposed master planned community on a partially wooded site just 
south of Route 66 and west of Woody Mountain Road as illustrated on the Vicinity Map, 
Exhibit 1.  A team of consultants have designed a community with a mixture of high 
density, medium density and single family residential combined with commercial service 
on the 197.58 acre site as envisioned for this property in the Flagstaff Regional Plan 
2030 (FRP2030).   
 
The site is located in both the City of Flagstaff and Coconino County limits.  Currently, 
the eastern 90.4 acres of the property are within the City of Flagstaff’s municipal 
boundaries.   The remaining 107.2 acres of the western portion of the site is within the 
Coconino County limits.  Concurrent with this application, the owner has applied for the 
annexation of the remaining 107.2 acres into the City to plan and develop both 
properties in a single jurisdiction.   Together, the properties become Timber Sky. 
 
Reason for Request 
 
The purpose of this application is to request a zone change for the Timber Sky planned 
community.  The existing zoning is Rural Residential (RR) for the City of Flagstaff 
portion of the site and General (G) for the portion of the site currently in Coconino 
County.   
 
The proposed request would change the current zoning to a mixture of High Density 
Residential (HR), Medium Density Residential (MR), Single Family Residential (R1), 
Commercial Service (CS) and Public Open Space (POS), with the placement of the 
Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) over the entire project.  Timber Sky will provide for 
a full palette of residential uses and create a robust neighborhood with supporting 
commercial services in the western growth area of Flagstaff.    
 
General Plan Consistency 
 
The FRP2030 establishes the community’s intentions for what the region could and 
should be for future generations and presents a regional context for the preservation 
and enhancement of the community’s character and natural environment, while 
providing for appropriate growth and development.  Timber Sky has been designed in 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 3 
 

concert with the vision and goals set forth in the FRP2030 related to new residential 
communities within the City’s planning boundaries.    
  
Timber Sky is designated as a mixture of Suburban – Future and Future Employment in 
the Future Growth Illustration and the uses in the applications are guided by these 
goals.   The current zoning categories of RR and G do not reflect the intended 
development in the FRP2030.    A chapter-by-chapter analysis of the FRP2030 against 
the Timber Sky applications has been conducted that supports the project’s 
conformance with the FRP2030.   The FRP2030 Analysis is provided in Appendix 1 of 
this document.  
  
Generalized Land Uses in Vicinity 
 
There is a 10-acre vacant parcel on the northwest corner of the site owned by others.  A 
vacant platted subdivision (Flagstaff Ranch Business Park) borders the west side the 
site.  An Arizona Public Service (APS) substation is located offsite on the southwest 
corner of the site.  The east side is bordered by a 37 acre parcel owned by others.   
 
The Context Analysis Map, Exhibit 2, illustrates the zoning and land use of the 
properties surrounding Timber Sky.  The combination of the uses include residential to 
the east and southeast, a public facility planned by the City to the north, industrial and 
employment uses to the west and south. 
 
Location / Size / Shape 
 
As illustrated on the Vicinity Map, Exhibit 1, the property is located south of Route 66, 
north of Interstate 40 between Woody Mountain Road and Flagstaff Ranch Road.  The 
site is located in both the City of Flagstaff and Coconino County limits.  Timber Sky is in 
the western portion of the City, and due south of the City’s planned McAllister Public 
Works yard.   
 
The property is 197.58 acres in size and is approximately half mile wide by a half mile 
deep.  It is currently undeveloped with high desert shrubs and Ponderosa Pine trees.   
 
Existing Site Characteristics 
 
As illustrated on the Site Analysis Map, Exhibit 3, the site gently slopes from south to 
north and most of the onsite drainage flows toward an existing culvert under Route 66 
and eventually discharges into the Clay Wash Detention Basin located north of Route 
66.  There is no defined floodplain within the site area which requires protection under 
the Resource Protection Overlay District (RPO).  The site is located within FEMA's 
Flood Zone X which eliminates any floodplain analysis or FEMA submittals.   
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 4 
 

There are significant forest resources on the site as identified in the Natural Resource 
Protection Plan submitted with the Preliminary Block Plat.  A wildfire burned across the 
site in an east to northeast direction in 2006, leaving a 700-foot wide corridor of 
deforested land. 
 
The topographic data indicates there are two pockets of steep slopes greater than 17% 
that meet the steep slope criteria required for protection.  Most of the slopes are sheer 
basalt rock outcroppings with slopes greater than 35% but do not meet the criteria for 
slope protection.  Many of the sites will be protected from development where noted in 
the Rock Preservation Section of this document.  There are a few areas of steep slope 
that are identified on the Natural Resource Protection Plan and illustrated on the Site 
Analysis Map, Exhibit 3.  The slope disturbance requirements from the City of Flagstaff 
Zoning Code will be met.  In addition, the topography of the site shows some steep 
slopes in the center of the eastern portion of the site where an earth stockpile exists that 
was created by previous owners during the construction of the Presidio development.  
This area is man-made and will not be protected during the development of this site. 
 
There is an existing 69 KV power transmission line that crosses the site in an east-west 
direction which connects to a power substation located on the adjoining property in the 
southwest corner of the site.  
 
Existing Site Improvements and Vegetation 
 
The Timber Sky site is almost entirely vacant.  There is an abandoned single family 
home near the middle of the property.  This structure and the remains of other 
accessory structures will be demolished and every attempt will be made to salvage 
native stone used in the structures to be used in the entry monuments.  The only other 
improvement on the site is the APS overhead power line that will be undergrounded 
with this project. 
 
The project area is situated in a flat to slightly north and west sloping open prairie 
surrounded by scattered ponderosa pines and native grasses. The 2006 forest fire 
burned across approximately one-third of the eastern side of the site. The area 
disturbed by the fire supports a thick cover of disturbance plants, including bee weed 
and Russian thistle, and numerous charred and downed tree branches. The ponderosa 
pine on the site have been logged historically and thinned in the past 10-years. 
Numerous unburned slash piles are present throughout the forested area of the 
property.  
 
Project Benefit to Public / Community Benefit 
 
Approval of the Timber Sky project will serve the public interest, health, safety, 
convenience or welfare and will add to the public good as it will provide for the 
development of a residential community in an area where new residential development 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 5 
 

is both needed and intended.  Timber Sky has been planned in a manner to deliver 
financially accessible housing to the City’s young workforce, families and aging 
population.  As a result, upon annexation and development, the project will play a role in 
addressing the growing affordability gap between wages and housing prices as 
discussed further in the Affordable Housing section of this document.  This adds to the 
public good. Following completion of the development, Timber Sky will bring an 
additional tax base to the City and help to complete the infrastructure in the City’s west 
side.  
 
One of the greatest community benefits associated with the development of Timber Sky 
will be the impact on available housing that will result.  As the project includes multiple 
housing types offered at a variety of different price points, the community will enjoy new, 
convenient and affordable housing.   Timber Sky is located in an area of Flagstaff that 
includes two large employers, W.L. Gore and Swire Coca-Cola.  As a result of this 
adjacency, the residents will be in close proximity to some of the region’s larger 
employers.  This new availability of work force housing will draw people to the City who 
may have been reluctant in the past due to concerns about housing affordability.  
Further, businesses looking to relocate to Flagstaff will place importance on the 
residential affordability index to ensure that its employees and their families will have 
comfortable communities to reside in.  By adding a diversity of product that can be 
efficiently delivered, the application seeks to provide housing in the region that starts 
below the median price currently available, this will assist in new business and industry 
recruitment to the City. 
 
The community benefits go beyond housing.  The project incorporates environmentally 
sensitive design that is focused on resource protection, linkages that promote multi-
modal corridors, and both day and night sky view preservation.  With energy efficient 
construction and low water use vegetation, the project will benefit the community 
delivering an amenity program that is not just accessible, but environmentally conscious 
and creative. 
 
Timber Sky will provide many recreational benefits to the entire City of Flagstaff 
including the improving regional multi-modal connectivity by the extension of the FUTS 
trail system, a large Community Center, and natural open space corridor, all of which 
are connected to one another.  Walkability is highlighted by a series of trails that allow 
for connection to any part of the development in minutes. Timber Sky intends to work 
closely with NAIPTA in planning a future connection to the NAIPTA system near the 
northeast corner of the project site, possibly serving as a new western terminus of the 
routes. This will provide residents and community members with unique recreational 
and social experiences.   
 
The Community Center will include a large plaza with a ramada, playground, pickle ball 
courts, a community garden and possibly a dog park.  The plaza is planned to be large 
enough to host events such as a local community farmers market.  The open space 
corridor serves as a wildlife linkage to the Coconino County Forest to the north and will 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 6 
 

provide watchable wildlife recreation opportunities for all visitors.  The Timber Sky 
passive and active amenities serve the public interest and good. 
 
Finally, the City recently annexed the McAllister Ranch property just north of Route 66
in order to build the new Core Maintenance Facility for the City Public Works 
department. With the annexation of Timber Sky, the development will provide for more 
consistent City boundaries on both sides of the regionally significant route.   These 
aspects of the project serve the public interest. 
 
Affordable Housing 
 
As has been reiterated throughout the project documents for Timber Sky, the 
community is designed to bring a variety of new-construction, residential units to the 
City of Flagstaff that are accessible to a spectrum of income levels- and specifically, 
entry-level buyers.  Under the Incentive Policy for Affordable Housing, dated October 
2009 (“IPAH”), the City of Flagstaff’s Housing Section has set forth the goals for the 
City’s incentive program, designed to encourage the “preservation and production of 
permanently affordable units and facilities intended for the Flagstaff community” . . . 
“narrowing the deficit of all types of housing for households earning up to 150% of the 
Area Median Income (AMI).”    
 
In 2015, a household of 4 at the 150% AMI mark had an annual income of $90,300.  
Based on generally accepted affordability calculations, this currently translates to a 
home price ranging between $260,000 and $280,000.   The applicant’s goal is to 
provide a minimum of 100 residential ownership units at the time of sale to the ultimate 
purchaser at the 100% AMI affordability level (which today, would be $220,000 based 
on an income of $60,200).   The Timber Sky AMI-accessible units may be located in any 
of the zoning categories, but will most likely be included in the MR and HR land use 
designations.  The new units will be constructed with the benefit of the construction 
codes, materials and fixtures that will yield more affordable long-term maintenance and 
ownership costs as compared with other resale housing stock at the AMI level in the 
City.  As a result, the driving goal of the IHAP will be furthered with the development of 
Timber Sky AMI units as there will be housing supply available to income levels that are 
well below the stated goal of 150%.  
 
As the Timber Sky project moves to the platting phase for the individual development 
parcels, the ultimate infrastructure, improvement and design requirements will be 
known, and the developer will be equipped to further specify parameters for providing a 
portion of the project’s housing at the AMI.  Within this zoning application and 
associated preliminary block plat application, the project has been designed within the 
City’s prevailing codes, and as a result, the Applicant is not making a voluntary incentive 
application under the IHAP in connection with this request.  We look forward to working 
with the City and its Affordable Housing partners as it progresses through the 
entitlement and construction process. 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 7 
 

Proposed Design and Land Uses 
 
The project is designed to preserve view corridors throughout the community during the 
day and night. The plan will create a built environment that includes intimate 
neighborhoods that are connected by trails and open space corridors that provide 
linkages within the project and to the regional routes adjacent to it.   
 
The proposed uses on the site range from High Density Residential (HR), Medium 
Density Residential (MR), and Single Family Residential (R1), to Commercial Services 
(CS).   As illustrated in the Concept Zone Plan, Exhibit 4, the community is designed to 
cluster the proposed high and medium density residential development on the area of 
the site deforested by the 2006 wildfire and no longer have a high concentration of 
existing trees.  In addition the higher density housing is located closest to the primary 
access points to the community near Route 66.  High Density Residential (HR) densities 
range from 13 du/acre minimum to 22 du/acre maximum.  The Medium Density 
Residential (MR) proposed densities range from 6 du/acre minimum to 9 du/acre 
maximum.     
 
The proposed single family residential is located in the area of the site not affected by 
the wildfire and is naturally wooded area.  The lower density residential was located for 
the least disturbance of the existing trees and located in the highest concentration of 
existing trees with a circumference greater than 25 inches.  The Single Family 
Residential (R1) densities range from 2 du/acre minimum to 5 du/acre maximum.   
 
The Commercial Services land was provided to enable the development of compatible 
commercial services to compliment the community, subject to market demands, and/or 
may be developed as residential uses as provided for the in Commercial Services (CS) 
zone. 
 
The Site Data Chart, Table 1, details the proposed land uses, zoning, densities, and 
yields for the project.  The table specifies the minimum and maximum densities 
proposed for the zoning districts.  Table 2 separates out the site data into categories by 
zoning category.  Tables 3, 4 and 5 detail the allowed uses permitted on the site by 
zoning category.  The applicable development standards with each zone are as 
provided for in the October 2011 City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, unless otherwise 
specified in a development agreement. 
 
Detailed lot layouts will be submitted at the time of individual block platting and in those 
applications, the local streets and lot arrangement will be designed to avoid disturbance 
of as many existing trees as possible.  Preservation of the natural features of the site 
including rock outcroppings and forested areas will be a significant factor in the design 
of each parcel development. 
 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 8 
 

Public and Emergency Vehicle Access 
 
The site was chosen for development because of its immediate vehicular access to 
Route 66 and Woody Mountain Road, in conjunction with its natural beauty and natural 
amenities.  The Concept Zone Plan, Exhibit 4, illustrates the conceptual design of the 
community’s major road network. 
 
The primary access to the site is via Route 66 and Woody Mountain Road.   Two 
access points are proposed along Route 66, one on either side of the major drainage 
way that bisects the property.  A third access point is located along Woody Mountain 
Road at the intersection of Presidio Drive South in the southeast corner of the site.  The 
conceptual street cross section for Route 66 is illustrated on Exhibit 5, and Woody 
Mountain Road is illustrated on Exhibit 6. 
 
Two proposed boulevard style collector streets, McAllister Ranch Road and Alvan Clark 
Way, meander through the site and acts as the primary circulation system for the 
community.  The collector’s proposed alignments follow the natural topography and 
were located specifically to retain existing natural features.  A cross section of the 
expanded collector roadway is illustrated in Exhibit 20.  The proposed cross section 
generally meets or exceeds the City’s engineering standards.     
 
The two collectors intersect at the center of the community with a roundabout.  The 
interior roundabout is included in the proposed development to provide a central focal 
point of the community.  The roundabout provides additional opportunity to add 
landscaping and complements the adjacent neighborhood by being in character with the 
existing Woody Mountain road improvements and roundabouts.  The roundabout 
conceptual design is illustrated on the Conceptual Collector Corridor Plan, Exhibit 10.  
Roundabouts are recognized as a safe way to reduce speeds and provide a safer travel 
experience.    
 
The looped collector roadway system provides easy access throughout the community. 
Each proposed residential and commercial parcel has direct access to the meandering 
collector streets.  The parcels are of sufficient width to accommodate a minimum of one, 
and in most cases two, full access points to the collector.   The parcels that have only 
one entry with a median break will also have right in/right out secondary access to the 
collector or an internal connection to an adjacent parcel.    
 
The local road section is illustrated in Exhibit 21.     
 
A separate optional cross section is proposed for some of the entries into parcels where 
lots do not front on the entry.  At those locations, the entry cross section will widen to a
70 foot right-of-way with a 7 foot landscaped median as illustrated on Exhibits 22 and 
23.    
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 9 
 

Preservation of  Special Scenic and View Corridors 
 
This site has views of the San Francisco Peaks to the north and the peaks view shed is 
identified on the Site Analysis Map, Exhibit 3.  To the southeast of this line, the view 
corridor to the San Francisco Peaks is unobstructed.  Due to the topography of the 
surrounding areas, the Timber Sky Development will not impact the adjacent parcels 
views. 
 
Community Connectivity and Open Space 
 
The Conceptual Community Connectivity and Open Space Plan, Exhibit 9, illustrates 
how the community is connected both internally and externally through a series of 
proposed trails and access ways.  Timber Sky is internally connected by two major 
collector roadways, McAllister Ranch Road and Alvan Clark Way, as illustrated on the 
Conceptual Collector Corridor Plan, Exhibit 10, and a wide open space corridor that 
includes a 10’ wide Unpaved FUTS trail as illustrated on the Conceptual Open Space 
Corridor Plan, Exhibit 11.   
 
The enhanced collector roadways are envisioned to be used by a variety of potential 
users including pedestrians, joggers, bikers, and vehicles.  These corridors consist of 
two 5’ wide concrete sidewalks, a vehicular roadway with two 13 foot travel lanes and 
5.5 foot bike lanes on both sides, a 16 foot wide landscape median, and ample 
landscape from curb to back of lots.  
 
The open space corridor serves to convey drainage runoff but also to connect the 
community with the 10’ wide Unpaved FUTS Loop trail running along the entire length.  
This corridor will be a wildlife thoroughfare as well.  The required grading for the 
detention area will have undulations which will make the space appear to be part of the 
natural topography.  The vegetation shall consist mainly of native grasses and shrubs 
and native riparian trees.  A special native mix of tall grasses that can take periodic 
flooding will be planted in the bottom of the detention area. These plantings likely will 
attract wildlife.  At one key location next to the Community Center, the detention area 
will be turf and is anticipated to be used for informal multi-purpose field sports.  A dog 
park is another possible amenity that could be included near this open space corridor 
and the Community Center. 
 
Along the north side of the community, east of the open space corridor and adjacent to 
Route 66, a 10 foot wide paved FUTS trail is proposed as illustrated on the Conceptual 
Route 66 Cross Section, Exhibit 5.  In addition, this community will include a section of 
10’ wide paved FUTS trail at the southeast corner of the site as illustrated on the 
Conceptual Woody Mountain Road Cross Section, Exhibit 6. This trail will be 
incorporated into the FUTS trail system once the development to the north is completed 
by others. 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 10 
 

Community Center 
 
The proposed Community Center is imagined on the Conceptual Community Center 
Plan, Exhibit 12, and is strategically located to be visible from all directions and is 
adjacent to the collector roadway and the open space corridor.  The Community Center 
is packed with amenities and includes: a large plaza with a large ramada, planetary 
themed playground, pickle ball courts, community gardens with a tool shed and lockers, 
star gazing plaza, picnic spaces, a potential dog park, off street parking and 
connections to the FUTS Loop trail. The overall layout of the park includes sweeping 
curves and radial offsets reminiscent of solar orbits.  A large galactic feature element in 
the center of the civic center that will be visible from most of this area is planned. 
 
The plaza is planned to be large enough to host events such as a local community  
Farmer’s market and shall have a radial paving pattern consistent with a galactic theme.  
Centered on the plaza is the ramada whose structure will incorporate timber beams, 
native stone columns, standing seem metal roof and oversized steel fasteners for a 
rustic mountain look. 
 
A special smaller star gazing plaza is planned across the playground that overlooks the 
large turf area in the open space corridor perfect for star gazing.  The paving in this 
plaza will also be radial in nature, tied to the idea of celestial orbits. 
 
The community garden space will feature a variety of raised garden planters and at 
grade garden plots.  A large tool shed with lockers designed to complement the 
architecture of the nearby ramada will be incorporated.  Water spigots, shady seating 
nodes, and informal gravel pathways through the gardens are envisioned.  The entire 
garden space shall be enclosed by an open rail fence with weathered welded wire mesh 
to deter unwanted wildlife from entering on the garden area. 
 
Overlook Park 
 
An additional park, Overlook Park, is located adjacent to the Timber Sky entry along 
Woody Mountain Road at the south east corner of the site.  A conceptual design of the 
park is illustrated on the Conceptual Overlook Park and East Entry Monument Plan, 
Exhibit 13.  This open space sits on a large, rocky knoll and is heavily wooded with 
Ponderosa Pine and Gamble Oak.  Meandering gravel trails will interconnect the 
adjacent collector road corridor to Parcel 4 and to the 10 foot wide Paved FUTS trail 
along Woody Mountain Road.   
 
A spur off this trail leads through the forest, up to a small ramada that will sit at the 
location of the original McAllister Log Cabin foundation that remains in place. Due to the 
poor condition of the original foundation slab, it will be replaced and enhanced with an 
intimate seating area under a ramada which will overlook the forest with sweeping views 
of the San Francisco Peaks. The small ramada will incorporate timber and native stone 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 11 
 

much like the large ramada in the community center.  A small plaque will be placed at 
the ramada detailing the history of the McAllister’s log cabin.   
 
The spur trail will eventually lead up to a seating nook nestled within a rock outcropping. 
This intimate seating nook sits high up on the knoll, overlooking the forest with again 
nice views to the San Francisco Peaks.    
 

Preservation of  Existing Rock Outcroppings 
 
At the time Timber Sky was being conceptually developed, the sites natural features 
were located by survey including several rock outcroppings, tree and slope resources 
and view sheds.  These features are shown on the Site Analysis Map, Exhibit 3, and on 
the Natural Resource Protection Plan being submitted with the Preliminary Block Plat.  
The slopes and tree resources will be protected in accordance with the City of Flagstaff 
Zoning Code.   Significant effort has been made to protect several of the rock 
outcroppings around the site, in particular the rock outcroppings outside of the burn 
area with strands of trees.  The rock outcroppings with no trees located on them and 
that are smaller in size will not be preserved.   
 
Overlook Park at the Woody Mountain Road entrance to the site has been designed to 
emphasize and preserve this beautiful rock outcropping feature and stand of native 
trees.  A significant outcrop is being preserved along Interstate 40 within Parcels 4 and 
5 (approx. 1.1 acres).  Another outcrop within Parcels 2 and 3 (approx. 0.3 acres) will be 
preserved.  These three locations have the highest quality outcroppings due to their 
size, mix of tree and slope resources and elevation.  Other than these three areas, the 
other rock features of lesser value may or may not be saved at the time of development 
of each Parcel.   
 
Required Open Space and Civic Space 
 
The Conceptual Connectivity and Open Space and Civic Center Plan, Exhibit 9, 
illustrates the proposed open space and Civic Space for the community.  The 
Conceptual Open Space and Civic Space Chart, Table 6, illustrates the required open 
space for the community based on the City specified required percentages by zoning 
category.  The percentages are then equated to an overall acreage of required open 
space.  Based on the required percentages, 12.53 acres of open space is required to be 
provided on the project.  As conceptually designed, the plan will allocate 14.73 acres of 
open space which exceeds the required amount and includes areas of open space 
within the rock outcropping preservation areas, Overlook Park and the open space 
within the collector roadway.  The median and landscape area within the collector 
roadway will be allocated as open space but does not include the parkway between 
curb and sidewalk.   
 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 12 
 

As the Chart illustrates, five percent (5%) of the Timber Sky community is required as 
Civic Space, which equates to 9.88 acres.  The Community Center (Parcel 15) and 
Open Space Corridor (Parcel 14) is proposed to satisfy the Civic Space requirement.  
The combined total area of the Community Center and Open Space Corridor is 11.54 
acres which exceeds the required amount. 
 
The Civic and Open Space will be developed per the Phasing Plan, Exhibit 19, or as the 
adjacent parcel develops.   The Conceptual Open Space by Development Phase Chart, 
Table 8, illustrates the required and allocated Civic and Open Space for the community 
based on the development phase.   Each phase will allocate the required amount of 
Civic and Open Space. Any extra Civic or Open Space provided per phase may be 
reallocated to a subsequent phase of development.  Certain portions of open space 
which qualify as Civic Space (FUTS trail, public amenities, etc.) will be used to satisfy 
Civic Space requirement per phase.   
 
Project Theming and Entry Monumentation 
 
The City of Flagstaff has a significant tie to the sky above.  Lowell Observatory, built in 
1894 is perched on Mars Hill overlooking the town and has been a special local 
landmark since it was built.  The dwarf planet Pluto was discovered here.  Flagstaff’s 
progressive Dark Sky efforts make the City ideal for star gazing.  Flagstaff has a rich 
history tied to the timber industry as well.  The City is located in the largest Ponderosa 
Pine forest in the world.  The monumentation for this project incorporates these two 
strong historical aspects of the City.  Entry monumentation is proposed at each of the 
three entries into the community as illustrated on the Conceptual Community 
Connectivity and Open Space and Civic Space Plan, Exhibit 9.  
 
The entry designs are conceptually illustrated on the Conceptual Primary Entry 
Monument Plan, Exhibit 14 and the Conceptual Primary Entry Monument Elevation, 
Exhibit 15, and the Conceptual Overlook Park and East Entry Monument Elevation, 
Exhibit 16.  The tapered circular form of the monument is derived from the shape of the 
Pluto telescope building at Lowell Observatory.  The monument shall be clad in native 
stone similar to the Pluto telescope building.  The monument cap will mimic COR-TEN 
weathering steel and will have circular cutouts along the cap base internally illuminated 
to simulate star light.  Roughhewn timber produced by this development will be used to 
construct retaining walls, posts, beams and design features associated with the 
monuments.  The ramadas and bridge at the open space crossing are to incorporate 
roughhewn timber elements and COR-TEN weathering steel as well.  Keeping with the 
theme, it is anticipated that the Community Center Park will include a centrally located 
large galactic feature element. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 13 
 

Landscape Theme 
 
The two driving goals for the landscape are to complement the beautiful native 
landscape present on the site and to provide enhanced landscape at key areas into the 
community that is unique to the project. 
 
Native vegetation including Ponderosa Pine, Gamble Oak and groundcovers will be 
preserved wherever possible. The majority of the disturbed areas shall be seeded with 
native seed mix allowing new landscape to blend seamlessly with the preserved 
landscape over time.  Throughout the site, the preserved native Ponderosa Pine forest 
will be supplemented with additional new Ponderosa Pine and Pinon Pine.  Clusters of 
adapted canopy trees will run along the walks and trails as a part of the collector 
roadway.  
 
To meet the City right of way landscape requirements found in Title 13, City approved 
street trees shall be selected from the City’s low water list shall be planted in clusters 
approximately 35 feet on center with wider gaps at strategic locations such as at trail 
connections or where there is an existing tree to be saved.  Trees shall be planted at no 
less than an overall average of 45 feet on center for each parkway.  The clustering of 
street trees is intended to create the desired less formal appearance.  Native boulders 
found on-site will be clustered in the landscape bed areas as well.   
 
Landscape and collector intersections will be enhanced at the entry monuments. Blue 
Spruce trees and Ponderosa Pine will provide a backdrop to the monumentation while 
colorful ornamental trees will be sprinkled in the foreground.  Additional colors and 
textures will be provided by both rock and wood mulch beds planted with mainly native 
or adapted shrubs and ornamental bunch grasses.  
  
A special feature of this development is the presence of 16 foot wide landscape 
medians that run along the center of the collector roadway.  These medians will 
preserve existing pines where possible and shall be planted with native grasses and 
clusters of canopy and evergreen trees.  Trees shall be planted at no less than an 
overall average of 45 feet on center similar to the adjacent parkway.  Enhanced 
perennial flower landscape beds may be installed at the median ends. Shrub beds 
interspersed along the entire length of the medians that are consistent with the 
landscape design goals will complete this feature. 
 
Because of the desire to have the enhanced collector roadways serve as a unique 
visual connection for the entire Timber Sky community utilizing landscaping elements 
beyond the typical for City maintained roadways, the homeowner’s association for 
Timber Sky will maintain all landscaping within the public right-of-way under a license 
agreement with the City of Flagstaff. 
 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 14 
 

Fencing 
 
A family of fencing and walls has been created for this project to assist in enhancing the 
overall character of this development.  This narrative will be used as a general guide for 
fencing concepts. The developer will incorporate guidelines from the Arizona Game and 
Fish Department to ensure wildlife friendly fencing and walls wherever possible.  
Materials used shall be consistent with the materials used for the monuments where 
feasible and compatible with the AZGFD Wildlife Compatible Guidelines. 
  
The Conceptual Wall and Fence Location Plan, Exhibit 18, illustrates conceptual 
location of the various proposed wall and fence types.  The wide open space corridor is 
envisioned to remain open with no fencing at either end in order for wildlife to move 
freely through the site.  On the south end along Interstate 40 the corridor will be blocked 
to avoid Elk and Deer from entering onto the freeway.  Where the corridor connects 
along the west side, it will be left open for at least a 150-inch width north of the existing 
APS substation to allow movement for wildlife.  Open rail fencing with the weathered 
welded wire mesh option at the back of lots along the open space corridor will help 
deter wildlife from entering the lots and help separate pets from wildlife.   
 
The fencing and screen walls at Timber Sky shall adhere to a set of design standards 
that will enhance a sense of community as well as compliment the natural 
surroundings.  In keeping with the overall theme, most materials will be natural and 
rustic.  Roughhewn cedar, on-site native rocks and boulders, and weathered steel shall 
be the main fencing materials.  The family of fencing as shown on Exhibit 17 consists of 
open rail wood fence, privacy wood fence, gabion walls and columns, weathered 
corrugated steel fence and masonry sound wall.  The open rail fence is to be used 
mainly where yards are adjacent to open space.  The masonry sound wall is to be 
mainly located at the back of lots along I-40.  Neighborhoods adjacent to collectors have 
options to choose a privacy wood fence, the open rail fence or masonry wall.  The 
gabion walls and corrugated steel fencing shall parallel Route 66.  In special cases 
open rail fence may be used along Route 66.  The design of these fences allows for 
flexibility while adhering to a consistent Timber Sky theme. 
 
Builders and homeowners within Timber Sky will be encouraged to take advantage of 
the educational materials created by the AZGFD for living with wildlife to create and 
maintain a community that lives in harmony with the natural environment as much as 
practical. 
 

Development Phasing 
 
The development of the Timber Sky will rely on the timing and availability of public 
utilities to the site as well as market conditions.  At this time, it is anticipated that the 
project will be developed in four phases as illustrated on the Conceptual Phasing Plan, 
Exhibit 19.   
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 15 
 

The Preliminary Development Phasing Data Chart, Table 7, illustrates the land uses 
and development acreages proposed in each phase of development.  As the project 
moves through the platting phases, the phasing boundaries will be guided by this 
application but may be altered to address changes in conditions as approved by the 
City.  The detailed phasing of the infrastructure associated with the development will be 
addressed in the Preliminary Block Plat application. 
 
Public Services 
 
Timber Sky is ideally situated for the proposed residential and commercial uses.  The 
main access to the site is provided by Route 66 and it will provide quick access for 
residents and emergency vehicle access. Although the site is on the boundary of the 
Flagstaff City Limits, one of the City of Flagstaff central intersections of Milton Road and 
Route 66 is only two miles to the east.   
 
All services are available in this area for new residents including schools, shopping and 
other public services.  The Timber Sky community will provide much needed housing 
that is physically close to the City.  Within the last few years the infrastructure of the City 
of Flagstaff public potable water system has been extended beyond this site to the Gore 
facility south of Interstate 40.  This extension allows this project to connect to the City 
infrastructure.  The development is suitable for this area of the City and will complement 
the surrounding properties. 
 
Fire Protection 
 
The Flagstaff Fire Department provides fire coverage for the area of Timber Sky.  The 
closest fire station is Station #1 located at 1972 South Thompson Street, approximately 
1.5 miles from the site.  As an important wildland-urban interface between the City of 
Flagstaff and the surrounding forest, the project will provide suitable access and fire 
wise construction practices. 
 
Police Protection 
 
The Flagstaff Police Department will be the police protection agency for Timber Sky.  
 
Schools 
 
The project lies within the Flagstaff Unified School district.  It is anticipated that the 
elementary age children (K-5) will attend Sechrist Elementary School as De Miguel 
Elementary School is at capacity.  Sechrist is approximately three miles to the northeast 
of the site.  The middle school age children (6-8) will attend Mt. Elden Middle School 
which is approximately 5 miles northeast of the community.  The Flagstaff High School, 
located about 2 miles northeast of the site will serve grades 9-12.  The Haven 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 16 
 

Montessori Charter School is located approximately 1.5 miles northeast of the site.   
The school locations in relation to Timber Sky are illustrated on Exhibit 7. 
 
Potable Water 
 
Timber Sky will be served by the City of Flagstaff Municipal Water System.   A 
conceptual plan of the proposed utilities for the site is illustrated on the Conceptual 
Utility and Drainage Plan, Exhibit 8.  The water mains to be constructed for the 
development will be located within public Right of Ways or Public Utility Easements.  
Connections to the 18 inch water main within Route 66 and the 12 inch main in Woody 
Mountain Road will be constructed to loop the system.   Each of the development 
parcels in this development will be connected to the water main within the collector 
roadways.  The water system will be extended in coordination with the phasing and as 
needed for the individual parcels.   
 
The City of Flagstaff prepared a Water and Sewer Impact Analysis dated 11/03/2015.  The 
City is requiring Timber Sky to construct one or more wells to provide for the public water 
demand of the development.  The WSIA requires the developer of Timber Sky to install a 
new well, or wells, on the City water system that produce at least 331.4 gallons per minute 
(gpm).  This production requirement was based on the Conceptual Land Use Exhibit 
dated April 7, 2015 submitted with the initial Annexation application that showed the 
following units:  

Dwelling Units = 1,654 total single family & multi-family 

� 626 multi-family dwelling units 

� 1,028 single family dwelling units 

The current project documents for Timber Sky reflect a limit to the total residential unit 
count of 1,300 residential units.  Prorating the unit split used in the WSIA from 1,654 
down to 1,300 gives: 

� 492 multi-family dwelling units 

� 808 single family dwelling units 

This calculates out to a new well production requirement of 260.5 gpm.  Because of the 
limitation of 1,300 total residential units, Timber Sky will be required to install a new 
well, or wells, on the City water system that produce at least 260.5 gallons per minute 
(gpm). 
 
The City will allow this new well capacity to be deferred by allowing up to 420,000 gallon 
per day (gpd) of peak water demand equivalent to 480 Single Family Housing units 
before requiring the new well production capacity to be brought on line.  This generally 
allows Timber Sky to defer the new well to phase 2 of the development, pending the 
limitations noted above. As development proceeds, the actual unit types will be tracked 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 17 
 

to tally the overall peak water demand and determine the trigger point for the well 
installation.  Based on preliminary density estimates, this water demand will not be 
reached until the second phase. 
 
Because the resulting production of a new well is unpredictable, the production capacity 
that will be developed by Timber Sky will be greater than the 260.5 gpm requirement.  
The Development Agreement will address the City reimbursement to the developers of 
Timber Sky a prorated amount for capacity installed greater than the requirement. 
 

Solid Waste 
 
The solid waste disposal for Timber Sky will be provided by the City of Flagstaff to the 
Cinder Lakes Landfill.   The single family homes will have roll out containers and 
curbside pickup.  The high density residential and the commercial service parcels will 
construct dumpster enclosures within their respective sites. 
 
Storm Water Drainage 
 
The City of Flagstaff stormwater standards require the preparation of a Drainage Impact 
Analysis (DIA) to determine the downstream effects from a new development.  In lieu of 
a DIA, the project has elected to store the volumetric flow difference between the pre-
development conditions and the post-development conditions on-site within the open 
space drainage corridor.  A Drainage Impact Analysis will therefore not be required for 
development within the Timber Sky project. 
 
A Preliminary Drainage Report has been submitted with the Preliminary Block Plat to 
document the stormwater management approach.  The water quality aspects of the low 
impact development (LID) requirements are being met in the upper reaches of the site 
at the discharge points of impervious surface areas. 
 
As illustrated on the Conceptual Utility and Drainage Plan, Exhibit 8, Timber Sky will 
have an open space corridor that will manage major portions of the storm water on the 
project site. The open space corridor will be owned and maintained by the 
Homeowner’s Association and zoned as POS.  
 
The majority of the site outlets to the existing box culvert under Route 66. The box 
culvert eventually discharges flow to the Clay Wash Detention Basin located north of 
Route 66 within Rio De Flag watershed area. Minor portions of the site on the east side 
currently discharge to two culverts under Woody Mountain Road across private 
property. This flow will either be redirected west to the same outfall as the remainder of 
the project or will be discharged in a similar condition and at rates at or below the 
existing pre-development flow rates to avoid impact of downstream private property. 
 
 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 18 
 

 
The commercial and high density Parcels (1, 2, 9, 12 and 13) shown on the Concept 
Zone Plan, Exhibit 4, will be responsible for constructing their own onsite storm water 
management facilities to address Low Impact Development (LID), volumetric control 
and rate control requirements in accordance with the City of Flagstaff requirements.  
Those onsite systems will discharge to the open space corridor or a portion of Parcels 1 
and 2 possibly will discharge to the east as discussed above. 
 
Waste Water 
 
Timber Sky will be served by the City of Flagstaff Municipal Wastewater System.   The 
sewer mains that are constructed for the development will be located within public right-of-
ways or Public Utility Easements.  There is no existing wastewater system to serve this 
parcel.  The WSIA identifies approximately 5,170 feet of 18 inch PVC sewer that Timber Sky 
is required to install to serve the project.  Turner Engineering, Inc. prepared construction 
plans for this sewer extension under contract with Gore known as the Westside Sewer Line 
Extension which begins at the Existing City Manhole MH-2A-472 and continues across 
Interstate 40 to serve the Gore property.  Timber Sky needs a portion of this sewer built to 
gain service to the project.  The City is constructing a new Public Works Core Maintenance 
Facility on the North side of Route 66 across from the Timber Sky development and will 
build the first leg of the Westside Sewer Line Extension through Manhole #18 approximately 
300 feet North of Route 66.  Timber Sky will be required to build the next leg of the sewer 
from Manhole #18 to the Timber Sky development in order to gain sewer service. 

The WSIA identifies approximately 3100 feet of existing 8 inch sewer that needs to be 
replaced with 18 inch PVC due to limited capacity. This is in the Westglen Mobile Home 
Park area and runs within the roadways of Thompson & Kaibab.  This is a planned City 
of Flagstaff project that is budgeted for fiscal year 2021, with a budget of approximately 
$1.4 M.  Because Timber Sky intends to develop the 1st phase in 2017 with homes 
needing certificates of occupancy in early 2018, Timber Sky will need to build this sewer 
in advance of the City timeline.  This improvement is also required to bring service to 
the Gore property south of I-40. 
 
The sequence of development and construction of the infrastructure is detailed in the 
Phasing Analysis submitted with the Preliminary Block Plat. 
 

Electric and Gas Services 
 
Natural gas service will be provided to Timber Sky by Unisource Energy Services.  
There is a gas main within the Right of Way of Route 66 that can service the project 
site.  The design of the facilities needed for the development will be coordinated with 
Unisource during the construction design phase of each parcel. 
 
Electric service will be provided by APS.  There is a 69 KV overhead transmission line 



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 19 
 

that exists onsite that runs from the APS transformer on the western boundary of the 
property to the east towards town.  The line will be undergrounded in coordination 
between APS and Timber Sky as the phases develop and will run through the McAllister 
Ranch Road Alignment. 
 
Pending Legal Issues 
 
There are no pending legal issues related to the Timber Sky development.  The 
framework for a development agreement has been provided concurrently with this 
application and it is anticipated that the agreement will move forward on the same path 
as this application.   
 
Resource Protection Overlay District 
 
The Timber Sky site is a healthy Ponderosa Pine forest with some burnt areas from the 
2006 fire.  The remaining tree resources on site were surveyed and accounted for in 
accordance with the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code.  A Preliminary Natural Resource 
Protection Plan that accounts for the remaining trees on this site will be submitted to the 
City of Flagstaff with the Preliminary Block Plat submittal.  The framework that will be 
used to determine the Resource Protection thresholds is provided in the Development 
Agreement that accompanies this application. 
 
Historical and Archeological Resources 
 
PaleoWest archaeologists conducted a historic resource study of the site. The cultural 
resources survey was completed in compliance with the Flagstaff City Code (Title 10: 
Flagstaff Zoning Code, Chapter 10-30.30, and Historic Preservation). The study 
resulted in the identification of 20 historic features and structures associated with the 
McAllister residential complex.  The residential complex is not recommended eligible for 
listing on the Flagstaff, State, and National Registers of Historic Places, and is therefore 
not a significant historic resource. No mitigation measures are necessary.  
 
In an effort to honor the McAllister’s history on the property, the developer proposes 
using the McAllister name on the main collector roadway through the community to pay 
homage to the McAllister family, and use the remaining structures as design inspiration 
for other elements. For example, the original Log Cabin foundation remains in place in 
an area that will be developed as Overlook Park (situated in the southeastern portion of 
the study area). Due to the poor condition of the original foundation slab, it will be 
replaced and enhanced with an intimate seating area under a ramada which will 
overlook the forest with sweeping views of the San Francisco Peaks. A small plaque will 
be placed at the ramada detailing the history of the McAllister’s log cabin.  Stones from 
the exterior of the caretaker’s house and accessory structures will be used in the Timber 
Sky entry monuments and exterior walls, and the project theming will include stone and 
log elements.   



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 20 
 

The other collector roadway in the community will be named for another prominent 
Flagstaff historical figure, Alvan Clark.   Alvan Clark and Sons built the first telescope at 
Lowell Observatory as well as five of the largest refracting telescopes in the world. 
 
Traffic Impacts 
 
It is anticipated that the Timber Sky master planned community will generate 
approximately 10,642 daily vehicles with approximately 954 PM peak hour trips 
anticipated from the area. The City of Flagstaff, Coconino County and the Arizona 
Department of Transportation (ADOT) require developments of this size to prepare a 
traffic study addressing regional impacts. The study identifies necessary roadway 
improvements surrounding the site evaluates the AM peak hour and PM peak hour. The 
traffic study has been submitted to the City and ADOT documenting the evaluation 
performed and all assumptions therein. 
  
Access to Timber Sky is provided from Route 66 and from Woody Mountain Road. 
Route 66 will be the fastest route to reach destinations in the downtown Flagstaff area
and some portions will require widening to provide a second through lane of travel in 
each direction. Woody Mountain Road will not provide regional access until its planned 
connection with I-40. This connection is not yet funded and the timing is uncertain. 
However, as regional connections and roadway improvements are provided surrounding 
the Timber Sky site, traffic patterns are likely to adjust to the paths that have the least 
amount of traffic or provide the fastest travel time to the final destination.  Both Woody 
Mountain Road and Route 66 are classified as minor arterials within the Flagstaff 
Pathways Regional Transportation Plan 2030. 
 
Two access points will be provided from Route 66. At each point, Route 66 will widen to 
provide a dedicated westbound left turn lane and a dedicated eastbound right turn 
deceleration lane. One access point will be provided from Woody Mountain Road 
located at the existing Presidio Drive roundabout. 
 
The internal vehicular circulation will be conveyed by a collector roadway providing one 
lane in each direction of travel separated by a raised median.  The cross section for the 
collector roadway is located on Exhibit 20. 
 

Additional Reports and Studies 
 
A Citizen Participation Plan and Report, Cultural Resource Study, Preliminary Drainage 
Report, Drainage Impact Analysis, and Traffic Impact Analysis have been prepared for 
the project and have been submitted to the City. 
 
The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis is included in this narrative as Appendix 1.  
A copy of the ALTA Survey and Title Report including the Legal Description are 
included with this narrative as Appendix 2.   



 
 

Timber Sky - Concept Zoning Plan – Project Narrative – Aug 12, 2016 Page 21 
 

Development Team 
 
Developer: 
Vintage Partners, LLC 
2502 East Camelback Road, Suite 214 
Phoenix, Arizona 85016 
Contact:  Duane Hunn 
(602) 459-9931 
duane@vintagevp.com 
 
Engineer: 
Woodson Engineering and Surveying, 
Inc. 
124 North Elden Street 
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
Contact:  Rick Schuller 
(928) 774-4636 
rschuller@woodsoneng.com 
 
Land Planner: 
Arizona Land Design, LLC 
9007 North Arroya Grande Drive 
Phoenix, Arizona 85028 
Contact:  Christine Lyons Taratsas 
(480) 951-6410 
Christine@ArizonaLandDesign.com 
 
Zoning Attorney: 
Bergin, Frakes, Smalley & Oberholtzer, 
PLLC 
4455 East Camelback Rd, Suite A-205 
Phoenix, Arizona 85018 
Contact:  Carolyn Oberholtzer 
(602) 888-7860 
coberholtzer@bfsolaw.com 
 
Landscape Architect: 
Norris Design 
6 East Aspen, Suite 260 
Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 
Contact: Aaron Hayne 
(720) 217-4479 
ahayne@norris-design.com 
 
 

 
Traffic Consultant: 
CivTech, Inc. 
10605 North Hayden Road, Suite 140 
Scottsdale, Arizona 85260 
Contact: Dawn Cartier 
(480) 659-4250 
dcartier@civtech.com 
 
Real Estate Consultant: 
Belfiore Real Estate Consulting 
3930 East Ray Road, Suite 120 
Phoenix, Arizona 85044 
Contact: Jim Belfiore 
(480) 706-1002 
 
Lighting Consultant: 
Wright Engineering Corporation 
165 East Chilton Drive 
Chandler, Arizona 85225 
Contact: Aaron Kutchinsky  
(480) 497-5829 
akutchinsky@wrightengineering.us 



Concept Zoning Plan

List of Exhibits











0 
   

   
   

 8
   

   
   

 1
6 

   
   

  3
2

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

�
’�*

SW

��
’�*

F
U

T
S

�
T

R
A

IL

�
’�

PA
R

K
W

A
Y

�
’�

PA
R

K
W

A
Y

�
��

’�

B
IK

E
�

LA
N

E

�
��

’�

B
IK

E
�

LA
N

E

�
��

’�

B
IK

E
�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

SH
A

R
E

D
�T

U
R

N
�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�
��

’�

B
IK

E
�

LA
N

E



��

’�
�	

’�

T
R

A
V

E
L

�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

SH
A

R
E

D
�T

U
R

N
�

LA
N

E

�	
’�

T
R

A
V

E
L�

LA
N

E

�

	

’
�E

X
IS

T
IN

G
�R

�O
�W

�

�

	

’
�E

X
IS

T
IN

G
�R

�O
�W

�

��
’�L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

�
B

U
F

F
E

R

��
’�L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

�
B

U
F

F
E

R

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

�P
R

IV
A

C
Y

�
F

E
N

C
E

��O
P

E
N

�R
A

IL
�F

E
N

C
E

��
O

R
�W

A
L

L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

�P
R

IV
A

C
Y

�
F

E
N

C
E

��O
P

E
N

�R
A

IL
�F

E
N

C
E

��
O

R
�W

A
L

L

CC LL

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�R
O

U
T

E
��

�
�C

R
O

S
S

�S
E

C
T

IO
N

R�O�W�R�O�W�

R�O�W�R�O�W�

*�
A

D
JA

C
E

N
T

�T
O

�U
N

IM
P

R
O

V
E

D
�S

E
C

T
IO

N
S

�O
F

�P
A

V
E

M
E

N
T

*A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�T

O
�IM

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�T
O

�B
E

�IN
S

TA
L

L
E

D
�B

Y
�T

H
E

�
P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
�C

IT
Y

�P
U

B
L

IC
�W

O
R

K
S

�C
O

R
E

�M
A

IN
T

E
N

A
N

C
E

�
F

A
C

IL
IT

Y

E
X

H
IB

IT
��



0 
   

   
   

 4
   

   
   

   
 8

 
   

   
  1

6

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

�
��

’
B

IK
E

�
LA

N
E

	
’

�
’

�P
A

R
K

W
AY

C L

��
�

’
R

�O
�W

�

E
X

IS
T

IN
G

��
’

F
U

T
S�

T
R

A
IL

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�W
O

O
D

Y
�M

O
U

N
TA

IN
�R

O
A

D
�C

R
O

S
S

�S
E

C
T

IO
N

R�O�W�

R�O�W�

E
X

H
IB

IT
��







N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
00

   
   

   
 4

00
 

   
   

  8
00

SC
A
LE

0

A
LV

A
N

�C
LA

RK�W
AY

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

SC
A
LE

R
O

U
T

E
 6

6

W
O

O
DY M

O
UNTA

IN
 R

O
AD

O
p

e
n

 S
p

ac
e

 C
o

rr
id

o
r

AAAAAAAAA

C
o

lle
ct

o
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r

C
o

lle
ct

o
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r

P
ri

m
ar

y 
E

n
tr

y

P
o

te
n

ti
al

 F
u

tu
re

 
N

A
IP

TA
 S

it
e

R
o

ck
 O

u
tc

ro
p

p
in

g 
P

re
se

rv
at

io
n

 A
re

a

R
o

ck
 O

u
tc

ro
p

p
in

g 
P

re
se

rv
at

io
n

 A
re

a
RRRRR

o
R

o
R

o
RRRRR

o
R

o
R PPPP

r
P

rr
P

r
P

r
P

rrr
PPPPPPP

r

OOOOOOOOOOO
pppp

oo
r

o
rrrrr  

ooo
rr

oo
r

E
n

tr
y 

M
o

n
u

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n
 -

 
S

e
e

 E
n

la
rg

e
m

e
n

ts

P
u

b
lic

 A
m

e
n

it
ie

s 
-

S
e

e
 E

n
la

rg
e

m
e

n
ts

C
iv

ic
 O

p
e

n
 S

p
ac

e

G
e

n
e

ra
l O

p
e

n
 S

p
ac

e

5’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 

W
al

k

6’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 

W
al

k

F
U

T
S

 L
o

o
p

 T
ra

il 
- 

U
n

p
av

e
d

 
(1

0
’ M

e
an

d
e

ri
n

g)

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 F
U

T
S

 T
ra

il 
- 

P
av

e
d

 
(1

0
’)

F
U

T
S

 T
ra

il 
- 

B
y 

O
th

e
rs

In
te

rn
al

 V
e

h
ic

u
la

r 
an

d
 

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 C

o
n

n
e

ct
io

n*

P
o

ss
ib

le
 P

e
d

e
st

ri
an

 
C

o
n

n
e

ct
io

n

* 
In

te
rn

al
 c

o
n

n
e

ct
iv

it
y 

w
ill

 b
e

 a
d

d
re

ss
e

d
 a

t 
ti

m
e

 
o

f 
su

b
d

iv
is

io
n

 p
la

� 
in

g 
o

r 
S

it
e

 P
la

n
 a

s 
ap

p
lic

ab
le

.
In

te
rn

al
 v

e
h

ic
u

la
r 

an
d

 p
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 c

o
n

n
e

ct
iv

it
y 

ill
u

st
ra

te
d

 o
n

 p
la

n
 is

 c
o

n
ce

p
tu

al
 o

n
ly

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
oooooooo

RRRR
oo

RRRRR
o

RR
oo

R
ooo

RRR
o

RR
ooo

PPPPPPP

O
ve

rl
o

o
k 

P
ar

k

IN
T

E
R

ST
A

T
E

 4
0

PPP
o

P
o

NN
A

N
A

NNNNNN

In
te

rn
al

 P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 

C
o

n
n

e
ct

io
n

13

12

11

5

6

10

9

8

7

1

2

3

OOOOO

4

CCC
o

l
o

l
o

llll
C

o
CC

oooo
C

rrr

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
e

n
te

r

L
E

G
E

N
D

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�O
V

E
R

A
L

L
�C

O
M

M
U

N
IT

Y
�C

O
N

N
E

C
T

IV
IT

Y
��

C
IV

IC
�S

P
A

C
E

�A
N

D
�O

P
E

N
�S

P
A

C
E

�P
L

A
N

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

M
C

ALLIS
TER�R

A
N

C
H

�R
O

A
D



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
5 

   
   

   
50

 
   

   
  1

00

SC
A
LE

0

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

L
E

G
E

N
D

L
E

G
E

N
D

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

N
at

iv
e

 s
e

e
d

 in
 d

is
tu

rb
e

d
  a

re
as

 t
o

 
b

le
n

d
 w

it
h

 n
at

iv
e

 la
n

d
sc

ap
e

U
n

d
is

tu
rb

e
d

 g
ro

u
n

d
 c

o
ve

r 
w

h
e

re
ve

r 
p

o
ss

ib
le

A
re

as
 m

ay
 a

ls
o

 b
e

 u
se

d
 f

o
r 

L
ID

 
B

io
-r

e
te

n
ti

o
n

16
’ W

id
e

 L
an

d
sc

ap
e

M
e

d
ia

n
R

.O
.W

.

R
.O

.W
.

E
xi

st
in

g 
P

o
n

d
e

ro
sa

 P
in

e
s 

to
 b

e
 p

re
se

rv
e

d
 w

h
e

re
ve

r 
p

o
ss

ib
le

E
n

h
an

ce
d

 L
an

d
sc

ap
e

 in
 

an
d

 a
ro

u
n

d
 r

o
u

n
d

ab
o

u
t

NN
a

N
aaa

NN bb
l

b
l

b
l

bb
l

b
l

b
l

b
l

b
l

b
leeeee nnnnnnnnnnnn hhhhhhhhhhhhh rrrrrrrrrrrr oooooooooooo OOOOOOOOOOOOO

UUU
n

U
n

U
n

U
nn

U
n

U
n

UU
n

U
n

U
n

UUUU
nn

UUU
nnn

UUU
n

U
n

UUUUUUUUUUUU
n

UU
n

UU
nn

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

ww
h

w
h

w
h

w
h

ww
h

ww
h

ww
h

w
h

w
h

www
h

w
h

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

AAAA
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

A
r

AAA
r

A
r

AA
r

A
r

AA
r

AAAAAAAAA BB
i

B
i

BBB
i

B
i

B
i

B
i

B
i

BBB
ii

B
i

B
i

B
i

B
i

B
i

BBBB
iii

BB
oooooo OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

BBB
i

BBB
i

B
i

BB
ii

B
i

BB
ii

BBB
i

BBBBBB RRRR
.

R
.

R
.

R
.

R
.

R
.

R
.

RRRRRRR
.

R
.

R
.

RRRRRRRRRRR
.

RR
.

RRRR
.

RRRRRRRRR
OOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

EE
x

E tototooto p
o

p
o

p
o

p
o

p
o

pp
o

p
o 666666666 MMMMMMMMMM666666666 MMMMMMMMMMM11116161616111616666616616116111 MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�C
O

L
L

E
C

T
O

R
�C

O
R

R
ID

O
R

�P
L

A
N

WWWWWWW
.

W
.

W
.

WW
.

WWW
.

WWWWWWWWWW
.

W
.

W
.

WWWWWW
.

WWW
.

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWW
.

WWW
.

eeeeeeeeeee o
u

o
u

o
uu

o
u

o
u

o
u

o
u

oo
u

o
u

o
u

o
uu

o
tttttttt

uuuuuuuuu
tttttttttt

uuuuuuuuuuuuuiiiiiiiiinnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn uuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuu
ttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttt

*I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�O
U

T
S

ID
E

�O
F

�T
H

E
�R

IG
H

T
�O

F
�W

A
Y

�T
O

�B
E

�
B

U
IL

T
�W

IT
H

�D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

�O
F

�A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�B

LO
C

K

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�

5’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 W

al
k

5’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 W

al
k

S
h

ar
e

d
 b

ik
e

 la
n

e
SSSSSS

h
S

h
S

h
S

h
S

h
S

hhh
SSS

h
S

h
SSSSSSSS

h
SSSSSS

hhh
SSSSSS



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 1
00

   
   

   
 2

00
 

   
   

  4
00

SC
A
LE

N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 1
00

20
0

40
0

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

Tu
rf

 in
 P

in
e

s
N

at
iv

e
 S

e
e

d

B
R

ID
G

E
S

id
e

 E
le

va
ti

o
n

 

B
R

ID
G

E
F

ro
n

t 
E

le
va

ti
o

n
 

F
U

T
S

 T
ra

il

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�O
P

E
N

�S
P

A
C

E
�C

O
R

R
ID

O
R

�P
L

A
N

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 N

o
d

e

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 N

o
d

e

W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 S

te
e

l G
u

ar
d

ra
il

T
im

b
e

r 
Tr

u
ss

 B
ri

d
ge

G
ab

io
n

 H
e

ad
w

al
ls

16
’-1

8’

4
’

N
at

iv
e

 R
ip

ar
ia

n
 

D
e

ci
d

u
o

u
s 

Tr
e

e
s

P
re

se
rv

e
d

 a
n

d
 P

la
n

te
d

 
P

o
n

d
e

ro
sa

 P
in

e
 a

n
d

 
P

in
o

n
 P

in
e

 a
lo

n
g 

e
d

ge
s

o
f 

d
e

te
n

ti
o

n
 a

re
a

B
ri

d
ge

 a
t 

C
o

lle
ct

o
r

P
e

d
e

st
ri

an
 N

o
d

e

M
u

lt
i-

P
u

rp
o

se
 F

ie
ld

 w
/T

u
rf

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
e

n
te

r 
P

ar
k

Tr
ai

l C
o

n
n

e
ct

io
n

s 
to

 N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

s

Tr
ai

l C
o

n
n

e
ct

io
n

s 
to

 N
e

ig
h

b
o

rh
o

o
d

s
N

at
iv

e
 T

al
l G

ra
ss

 a
t 

b
o

� 
o

m
 

o
f 

D
e

te
n

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

10
’ W

id
e

 U
n

p
av

e
d

 
F

U
T

S
 T

ra
il

10
’ W

id
e

 P
av

e
d

 
F

U
T

S
 T

ra
il

R
o

ut
e 

66

eeeeeeeee
aaaaaaaaaaaaa

aaaaaaaannnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn eeeeeeee
sssssssssssssss

eeee nnnnnnn eeeeeeeeeeeee
dddddddddddddddd

nn
d

n
d

n
d

n
d

n
dddddd

nn
dd

n
dd

nnn
d

nn
  

ee
s

e
s

e
s

e
s

e
s

e
s

e
sss

e

ddddddd
eeeeeeeeeeeeeee

ddddddddd
eeee

uuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuuu
rfrffrfrrrfffrrffffffffrffffrfrrfrrrfrrrfffff

TTTTTTTTTrTrTrTTTTTTrTTTTr
aaaaaaaaaaa

totototottotototootootoPP
e

P
e

P
e

P
e

P
ee

PP
e

P
e

PPPPPP
ee

PPPPPPP
e

PP
e

P
e

PPPP

aaa

PPPPPPP
eeee

PP
e

P TTTTTrTrTTTTTTrTTTTTTTTTTTrTTTT
aaaaaaa

BB
r

B
r

BB
r

B
r

B
r

BB
r

BB
r

B
r

B
r

B
r

BBB
r

B
r

B
r

B PPPP
e

P
e

P
ee

P
ee

P
e

PPP
ee

PPP
eee

CCCCCCCCCC
o

C
o

C
oo

CCCCCCCCC
o

C
oo

CCC
o

C
oo

C
o

C
o

CCCC
oooo

CCC
oo

C
o

C
oo

C
oo

CCCCCCCC
oo

CC
o

CCCC
o

CCCC
mm

m
mm

m
m

m
m

m
m

m
m

m
mm

m
m

m
m

m
m

mmm
mmmm

m
mm

m
uuuuuuuuuuuuuu

ttttttttt aaraarraaraarrrrrrararrrarrra
kkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkoooooooooooooooooo
rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr

L
E

G
E

N
D

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�

LLLLLLLLLLLLLL
EEEEEEEEEE

GGGGGGGGG
EEEEEEEEE

NNNNNN
DD

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

F
e

n
ce

/W
al

l

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn
sssss ssssss sss

dd
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

d
s

dddd
ssss

d
ssss

1111001000010010000110011111
’’’’

FFF
U

F
U

F
U

F
U

F
U

F
U

FF
U

F
U

F
UUUUU

FNNNNNN
a

N
a

N
aa

NNNNN
a

N
a

NNNNNNNNN
aa

NN o
f

o
f

o
ff

o
f

o
f

o
ffff

o
f

oo
f

o
f

o
f

ooo

gggggggggeeeeeeeeeeeeeee lslllslsslssl

WWWWWWWWWWWW

eee
d

e
d

e
ddddddddddddd

e
dd

e
dd

e
ddddddddd

ee
ddd

 



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
5 

   
   

   
50

 
   

   
  1

00

SC
A
LE

0
25

50

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
Y

�C
E

N
T

E
R

�P
L

A
N

L
E

G
E

N
D

L
E

G
E

N
D

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

F
e

n
ce

/W
al

l

D
e

te
n

ti
o

n
 A

re
a

Lo
w

 R
e

ta
in

in
g 

W
al

l
ggggggggggg

S
ta

r 
P

la
za

 /
 O

ve
rl

o
o

k

B
o

� 
o

m
 o

f 
S

lo
p

e
p

To
p

 o
f 

S
lo

p
e

ppp
ppp

P
o

te
n

ti
al

 D
o

g 
P

ar
k 

Lo
ca

ti
o

n

P
ic

n
ic

 A
re

a

S
o

la
r 

S
ys

te
m

 
F

e
at

u
re

P
la

yg
ro

u
n

d

R
am

ad
a

S
e

at
 W

al
l

eeeeeeeeee
ttttttatataaatattaaaatatt

WWWWWWWWWWW
lalal
llll

L
ar

ge
 Y

e
llo

w
 B

e
lly

 
P

o
n

d
e

ro
sa

 P
in

e

iiic
ncncnn

iiiicicici
AAAAAA

ree
aa

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

V
e

ge
ta

b
le

 G
ar

d
e

n
s

S
h

e
d

 /
 L

o
ck

e
rs

P
ic

kl
e

 B
al

l C
o

u
rt

s 
an

d
 

S
ta

r 
V

ie
w

in
g 

A
re

a

B
ri

d
ge

 a
t 

C
o

lle
ct

o
r

iiii

CCCCC
oo

CCCC
o

CCC
o

CCCC
ooo

C
o

CCCCCC
o

C
ooo

CCCCC
oo

CCC
oo

ooooooo oooooo eeeeeeeeeeeee

LLLoLoLoLoLLooLLLLoooLLLLLLoLLLoLLoL

oooooo eeeeeeeeeeeee

SSSS
t

S
t

S
t

S
tt

S
t

SS
t

SSSS
t

S
t

SSS
t

SS
t

S
t

SS
t

S
t

SSSSS
t

S
t

SSSSS
t

SSSSSSSSSSSSSS
t

S
t

S
t

S
tt

SSS
t

S
t SSSSS
o

S
o

S
o

SSSS
o

SS
o

SSS
o

S
o

S
o

SS
o

S
o

S
o

S
o

SSSSSSS
o

F
e

FF
e

F
e

F
e

F
e

F
e

F
e

FF
e

F
e

F
e

F
e

FFFFFF
e

FF
e

F
e

F
e

FFFF
ee

FFFFFF
e

F
eee

F
eeee

mmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmmm
 

PPP
i

P
ii

P
ii

PP
ii

PPPPPPPP
i

P
i

PPPPP
i

P
ii

PPP
i

PPP
i

PP
i

P
i

PPPPP
i

PP
i

CCCCCCCC SSSSSS
e

SS
e

S
e

S
e

S
e

S
e

SSSS
ee

S
e

S
ee

SSSSSSSSSS
e

S
e

SSSS
e

S
e

SSSSSSS
e

S
e

SS
e

SS
e

S
e

S
e

SSSSS
e

LLL
a

LLL
a

LL
aa

L
a

LLLL
a

LLL
aa

LLL
a

L
aa

LL
aa

LLLLLL PPP
o

PPPPPPP
o

PP
o

PP
ooooooooooooo

PPPPP
o

P
o

PPPP
o

P
o

P
o

P
oo

PPP
ooooo

P
oo

Poooo P
o

P
o

P
oo

PP
o

P
oo

PPPPPP
o

PToTTToToTooTTTTTToTTTTTTTTT

oooooooooo
BBBBBBBBB PPPPPPPP

i
P

i
PPP

i
P

i
P

i
PPPPPPPPPPP SSS

t
SS

t
S

tt
SSS

ttt
S

t
SSS

t
SSS

t
SSS

t
S

t
SSSS

t
SS

R
.O

.W
.

5’
 w

id
e

 c
o

n
cr

e
te

 w
al

k

B
ik

e
 L

an
e

WW
.

W
.

WWW
.

W
.

W
.

W
.

WW
.

WWW
.

W
.

WWWaaaaaaaa nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeelllllllllllllkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkk

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

	

*I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�O
U

T
S

ID
E

�O
F

�T
H

E
�R

IG
H

T
�O

F
�W

A
Y

�T
O

�B
E

�
B

U
IL

T
�W

IT
H

�D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

�O
F

�A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�B

LO
C

K

10
’ W

id
e

 S
o

� 
 S

u
rf

ac
e

 
F

U
T

S
 T

ra
il



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
5 

   
   

   
50

 
   

   
  1

00

SC
A
LE

0
25

50
   

   
  1

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�O
V

E
R

LO
O

K
�P

A
R

K
�&

�E
A

S
T

�E
N

T
R

Y
�

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T

�P
L

A
N

V
ie

w
 F

ro
m

 B
e

n
ch

O
ve

rl
o

o
k 

N
at

iv
e

 V
e

ge
ta

ti
o

n

L
E

G
E

N
D

L
EE

G
E

N
D

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

F
e

n
ce

/W
al

l

W
oody M

ounta
in R

oad

R
am

ad
a

P
o

n
d

e
ro

sa
 P

in
e

 t
o

 
b

e
 P

re
se

rv
e

d

D
e

co
m

p
o

se
d

 G
ra

n
it

e
 T

ra
il

E
n

tr
y 

M
o

n
u

m
e

n
ta

ti
o

n

R
.O

.W
.

B
e

n
ch

 w
it

h
 V

ie
w

s 
to

 S
an

 
F

ra
n

ci
sc

o
 P

e
ak

s

5’
 W

id
e

 C
o

n
cr

e
te

 W
al

k

10
’ W

id
e

 C
o

n
cr

e
te

 F
U

T
S

 T
ra

il

nnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnn

aaaaaaaaaaaaaaaiiii
lilllillllliliill

WWW
.

W
.

W
.

W
.

WW
.

W
.

W
.

WW
..

WWWW
.

W
.

W
..

WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW

E
X

H
IB

IT
��




*I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�O
U

T
S

ID
E

�O
F

�T
H

E
�R

IG
H

T
�O

F
�W

A
Y

�T
O

�B
E

�
B

U
IL

T
�W

IT
H

�D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

�O
F

�A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�B

LO
C

K

EEEEE
n

E
n

E
n

E
n

E
n

E
nn

EE
nn

E
n

E
n

E
n

E
n

EEE
n

E 1000011000100010



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
5 

   
   

   
50

 
   

   
  1

00

SC
A
LE

0
25

S
R

ev
is

e
d

: 8
/1

2/
16

L
E

G
E

N
D

E
G

E
N

D
L

E

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

F
e

n
ce

/W
al

l

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�P
R

IM
A

R
Y

�E
N

T
R

Y
�M

O
N

U
M

E
N

T
�P

L
A

N

10
’ W

id
e

 C
o

n
cr

e
te

 F
U

T
S

 T
ra

il

R
.O

.W
.

D
o

u
b

le
 S

id
e

d
 M

o
n

u
m

e
n

t 
S

ig
n

DDDDDDDD
bbbbbbbbb

lllllll
SSSSSS

ddidididididdidd
dddddddd

B
ik

e
 L

an
e

gggg

T
im

b
e

r 
R

e
ta

in
in

g 
W

al
l w

it
h

 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e
 C

o
lu

m
n

s 
at

 W
al

l 
C

o
rn

e
rs

T
im

b
e

r 
R

e
ta

in
in

g 
W

al
l w

it
h

 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e
 C

o
lu

m
n

s 
at

 W
al

l 
C

o
rn

e
rs

oooooooo
rnrnnrnrnnrnnrnr

ee
r

eee
r

e
r

e
r

e
rrrsssssss

B
e

rm

B
e

rm

R
o

u
te

 6
6

Alvan Clark Way
B

lu
e

 S
p

ru
ce

 B
ac

kd
ro

p

WWWWWWWWWWWWW
.

WWWW
.

W
.

WWW
.

WWWW
.

WWWW
....

WWW
.

Waaaaaaaaaaaaaiiiii
lililililliliiiillliiiiillli

rrrrmrmrmmmmmmmmrrmmmmrmrmmrmmmm

mmmmmm aaaaa
CCC

o
C

o
C

o
C

o
CC

o
CCCCC

o
CCCCC

o
C

o
C

oo
C

o
C BBBB

e
B

ee
BBB

e
B

eee
B

eee
BBBBBBBBBBBBBTTTTTTTT
i

T
i

T
i

T
i

T
i

TT
i

TT
i

TTTT
i

TTTTT
i

TTTTTTTTT
i

TTT
i

TTTT
immmmmmmmmmm

NNNNNN
a

N
a

N
a

N
a

N
a

N
a

NN
a

NNNNNNN
aa

N
aa

NN

oo
p

o
p

o
p

o
p

o
pppp

ooo
ppp

oo
p

o
p

o
ppppp

o
pp

oo
pppp

oo
pp

o
ppp

o
p

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�

*I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�O
U

T
S

ID
E

�O
F

�T
H

E
�R

IG
H

T
�O

F
�W

A
Y

�T
O

�B
E

�
B

U
IL

T
�W

IT
H

�D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

�O
F

�A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�B

LO
C

K

BBBBB
e

B
ee

BB
eee

B
e

BBB
e

B
e

B
rrrrrrrrrmrmrmrmmmmmmmmmmmmmrm

5’
 W

id
e

 C
o

n
cr

e
te

 W
al

k

B
ik

e
 L

an
e



0 
   

   
   

  5
   

   
   

  1
0 

   
   

 2
0

SC
A
LE

0
5 

   
   

   
 1

0
20

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�P
R

IM
A

R
Y

�E
N

T
R

Y
�M

O
N

U
M

E
N

T
�E

L
E

V
A

T
IO

N

10
’ W

id
e

 C
o

n
cr

e
te

 
F

U
T

S
 T

ra
il

F
au

x 
C

o
rt

e
n

 S
te

e
l S

ig
n

 
C

ab
in

e
t 

w
it

h
 P

u
n

ch
 O

u
t 

Le
� 

e
ri

n
g

LeeLe
��� 

e
r

ee
rriiii

S
ta

ck
e

d
 L

o
gs

S
t

S
ta

ca
e

d
Lo

T
im

b
e

r 
B

e
am

In
se

t 
Lo

go

S
ta

rl
ig

h
t 

L
ik

e
 P

in
p

o
in

ts
 o

f 
L

ig
h

t 
U

n
d

e
r 

C
ap

InIIn
sese

tt 
LoLo

ggg

M
o

n
u

m
e

n
t 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 a
n

d
 F

au
x 

C
o

rt
e

n
 S

te
e

l C
ap

B
lu

e
 S

p
ru

ce
 T

re
e

 
B

ac
kd

ro
pp

O
rn

am
e

n
ta

l T
re

e

T
im

b
e

r 
R

e
ta

in
in

g 
W

al
l o

r 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e

R
o

u
te

 6
6

B
as

e
 In

co
rp

o
ra

ti
n

g 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e

ttee
 

aai
lil

ggnnnggnn
 

OO
u

tt
u

t
u

 
nn

g
nnn

gg

M
oo

n
u

n
u

m
e

m
e

nn
N

a
N

at
it
ve

 
C

o
gg

oo
ggsss

o
ggsss

oo
gsgss aammmm

ooo
ff f fff

aaapppp ggooooggogooo nnn u agg nn
g

n
ggg

nn
ggg

nn uu
xxxx 

apap

BB
ll

BB
a

BB OOOOOOO

TT
i

T
i

T
i

TT
i

NNNNNNNNNNN
BB

a
B

a
B

a
BB

aaa
NNNNNNNN

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�



0 
   

   
   

  5
   

   
   

  1
0 

   
   

 2
0

SC
A
LE

0
5 

   
   

   
 1

0
20

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�O
V

E
R

LO
O

K
�P

A
R

K
�&

�E
A

S
T

�E
N

T
R

Y
�

M
O

N
U

M
E

N
T

�E
L

E
V

A
T

IO
N

R
o

ck
 E

sc
ar

p
m

e
n

t 
pppp

R
u

st
ic

 T
im

b
e

r 
F

e
n

ce

K
n

o
ll 

w
it

h
 R

o
ck

 
O

u
tc

ro
p

p
in

gs
 

an
d

 P
re

se
rv

e
d

 
P

o
n

d
e

ro
sa

 P
in

e

M
o

n
u

m
e

n
t 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 a
n

d
 F

au
x 

C
o

rt
e

n
 S

te
e

l C
ap

B
lu

e
 S

p
ru

ce
 T

re
e

 
B

ac
kd

ro
p

KK
lllllllll

hhhhhhhh
RRRRRR

aaaaac
kckc
d

r
d

o
p

oo
p

oo
pp

o
ppppppppppppppp

O
rn

am
e

n
ta

l T
re

e

R
e

ta
in

in
g 

W
al

l 
In

co
rp

o
ra

ti
n

g 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e
P

in
 M

o
u

n
te

d
 B

ac
k 

L
it

 
C

h
an

n
e

l L
e

� 
e

ri
n

g

KKK OOOOO aa PPPPPKKBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB OOOOOOOOOOOO

RRRRR
e

RR
ee

RRR
e

R
e

InInII
P

i
PPP

i
P

i
PPP CCCCCCCC

KKKKKKK OOOOOOOOOO aaaaaaaa PPPPPPPPKKKKKKOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOOO

ccccckkkkkkkkkkk ddddddd n
ee

n
e

n
eeeeeeee

nkkkkkkkkeeeeeeeeee
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeee

eeeee
eeeeeeeeee

n
g

n
g

n
gg

nn
ggggggg

nn
ggg 

uuuuu
xxxxxxx 

ee
nnnnnn

ttttttttttt

ccccccccceeeee

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�



R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

R
o

u
gh

 S
aw

n
 C

e
d

ar
 R

ai
ls

 a
n

d
 P

o
st

s

R
o

u
gh

 S
aw

n
 C

e
d

ar
 R

ai
ls

 a
n

d
 P

o
st

s

R
o

u
gh

 S
aw

n
 C

e
d

ar
 R

ai
ls

 a
n

d
 P

o
st

s

M
as

o
n

ry
 W

al
l

gg

W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 W

e
ld

e
d

 W
ir

e
 

M
e

sh
 (

O
p

ti
o

n
al

 f
o

r 
P

e
t 

E
n

cl
o

su
re

)

oo
u

g
u

ghh
S

a
S

aww
n

CC
e

d
e

arar
RR

aiai
lsls

aan
o

u
ggh

 S
aw

n
 C

e
d

e
d

aar
 R

ai
ls

aan

W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 C

o
rr

u
ga

te
d

 
S

te
e

l P
an

e
ls

aas
oso

n
r

n
ryy

WW
a

W
al

llllll

C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 W
h

e
re

 
Lo

ca
te

d
 A

lo
n

g 
C

o
lle

ct
o

rs
*

C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e*

oo
u

ghhh
SS

aw
n

CC
e

d
ar

R
ai

ls
a

C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e*

G
ab

io
n

 C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 
w

it
h

 W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 W

e
ld

e
d

 
W

ir
e

 F
ab

ri
c*

G
ab

io
n

 W
al

l I
n

co
rp

o
ra

ti
n

g 
N

at
iv

e
 S

to
n

e
 w

it
h

 W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 

W
e

ld
e

d
 W

ir
e

 F
ab

ri
c*

G
ab

io
n

 C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 w
it

h
 W

e
at

h
e

re
d

 
W

e
ld

e
d

 W
ir

e
 F

ab
ri

c*

G
ab

io
n

 C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 
w

it
h

 W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 W

e
ld

e
d

 
W

ir
e

 F
ab

ri
c*

G
ab

io
n

 C
o

lu
m

n
s 

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

n
g 

N
at

iv
e

 S
to

n
e

 
w

it
h

 W
e

at
h

e
re

d
 W

e
ld

e
d

 
W

ir
e

 F
ab

ri
c* C

O
N

C
E

P
T

U
A

L
�W

A
L

L
S

�A
N

D
�F

E
N

C
E

S

�’
�W

O
O

D
�P

R
IV

A
C

Y
�F

E
N

C
E

�’
-�

’�M
A

S
O

N
R

Y
�S

O
U

N
D

�&
�P

R
IV

A
C

Y
�W

A
L

L

O
P

E
N

�R
A

IL
�F

E
N

C
E

G
A

B
IO

N
�W

A
L

L
��C

O
R

R
U

G
A

T
E

D
�W

E
A

T
H

E
R

E
D

�S
T

E
E

L
�F

E
N

C
E

��O
P

E
N

�R
A

IL
�F

E
N

C
E

A
P

P
R

O
X

IM
A

T
E

LY
���

�
’�O

�C
��

W
h

e
re

 L
o

ca
te

d
 A

lo
n

g 
C

o
lle

ct
o

rs

A
P

P
R

O
X

IM
A

T
E

LY
���

�
’�O

�C
��

A
P

P
R

O
X

IM
A

T
E

LY
���

�
’�O

�C
��

�
’�O

�C
�

�
’�O

�C
�

�
’�O

�C
�

�’
-�

’

�
’-�

’

�’

�
’*

*

C L

C L

C L

C L

C L

C L
nn

sss 
n

e
n

e
 

e
d

 
c*

C LCC

n
ggg g

ee
ddd

ic
*

nn
sss 

n
e

n
e

 
e

d
 

c*

C LCC

nnn
sss 

nn
e

n
e

 
ee

d
 

cc*

RR
oo

CCC NN

C LCC

RR
oo

RR
oo

RR
o

WWW
t

WWWWWW

n

WWWWWWWWWWWW MM E
n

WWWWWWWWWW SS
t

S
t

d
 C

o
rr

u
ga

te
d

 
e

ls
GG

aa
G N

a
N

a
W

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�

oo

CC
o

C NN
aa

N
a

N
a

RRR
o

RR
o

R
o

aaaaoCCC
oo

N
a

N
a

LoLo

C LCC

MMM
a

MM
a

M
a

LoL

*C
o

lu
m

n
 t

yp
e

 m
ay

 v
ar

y

**
F

e
n

ci
n

g 
an

d
 w

al
l h

e
ig

ht
s 

m
ay

 b
e

 
re

d
u

ce
d

 f
o

r 
ce

rt
ai

n
 c

ir
cu

m
st

an
ce

s 
su

ch
 a

s 
if 

th
e

 f
e

n
ce

/ 
w

al
l i

s 
ad

ja
ce

n
t 

to
 h

ig
h

 d
e

n
si

ty
 r

e
si

d
e

nt
ia

l. 



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
00

   
   

   
 4

00
 

   
   

  8
00

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

E
X

H
IB

IT
��

�

13

12

11

5

6

10

9

8

1

2

3

4

L
E

G
E

N
D

7

R
O

U
T

E
 6

6

W
O

O
DY M

O
UNTA

IN
 R

O
AD

O
p

e
n

 S
p

ac
e

 C
o

rr
id

o
r

RRRRRRRRR
A

O
A

O
AA

O
A

O
A

O
A

O
A

O
A

OOOOO
DDDDDDDDDDD

C
o

lle
ct

o
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r

P
ri

m
ar

y 
E

n
tr

y

R
o

ck
 O

u
tc

ro
p

p
in

g 
P

re
se

rv
at

io
n

 A
re

a

R
o

ck
 O

u
tc

ro
p

p
in

g 
P

re
se

rv
at

io
n

 A
re

a
RRR

o
RRR

o
RR

o
RRRRRRRR P

r
PP

r
PPP

r
PP

r
P

r
P

r
P

r

OOOOOOOOOO
pppppp

CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
ooooooooooo

4444
O

ve
rl

o
o

k 
P

ar
k

IN
T

E
R

ST
A

T
E

 4
0

M
C

ALLIS
TER�R

A
N

C
H

�R
O

A
D

C
o

lle
ct

o
r 

C
o

rr
id

o
r

RRR
o

RRR
oo

RR
oo

RRRRRRRRR
oo

PP
r

PP
r

P
rr

PPP
r

P
rr

PPP
r

PPPPPP
r

P
r

PP
rr

PP

CCCCC
oo

ll
o

l
o

llelele
ctcctct

o
r

o
r

o
r

CCCC
o

r
o

r
o

rr
iriri
ddd

o
d

o
d

o
rr

oo

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y 

C
e

n
te

r

O
p

ti
o

n
al

 F
e

n
ci

n
g:

 
• 

G
ab

io
n

 W
al

l
• 

C
o

rr
u

ga
te

d
 W

e
at

h
e

re
d

 
S

te
e

l F
e

n
ce

• 
O

p
e

n
 R

ai
l F

e
n

ce

O
p

ti
o

n
al

 F
e

n
ci

n
g:

• 
6’

 H
e

ig
h

t 
W

o
o

d
 P

ri
va

cy
  

F
e

n
ce

• 
6’

 H
e

ig
h

t 
M

as
o

n
ry

 P
ri

va
cy

    
   

w
al

l w
it

h
 C

o
lu

m
n

s
• 

O
p

e
n

 R
ai

l F
e

n
ce

• 
W

al
ls

 a
n

d
 f

e
n

ci
n

g 
to

 b
e

 b
u

ilt
 w

it
h

 t
h

e
   

d
ev

e
lo

p
m

e
n

t 
o

f 
th

e
 a

d
ja

ce
n

t 
b

lo
ck

.

• 
R

e
fe

r 
to

 E
xh

ib
it

 1
7 

fo
r 

co
n

ce
p

tu
al

 w
al

l a
n

d
  

fe
n

ce
 d

e
si

gn
s.

 O
p

e
n

 R
ai

l F
e

n
ce

6’
 -

 8
’ H

e
ig

h
t 

M
as

o
n

ry
 

S
o

u
n

d
 &

 P
ri

va
cy

 W
al

l

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�F
E

N
C

IN
G

�&
�S

C
R

E
E

N
�W

A
L

L
�P

L
A

N

M
C

ALL
IS

TER�R
AN

C
H�R

OAD

A
LV

A
N

�C
LA

RK�W
AY





0 
   

   
   

 4
   

   
   

   
 8

 
   

   
  1

6

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

	
’

�
’*

�

PA
R

K
W

AY
�

TY
P�

�
’*

�

PA
R

K
W

AY
�

TY
P�

�
�

’

B
/C

�T
O

�B
/C

�
	

’

R
�O

�W
�

*�
S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

�M
A

Y
�B

E
�A

T
��

’�M
IN

IM
U

M
�F

R
O

M
�T

H
E

�B
A

C
K

�O
F

�C
U

R
B

�O
R

�B
E

�
A

T
TA

C
H

E
D

�T
O

�T
H

E
�C

U
R

B
�IN

�O
R

D
E

R
�T

O
�A

V
O

ID
�E

X
IS

T
IN

G
�T

R
E

E
S

�O
R

�T
O

�
A

L
LO

W
�F

O
R

�L
ID

�M
E

A
S

U
R

E
S

�

�
�’

�
�’

��
’

M
E

D
IA

N

�
’�M

IN
�

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
�A

R
E

A

�

’

T
R

A
V

E
L

�L
A

N
E

�
��

’

B
IK

E
�L

A
N

E
�

��
’

B
IK

E
�L

A
N

E

	
’

�
’

SI
D

E
W

A
LK

�
’

SI
D

E
W

A
LK

�

’

T
R

A
V

E
L

�L
A

N
E

�
’�M

IN
�

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
�

A
R

E
A

W
A

L
K

W
A

Y
�S

H
A

L
L

�O
N

LY
�M

E
A

N
D

E
R

�

TO
�A

V
O

ID
�E

X
IS

T
IN

G
�T

R
E

E
S

�O
R

�T
O

�

A
L

LO
W

�F
O

R
�L

ID
�M

E
A

S
U

R
E

S

W
A

L
K

W
A

Y
�S

H
A

L
L

�O
N

LY
�M

E
A

N
D

E
R

�

TO
�A

V
O

ID
�E

X
IS

T
IN

G
�T

R
E

E
S

�O
R

�T
O

�

A
L

LO
W

�F
O

R
�L

ID
�M

E
A

S
U

R
E

S

C L

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�C
O

L
L

E
C

T
O

R
�S

T
R

E
E

T
�C

R
O

S
S

�S
E

C
T

IO
N

R�O�W�

R�O�W�

E
X

H
IB

IT
�	

�



0 
   

   
   

 4
   

   
   

   
 8

 
   

   
  1

6

SC
A
LE

0
4

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16






’

B
/C

�T
O

�B
/C

�’

P
A

R
K

IN
G

�
�

’

R
�O

�W
��M

IN
�

	
��

�
’

	
��

�
’

��
’

T
R

A
V

E
L

�L
A

N
E

�
’

�P
A

R
K

W
A

Y

	
’

�’
	

’
�

’

P
A

R
K

IN
G

�
’

�P
A

R
K

W
A

Y

�
’

�S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

	
’�B

E
N

C
H

	
’�B

E
N

C
H

�
’

�S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

�’

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

��
�

’�L
O

C
A

L
�S

T
R

E
E

T
�C

R
O

S
S

�S
E

C
T

IO
N

R�O�W�

R�O�W�

E
X

H
IB

IT
�	

�

C L



0 
   

   
   

 4
   

   
   

   
 8

 
   

   
  1

6

SC
A
LE

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

�
�

’

B
/C

�T
O

�B
/C

�
�

’

R
�O

�W
�



�

’



�
’

�
’

M
E

D
IA

N

�
’�

P
A

R
K

W
A

Y

	
’

�’
��

��
’

T
R

A
V

E
L

�L
A

N
E

��
��

’

T
R

A
V

E
L

�L
A

N
E

�
’

�P
A

R
K

W
A

Y

��
’

�L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
T

R
A

C
T

�
’

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

�
’

S
ID

E
W

A
L

K

��
’

L
A

N
D

S
C

A
P

E
T

R
A

C
T

	
’

�’

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

��
�

’�E
N

T
R

Y
�L

O
C

A
L

�S
T

R
E

E
T

�C
R

O
S

S
�S

E
C

T
IO

N

C L

R�O�W�

R�O�W�

E
X

H
IB

IT
�	

	

S
IG

N
S

�P
O

S
T

E
D

-�
N

O
�P

A
R

K
IN

G
�A

LO
N

G
�L

O
C

A
L

�S
T

R
E

E
T

�E
N

T
R

IE
S

��



N
O
RT
H

0 
   

   
   

 2
5 

   
   

   
50

 
   

   
 1

00

SC
A
LE

0
25

50

SC
A
L

R
ev

is
e

d
: 8

/1
2/

16

C
O

N
C

E
P

T
U

A
L

�L
O

C
A

L
�S

T
R

E
E

T
�E

N
T

R
Y

�P
L

A
N

L
E

G
E

N
D

E
X

H
IB

IT
�	




D
L

E
G

E
N

D

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
C

an
o

p
y 

Tr
e

e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
E

ve
rg

re
e

n
 T

re
e

P
ro

p
o

se
d

 
O

rn
am

e
n

ta
l T

re
e

E
xi

st
in

g 
Tr

e
e

N
at

iv
e

 G
ra

ss
e

s

P
la

n
ti

n
g 

B
e

d

F
e

n
ce

/W
al

l

N
at

iv
e

 s
e

e
d

 in
 d

is
tu

rb
e

d
  a

re
as

 t
o

 
b

le
n

d
 w

it
h

 n
at

iv
e

 la
n

d
sc

ap
e

16
’ W

id
e

 L
an

d
sc

ap
e

M
e

d
ia

n

7’
 W

id
e

 L
an

d
sc

ap
e

M
e

d
ia

n

7’
 W

id
e

 L
an

d
sc

ap
e

M
e

d
ia

n

N
o

 P
ar

ki
n

g 
S

ig
n

s 
A

lo
n

g 
B

o
th

 
S

id
e

s 
o

f 
th

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

N
o

 P
ar

ki
n

g 
S

ig
n

s 
A

lo
n

g 
B

o
th

 
S

id
e

s 
o

f 
th

e
 S

tr
e

e
t

E
xi

st
in

g 
P

o
n

d
e

ro
sa

 P
in

e
s 

to
 b

e
 p

re
se

rv
e

d
 w

h
e

re
ve

r 
p

o
ss

ib
le

F
e

n
ci

n
g 

w
it

h
 c

o
lu

m
n

s

*I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

�O
U

T
S

ID
E

�O
F

�T
H

E
�R

IG
H

T
�O

F
�W

A
Y

�T
O

�B
E

�
B

U
IL

T
�W

IT
H

�D
E

V
E

LO
P

M
E

N
T

�O
F

�A
D

JA
C

E
N

T
�B

LO
C

K

5’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 W

al
k

5’
 D

e
ta

ch
e

d
 C

o
n

cr
e

te
 W

al
k

S
h

ar
e

d
 b

ik
e

 la
n

e

5’5’5’’5’5’5’5’5’5’’’’5’’’’5’’’’’5’’’5’’’’’’’’’’’SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

ttototototooooootttotottototototooottttotooooooottttottooot
  

pppppppppppppppp
eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee

ppppppppp lllllllllllllllllkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkkeeeeeeeeeeeeee
ttttttttttt

nnnn
s

n
s

n
s

n
s

n
s

n
sssss

nn
ss

nnnn
s

n
s

n
ssssss

nn
ss

nnn
s

n
ssssss

66666666666666’’’’’’ MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE oooooooooo ppppppppppp 161161661666111116661611616111111166777777777777777777 MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM EEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE tttttotottttotottttttotottottotttotottootottott ppppppppppppppppppppp

5555555555555555555555555555555555555SSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

S
IG

N
S

�P
O

S
T

E
D

-�
N

O
�P

A
R

K
IN

G
�A

LO
N

G
�L

O
C

A
L

�S
T

R
E

E
T

�E
N

T
R

IE
S

��

’’’’’’’’’’’’’’ MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM NNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNNN SSSSSSSSS
i

S
i

SSSSSS
i

SS
i

S
i

SSS
i

S
i

S
i

S
i

SSSS
i

S
i

S
i

SSSS7777777777777777777777 MMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMMM

ttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttttthhhhh
 

hhhhh
 

hhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhhh eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee
ttttttttttttttttttttttt



Concept Zoning Plan

List of Tables



Table 1 
Site Data Chart 

 
 
 

Parcel 

 
 

Proposed 
Zoning 

 
 

Proposed Use / Building 
Type 

 
Gross 
Area 

(acres) 

 
Net 

Area 
(acres) 

**Gross 
Minimum  
Density 

(du/acre) 

**Gross 
Maximum 
Density 

(du/acre) 

Proposed 
Yield 

(dwelling 
units) 

1 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

11.62 10.84 13 22 151-256 

2 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.14 9.69 13 22 132-223 

3 MR Medium Density Residential 
Single Family Attached 

15.26 13.20 6 9 92-137 

4 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

23.88 22.13 2 5 48-119 

5 MR Medium Density Residential 
Single Family Attached 

19.35 17.89 6 9 116-174 

6 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

13.09 12.36 2 5 26-65 

7 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

20.27 18.73 2 5 41-101 

8 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

23.35 21.87 2 5 47-117 

9 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.50 9.68 13 22 136-231 

10 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

8.17 7.28 2 5 16-41 

11 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

9.05 8.46 2 5 18-45 

12 CS Commercial Service+ 10.02 9.55 --- --- --- 
13 HR High Density Residential 

Condominium/Townhome 
6.70 6.06 13 22 87-147 

15 R1 Community Center 2.68 2.11 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  184.08 169.85 4.9 9.0 910-1,656* 

14 POS Open Space Corridor 9.66 9.43 --- --- --- 
16 POS Open Space Corridor 3.84 3.60 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  13.50 13.03 --- --- --- 
 Total  197.58 182.88 4.6 8.4 910-1,656* 

Notes: 
*Proposed overall yield is capped at a total of 1,300 dwelling units. 
**Minimum densities are based on the total gross acreage for the zoning category and not on a per parcel 
basis.  Maximum density is based on maximum allowable density in the total gross acreage for the zoning 
category within the Resource Protection Overlay District (RPO) and not on a per parcel basis. 
+Maximum allowed Gross Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for Commercial Service is 2.0. 
 
 



Table 2 
Zoning District Site Data 

 
 
 

Parcel 

 
 

Proposed 
Zoning 

 
 

Proposed Use / Building 
Type 

 
Gross 
Area 

(acres) 

 
Net 

Area 
(acres) 

**Gross 
Minimum  
Density 

(du/acre) 

**Gross 
Maximum 
Density 

(du/acre) 

Proposed 
Yield 

(dwelling 
units) 

1 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

11.62 10.84 13 22 151-256 

2 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.14 9.69 13 22 132-223 

9 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.50 9.68 13 22 136-231 

13 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

6.70 6.06 13 22 87-147 

 Subtotal  38.96 36.27 13 22 506-857 
3 MR Medium Density 

Residential 
Single Family Attached 

15.26 13.20 6 9 92-137 

5 MR Medium Density 
Residential 

Single Family Attached 

19.35 17.89 6 9 116-174 

 Subtotal  34.61 31.09 6 9 208-311 
4 R1 Single Family Residential 

Single Family Detached 
23.88 22.13 2 5 48-119 

6 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

13.09 12.36 2 5 26-65 

7 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

20.27 18.73 2 5 41-101 

8 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

23.35 21.87 2 5 47-117 

10 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

8.17 7.28 2 5 16-41 

11 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

9.05 8.46 2 5 18-45 

15 R1 Community Center 2.68 2.11 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  100.49 92.94 2 5 196-488 

12 CS Commercial Service+ 10.02 9.55 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  10.02 9.55 --- --- --- 

14 POS Open Space Corridor 9.66 9.43 --- --- --- 
16 POS Open Space Corridor 3.84 3.60 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  13.50 13.03 --- --- --- 
 Total  197.58 182.88 4.6 8.4 910-1,656* 

Notes: 
*Proposed overall yield is capped at a total of 1,300 dwelling units. 
**Minimum densities are based on the total gross acreage for the zoning category and not on a per parcel 
basis.  Maximum density is based on maximum allowable density in the total gross acreage for the zoning 
category within the Resource Protection Overlay District (RPO) and not on a per parcel basis. 
+Maximum allowed Gross Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for Commercial Service is 2.0. 
 



Table 3 
Commercial Service Allowed Uses 

Use  
Carpenter or Cabinet Shops P 
Manufacturing and Processing - Incidental P 
Machine or Metal Working Shops P 
Mini-Storage Warehousing P 
Wholesaling and Distribution P 
Libraries, Museums P 
Regional Meeting Facilities P/UP(5) 
Charter & Public Schools P 
Private Schools P 
Trade Schools UP 
Accessory Building & Structures P 
Accessory Dwelling Units P 
Co-Housing P(6) 
Congregate Care Facilities P 
Day Care Centers UP 
Home Day Care  P 
Dwelling, Multiple Family P(6) 
Dwelling, Two Family P(6) 
Group Home P(6) 
Home Occupation P(6) 
Convents & Monasteries P 
Custodial Care Facilities P(8) 
Sheltered Care Homes P 
Nursing Homes UP 
Live/Work P 
Planned Residential Development UP 
Residence for Owner, Caretaker or Manager P(6) 
Farmers Markets and Flea Markets P 
General Retail Business P 
Mixed Use P 
Restaurant or Café P 
Bed & Breakfast Establishments P 
General Services P 
Office P 
Public Services Minor P 
Emergency Services UP 
Veterinary Clinics P 
Veterinary Hospitals UP 
Attached Telecommunications Facilities P 
Colocation Facility P 
FM/DTV/Low wattage AM Broadcasting Fac. P 
Stealth Telecommunications Facilities P 
Accessory Wind Energy Systems P 
Garages, Off-Street P 
Passenger Transportation Facilities UP 
Community Garden P 
Automobile/Vehicle Repair Garages - Minor UP 

 
 
 



Table 4 
Residential Zones Allowed Uses 

Use R1 MR HR 
Neighborhood Meeting Facilities P/UP(2) P/UP(2) P/UP(2) 
General Outdoor Public Uses P P P 
Charter & Public Schools P(3) P(3) P(3) 
Private Schools P P P 
Accessory Building & Structures P P P 
Accessory Dwelling Units P P P 
Co-Housing P P P 
Congregate Care Facilities UP P P 
Day Care Centers UP UP UP 
Home Day Care  P P P 
Dwelling, Multiple Family P(4) P P 
Dwelling, Secondary Single Family --- P P 
Dwelling, Single Family P P(4)(5) P(4)(5) 
Dwelling, Two Family P(4) P P 
Group Home P P P 
Home Occupations P P P 
Custodial Care Facilities UP UP UP 
Sheltered Care Homes UP UP UP 
Nursing Homes UP UP UP 
Live/Work --- UP(4) UP(4) 
Planned Residential Development P P P 
Rooming & Boarding Facilities --- UP UP 
Bed & Breakfast Establishments P P P 
Minor Public Services P P P 
Emergency Services UP UP UP 
Attached Telecommunications Facilities P P P 
Colocation Facility P P P 
Accessory Wind Energy Systems P P P 
Community Garden P P P 

 

Table 5 
Public Open Space Allowed Uses 

Use  
Open Spaces P 
Parks and Recreation Facilities - Passive P 

 
Key:    
P = Permitted        
UP = Conditional Use permit required 
 
(2) A Conditional Use Permit is required if liquor is sold or if facilities exceed 250 seats. 
(3) Charter schools proposed in existing single-family residences shall be located on residential lots 1 acre 
or greater. 
(4) Permitted as Planned Residential Development (See City Code Section 10-40.60.270 Planned 
Residential Development). 
(5) Existing single-family uses and lots recorded in MR and HR, prior to the effective date of City Zoning 
Code, are considered legal, conforming uses. 
(6) Residential uses are only allowed as part of a mixed-use development located above or behind the 
commercial uses.  New developments that include residential uses shall provide a minimum of 15% of the 
gross lot area in the form of common open space. 
(8) Conditional Use Permit is required if proximity between shelter facilities is less than 1/4 mile. 



Table 6 
Required Open Space 

 
Zoning 

Category 

Zoning Category 
Acreage 

(gross acres) 

Percent of 
Required Open 

Space 

 
Required Open 
Space (acres) 

R1 100.49 0% 0.00 
MR 34.61 15% 5.19 
HR 38.96 15% 5.84 
CS 10.02 15%* 1.50 

POS 13.50 0% 0.00 
Total 197.58 --- 12.53 

Required Civic Space 
 
 

 
Overall Project 

Acreage (gross acres) 

Percent of 
Required Civic 

Space 

 
Required Civic 
Space (acres) 

Civic Space 197.58 5% 9.88 
Subtotal 197.58 --- 9.88 

 

Conceptual Open Space Allocations 
Description Area (acres) 

Rock outcropping preservation/Overlook Park 3.80 
Open space corridor (Parcel 16) 3.60 
Open space within collector roadway (includes median 
and landscape areas within right of way excluding the 
parkway between the curb and sidewalk) 

7.33 

Total 14.73 

Conceptual Civic Space Allocations 
Description Area (acres) 

Community Center (Parcel 15) 2.11 
Open space corridor (Parcel 14) 9.43 
Total 11.54 

 

Conceptual Open Space and Civic Space 
Required / Allocation 

  
Required (acres) 

Conceptual 
Allocation (acres) 

Open Space 12.53 14.73 
Civic Space 9.88 11.54 
Total 22.41 26.27 

*15% open space may not be required if less than 20,000 sf of building area provided 
within the Commercial Service (CS) zone. 



Table 7 
Preliminary Development Phasing Site Data 

 
 
 

Parcel 

 
 

Proposed 
Zoning 

 
 

Proposed Use / Building Type 

 
Gross 
Area 

(acres) 

 
Net 
Area 

(acres) 

**Gross 
Minimum  
Density 

(du/acre) 

**Gross 
Maximum 
Density 

(du/acre) 

Proposed 
Yield 

(dwelling 
units) 

Phase 1 
1 HR High Density Residential 

Condominium/Townhome 
11.62 10.84 13 22 151-256 

2 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.14 9.69 13 22 132-223 

3A MR Medium Density Residential 
Single Family Attached 

6.84 6.05 6 9 41-62 

7A R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

12.41 11.67 2 5 25-61 

8 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

23.35 21.87 2 5 47-117 

14A POS Open Space Corridor 5.49 5.49 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  69.85 65.61 5.7 10.3 396-719 

Phase 2 
5 MR Medium Density Residential 

Single Family Attached 
19.35 17.89 6 9 116-174 

6 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

13.09 12.36 2 5 26-65 

7B R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

8.09 7.06 2 5 16-40 

14B POS Open Space Corridor 3.94 3.94 --- --- --- 
15 R1 Community Center 2.68 2.11 --- --- --- 
16 POS Open Space Corridor 3.84 3.60 --- --- --- 
 Subtotal  50.99 46.96 3.1 5.5 158-279 

Phase 3 
3B MR Medium Density Residential 

Single Family Attached 
8.42 7.15 6 9 51-75 

4 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

23.88 22.13 2 5 48-119 

 Subtotal  32.30 29.28 3.1 6.0 99-194 
Phase 4 

9 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.50 9.68 13 22 136-231 

10 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

8.17 7.28 2 5 16-41 

11 R1 Single Family Residential 
Single Family Detached 

9.05 8.46 2 5 18-45 

12 CS Commercial Service+ 10.02 9.55 --- --- --- 
13 HR High Density Residential 

Condominium/Townhome 
6.70 6.06 13 22 87-147 

 Subtotal  44.44 41.03 5.7 10.5 257-464 
 Total  197.58 182.58 4.6 8.4 910-1,656* 

*Proposed overall yield is capped at a total of 1,300 dwelling units. 
**Minimum densities are based on the total gross acreage for the zoning category and not on a per parcel 
basis.  Maximum density is based on maximum allowable density in the total gross acreage for the zoning category 
within the Resource Protection Overlay District (RPO) and not on a per parcel basis. 
+Maximum allowed Gross Floor Area Ratio (FAR) for Commercial Service is 2.0. 



Table 8 
Conceptual Open Space by Development Phase 

 
 
 
 

Parcel 

 
 
 

Proposed 
Zoning 

 
 
 
 

Proposed Use / Building Type 

 
 

Gross 
Area 

(acres) 

 
Percent 
of Open 
Space 

Required 

 
Open 
Space 

Required 
(acres) 

 
Open 
Space 

Allocated 
(acres) 

Open Space 
to be 

Reallocated 
to Future 

Phase (acres) 
Phase 1 

1 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

11.62 15% 1.74 --- --- 

2 HR High Density Residential 
Condominium/Townhome 

10.14 15% 1.52 --- --- 

3A MR Medium Density Residential 
Single Family Attached 

6.84 15% 1.02 --- --- 

7A R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

12.41 0% 0 --- --- 

8 R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

23.35 0% 0 --- --- 

14A POS Open Space Corridor 5.49 0% 0 5.49** --- 
--- --- Civic Space 69.85 5% 3.49 --- --- 
--- --- Other Open Space* --- --- 0 2.65** --- 
 Subtotal  69.85 --- 7.77 8.14 0.37 

Phase 2 
5 MR Medium Density Residential 

Single Family Attached 
19.35 15% 2.90 --- --- 

6 R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

13.09 0% 0 --- --- 

7B R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

8.09 0% 0 --- --- 

14B POS Open Space Corridor 3.94 0% 0 3.94** --- 
15 R1 Community Center 2.68 0% 0 2.11 --- 
16 POS Open Space Corridor 3.84 0% 0 3.60** --- 
--- --- Civic Space 50.99 5% 2.55 --- --- 
--- --- Other Open Space* --- --- 0 2.58** --- 
 Subtotal  50.99 --- 5.45 12.23 6.78 

Phase 3 
3B MR Medium Density Residential 

Single Family Attached 
8.42 15% 1.26 --- --- 

4 R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

23.88 0% 0 --- --- 

  Civic Space 32.30 5% 1.62 --- --- 
  Other Open Space* --- --- 0 3.78** --- 
 Subtotal  32.30 --- 2.88 3.78 0.90 

Phase 4 
9 HR High Density Residential 

Condominium/Townhome 
10.50 15% 1.58 --- --- 

10 R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

8.17 0% 0 --- --- 

11 R1 Single Family Residential Single 
Family Detached 

9.05 0% 0 --- --- 

12 CS Commercial Service+ 10.02 15% 1.50 --- --- 
13 HR High Density Residential 

Condominium/Townhome 
6.70 15% 1.01 --- --- 

--- --- Civic Space 44.44 5% 2.22 --- --- 
--- --- Other Open Space* --- --- 0 2.12** --- 
 Subtotal  44.44 --- 6.31 2.12 (4.19) 
 Total  197.58 --- 22.41 26.27 3.86 

*Other open space includes rock outcropping preservation areas, Overlook Park, and open space within collector 
roadway (includes median and landscape area within right of way excluding parkway between curb and sidewalk). 
**The portion of open space area which qualifies as Civic Space (FUTS trail, public amenities, etc.) will be used to satisfy 
Civic Space requirement per phase.  Each phase will allocate the required amount of Civic and Open Space. Any extra 
Civic or Open Space provided per phase may be reallocated to a subsequent phase of development. 



Concept Zoning Plan

APPENDIX 1



Appendix 1 
Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis 

The Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 (the “FRP30”) provides the City with guiding policies 
and goals to assist it in its decisions making processes.  The Timber Sky project 
involves the annexation and zoning of approximately 197 acres of property located 
southwest of Route 66 and Woody Mountain Road and, as a result, must be assessed 
for consistency with the goals and policies of the FRP30.  Timber Sky is designated as a 
mixture of Suburban – Future and Future Employment in the Future Growth Illustration 
and the uses contemplated in the applications are guided by these goals. Further, a 
chapter-by-chapter review of the FRP30 against the Timber Sky applications has been 
conducted and the following analysis demonstrates that approval of the Timber Sky 
applications are consistent with and conform to the goals and policies in the FRP30 that 
are intended to apply to the development of new, suburban communities.   

Chapter 4- Environmental Planning & Conservation

Air Quality Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.1. Proactively improve and maintain the region’s air quality.

The Subject Property is located in an area of Flagstaff that includes large employers,
including W.L. Gore, Swire Coca-Cola, Banker Insulation and the City of Flagstaff at the 
new Public Works Core Maintenance Facilities yard.  This adjacency will give 
employees an opportunity to live near their work, thereby reducing their carbon 
emissions.  

Climate Change and Adaptation Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.2. Reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 

In conformance with Policy E&C.2.1., the conceptual design promotes alternatives to 
motorized forms of transportation by including an enhanced street section for the 
internal road networks that favors pedestrian and bike access, as well as the inclusion 
of the FUTS Trail. These corridors are near the major employers in the region, as 
mentioned above.  The 2009-2013 American Community Survey 5-year Estimates from 
the U.S. Census Bureau (the most recent data available) determined that 65.5% of 
workers over 16 years old drove alone to their job in Flagstaff.  Only 9.4% walked and 
5.4% used some other form of non-motorized transportation.  With the inclusion of the 
pedestrian and bike corridors in new residential projects, more residents should be able 
to utilize alternative modes of transportation during much of the year when the City is 
not impacted by inclement weather.  

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  1 
 



Dark Skies Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.5. Preserve dark skies as an unspoiled natural resource, basis for an 
important economic sector, and core element of community character. 

The City of Flagstaff adopted the world’s first Outdoor Lighting Ordinance in 1958 and 
was designated as the world’s first International Dark Sky Place in 2001.  In keeping 
with the tradition of the being at the forefront of Dark Sky requirements, and to be 
sensitive to the Property’s proximity to the Lowell and Naval Observatories, standards 
that meet or exceed all of the requirements of the Dark Sky Ordinance and the Outdoor 
Lighting Standards in the Zoning Ordinance (Division 10-50.70) will be incorporated into 
the Timber Sky project.   

Ecosystem Health Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.6. Protect, restore and improve ecosystem health and maintain native 
plant and animal community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff 
region. 

Due to a past wildfire, the landscaping on the property is not as lush as it once was; 
however, it does contain a healthy Ponderosa Pine forest throughout portions of the site 
which will be preserved through the application of the Resource Protection Overlay
(“RPO”) requirements in the Flagstaff Zoning Code. In an effort to restore the 
ecosystem, new landscaping will include the use of native, drought-tolerant, or edible 
species included in the City of Flagstaff Landscape Plant List (Appendix 3 of the Zoning 
Ordinance) and adhere to Xeriscape principles (Division 10-50.60.010.A. of the Zoning 
Ordinance).  Existing native vegetation, including Ponderosa Pine, Gamble Oak, and 
groundcovers, will be preserved wherever possible.  All disturbed areas of the 
development shall be seeded with native mix allowing new landscaping to blend 
seamlessly with the preserved landscape over time.   

The proposed drainage corridor will be preserved with the Public Open Space (“POS”)
zoning category and will follow the existing flow patterns on the western portion of the 
property that have been designed into the proposed development as an open space 
amenity that will be enhanced with trails but largely left undeveloped in an effort to 
protect its natural ecosystem and retain much of its existing character.  The grading in 
this corridor will include undulations which are intended to make the space feel natural 
and landscaping will consist of mainly native grasses and riparian trees. 

Design decisions were made to provide stacking benefits with respect to storm water
management in an attempt to utilize the natural processes which are currently occurring 
on the site.

� The natural on-site drainage corridor is being mimicked by providing large, wide 
bottomed gently sloping basins which will be revegetated in native and turf 
grasses for storm water volume and rate control.  

� The design conserves the natural corridor area while obtaining maximum 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  2 
 



stacking benefits from this area - including recreation.
� The stormwater drainage is being maintained at the location it is currently 

flowing.  Extensive field visits were utilized to determine existing conditions and 
flow paths.

� The grassy basins provide exceptional, long flow lengths (almost 3,000 feet) over 
grass providing fantastic pollutant capture and infiltration benefits.

� Native grasses and forest duff will be salvaged and replaced to provide a seed 
bed and organic medium for re-establishment of the meadows.

� Stacking, multi-faceted techniques are being utilized as Low Impact Development 
(“LID”) Integrated Management Practices which will preserve the rural character 
of the area as much as possible.

� All aspects of the development are being considered holistically – from the wide 
medians with plantings in the collector street network, to providing a widened 
landscape areas behind the sidewalk as part of the relaxed street treatment.
Additional collector  bio-retention areas and extended detention basins will be 
provided for direct pollutant capture.   Bio-retention areas will be installed at 
every single-family residence, multi-faceted Integrated Management practices will 
be installed at all of the high density blocks while trying to preserve those key 
trees at these locations that are integral to holistic integrated management 
practices.

� The design is providing benefits beyond that required by providing LID features in 
areas that are not available for LID credit such as sediment forebays in the 
drainage corridor to capture sediments from the drainage conduits discharging 
from the local streets here.  In this are the large basins will act as extended 
detention basins with pools up to 3 feet deep that will slowly drain out – leaving 
most of the sediments and pollutants trapped in the grassy swales.

� The Community Center with star gazing opportunities, recreation areas and 
community food gardens; the site fencing and entry monuments; the relaxed 
street sections, the holistic storm water management and natural area 
conservation all combine to make the subdivision a rural place located at the very 
edge of the City – the right place for this approach.

Environmentally Sensitive Lands Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.7. Give special consideration to environmentally sensitive lands in the 
development design and review process. 

The proposed development has been carefully designed to account for the natural 
contours of the land and maintain the natural drainage corridor.  Further, it will extend 
the application of the City’s Resource Protection Overlay to property not previously 
governed by those requirements in unincorporated Coconino County.  As the phases 
develop, the existing 69KV APS towers on the site will be undergrounded which will 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  3 
 



significantly enhance the visual environment. 

Natural Quiet Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.8. Maintain areas of natural quiet and reduce noise pollution. 

The Timber Sky project is located along the north side of US Interstate 40 and will be 
designed with an eye toward minimizing the noise pollution produced by the adjacent 
highway.  As the project develops, a perimeter wall be installed along the southern 
property boundary that, with vegetation, will provide a reduction in noise.  

Soils Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.9. Protect soils through conservation practices. 

The proposed development was designed with the natural elevation changes in mind.  
Doing so will minimize the necessary cut and fill, protect the soils, and minimize 
disturbed areas and destruction of natural vegetation. 

Wildlife Goals and Policies 
Goal E&C.10. Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and large-scale 
wildlife habitats, ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout 
the planning area. 

Maintaining the natural drainage corridor on the western portion of the property for use 
as open space will protect areas accessible to wildlife. This 13.5 acre area will also 
provide many watchable wildlife recreation opportunities for residents. 

Chapter 5- Open Space

Goal OS.1. The region has a system of open lands, such as undeveloped natural 
areas, wildlife corridors and habitat areas, trails, access to public lands, and 
greenways to support the natural environment that sustains our quality of life, 
cultural heritage, and ecosystem health. 

Ten feet wide paved FUTS trails are proposed along a portion of the northern property 
boundary along U.S. Highway 66 and the southeast edge of the property along Woody 
Mountain Road.  These trails will connect to two expanded collectors and the open 
space corridor within the community.  A portion of the Flagstaff Loop Trail traverses 
through the community within the open space corridor as a 10 foot wide unpaved FUTS 
trail, and will ultimately be connected by others to the larger Loop Trial system.  Multiple 
open space areas are planned throughout the proposed development including many 
pocket park areas, the open space corridor, Overlook Park, and a community center.  
These areas will provide many wonderful active and passive recreational opportunities 
for the residents, and the amenities reflect a day time focus that is athletic, outdoor and 
affordable.   

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  4 
 



Chapter 6- Water Resources

Goal WR.5. Manage watersheds and storm water to address flooding concerns, 
water quality, environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting. 

In conformance with Policy Wr.5.5., storm water on a large portion of the site is directed 
to an existing box culvert under Route 66.  This culvert eventually discharges flows to 
the Clay Wash Detention Basin located north of Route 66 within the Rio De Flag 
watershed area. The offsite and the onsite runoff is conveyed through the Open Space 
Corridor maintaining the natural flow pattern. The proposed storm water ponds or 
Extended Detention Basins (EDB) retain and detain storm water and release it at a 
much slower rate and lower volume. The grasses in the pond bottoms will facilitate 
pollutant removal and enhance water quality of the surface water.  

Goal WR.6. Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, ground 
water, and reclaimed water in the region. 

The proposed Extended Detention Basins will have the bottom 2-3 feet of retention with 
a small outlet to drain the basins empty in no more than 36 hrs.  The extended drain 
time will encourage wet land vegetated areas. This also promotes infiltration and 
improves ground water recharge which further decreases the runoff released from the 
site. 

As provided for in the discussion of Goal E&C.5 above, design decisions were made to 
provide stacking benefits with respect to storm water management in an attempt to 
utilize the natural processes which are currently occurring on the site.

Chapter 7- Energy

Goal E.1. Increase energy efficiency 

In conformance with Policy E.1.5., the site design promotes alternatives to motorized 
forms of transportation by including residential and employment uses, providing 
residents the opportunity to walk to work.  In addition, homebuilders will be encouraged 
to include energy efficient design and materials throughout the entire construction 
process. 

Chapter 8- Community Character

Goal CC.1. Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in 
the built environment. 

Overlook Park, located adjacent to the Timber Sky entry at the southeast corner of the 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  5 
 



site, was designed as a place for residents to reflect upon the region’s natural setting 
and dramatic views of the San Francisco Peaks.  This open space sits on a large, rocky 
knoll, and is heavily wooded with Ponderosa Pine and Gamble Oak.  There will be an 
intimate seating area within the natural rock outcropping which overlooks the forest and 
Peaks.

In other areas of Timber Sky, the FUTS trails and internal, expanded collector system 
will provide residents with access to all corners of the development for different views of 
the natural environment.  Additionally, the concepts for the walls and fencing throughout 
the community will be designed, where practicable, to be open in order to maintain 
views and minimize obstructions to view corridors.

The application of the RPO to the entirety of the development will further protect the 
dramatic views available from all areas of Timber Sky by limiting the placement of 
buildings in a manner that would disturb large portions of the environment.  As a result, 
trees, basalt outcroppings and other natural features will be maintained.

Goal CC.2. Preserve, restore, and rehabilitate heritage resources to better 
appreciate the culture. 

A Cultural Resource Study has been conducted in conjunction with these applications.
The Property is not designated as a landmark, historic property, or included in a Historic 
Overlay Zone.  The area where the Subject Property is located is designated in the 
FRP30 as having a low concentration of natural resources (see Map 8: Concentration of 
Natural Resources). 

Goal CC.3. Preserve, restore, enhance and reflect the design traditions of 
Flagstaff in all public and private development efforts. 

The community theme for Timber Sky is designed around Flagstaff’s location within the 
largest Ponderosa Pine forest in the world and its connection to dark skies and being 
the home of the Lowell Observatory.  Characteristics from both of these concepts will be 
displayed throughout the development in signage, landscaping, fencing, and numerous 
other design features that will give Timber Sky a unique sense of place not found in 
other area communities.   

Goal CC.4. Design and develop all projects to be contextually sensitive, to 
enhance a positive image and identity for the region. 

Chapter 8 has identified Route 66 as a Gateway Corridor for the City.  Gateway 
corridors provide the first impression people have as they enter a region and thus 
warrant special design considerations.  Keeping this in mind, the location of the FUTS 
trail, in conjunction with the preservation of trees in a landscape buffer will provide a 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  6 
 



visually pleasing buffer between the road and development and create a sense of place 
that will differ from the existing streetscape along eastbound Route 66 prior to reaching 
Timber Sky.  Further, where appropriate along the perimeter of the development, 
fencing is favored over walls, in order to preserve the forest views.

Additionally, the Timber Sky entry monumentation and streetscapes have been 
designed to placemake and establish a project identity that meets with the contextually 
sensitive theme of dark skies and timber.  The entry monument has a tapered circular 
design which is derived from the shape of the Pluto telescope building at Lowell 
Observatory and will be clad in stone similar to that found at the Observatory.  The 
monument cap will mimic corten steel and will have circular cutouts along the cap base 
internally illuminated to simulate star light. Roughhewn timber produced by this 
development will be used to construct retaining walls, posts, beams, and design 
features associated with the monuments.  

The combination of the design elements along Route 66 will culminate in an identity for 
both the project, and the region.

Chapter 9- Growth Areas & Land Use

Applicable to all Land Uses – Goals and Policies 
Goal LU.3. Continue to enhance the region’s unique sense of place within the 
urban, suburban, and rural context.

Timber Sky is designed to become a robust community of residential opportunities to 
enhance the availability of a diverse housing supply within the City.  By developing the 
197 acres cohesively, the project will establish a “place” at the City’s western gateway 
that will evoke a mixture of suburban/urban character through its residential 
neighborhoods and the open space systems that connect them. The project theme of 
dark skies and timber will be conveyed through the project’s entry monumentation, 
streetscapes, landscaping, and amenities.   

Goal LU.4. Balance housing and employment land uses with the preservation and 
protection of our unique natural and cultural setting. 

Through the implementation of the RPO and a Natural Resource Protection Plan, the 
Timber Sky project will balance housing and new development with preservation and 
protection of the natural environment.   

Goal LU.5. Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies 
and open space preservation. 

The Property is located within the designated growth boundary set forth in the Regional 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  7 
 



Plan and is appropriate for Future – Suburban development and has been designed to 
maximize the residential development potential while maintaining efficient and easy 
access to preserved open space corridors.  The application includes designating the 
drainage corridor in excess of 13 acres as the POS Zone to ensure the preservation of 
the area as an essentially undeveloped area to be amenitized with trails to ensure the 
public’s access to the feature. The FRP30 defines Suburban areas as having mid to 
low densities of people, residences, jobs and activities; streets and sidewalks that vary 
in pattern; the area is drivable to access homes and jobs, yet walkable by special 
pedestrian facilities such as FUTS trails; some services and good are available to the 
residents; and the area may have access to public transportation.  The proposed 
development meets nearly every one of these principles. 

Goal LU.6. Provide for a mix of land uses. 

The proposed development provides an appropriate mix of residential, commercial, and 
open space uses throughout.  Further, the proposed residential developments offer a 
mix of medium and high density options to provide housing at many different price 
points, with a focus on entry-level housing, which is greatly needed in this area. The 
commercial zoning for parcel 12 will provide the opportunity for neighborhood-scale 
development that will provide a localized retail or service use to the community and 
serve as a buffer between the project and the more industrial-level uses to the west.

Goal LU.7. Provide for public services and infrastructure.

The project has access to existing public infrastructure and is planned within the context 
of existing master plans that contemplated the scale of the development proposed.   

Goal LU.8. Balance future growth with available water resources. 

The City of Flagstaff has planned for water service to Timber Sky in its master plans and 
the applications contemplate those plans in the associated engineering documents. 
Timber Sky will be served by available City water resources.   

Suburban Area Goals and Policies 
Goal LU.13. Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for 
employment and neighborhood shopping within suburban neighborhoods.

The proposed development contains a variety of housing options including single-family 
homes, condos, and townhouses, and also designates areas for future employment.
There will be a number of different sized single-family lots which will provide an array of 
price points for homebuyers and offer more homeownership opportunities for the 
workforce in the immediate area.  

Policies LU.13.1 and LU.13.6 stress the need for connectivity for residents to 
surrounding neighborhoods and the proposed Activity Centers at Woody Mountain Road 
Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  8 
 



and Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch Road and Route 66.  All parcels in Timber Sky will 
have easy access to these areas by way of the continuation of the FUTS trail that will be 
built along Route 66 and Woody Mountain Roads, adjacent to the property. Further, the 
parcels within the project will be connected by internal collector roads, streets and trails 
that provide for connectivity to the project amenities. The conceptual placement for 
these internal and external connections is provided with this application.

Employment Area Goals and Policies 
Goal LU.15. Plan for and encourage employee-intensive uses throughout the area 
as activity centers, corridors, research and development offices, business parks, 
and light industrial areas to encourage efficient infrastructure and multimodal 
commuting.

Map 21: Future Growth Illustration denotes the westernmost portion property as an area 
of future employment.  In conformance with Policy LU.15.2., the CS zoning (Commercial 
Service) will allow for integration of residential and commercial uses, thereby reducing 
vehicle trips and commute times. 

Goal LU.16. Establish heavy industrial areas that provide for the manufacturing of 
goods, flexible space, and intermodal facilities that are well maintained, attractive, 
and compatible with adjoining nonindustrial uses. 

As a portion of the project is dually-designated as Future-Employment and Future –
Suburban, the applications take into account that this is an area of transition and 
includes a mixture of uses that ensure effective separation while maintaining 
connectivity.  The applications provide compatibility with the industrial uses west of 
Timber Sky.   

Activity Centers and Corridors Goals and Policies 
Goal LU.18. Develop well designed activity centers and corridors with a variety of 
employment, business, shopping, civic engagement, cultural opportunities, and 
residential choices. 

As illustrated in Map 21, a Suburban Activity Center is located at the corner of Flagstaff 
Ranch Road and Route 66 and an Urban Activity Center is located at the corner of 
Woody Mountain Road and Route 66.  The Subject Property is located on the periphery 
of both Activity Centers which offers an ideal location for higher density housing.  The 
applications take this adjacency and intended intensity into account and the portions of 
Timber Sky nearest to the Activity Center are zoned for High Density Residential.  This 
adjacency will bring critical mass to the area, furthering the possibility that an Activity 
Centers will be developed there in the future. LU.18.12 states “corridors should focus 
commercial development to the corridor frontage and residential to the back.” While this 
makes sense for larger scale commercial developments, the predominant land use in 
Timber Sky is residential, and the most dense areas have been shifted to the frontage.  
The commercial use in Timber Sky amounts to only 5% of the total land area in the 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  9 
 



project and is considered a support use for the surrounding neighborhood.

Chapter 10- Transportation

Goal T.2. Improve transportation safety and efficiency for all modes.

This project has been designed to accommodate multiple modes of transportation, both 
motorized and non-motorized.  The site design incorporates bike lanes as well as 
sidewalks for pedestrians.  Through the FUTS and enhanced internal street sections 
provided in the applications, transportation will be facilitated for safe, multi-modal 
movement.   

Goal T.3. Provide transportation infrastructure that is conducive to conservation, 
preservation, and development goals to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts in 
the natural and built environment. 

The transportation system was thoughtfully designed to preserve trees and enhance the 
corridors for multi-modal movement by expanding beyond the City of Flagstaff Minor 
Collector requirements by adding an additional 22 feet of right-of-way to the minimum 
cross section of 70 feet- resulting in a 92 foot right-of-way.  This additional space 
provides a way to compliment the beautiful native landscape present on the site and to 
provide enhanced landscape within the median and behind the sidewalk.

The two proposed primary minor collector roads wind through the community, following 
the natural topography and were located specifically to retain existing natural features.  
The intersection of the two collectors terminate at the center of the community with a 
traffic circle which acts as a traffic calming measure and replicates the existing circle at 
the intersection of Woody Mountain Road and Presidio Drive South.  Further, the 
collector roads include a generous 16-foot wide landscaped median and bike lanes.  A 
sidewalk  is separated from the back of curb by a 5-foot landscaped parkway.  The 
sidewalk only meanders in order to preserve existing trees within the right of way.  The 
transportation system was designed in order to preserve as much native vegetation as 
possible while also providing the residents with a safe and unique neighborhood. 

Goal T.4. Promote Transportation infrastructure and services that enhance the 
quality of life of the communities within the region. 

The expansion and development of the FUTS in connection with the applications will 
further the quality of life and add to the transportation network.   

Goal T.5. Increase the availability and the use of pedestrian infrastructure, 
including FUTS, as a critical element of a safe and livable community. 

In conformance with Policy T.5.1., the developer will provide accessible pedestrian 
infrastructure of sufficient width with all street construction, including FUTS. 

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  10 
 



Goal T.6. Provide for bicycling as a safe and efficient means of transportation and 
recreation. 

The applications recognize the importance of bicycling as a beneficial form of 
transportation and recreation.  All the entrances to the community are connected to the 
FUTS trails, which provide easy access for bicyclists of all experience levels to this 
remarkable recreational amenity. The interior streets are designed to accommodate 
bicyclists of all types, from a professional biking to work to a young family taking an 
afternoon bike ride. 

Goal T.8. Establish a functional, safe, and aesthetic hierarchy of roads and 
streets. 

The proposed development has two main collector roads that converge in the center 
with a landscaped traffic circle.  The entrance on Woody Mountain Road at the Presidio 
Drive South alignment, is also the entrance to the Presidio in the Pines development.  
Two other entrances are on Route 66.  The main roads through the property include 16’ 
landscaped medians that enhance the aesthetics of the street system.   

Chapter 13- Neighborhoods, Housing, & Urban Development

Goal NH.1. Foster and maintain healthy and diverse urban, suburban, and rural 
neighborhoods in the Flagstaff region. 

Policy NH.1.4 fosters points of activities, services, increased densities, and transit 
connections in urban and suburban neighborhoods.  The applications meet this policy
by providing multiple housing types of varying densities, offering many active and 
passive recreational opportunities and civic spaces for residents, and working with 
NAIPTA on the possibility of extending a bus line to this area.  The concept of a 
“healthy” community is encouraged through the FUTS and associated project amenities.   

Goal NH.3. Make available a variety of housing types at different price points, to 
provide housing opportunities for all economic sectors. 

Timber Sky will meet Policy NH.3.1 by providing a variety of housing types, with an 
emphasis on for-purchase products, to expand the choices available to meet the 
financial and lifestyle needs of the diverse population.  The proposed development will 
offer single-family, condo, and townhouse developments which will provide realistic 
housing opportunities to the local work force.  As a result of the project’s adjacency to 
major area employers, the residents of this community will also have the ability to walk 
or bike to work, furthering the goals of the Environmental Planning & Conservation and 
Transportation chapters of the FRP30.    

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  11 
 



The 2009-2013 American Community Survey 5-year Estimates from the U.S. Census 
Bureau (the most recent data available), determined that approximately 23.5% of 
homeowners in Flagstaff are paying more than 35% of their monthly household income 
on their mortgage and 50.2% of renters are paying more than 35% of their household 
income on rent.  This same study states the median household income in Flagstaff (in 
2013 inflation adjusted dollars) is $49,771 and the median housing value is $266,200.  A 
recent September 6, 2015, article in the AZ Daily Sun by reports that the median price 
for a home in Flagstaff was $352,750 in July 2015.  During economic periods where 
salaries are not increasing at the same rate as housing costs, it is important to provide 
for efficient development plans that can be delivered at prices below the median and 
that is the goal of the applications.  

The development of a 197 acre project takes a large commitment of capital investment 
and time.  In order to achieve the delivery of housing at below the area median prices, 
the applicant has developed an efficient plan that juggles the preservation of the 
environmental features through the RPO, maximizing the placement of density in burn 
areas and along the Route 66 frontage, and by providing for a mixture of product that 
will serve the needs of community.  The full development of the project will contribute to 
the for-purchase housing supply in Flagstaff that will aid in reducing the median prices 
and make housing financially accessible to the workforce – which is the overarching 
goal for this development.

Goal NH.4. All housing is safe and sanitary. 

All the housing in this development will be new and meet current building codes, 
therefore making it safe for all residents.  Builders will be encouraged to use energy-
efficient materials and design. 

Goal NH.5. Eliminate homelessness. 

This development will offer a variety of housing options at different price points.  
Although it may not eliminate homelessness, it will provide more attainable housing 
solutions for the people who work at nearby businesses. 

Chapter 14- Economic Development

Goal ED.4. Support efforts to recruit diverse new businesses and industries 
compatible with the region. 

Businesses looking to locate to Flagstaff will place importance on the residential 
affordability index to ensure that its employees will have comfortable communities to 
reside in.  By adding a diversity of product that can be efficiently delivered, the 
applications seek to provide housing in the region that is below the median price 
currently available and this should work to facilitate new business and industry 
recruitment.   
Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  12 
 



Goal ED.7. Continue to promote and enhance Flagstaff’s unique sense of place as 
an economic development driver.

The proposed development will positively contribute to the community image by 
providing more entry level and workforce housing in an area of the City with two large 
employers. 

Chapter 15- Recreation

Goal REC.1. Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and 
accessible parks, recreation facilities, and trails. 

As the Timber Sky project also includes substantial open space and recreation features, 
approval of the project will grow the region’s system of convenient and accessible 
passive and active recreation areas. The City of Flagstaff has established 50 miles of 
FUTS trails with a plan for an additional 80 miles of trails.  The Timber Sky project will 
develop new portions of the FUTS and the approval of the applications will facilitate the 
further development of that trail system along the project boundaries of Route 66 and 
Woody Mountain Road, as well as providing linkages to the Flagstaff Loop Trail.  
Internally, Timber Sky will provide residents with over 11 acres of land for Community 
Center and open space uses.  The proposed Community Center, located along the 
expansive open space corridor, will include plazas, playgrounds, pickle ball courts, and 
a community garden.  Other smaller park and open space areas are proposed 
throughout the community, all of which are easily accessible to residents by walking or
biking.

Timber Sky Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Analysis – June 24, 2016  13 
 



Concept Zoning Plan

APPENDIX 2



���������	

���������

������

�������	���
�
	
��	������������������������������������������������������������
����������������
����������
����
�����������
�
���������������	�������������� �������������	
�� �����
������������������������������!������
�����������"����#��������
������������
�������
���
 �����
�
	
���������������$����������������%��
�� �����%���"�%�������!��
�
	
������������������������
����������������%��
������������&�����������
���������
��
��������������
������������������%%�����
�����������������
�� ������
�
	
�����������������#������������'��������"�()����������������������
��

	*�+��������	�����+���	� ��	����	*(�	�	,(���+-����(������	�(�	���
...................................................................�

��

�
��

�����	�(�	�����	�	,(���+-����(�
�

�++-(&�/0�

������������������������ ���������!��"�
�#�� �#�����$�%������

�������������	����������������������

	�/,(�������	(�	+�
��
�1�((�(�	�	���++-(� �,��0��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��%�������������
�����	�(�	�&�	(�������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+�
��������2 ����34�
 �,���(+�	��/(��++-(&"����-�	+���&� �� �+(&���+-�(&��������������������������������������������������������������+�
��������2 ����34�
��	(�(+	����	*(�,��&����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+�
��������2()
����4�
&(+��� 	�������	*(�,��&��������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
��%�������������
(5�( 	���+�6� ��	���(�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+�
������/�2����4�
(5�( 	���+�6� ��	�	7������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������+�
������/�2����4�
�(8-��(�(�	+�2+�������4�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
��������
�(8-��(�(�	+�2��������4�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������'���������2����4�
���&�	���+�����������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������
���
��������

���
��
��

0�-�+*�-,&��(�&�	*(������	�(�	�9(�0����(�-,,0�
�%�����
�$������'���������������
�����������"��������:�

�
��
��

�������������	����������������������������������������+��$�����
;<;=�(����������!�����"�+����>??"� 
���)"���@����A=?3B�

�



���������	

���������

������

�
�1�((�(�	�	���++-(� �,��0�

�
7��������������������������������������������
���������%��
��������������7
������
�
����
���������������������������������
��������������������+�
�������"��
��
�������������������%%���$������%��
��������
������+�
���������
�
�%��
����'����������
�������
������������
�$�����������������
���)�����
���%����
�
������������&���"���������������������
��������������������������"��������������
�������
���������������������
����
�� ������������������
���������������������������
����������
�� ������
�
��������������������
������������������������
��%�������:�
�
���������������	
�� ��$�������+�
��������
���������������	
����'����������
���������������	
��()����������+�
������/�6� �����3�����;�
���������������	
�����������
�
	
������������������$������
����+�*(&-,(������� �����3�����;��%�+�*(&-,(�/���

....................................................................�
��

SCHEDULE B - EXCEPTIONS 

Any Policy we issue will have the following exceptions unless they are taken care of to our satisfaction. 

Part One:
��

1.     Taxes or assessments which are not shown as existing liens by the records of any taxing 
         authority that levies taxes or assessments on real property or by the public records. 

         Proceedings by a public agency which may result in taxes or assessments, or notices of 
         such proceedings, whether or not shown by the records of such agency or by the public records.

2.      Any facts, rights, interests or claims which are not shown by the public records but which could 
         be ascertained by an inspection of the land or by making inquiry of persons in possession thereof.  

3.      Easements, liens or encumbrances, or claims thereof, which are not shown by the public records. 

4.      Discrepancies, conflicts in boundary lines, shortage in area, encroachments, or  any other 
         facts which a correct survey would disclose, and which are not shown by the public records.

5.      (a) Unpatented mining claims; (b) reservations or exceptions in patents or in Acts authorizing
         the issuance thereof; (c) water rights, claims or title to water; whether or not the
         aforementioned matters excepted are shown by the public records.

6.      Any lien, or right to a lien, for services, labor or material heretofore or hereafter furnished, 
         imposed by law and not shown by the public records.

�
 ���������%�+�
������/�����������������%����������,�	����()�������
��$������ ����"���,�	���� ����,�������� ������������������
�(�1,(�
 �����������������*���$��"��
�����������������)���������������������
+�
������/��%��
����������������%��������
�+�
������/"� ����	����%��
��
�����������



���������	

���������

����&�

�
�(8-��(�(�	+�

2+�������4�
	
��%����������'��������������������:��
'�(  ����
�����������������%����
�������������
����������C����
��������������

�����������
')(  �������
���������"�%���������
������%����
����������
'�( &�������������%����������������������
�������������
����������C����
������������

��������������������������"����$�������������������
'*( 0�������������������������
��������%��������������%������������
������������

�
���������������������
�����������
��������!��������������
��������7�������
���
��!�������������'�������������)���������

2��������������'��������� ���4��
.....................................................................�
��

���&�	���+�
�� &(����	���+�

2�4��D��������D���������������"�������%������������
����������������������
2�4��D ������������D���������������������
����$�����������$���������%���������
�%%������
��������
��������������������
�������������
�����
������������������

�� ,�	(��&(�(�	+�
	
��()����������+�
������/��������������������
���������%����"���������
��������������
����������%����
��%�����������
����������������������������������
�����
������������
������������&���������
�����������
�
������%��
��
��'�������������������7���
����
�$����������������������������%��
�������������

&� (5�+	��1�&(�(�	+��
�%�������%����"�����������������������)������������������&�������������
����
��+�
������/"��������������+�
������/�����
����
������%�������������+�
������/�
����
����
������%����"���������������������"�����
��������������������������������
 �������
��<������������������!�����%��
���%�������������������������������������
�������

+� ,���	�	��������-��,��/�,�	0��
������������������������������������
�� �������%������������
�����������"��
���
����
�$�����������'������������%����
�$��������������������%���������������������
���������%�������������
�����������"���������������������������������������������
��������������������������
�������������
��������������������%��
���:�
�
���������
��
����'���������
������������������
����������
������������������������()���������
������+�
������/�
�
7���
�����������������%���������
����
����������
������+�
���������%��
��
������������������������������#��������
���������%��
�� �����%�������������������
�����

,� �,���+��-+	�/(�/�+(&����	*�+������	�(�	��
���������"��
��
����������������������������"��
�
���������
�$������������
�����������
�����������
�������������������������
���������������������#�������
���������

��



���������	

���������

����+�

�

��
First American Title 
Insurance Company 
National Commercial 
Services 

The First American
Corporation

��
 ��9��0� �,��0�

��
��
7������������������+�%��������������������%��������
��
�����*������)���������%��"� �����*����-���*�����#��. � ��/�-����"���0�"� ����!��%�*�� ��-��#�����������.�����������1�� �*������*��#���"� �
��"�)����������*��)� ��-#���-��-����*��-��#�� �#���.�����������!����� ����"���"�!�����������.�����������.�����������1���������#���"� �#�%��
�����#�����0��-�#�-�-��-���� ����2���#��!����������.���������"� �!��%�*����� �����#���.���/������#���-��#�� ��!���������!��"/��#��������
������������!�������/�-��#�%���*�!��*��#�����%��"�����"������%�����#�� �����*�#��*������.�"� ��!����������.����������
��
��
�����������
��
�#�����%��"�����"���%������ �� ����.��#����.���������-#��#�"� �!��%�*����� �������*����������%�����#������������-#��#�-����"� ���
��.���������-��#�%���)�����*�.������"���#����� ���/�� �#������.����������)�����*�.����! )���������*�����.��������#���!��������������"���
���������������#���������*�!��*�)���*���� �*��������#�����%����� �� ����.�!����������.��������������*������.������� ���������������������������
�#����� �*������������������.���������3�� ��/�����!"��.�-#��#�����)��.� �*����� ��-�)���������---�.������������
��
	������%���%��������
��
$�!��*���� !���-#��#��.�� �����%�����"� ����� ����2���/��#���"!����.����! )����!����������.����������#���-����"������������� *�4�
��

• ��.���������-�������%��.����"� �����!!���������/�.�������*������#������� ������������� �/�-#��#������-������/����
!�����/�)"�����!#���������"���#��������5�

• ��.����������)� ��"� ���������������-��#� �/�� ���..������*����!�����/������#���5���*�
• ��.���������-�������%��.���������� ������!������������"��

��
-����%���%��������
��
1����6 ������.���������.����"� �.���� ���-�������������) �������! �!�������*�����.����#��)���.����.���"�����..������*�!���"����#���.���/�-��
-����������������"� ����.����������������..������*�!��������7��!�4��'�(������������"�.��� �����!��%�*���#��!��* ���������%����"� �#�%��
��6 ����*��.� �5�����'�(����!�������*�)"���-���1����"/�#�-�%��/�������� �#���.�����������*�.������"/����� *�����#��!����*��.����-#��#���"�
� ����������������#�!�#��������*���� �#���.�����������"�)�� ��*�.�����"����������! �!���/�� �#����6 ����"����������..��������� �������
����"������1����"������!��%�*�������.��#���"!����.����! )����!����������.��������������*��)�%������������������.�� ���..������*����!��������
� �#��..������*����!���������� *��.������������%�����!��%�*���/�� �#������������� ����/�!��!���"���*���� ���"���� ����/���*��� �����*���%��������
�*%����"����!�����/�������!��������%��%�*�������������������%����/�� �#�����!!����������!�����/�#����-������"����!�����/���*������-�
���!��������� ��#������/�-����"������!��%�*��������.���������-���������/����*�����)�*��)�%�/�������!�������#���!��.�������0���������%�����
���� ��)�#��./����)�#��.��.�� ���..������*����!�����/���������#���.��������������� ������-��#�-#���-������ ���..������*����!������#�%��8�����
���0������������������
��
�����������������
��
9%����.�"� ���������������� ��� ������/�� ����%��"�����"�-���������� ������!!�"��
��
���%�������������+�������
��
1��-���� ���� ��)�����..����������� ����#������ �� �#���2�*�!�������#�%��������������"��.�"� ����.�����������1������������������������! )����
!����������.����������)� ��"� �����#������*�%�* ������*����������-#�����*����0��-��#�����.������������!��%�*��!��* ������*����%��������"� ���
1��-���� ���� ��)�����..����������������*��%������� ����!��"������*�������������� ����#���"� ����.���������-����)��#��*��*����!����)�"���*�
��������*�����-��#��#�����%��"�����"���*���������������:���������.���������3�� �����1��� ������"����������!#"�����/�����������/���*�
!����* ������.�� ��*���#������!�"�-��#�.�*�������� ������������ ��*�"� �����! )����!����������.����������
��
��

��;;���#��������������������!��������������<��#���<����%�*�



���������	

���������

����,�

�

�������������	�����������������������
������������������+��$�����

+�*(&-,(���

����������*�*��
��
�� �

(+���7C�,�+��1���8-���(+��#� �*�)��*������*����"� ��9����-�=..����4����)�1��
������
2B?;4=BE6A3??�

9..����%��$���4��F����3B"�;?3<����
4&;������

�� ����"����'�������(����)����� �*4�

�>����;;	�97���*�*�=-���:������"��.���?,/
;;/;;;�;;��

��!���*���� ��*4��
	
�����1���������"�	��������%��
��	
�����1����������	�����-C&C	�3;C;ECAG��

�� �#�������������������������#�����*�*�����)�*������.����*��������#����������������*���%���*�#������
���.������!�����*��������#�������������#���..����%��*����#����.�%����*���4�

��
��

,���������������H���$���������������"������@��������������"�������������$����=?I�
�������������������������������"�,,�"������@������������������������"����������
���$����=?I��������

&� ����������#�������������������������#�����*� !������ ������.��#��!����"��#����)��%����*���4�
��

	
�����1���������"�	��������%��
��	
�����1����������	�����-C&C	�3;C;ECAG���

+� �#�����*���.����*��������#�����������������������*��������������� ��"/��@���*����*�����)�*���4�
��

+((�(5*�/�	�D��D��		��*(&�*(�(��

�������..����4�A�0�����B�����C�'	;�(,	
�D�+�E��8����C.�����������

 �����3��
����
�=��%��
�������������������%��
��	����������������������������������������� �$���� ������



���������	

���������

����	�

��
(5*�/�	�D�D�

��
���<�9>�=��>��$�F9��G���=<��=��=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H�������$��<�������$9��<�F9$�
���������9<�����1�<<���I�$99$�'$99$(�<9�=<$9$��������<JA9����=��&���	;�/�<9�=<$��=��
�=�=���=��=J��I/��<�@=��/�1�9<9������$�H<9��$�=�19����<���H�����=A<��9$�=���<�9>�
�=����$/�&/�+/�,F/�D���$��/�1������<9����J��9$������9�9������>��=���9���=���+/��=1��������
�=<��/�<��G9�	�9������$�����9���=����/��=1���������=<��/�<��G9�
�9���/�=����9�G�>����$�
��>��<�39<�F��9���$�A9<�$���/��=�=���=��=J��I/��<�@=��/����$��<�9>�=��>��$�F9��G�A=<9�
�<���J>�<>I�$9��<�F9$�����=>>=1�4�
�
�=AA9����G������9��=<��9�����=<�9<�=�����$��9���=���+����$9��<�F9$�������$�$99$��<=A�
1�������9��=<���KJ�<�9<��=<�9<�=�����$��9���=����/����$9��<�F9$�������$�$99$/�>�9��
�=<���D�L�&�:�+�H�9���/���$������9�=���/	&+��;��99�5�
�
��9��9��<=A����$��=<��9�����=<�9<�=���9���=���+/��=J���;�L�,	:��,H�9���/���$������9�=��
�/
�D�;,��99���>=�G���9�>��9��=AA=���=����$��9���=����+���$���/��=���=����=����9��=<���
F=J�$�<I�=�����$�H<9��$�=�19����<���H��<=A�1�������9�19���KJ�<�9<��=<�9<�=�����$�
�9���=����/����$9��<�F9$�������$�$99$/�>�9���=J���;�L�,+:�;�H�9���/���$������9�=����	�	&�
�99�/����$�=����F9��G���9�=����=��F9G�����G5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I/��=J���
�L�++:�+�H�9���/���$������9�=���/+�&�D	��99���=�
��9�F9G�����G�=�����=���9����<�>5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G���>��9��J<39$��=���9�>9�����������=���9��		�;;�
�99���=J��9<>I��<=A���9��9��9<>��9�=����9�<�G���=��1�I�=�����$�J������G�1�I�		/����$�
�9��9<>��9�F9��G����>=��=�$���<�>�$9���9$�FI���9�9>9A9������9���M�&L�;;:�;;H/����M��������
�99�/�I��M�,��&��99����$�>��M�&;;�;;��99�/���9�>=�G���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=�����$�
�J<39$�>��9�=����9��=<���F=J�$�<I��<9��=J���
&L�+
:��&H�9����N�&;&�+���99�/���$����$�
�J<39$�>��9�=����9��=<���F=J�$�<I�<J����=����=���9��=����=����<�>��=��J<395�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G�����A>9��J<39��=���9�>9�����������=���9��		�;;�
�99���=J��9<>I��<=A����$��9��9<>��9�=����9�<�G���=��1�I�=��J������G�1�I�		/����$���A>9�
�J<39���3��G���<�$�J��=���/�&;�
���99�/���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=���=J���
�L�;�:�,&H�
9����N�&&��&���99����$��9��<�>���G>9�=��	L�&;:�;;H/�����<��$������9�=��&&��+���99���=����
=���9��=����=���J<39��=���<�>5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G���>��9��J<39$��=���9�>9�����������=���9��		�;;�
�99���=J��9<>I��<=A����$��9��9<>��9�=����9�<�G���=��1�I�=��J������G�1�I�		/����$�
�9��9<>��9�F9��G����>=��=�$���<�>�$9���9$�FI���9�9>9A9������9���M�&L�;;:�;;H/����M��������
�99�/�I��M�,��&��99����$�>��M�&;;�;;��99�/���9�>=�G���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=�����$�
�J<39$�>��9�=����9��=<���F=J�$�<I��<9��=J���D+L��	:�&&H�9����N�&;&�+���99�/���$����$�
�J<39$�>��9�=����9��=<���F=J�$�<I�<J����=���9�9�$�=�����$�=���9����<�>5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I/��=J���D,L��	:�+�H�9���/���$������9�=���;&�,���99���=���
OH�<9F�<�1����>������������A9$�H>���+�D+H�'�9�(5�
�
��9��9�$9�<���G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=J���;;L�+�:�;,H�
19��/���$������9�=���/�;
�&	��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>������������A9$�H>���+�D+H�'�9�(5�
�
��9��9��=J���+&L�+�:�&&H�19��/���$������9�=��
D,�,&��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>���������
���A9$�H>���+�D+H�'�9�(5�
�
��9��9��=J���,+L�,,:���H�9���/���$������9�=��
;D�D+��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>���������
���A9$�H>���+�D+H��9��=����9�19���F=J�$�<I�=��������9<������<�9>�=��>��$�G<���9$��=�



���������	

���������

����
�

��9����I�=���>�G�������=<�JF>���<�G���=��1�I�9<�����<JA9����JAF9<�&&&
,�+/�<9�=<$��
=���=�=���=��=J��I/��<�@=��5�
�
��9��9��=J��9<>I��>=�G����$�19���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G����=����G9����J<39��=���9�>9��/�
��3��G���<�$�J��=���&�;;��99�/���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=���=J���;�L�+,:�+;H�19���N�
��,&�
�99����$��9��<�>���G>9�=��,;L�&
:�+�H/�����<��$������9�=��D���D��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����
>������������A9$�H>���+�D+H��9�������9�F9G�����G�=�����=����G9����J<39�=�����$�9����
F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H5�
�
��9��9��=J��19��9<>I��>=�G����$�9����F=J�$�<I/�F9��G����=����G9����J<39��=���9�
<�G��/���3��G���<�$�J��=��,/	
��,D��99�/���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=���=J���+&L��;:�,;H�
19���N��D������99����$��9��<�>���G>9�=���L�+�:�+�H/�����<��$������9�=���D���;��99���=���
=����=���=����G9��I5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$�9����F=J�$�<I/��=J���++L��D:�;�H�19��/���$������9�=����&�,;��99���=�
��9��=J��9�����=<�9<�=�����$�H<9��$�=�19����<���H5�
�
��9��9��>=�G���9��=J���F=J�$�<I�=�����$�H<9��$=�19����<���H/��=<���
,L�,�:�;,H�19��/�
��$������9�=���/;D&�&���99���=���9�F9G�����G�=����=����=���J<3��J<95�
�
��9��9��=<��19��9<>I��>=�G����$��=J���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G������G9����J<39��=���9�<�G��/�
��3��G���<�$�J��=���/
�D��&��99�/���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=���=<���
�L�,&:�;
H�19���N�
�/;�+��
��99����$��9��<�>���G>9�=��,L�,,:�,�H/�����<��$������9�=���/;�+�	&��99���=���=����
=���=����G9����=A=J�$��J<3��J<95�
�
��9��9��=<��19��9<>I��>=�G����$��=J���F=J�$�<I/�F9��G����=����G9����J<39��=���9�
<�G��/���3��G���<�$�J��=����/�;&�+
��99�/���=<$�F9�<��G���$�>9�G���=���=<���	�L�,+:��DH�
19���N��D;�	���99����$��9��<�>���G>9�=���L��	:�,&H/�����<��$������9�=���D;�	&��99���=���
=����=�����G9��I5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=J���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=<���	�L��;:�,�H�19��/�
��$������9�=����&�D
��99���=���9��=J��19����=<�9<�=�����$�H<9��$�=�19����<���H5�
�
��9��9��>=�G���9�19���F=J�$�<I�=�����$�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=<���;;L�;
:��
H�9���/���
$������9�=���/�&��	D��99�5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$�19���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=<���;�L�;;:���H�19��/���
$������9�=��
;
��&��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>������������A9$�H>���+�D+H�'�9�(5�
�
��9��9�$9�<���G����$�19���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=J���
�L�+D:�;�H�
9������$������9�=��	&��,;��99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>������������A9$�H>���+�D+H�'�9�(5�
�
��9��9��=<����DL�;D:���H�9���/���$������9�=��,�+�;���99���=���OH�<9F�<�1����>���������
���A9$�H>���+�D+H��9��=����9��=<���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H5�
�
��9��9��>=�G����$��=<���F=J�$�<I�=����9�H<9��$�=�19����<���H/��=J���
�L�+D:�;�H�9���/�
��$������9�=��,	,�+���99���=���9�=����=��F9G�����G5�
�
9��9���>>�=�>/�G�����$�=��9<��I$<=��<F=���JF�����9�/��9>�JA�=<�=��9<��JF�����9��=��
��G��9=J�����J<9/��=�>/�A9��>�/�A��9<�>�/��=���>�/��9<��>�@9<�=��939<I���A9���$�
$9��<���=�/���$�9��9���>>�A��9<��>��1�����A�I�F9�9��9����>��=���9�<=$J���=��=��
�����=��F>9�A��9<��>����<9�9<39$�����<�@=���<93��9$�����J�9���



���������	

���������

����D�

�

�������������	�����������������������
������������������+��$�����

+�*(&-,(�/��
���������������

��
 ��	�	7�:��

�� ��7���.����#��. ���"�����.��;�+����
'�#��.�����#��.����* ��=���)����/��;�+���*����*����6 ������%��)����/��;�+����#�������*�#��.����
* ��A���#��/��;�,���*����*����6 ����A�"��/��;�,��(��

�� �#�����#����������� !������*����*���*�!���!����.�����*�����%����������/����/����/���������������#���
� )�������/���������%�*�����#��������������*����*��

&� �#�����#����������� !������*����*���*�!���!����.�����*�����%���������/�������*���#���#"*�����)���
� )�������/�#��� �������#���� )���������.�������� ����� ��/�����/�������/���������/�.������/�
.������2����.��%��"��������*�*�����!����/���*��7��!����������������-#��#���"�)����������������#��
!��* �������.�.�������)��������������������%�*�������2����<�%���*����� �����

+� <����%����������97��!���������������/������������� �#���2�����#����� ������#����.��

,� <����%������/��7��!�����/���%������/����*���������*����#��������%�*������!���*����$��*�.����
������������.���<������*����!��"����F��0�&
��.�$��*�/�����+D&��

	� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��


� ������������.�������!#������*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*�����F��0����.�
������ � ��<����*�/�����++	���

D� ������������.�������!#������*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*�����F��0����.�
������ � ��<����*�/�����+,����

�� ������������.���#��#-�"���*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*�����F��0�,��.�
������ � ��<����*�/�����	;D���

�;� ������������.���#��#-�"���*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*�����F��0�,��.�
������ � ��<����*�/�����	&+���

��� ������������.��������������������*��!! ��������.������������*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� �����
�����*�*�����F��0����.������� � ��<����*�/�����+�����

��� ������������.���#��#-�"���*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*�����F��0��;��.�
������ � ��<����*�/�������
+���

�&� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�+� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��



���������	

���������

������

�,� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�	� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

17. �#�����#���.��#���������.����2�������!��#�)��/���������*��������������������#��������*��������
#��#-�"��������.���#��������� ����������*�*����$��0���D��/�����+����*�$��0���D�+/������	+�
��*���������*�*����$��0���D&�/�����&;�����

�D� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

��� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�;� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

��� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

��� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�&� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�+� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�,� ������������.������#���.�-�"������������*�����*������! �!���������#��*�� ����������*�*��
����;;,�&&&
,�+��.�=..������<����*��

�	� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�
� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

�D� �#����������*�!��%���������������*�����#��*�� ������������*�H9����������*�A������* ���.�
���������H������*�*�$����)����+/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;&D	��.�=..������<����*�����

��� ���"�.����/����#��/���������������������-#��#�-� �*�)��*�������*�)"������������>��E���A�� �%�"�

&;� �#��������#���)����������������"�*�����*��

&�� 1��������#��/��������������������-����/�-#��#�����������#�-��)"��#��! )���������*��

(����%�+�
������/�



���������	

���������

�����;�

�

�������������	�����������������������
������������������+��$�����

���������������
��

�(8-��(�(�	+:�

�� ���!�������-��#���<�������+D;�������%���������*�� ���������)�������*�*���������������#���-��#���
��������������*��.��#�����������.���*��������

�=�9����!��!���*���� ��*����*������"4������%���������.���.�����%�����/����*�.���*������*�����
�� ������������������"�������< ��������<��������D/��#���-���������*���*�.������!!���������#��
 )����<����*���������.������)� ��"�D/��;��/���� �)�����#���������7��!�����.����-�4������

�� <�*��!������.������.�������.� ��#���������;��/���� �*������������.����*����*�.�����7���.����#��
"�����;����

&� �"������.��;�&���7����

'��-�*����6 ������*����������� ���)���**�*(�

�=�94����7��������������*�����#����������� ����.�?�;/,�D�D	�.����#��"�����;�&� �*�����������:��
��������������;��;�;�
��

�=�94����7��������������*�����#����������� ����.�?�&/�
;����.����#��"�����;�&� �*�����������:��
��������������;��;���;��

+� ������ ��!��!���!�����*���������#��F��0� !��"��� ����.��#��J����$���������� ��/����2����/��������*�
������A������"���!��������/�>>�/�������2����������*����)����"����!��"/�$�)���/�����������4�&�)0�
;�		+�A�1/����*���� !������*����� *�������=�*���� �#���2�����#������ ���������.��#���������
������.��#��-��#���*�����)�*�!��!���"���*������*������.��*���!"��#����.���

�=�94������.��������.��#�����6 ��������-���������."��#��.����-����<�6 ��������4������,���*�	��

,� <����*������������������*������%�"������.���$��*��.��� ������ �������������������*�)��*��������
�#����� ����.�?�+/�;;/;;;�;;/������*�*��!�����
/��;;
�����;;
�&+&+
�	��.�=..������<����*����

��
$���*4� A���#���/��;;
��
�� ����4� ����*���1���/�>>�/�������2����������*����)����"����!��"��
�� ����4� ��"�$����-���*/�9�6�/������)����.��#��������F����.����2�����
F���.�����"4� >��*�������!�����P���%�����������!��"/�������2�������!���������

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>���#.���*�� �*���/�>�>��������	DQ��.�
�#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �����/��;;
�����;;
�&++�
&+��.�=..������
<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"��;���Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �"�&;/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,�
;D��.�=..������<����*����



���������	

���������

�������

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"�
�D	Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �"�&;/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,�
;���.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"�����Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �"�&;/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,�
�;��.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"���,�Q��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �"�&;/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,�
����.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"��D	DQ��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�B �"�&;/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,�
����.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*�����FA�����������/�>>�/�������2����
������*����)����"����!��"���	�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*���!���)����+/�
�;;
�����;;
�&+,D�D	��.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>�2"�9/�>�>���/��&,Q��.��#��)���.������
���������)"�����������������*�*�=���)����	/��;;
�����;;
�&+	��	;��.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*������#��/�<�.�/�P�B �2�/�����.���
�#����������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+	���D��.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>$A�����!���������!��"��������
����
��+Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�
&+	������.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;���Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;;��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�&�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;���.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�+�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;���.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�,�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;&��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�,,Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;+��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����$����������������*���/�>�>����;�,	Q�
�.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;,��.�=..������
<����*����



���������	

���������

�������

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�
�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;	��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*������"*�����%���������>�>����;�D�Q��.�
�#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;
��.�=..������
<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�D&Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;D��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;�	�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;;���.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>$A�����!���������!��"���	DQ��.�
�#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�;��.�=..������
<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>$A�����!���������!��"�;�
;Q��.�
�#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;����.�=..������
<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>$A�����!���������!��"��������
������	+Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�
&+
;;����.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
���,Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�&��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
��+
Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�+��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
��+�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�,��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
��,;Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�	��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
&�,�Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�
��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����$����������������*���/�>�>���/�&��
Q�
�.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�D��.�=..������
<����*����



���������	

���������

�����&�

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*������"*�����%��������/�>�>���/���	�Q�
�.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;����.�=..������
<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*����>��*�������!������������/�>>��
;���Q��.��#��)���.���������������)"�����������������*�*�$����)����;/��;;
�����;;
�&+
;;�;��.�
=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*������%����>��*����� �*����G�� !/�>>�/�
��$���-����������*����)����"����!��"�)"�����������������*�*�$����)����&/��;�&�����;�&�
&	D��	���.�=..������<����*����

�#��)���.�������������������#��$��*��.��� ���-����������*������%����>��*����� �*����G�� !/�>>�/�
��$���-����������*����)����"����!��"�)"�����������������*�*�$����)����&/��;�&�����;�&�
&	D��	���.�=..������<����*����

�#����.���/�$��*��.�<���������*�� ���<����%�"����������*�*���!���)�����/��;�&�����;�&�
&	
&
�D��.�=..������<����*���

�#����.���/�$��*��.�<���������*�� ���<����%�"����������*�*���!���)����,/��;�&�����;�&�
&	
,�;���.�=..������<����*���

�#����.���/�$��*��.�<���������*�� ���<����%�"����������*�*�=���)�����/��;�&�����;�&�&	
		D
�
�.�=..������<����*���

����4��)��� ���������������.�>��������*�<����������*�*��!�����
/��;;
�����;;
�&+&+
�
��.�
=..������<����*���

	� <����*��������<��������.���.������������������������*�*��!�����
/��;;
�����;;
�&+&+
�D��.�
=..������<����*����

��
�� $�)���4� ����*���1���/�>>��
�� ��� ��*����"4� >��*�������!�����P���%�����������!��"�


� � ����#������.�� �%�"��.��#��� )8����!��!���"�)"���<��������*�>��*�� �%�"�����������*�����-��#�
�#��HA���� ������*��*�$������<�6 ���������.����>��E���A�>��*�������� �%�"�H�-#��#�)������
�..����%����)� ��"��&/��;�������*������.�� �%�"��#�������� *���#����6 ���*������.����������*/������
����� �/������#�%���#�-���#�������������/�D/���')(/��	/��
/��;'�(/���*��;')(�.������)�����
�#����.���.�2��������� �������������6 ����*/�������
'�(/�
')(/�
'�(���*���.������)�������*�
��.��������������*�����#�� ������.��#��!��!���"�� ���)������ *�*��
�
�=�94���.���@������9�*��������������6 ����*/�������
'�(/�
')(���*�
'�(��.���)�����-���������)��
��6 ���*����.�H!��0���H�������)���**�*�����#����*��������/��#��� �)�����*��"!���.�!��0����
�!������ ���)���#�-������#��� �%�"�����!���"� �����.���������� ��������)��!��%�*�*����������
������������������ ���������!��"��

D� � ����#���!�����.���"��7���������������..��������#��-��#���*�����)�*�!��!���"���*������������.����*�
������������#�* ���F��.��#������"��.���������� �������



���������	

���������

�����+�

�

�� � ����#��#���������.�!����������)����� ��*�#��������*�*��!���������.���"���������*�������*�
�#���)"��

��

�;� <����*�1������"�$��*�.�����#�����B��G������2�/�$�! �"�� !�������*�����.����2����*�!��������
�.�.��������������� ���������$�! �"�<����%����.�>��*�������!�����P���%�����������!��"/����
���2�������!����������*�A������"���!��������/�>>�/�������2����������*����)����"����!��"/����
$�)���/����J����F��0� !��"/�$���������.����2���/�����������4�&�)0�;�		+�A�1����F "��'�(��

��� <�� ������������*�!��������.���.��������#��0�)�.���������*�����
��

�=�94����������������-��#����2����<�%���*����� �������+D;/�����.�B�� ��"��/�����/��#���� ��"�
<����*�����"���������!��*�� ������.��������*�����#���*���������!�"�-��#��#��.����-���4

a. ������ ���)������!������"!������������
b. ����������.��-�����#�������#����!��.��#��.�����!����.��������*������*���� ����**�����

��.�����������*����������.�����#��.����#���������#���)��*�����.��%��"�!����
c. 9��#������ ������#����)�������������#���D��E�����#������-�*�#���*��+����#�����������#�

$���>=�J<9��=�94������#���%������"��..�*�%�����6 ���*�! �� ���������<����&&�+���#���)���/����
-����)�/������*�*�!��������������#�����*/�� �#��..�*�%������������.�����*�����#������������������-����
���)���#�-�������"�!����"����)����� �*���������������-��#��#�����������������#������ ����!!�����
���"���� �� )*�%�*�*����*������� ������!�����*�������.����� ��"��

�=�94���#��!����"����)����� �*���"��������������)������������ ����1#����#����� ����.���� ��������������
�#����#����������*��������� �������.���#������"��!!����)�����)������������ ��/�������)����)������������#����)��
��)������*�����#���!������.����#����#�����!��"�����#����� ��*�����#���7�� ��%������*"��.��#��!���������.�
"� �*�����������%��-��#���������.��#��!����"/����� *������"���)������������ ����#�����"�)������ *�*/�
���������#���..�����#������ �*��#�����������������<�!��������)����������!����.��#��!����"�8��0���.����#��
!����"��#���������)����� �*���������������-��#�"� ���������������

(����%���'���������



Concept Zoning Plan

August 12, 2016 

Case #PZ-15-00115



























Flagstaff Regional Plan 2030 Applicable Goals & Policies

Environmental Planning & Conservation (Air Quality, Climate Change and Adaptation, Dark 
Skies, Ecosystem Health, Environmentally Sensitive Lands, Natural Quiet, Soils, and Wildlife)

Policy E&C.2.1.Encourage the reduction of all energy consumption, especially fossil-fuel 
generated energy, in public, commercial, industrial, and residential sectors.
Policy E&C.3.2.Invest in forest health and watershed protection measures.
Policy E&C.5.1.Evaluate the impacts of the retention of dark skies regarding lighting 
infrastructure and regulatory changes, land use decisions or changes, and proposed 
transportation developments within the region.
Policy E&C.5.4.Encourage uses within Lighting Zone 1 of the lighting codes of the City and 
County that do not require outdoor lighting, and discourage those which require all-night 
lighting.
Goal E&C.6.Protect, restore, and improve ecosystem health and maintain native plant and 
animal community diversity across all land ownerships in the Flagstaff region.
Policy E&C.9.2.Construction projects employ strategies to minimize disturbed area, soil 
compaction, soil erosion, and destruction of vegetation.
Goal E&C.10.Protect indigenous wildlife populations, localized and larger-scale wildlife
habitats, ecosystem processes, and wildlife movement areas throughout the planning area.

Open Space

Policy OS.1.2. While observing private property rights, preserve natural resources and priority 
open lands, under the general guidance of the Flagstaff Area Open Space and Greenways Plan 
and the Natural Environment maps.
Policy OS.1.3. Use open space as natural environment buffer zones to protect scenic views and 
cultural resources, separate disparate uses, and separate private development from public lands, 
scenic byways, and wildlife habitats.
Policy OS.1.4. Use open spaces as opportunities for non-motorized connectivity, to interact with 
nature, and to enjoy the views and quiet.
Policy OS.1.5. Integrate open space qualities into the built environment.

Water Resources (Water Sources, Water Demand, Stormwater and Watershed Management and 
Water Quality)

Goal WR.4.Logically enhance and extend the City’s public water, wastewater, and reclaimed 
water services including their treatment, distribution, and collection systems in both urbanized 
and newly developed areas of the City to provide an efficient delivery of services.
Policy WR.4.3 Development requiring public utility services will be located within the Urban 
Growth Boundary.
Goal WR.5.Manage watersheds and stormwater to address flooding concerns, water quality, 
environmental protections, and rainwater harvesting.
Goal WR.6.Protect, preserve, and improve the quality of surface water, groundwater, and 
reclaimed water in the region.
Policy WR.6.4.Encourage low-impact development practices.

Community Character (Scenic Resources and Natural Setting, Heritage Preservation, Community 
Design, and Arts, Sciences and Education)



Goal CC.1.Reflect and respect the region’s natural setting and dramatic views in the built 
environment.
Policy CC.1.1.Preserve the natural character of the region through planning and design to 
maintain view of significant landmarks, sloping landforms, rock outcroppings, watercourses, 
floodplains, and meadows, and conserve stands of ponderosa pine.
Policy CC.1.3.Design development patterns to maintain the open character of rural areas, 
protect open lands, and protect and maintain sensitive environmental areas like mountains, 
canyons, and forested settings. 
Policy CC.1.4.Identify, protect, and enhance gateways, gateway corridors, and gateway 
communities.
Policy CC.2.3.Mitigate development impacts on heritage resources.
Goal CC.4.Design and develop all projects to be contextually sensitive, to enhance a positive 
image and identity for the region.
Policy CC.4.1. Design Streetscapes to be context sensitive and transportation systems to reflect 
the desired land use while balancing the needs of all modes for traffic safety and construction 
and maintenance costs.
Policy CC.4.9 Develop appropriate tools to facilitate the undergrounding of existing overhead 
utility lines, especially in established viewsheds and in reinvestment areas.

Growth Areas & Land Use (Reinvestment, Greenfield, Urban Area, Suburban Area, Rural Area, 
Employment Area, Special Planning Area and Activity Centers)

Goal LU.2.Develop Flagstaff’s Greenfields in accordance with the Regional Plan and within the 
growth boundary. 
Policy LU.2.1 Design new neighborhoods that embody the characteristics of Flagstaff’s favorite 
neighborhoods – that is, with a mix of uses, a variety of housing types and densities, public 
spaces, and greater connectivity with multimodal transportation options.
Policy LU.2.2.Design new development to coordinate with existing and future development, in an 
effort to preserve vewisheds, strengthen connectivity, and establish compatible and mutually 
supportive land uses.
Policy LU.2.3.New development should protect cultural and natural resources and established 
wildlife corridors, where appropriate.
Policy LU.2.4.Utilize Low Impact Development (LID) strategies and stormwater best practices as 
part of the overall design for new development.
Policy LU.3.1.Within the urban, suburban, and rural context, use neighborhoods, activity centers, 
corridors, public spaces, and connectivity as the structural framework for development.
Goal LU.4.Balance housing and employment land uses with the preservation and protection of 
our unique natural and cultural setting.
Policy LU.4.2.Utilize the following as guidance in the development process: Natural Environment 
maps, Environmental Planning and Conservation policies, Considerations for Development, 
Cultural Sensitivity, and Historical Preservation maps and Community Character polices, while 
respecting private property rights.
Goal LU.5.Encourage compact development principles to achieve efficiencies and open space 
preservation.
Policy LU.5.1.Encourage development patterns within the designated growth boundaries to 
sustain efficient infrastructure projects and maintenance.
Policy LU.5.2.Promote infill development over peripheral expansion to conserve environmental 
resources, spur economic investments, and reduce the cost of providing infrastructure and 
services.



Policy LU.5.3.Promote compact development appropriate to and within the context of each area 
type: urban, suburban, and rural.
Policy LU..5.Encourage the distribution of density within neighborhoods in relationship to 
associated activity centers and corridors, infrastructure, transportation, and natural constraints 
such as slopes and drainages.
Policy LU.6.4 Provide appropriate recreational and cultural amenities to meet the needs of 
residents.
Policy LU.7.2.Require unincorporated properties to be annexed prior to the provision of City 
services, or that a pre-annexation agreement is executed when deemed appropriate.
Goal LU.13.Increase the variety of housing options and expand opportunities for employment 
and neighborhood shopping within all suburban neighborhoods.
Policy LU.13.1.Prioritize connectivity for walking, biking, and driving within and between 
surrounding neighborhoods.
Policy LU.13.2.Consider public transit connections in suburban development.
Policy LU.13.4.Plan suburban development to include a variety of housing options.
Policy LU.13.9.Use open space and FUTS trail to provide walking and biking links from 
residential uses to employment, shopping, schools, parks, and neighborhoods.
Policy LU.18.4.Encourage developers to provide activity centers and corridors with housing of 
various types and price points, especially attached and multi-family housing.
Policy LU.18.8.Increase residential densities, live-work units, and home occupations within the 
activity cents’ pedestrian shed.
Policy LU.18.10.Corridors should increase their variety and intensity of uses as they approach 
activity centers.

Transportation (Mobility and Access, Safe and Efficient Multimodal Transportation, 
Environmental Considerations, Quality Design, Pedestrian Infrastructure, Bicycle Infrastructure, 
Transit, Automobile, Passenger Rail and Rail Freight, Air Travel, and Public Support for 
Transportation)

Goal T.1.Improve mobility and access throughout the region.
Policy T.1.2.Apply Complete Street Guidelines to accommodate all appropriate modes of travel 
in transportation improvement projects.
Policy T.1.2.Transportation systems are consistent with the place type and needs of people.
Policy T.2.1.Design infrastructure to provide safe and efficient movement of vehicles, bicycles, 
and pedestrians.
Policy T.3.2.Promote transportation systems that reduce the use of fossil fuels and eventually 
replace with carbon neutral alternatives.
Policy T.4.2.Design all gateway corridors, streets, roads, and highways to safely and attractively 
accommodate all transportation uses with contextual landscaping an appropriate architectural 
features.
Policy T.6.2.Establish and maintain a comprehensive, consistent, and highly connected system of 
bikeways and FUTS trails.
T.8.4. Protect rights-of-way for future transportation corridors.

Cost of Development
Policy CD.1.5.Require that new development pay for a fair and rough proportional share of 
public facilities, services, and infrastructure.



Neighborhoods, Housing, and Urban Conservation
Policy NH.1.3.Interconnect existing and new neighborhoods through patterns of development 
with complete streets, sidewalks, and trails.
Policy NH.1.6.New development, especially on the periphery, will contribute to completing 
neighborhoods, including interconnecting with other neighborhoods; providing parks, civic 
spaces, and a variety of housing types; and protecting sensitives natural and cultural features.
Policy NH3.5.Encourage and incentivize affordable housing.

Economic Development (Responsive Government, Education and Workforce Training, Business 
Retention, Expansion and Entrepreneurship, Business Attraction, Tourism, Community Character 
and Redevelopment and Infill)

Policy ED 7.4.Invest in attractive community gateways, main corridors, and public spaces to 
draw the business and workforce the region desires.

Recreation
Goal REC.1.Maintain and grow the region’s healthy system of convenient and accessible parks, 
recreation facilities, and trails.
Policy REC.1.1.Integrate active and passive recreation sites within walking distance throughout 
the region to promote a healthy community for all City and County residents and visitors.
Policy REC.1.2. Promote public and private partnership to offer parks, recreation facilities, and 
resources.









Citizen Participation Report

 September 20, 2016



 
 
 

 

1 
 

Timber Sky 
CITIZEN PARTICIPATION REPORT 

September 20, 2016 

 
This report outlines the results of the Citizen Participation Plan which was implemented 
in conjunction with the application for Annexation, Rezoning and Conceptual Plat for 
Timber Sky, a 197-acre master planned community generally located near the southwest 
corner of U.S. Highway 66 and Woody Mountain Road.  The Citizen Participation Plan 
was implemented to open the lines of communication with the residents in the surrounding 
area of the project and to facilitate the meaningful inclusion of all interested parties in the 
development of this rezoning and conceptual plat proposal. 
 
Techniques the development team used to involve the public 
 
On November 23, 2015, the development team sent letters by first class mail to property 
owners, Home Owner Associations, citizens, jurisdictions, and public agencies within a 
1,000 foot area around the boundaries of the subject property.  Lists of the property 
owners and other affected parties are included as Exhibit A.  A map of the neighborhood 
notification boundary is included as Exhibit B. 
 
The notification letter included the following information: 

1. The location, date, and time of the neighborhood meetings; 
2. The Applicant’s name and contact information; 
3. The address of the subject property; 
4. A brief summary of the application. 
 

A copy of the notification letter is included as Exhibit C. 
 
Additionally, a notification sign was posted on the property on November 24, 2015.  This 
sign is four feet by four feet and installed on Woody Mountain Road.  The sign was clearly 
visible from the public right-of-way and to adjacent residents.  Information on the sign 
included the purpose, dates, locations, and times of the neighborhood meetings as well 
as an information tube containing copies of the meeting notice.  A picture of the sign 
posted on the property is included as Exhibit D. 
 
Neighborhood Meetings 
 
The development team held two evening, open-house style neighborhood meetings.  The 
first meeting was Tuesday, December 8, 2015, between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the Kilted 
Cat (Thornager’s), 2640 West Kiltie Lane, Flagstaff.  The second neighborhood meeting 
was held Monday, January 11, 2016, also between 6:00pm and 8:00pm, at the 
Doubletree by Hilton Hotel, 1175 West Route 66, Flagstaff.   
 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

2 
 

Originally, a second neighborhood meeting was scheduled for December 14, 2015; 
however, it was cancelled due to inclement weather and rescheduled for January 11, 
2016.  On December 30, 2015, notifications for the rescheduled meeting were sent out to 
the same property owners and interested parties as the original mailing and the 
notification sign on the property was updated.  A copy of the notification letter sent out 
regarding the rescheduled neighborhood meeting is included as Exhibit E and a photo of 
the updated sign is included as Exhibit F. 
 
Summary of December 8, 2015 Neighborhood Meeting 
 
This meeting was held at the Kilted Cat and was set up in an open-house style with large 
boards displaying the plans set up on easels for the community to view.  Members of the 
development team were available to explain and discuss the project, as well as answer 
any questions and address any concerns.  Members of the development team present 
included: Walter Crutchfield and John Scholl (Vintage Partners), Carolyn Oberholtzer 
(BFSO Law), Rick Schuller (Woodson Engineering), and Aaron Hayne and Doug Craig 
(Norris Design).  The meeting began promptly at 6:00pm, as scheduled.  In addition to 
the Development Team, a total of 29 people attended the meeting.  A copy of the sign in 
sheet is attached as Exhibit G. 
 
Below is a summary of the comments and concerns that were raised by the attendees of 
the neighborhood meeting.  The Development Team’s responses to the concerns are in 
bold below each comment. 
 
Traffic and Public Safety Impacts - 

 

 There were many comments and questions on traffic impacts and mitigation.  General 
concern was that traffic will be a big impact down Route 66 to Milton Road and whether 
or not the surrounding roads will be able to handle the increase in traffic in the 
area. 
The City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, and ADOT require developments of this 
size to prepare a traffic study addressing traffic impacts.  The applicant has 
submitted a Traffic Impact Analysis (“TIA”) for the various agencies to review, 
and that document will set forth appropriate and requisite improvements to 
serve the project.   

 There was concern about the local fire stations being able to accommodate the 
new development. 
Once the annexation of the western portion of Timber Sky is complete, the 
Flagstaff Fire Department will provide fire coverage to the entire development.  
The closest fire station is Station #1 located at 1972 South Thompson Street, 
approximately 1.5 miles from Timber Sky.   

  
Lighting Impact - 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

3 
 

  

 Many attendees voiced concerns about lighting and the dark sky movement. The 
sentiment was to have as little light as possible, including as few street lights as 
possible. 
The goal at Timber Sky is to create the finest dark skies compliant master 
planned community in Arizona.  The lighting design for the project will meet or 
exceed all the requirements of the Dark Sky Ordinance and the Outdoor Lighting 
Standards in the Zoning Ordinance.  The project team is working with Wright 
Engineering to develop these standards, with the advice and input of the United 
States Department of Defense.  These standards will be implemented through 
the future development agreement for the Property. 

 
Wildlife Impact -  

 

 One attendee was concerned with the impact on local wildlife with respect to cutting 
off wildlife corridors and suggested that we speak with Hannah Griscom from Arizona 
Game and Fish Department, for guidance on this issue.  They also suggested no 
fencing be permitted or fencing that is sensitive to the wildlife and that education be 
provided to the residents on how to live with wildlife – no feeding, etc. 
The Applicant will review fencing options near the FUTS corridor to provide for 
wildlife-sensitive materials and breaks to provide for connectivity between 
parcels. 

 
Forest Resources -  
  

 There were many questions about saving the existing trees – residents from Presidio 
in the Pines seemed to be concerned about this due to the fact that their development 
saved resources in pockets and not thru out.  One comment was made about 
developing only in the burned areas where there are no trees. 
Due to a past wildfire, the landscaping on the property is not as lush as it once 
was; however, it does contain a healthy Ponderosa Pine forest throughout 
portions of the site which will be preserved through the application of the 
Resource Protection Overlay requirements in the Flagstaff Zoning Ordinance.  
The protections of the Overlay will extend to the annexed area when that 
process is finalized as well.  Also, Overlook Park at the roundabout entrance to 
the development will be maintained as a park such that much of the Presidio 
residents’ forest view will be preserved.  Further, a large section of land along 
the FUTS corridor is being zoned as Open Space to prevent development in that 
area. 

 
 
 
Open Space Corridor - 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

4 
 

  

 Several questions were asked about how much overall open space is being provided 
within the corridor and where, and what the areas will be used for. 
The Applicant team responded to these comments by taking the attendees 
through a series of exhibits from the applications that demonstrate open space 
corridors, trails, and amenities.  It was explained that the Open Space Corridor 
varies in width and will provide for internal and external multi-modal linkages.  
To the extent feasible, the Open Space Corridor will also be used to maintain the 
movement of wildlife as it enters the Property from Route 66 and/or the 
southwest corner.  The Corridor will also provide stormwater detention and 
retention during times of heavy rain. 

 Some questions were asked about what the drainage system consists of in this corridor 
and why we are doing the stormwater management there.   
Design decisions were made to provide stacking benefits with respect to 
stormwater management in an attempt to utilize the natural processes which 
are currently occurring on the site. 

 The natural on-site drainage corridor is being mimicked by providing 
large, wide bottomed gently sloping basins which will be revegetated 
in native and turf grasses for stormwater volume and rate control.   

 The development team wanted to conserve the natural corridor area 
while obtaining maximum stacking benefits from this area including 
recreation. 

 The stormwater drainage is being maintained at the location it is 
currently flowing.  Extensive field visits were utilized to determine 
existing conditions and flow paths. 

 The grassy basins provide exceptional, long flow lengths (almost 
3,000 feet) over grass providing fantastic pollutant capture and 
infiltration benefits. 

 Native grasses and forest duff will be salvaged and replaced to 
provide a seed bed and organic medium for re-establishment of the 
meadows. 

 Stacking, multi-faceted techniques are being utilized as Low Impact 
Development (LID) Integrated Management Practices.  The 
development team is utilizing LID techniques to preserve the rural 
character of the area as much as possible. 

 All aspects of the development are being considered holistically – 
from the wide medians with plantings in the collector street network, 
to providing a relaxed street treatment and vegetated buffer strip 
basins.  Additional collector street-side extended detention basins will 
be provided for direct pollutant capture.  The Bio-retention areas will 
be installed at every single-family residence, multi-faceted Integrated 
Management practices will be installed at all of the high density blocks 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

5 
 

while trying to preserve those key trees at these locations that are 
integral to holistic integrated management practices. 

 The design is providing benefits beyond that required by providing 
LID features in areas that are not available for LID credit such as 
sediment forebays in the drainage corridor to capture sediments from 
the drainage conduits discharging from the local streets here.  In this 
area the large basins will act as fantastic extended detention basins 
with pools up to 3 feet deep that will slowly drain out – leaving most 
of the sediments and pollutants trapped in the grassy swales. 

 The Community Center with star gazing opportunities, recreation 
areas and community food gardens; the site fencing and entry 
monuments; the relaxed street sections, the holistic stormwater 
management and natural area conservation all combine to make the 
subdivision a rural place located at the very edge of the City – the right 
place for this approach. 

 
Housing Products -  
  

 Attendees had questions about what the high density residential was and what types 
of housing is being proposed, especially for the high density areas. Will it be 
apartments or condos? How many stories? 
The land use category does provide for both ownership and rental multi-family 
units, but it was clarified that this would not be student housing.  It was 
explained that single family is also an allowable use within this category at 
higher densities than the LDR and MDR categories.  The overall number of units, 
project-wide, will be capped at 1300 units.  This limit will be implemented 
through the development agreement.    

 
Additional Questions and Comments - 
   

 There was a lot of interest in how the FUTS trail is incorporated into the project 
and where it connects.  
The extension of the FUTS trail is proposed along the northern property 
boundary on Route 66, along the entire length of the open space corridor, and 
on Woody Mountain Road along the southeastern corner of the property.  These 
trails will be 10’ wide and consist of decomposed granite to facilitate pedestrian, 
bikes, horses, and the like. 

 A comment was made about Flagstaff needing affordable housing badly.  
The development team responded that the applicant understands the current 
housing prices in Flagstaff are not affordable for a good portion of the City’s 
residents which is why Timber Sky proposes single-family, condo, and 
townhouse developments.  Offering a variety of housing options provides more 
realistic housing opportunities to the local work force in the area.  The driving 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

6 
 

goal of the Timber Sky project is to provide for a variety of housing options that 
are financially accessible to the work force.   

 What is Pickleball?  
It was explained and shown in exhibits that Pickleball could be a component of 
the Community Park as it is a financially accessible sport that appeals to many 
age groups and is not currently a feature of other master-planned communities, 
which are typically oriented around golf courses.  Pickleball is a racquet sport 
that combines elements of badminton, tennis, and table tennis.  Two, three, or 
four players use solid paddles made of wood or composite materials to hit a 
perforated polymer ball, similar to a wiffle ball, over a net. The sport shares 
features of other racquet sports, the dimensions and layout of a badminton 
court, and a net and rules similar to tennis, with a few modifications.  

 
Summary of the January 11, 2016 Neighborhood Meeting 
 
This meeting was held at the Double Tree by Hilton Hotel and was set up in an open-
house style with large boards displaying the plans set up on easels for the community to 
view.  Members of the development team were available to explain and discuss the 
project, as well as answer any questions and address any concerns.  Members of the 
development team present included: Walter Crutchfield and John Scholl (Vintage 
Partners), Carolyn Oberholtzer (BFSO Law), Rick Schuller (Woodson Engineering), and 
Aaron Hayne (Norris Design).  The meeting began promptly at 6:00pm, as scheduled.  In 
addition to the Development Team, a total of 16 people attended the meeting, a copy of 
the sign in sheet is attached as Exhibit H. 
 
Below is a summary of the comments and concerns that were raised by the attendees of 
the neighborhood meeting.  The Development Team’s responses to the concerns are in 
bold below each comment. 
 
Traffic and Public Safety Impacts - 

 

 Concern that traffic will be a big impact at Route 66 and Flagstaff Ranch Road 
especially with the City Public Works yard coming to the area.  Additional concern 
about traffic accidents at this location because people make a right turn from Flagstaff 
Ranch Road to Route 66 without looking. 
The Development Team understands the proposed project will increase traffic 
on the surrounding roads and encourages everyone to drive safely and 
responsibly, including looking both ways before turning into traffic. 
 
  

 An attendee asked if a traffic light would be installed on Route 66. 
The City of Flagstaff, Coconino County, and ADOT require developments of this 
size to prepare a traffic study addressing traffic impacts.  The applicant has 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Racquet_sport
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Badminton
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Tennis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Table_tennis
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wiffle_ball


Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

7 
 

submitted a Traffic Impact Analysis (“TIA”) for the various agencies to review, 
and that document will set forth appropriate and requisite improvements to 
serve the project.   

 
Lighting Impact - 
  

 Many attendees were pleased to hear about the level of “dark sky” that was proposed 
in the project. 
The goal at Timber Sky is to create the finest dark skies compliant master 
planned community in Arizona.  The lighting design for the project will meet or 
exceed all the requirements of the Dark Sky Ordinance and the Outdoor Lighting 
Standards in the Zoning Ordinance.  The Development Team is pleased that the 
neighbors recognize the level of importance they have placed on keeping the 
sky dark and retaining this important characteristic of Flagstaff. 

 
Wildlife Impact -  

 

 Concerns were expressed about the local wildlife with respect to cutting off wildlife 
migration corridors. 
Maintaining the natural drainage corridor on the western portion of the property 
for use as open space will enable wildlife to move within the property. This open 
space corridor is 13.5 acres.  The southwest corner of the property would remain 
open as well.  

 There was some concern about the proposed width of the open space corridor not 
being enough for wildlife migration.  One attendee was satisfied with a width of 200’ for 
wildlife migration.   
The development team explained that about half of the corridor is 200’ wide, the 
other half is 150’ wide, with exception to the extreme southern portion which is 
100’ wide.  Additionally some areas are wider than 200’.  Rick Schuller, with 
Woodson Engineering, estimates the average width to be about 175’. 

 Open boundaries vs. fenced yards would impact the amount of wildlife being able to 
pass through the community. 
Fencing is favored versus walls.  As to fencing type, it was discussed that 
certain types are harmful to wildlife and those should be avoided. 

 A comment was made about the possibility of incorporating a walk under for wildlife 
with the digging of the sewer line under Route 66. 
The project does not include this element. 

 
 
Forest Resources -  
  

 Attendees expressed the desire to retain as many trees on the property as possible. 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

8 
 

Due to a past wildfire, the landscaping on the property is not as lush as it once 
was; however, it does contain a healthy Ponderosa Pine forest throughout 
portions of the site which will preserved through the application of the Resource 
Protection Overlay requirements in the Flagstaff Zoning Ordinance.  Disturbed 
areas of the development will be seeded with a native mix allowing new 
landscaping to blend seamlessly with the preserved landscape over time. 

 
Open Space Corridor - 
  

 There were some questions about the drainage system in the open space corridor and 
why the developer proposed stormwater management in the area. 
Please refer to the open Space Corridor discussion in the Summary of 
December 8, 2015 Neighborhood Meeting. 

 
Housing Products -  
  

 There were some questions about what types of housing was being proposed in the 
high density areas.  Concerns over apartments in these areas and many attendees 
preferred condominiums and townhouses. 
The project is currently in the conceptual design phase, no plans have been 
made as to the specific types of housing that will be offered in the high density 
areas.  However, it was clarified that apartments are not the intended use. 

 There were some general misconceptions about the difference between “affordable” 
housing and “low income” housing. 
There was a misunderstanding about the term “affordable housing.”  The 
housing in Timber Sky will be affordable meaning “accessible” or “starter.”  The 
different housing types (single family, townhouse, condo, etc.) will provide more 
living options for the people who work in the area.  The term “affordable 
housing” was not meant in the way of the housing being provided as low 
income-qualified housing. 

 
Additional Questions and Comments - 
   

 There were several questions about water and sewer being brought to the area.  
Some attendees commented that the City should annex the properties in the area 
so they can hook up to water and sewer.  Currently, water mains run past their 
property but they are not allowed to hook into it.  Some attendees expressed the 
desire to be annexed into the City. 
If residents are interested in annexing into the City, we suggested they contact 
the City planning department to better understand what is required. 

 A question was raised about the 37 acre outparcel and if the developer had plans 
to acquire it in the future. 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

9 

Currently, there are no plans to acquire the outparcel and this plan is viable with 
or without future development on the 37 acres. 

 Deer are a problem with planted landscape, they like to eat everything that is newly
planted.
This issue will be kept in mind through the development of the landscape
plan with the future preliminary plats.

 There is a greater need for commercial development in the area.
Commercial development generally comes after the residential development is
established and there is a consumer base to support retail uses.  By adding up
to 1300 dwelling units to this area, it will increase the likelihood of commercial
development in the Activity nodes.

 Positive feedback included: love the premier dark sky community concept, like the
idea of using recycled rock and timber from the site, excited to see NAIPTA station
close by, and like the preservation of the trees.
The development team is encouraged by the positive feedback from the meeting
attendees and looks forward to moving the project forward with the neighbors
support.

Hannah Griscom, an Urban Wildlife Planner with the Arizona Game and Fish Department, 
was in attendance at this meeting.  She had the following comments regarding the 
proposed development: 

• Suggests LID design that processes stormwater at the lot level through native 
vegetation, bio swales, etc.
All aspects of the development are being considered holistically – from the 
wide medians with plantings in the collector street network, to providing a 
relaxed street treatment and vegetated buffer strip basins.  Additional 
collector street-side extended detention basins will be provided for direct 
pollutant capture.  The Bio-retention areas will be installed at every single-
family residence, multi-faceted Integrated Management practices will be 
installed at all of the high density blocks while trying to preserve those key 
trees at these locations that are integral to holistic integrated management 
practices.

• Underpass under Route 66 for FUTS and wildlife migration
This is not a proposed element of the project.

• Minimize removal of native vegetation
The development team plans to retain as much of the native vegetation 
as possible and the Resource Protection Overlay District will help to achieve 
this.

• Comprehensive “weed management” to be included in HOA requirements
This will be incorporated.

• Likes the idea of the dark skies concept 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

10 
 

The restrictions that will apply in addition to the Zone 1 requirements will be 
implemented through the CC&Rs. 

 Minimize fencing, especially along open space also consider wildlife friendly 
fencing (wrought iron fencing can impale elk trying to jump over it). 
This will be considered through the development of the fencing program for the 
project, and fences will be favored over walls. 

 Maximize width of open space corridor to increase large animal use, should be 
greater than 150’ but 300’ is ideal 
Approximately half of the corridor is 200’ wide, the other half is 150’ wide, with 
exception to the extreme southern portion which is 100’ wide.  Additionally 
some areas are wider than 200’.  Rick Schuller, with Woodson Engineering, 
estimates the average width to be about 175’. 

 Protect rock outcroppings 
Rock outcroppings will be protected to the greatest extent possible.  The rock 
outcropping in the southeastern portion of the property have been designed into 
Overlook Park. 

 
Additional Communication with Property Owners and Interested Parties 
 
The development team has been committed to giving everyone the opportunity to learn 
about Timber Sky and understands that some people may not have been able to attend 
the neighborhood meetings.  To that end, contact information (phone number, email, and 
mailing address) was provided for Walter Crutchfield, with Vintage Partners, and Carolyn 
Oberholtzer, with Bergin, Frakes, Smalley & Oberholtzer, for citizens to provide 
comments and ask questions.  The following is a summary of the additional 
communication that was received: 
 

 In an email from Nat White to Carolyn Oberholtzer on January 4, 2016, Mr. White 
suggested moving the higher density areas closer to the Woody Mountain/Route 
66 intersection, he opined that the closer the higher density housing is to town, the 
better.  He also suggested the “game way” be widened per game and fish 
suggestions.  A copy of this email exchange is attached as Exhibit I. 

 In an email from Tina, Matt, and Maddie Sieg, homeowners in Presidio in the Pines, 
to Mr. Crutchfield, on January 11, 2016, the Sieg’s had the following 
recommendations “to create a harmonious flow” between the proposed Timber Sky 
development and Presidio in the Pines: 

1. Pair new single family residences with existing single family residences 
in adjacent subdivisions. 

2. Connect subdivision pathways and sidewalks to the urban trail system. 
3. Consider a single track sidewalks for new secondary trails to connect 

adjacent subdivisions as desirable and inexpensive alternative to paved 
sidewalks. 

4. Consider regional trail connections that share utility corridors. 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

 

11 
 

5. Developers participate as trail stakeholders with trail managers and 
other stakeholders. 

Mr. Crutchfield responded to the Sieg’s email on January 13, 2016.  A copy of the 
correspondence is attached as Exhibit J. 

 Ms. Griscom, with AZ Game and Fish Department, emailed Mr. Crutchfield on 
February 17, 2016 with her recommendations for the proposed development with 
regards to the open space corridor, fencing standards, a possible Route 66 
underpass, stormwater, maintaining native vegetation, and dark skies.  Many of 
the comments contained in the email mirrored her comments at the neighborhood 
meeting on January 11, 2016.  A copy of the correspondence is attached as Exhibit 
K. 

 
Since our neighborhood meetings, project representatives have continued community 
outreach efforts through individual meetings with area stakeholders.  Since the 
notifications went out for the Planning & Zoning Hearing, we have not received any 
inquiries. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit A 



A
P

N
O

W
N

ER
 N

A
M

E
A

D
D

R
ES

S 
1

A
D

D
R

ES
S 

2
C

IT
Y

ST
A

TE
ZI

P
C

O
D

E
1

1
6

-0
4

-0
3

5
4

4
9

0
 R

O
U

TE
 6

6
, L

LC
1

2
8

 M
A

R
LE

TT
E

P
H

O
EN

IX
A

Z
8

5
0

1
2

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
2

A
B

B
O

TT
-R

H
O

TO
N

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
TS

 L
LC

 D
B

A
 

C
A

P
ST

O
N

E 
H

O
M

ES
1

7
5

0
 R

A
IL

R
O

A
D

 S
P

R
IN

G
S 

B
LV

D
 S

TE
 1

0
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
3

R
A

R
IZ

O
N

A
 P

U
B

LI
C

 S
ER

V
IC

E 
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

P
O

 B
O

X
 5

3
9

9
9

 M
S 

9
5

0
5

P
H

O
EN

IX
A

Z
8

5
0

7
2

-3
9

9
9

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
0

B
A

K
ER

 R
YA

N
 W

 &
 J

EA
N

ET
TE

 N
2

9
2

3
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-3

3
-0

5
6

B
B

A
R

TE
L 

B
A

R
T 

J 
&

 P
EG

G
Y

2
6

5
0

 W
 K

IL
TI

E 
LN

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
6

B
A

R
ZA

K
 S

H
A

W
N

 &
 J

A
C

Q
U

EL
IN

E
2

9
4

7
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
4

B
H

B
 IN

V
ES

TM
EN

T 
P

R
O

P
ER

TI
ES

 L
LC

P
O

 B
O

X
 6

0
1

5
6

P
H

O
EN

IX
A

Z
8

5
0

8
2

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
5

B
IG

G
ER

ST
A

FF
 P

A
TR

IC
K

 &
 W

H
IT

N
EY

2
9

4
3

 S
 P

EP
IT

A
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
6

B
IS

C
H

O
FF

 J
O

EL
 R

 &
 C

LA
IR

E 
E

2
9

4
9

 S
 C

A
M

EL
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

1
5

C
,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
5

,

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

1
5

E
B

N
SF

 R
A

IL
W

A
Y 

C
O

M
P

A
N

Y
P

 O
 B

O
X

 9
6

1
0

8
9

FO
R

T 
W

O
R

TH
TX

7
6

1
6

1
-0

0
8

9

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

3
3

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

3
2

B
O

YE
R

 R
C

 &
 P

M
 T

R
U

ST
 D

TD
 1

0
/9

/9
8

 ; 
1

1
4

5
 W

ES
T 

K
A

IB
A

B
 L

A
N

E 
LL

C
1

1
6

0
 K

A
IB

A
B

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
6

B
R

O
C

K
IE

 M
IL

LI
E

P
O

 B
O

X
 1

6
0

8
TU

B
A

 C
IT

Y
A

Z
8

6
0

4
5

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
0

B
R

O
W

N
 Y

A
ZZ

IE
 M

A
R

K
S

2
9

4
6

 S
 T

EX
 L

A
N

E
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-3

3
-0

5
4

B
U

R
N

S 
TE

R
R

Y 
W

A
YN

E
3

0
1

0
 S

 S
U

R
R

EY
 L

N
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
7

C
A

R
EF

R
EE

 C
EN

TR
A

L 
LL

C
7

0
6

5
 W

 E
LE

C
TR

A
 L

N
P

EO
R

IA
A

Z
8

5
3

8
3

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
4

C
A

R
TE

R
 C

O
D

Y 
J

2
9

3
9

 S
 P

EP
IT

A
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
6

C
H

A
R

LE
S 

R
 B

IG
EL

O
W

 M
D

 P
C

 P
R

O
FI

T 
SH

A
R

IN
G

 

P
LA

N
9

8
7

5
 E

 M
A

N
LE

Y 
LN

C
O

R
N

V
IL

LE
A

Z
8

6
3

2
5

1
1

2
-6

2
-4

7
3

C
,

1
0

2
-1

5
-0

0
1

,

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

0
2

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
1

J,

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

0
1

D
,

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

0
1

E
C

IT
Y 

O
F 

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

2
1

1
 W

ES
T 

A
SP

EN
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
4

C
O

N
G

ER
 N

O
R

M
A

N
 &

 M
A

R
G

A
R

ET
 M

2
9

2
3

 W
 P

R
ES

ID
IO

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
7

C
O

X
 G

R
EG

O
R

Y 
S 

&
 S

O
N

D
R

A
 L

1
1

2
8

 A
M

Y 
D

R
A

LL
EN

TX
7

5
0

1
3

1
1

2
-3

3
-0

5
3

C
O

X
 K

EN
T 

W
 &

 A
D

R
IE

N
N

E 
C

 R
EV

O
C

A
B

LE
 F

A
M

IL
Y 

LI
V

IN
G

 T
R

U
ST

 D
TD

 1
-1

8
-1

1
1

8
1

0
 R

IM
 R

D
LA

K
ES

ID
E

A
Z

8
5

9
2

9

1
1

2
-3

3
-0

5
2

C
U

TR
IG

H
T 

W
A

R
R

EN
 J

 &
 R

U
TH

 A
3

0
7

5
 S

U
R

R
EY

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
4

D
A

V
IS

 R
O

B
ER

T 
A

 &
 K

A
R

EN
 S

U
E

2
4

2
5

1
 W

 E
N

G
LI

SH
 R

O
SE

V
A

LE
N

C
IA

C
A

9
1

3
5

4

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

7
0

D
EC

K
ER

 F
R

A
N

C
IS

 P
 &

 D
EB

O
R

A
H

2
3

2
0

5
 C

O
SO

M
IS

SI
O

N
 V

IE
JO

C
A

9
2

6
9

2

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
4

D
R

Y 
LA

K
E 

R
A

N
C

H
 L

LC
1

0
8

0
0

 E
 P

LA
TE

A
U

C
O

R
N

V
IL

LE
A

Z
8

6
3

2
5

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

7
2

EV
A

N
S 

JA
SO

N
 &

 J
EN

N
IF

ER
2

9
2

1
 S

 C
A

M
EL

 D
R

IV
E 

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

P
ro

p
er

ty
 O

w
n

er
s



1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
3

G
FL

A
G

 R
A

N
C

H
/6

6
 L

LC
1

0
6

4
5

 N
 T

A
TU

M
 B

LV
D

ST
E 

2
0

0
-P

M
B

 6
0

5
P

H
O

EN
IX

A
Z

8
5

0
2

8

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
3

A
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
 R

A
N

C
H

 S
EL

F-
ST

O
R

A
G

E 
LL

C
1

4
2

5
 W

 F
O

R
ES

T 
M

EA
D

O
W

S 
ST

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
7

FR
IE

D
M

A
N

 J
A

R
ED

 D
1

9
1

9
 W

A
LD

M
A

N
 A

V
E

LA
S 

V
EG

A
S 

N
V

8
9

1
0

2

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
6

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

4
1

G
O

SC
H

 F
A

M
IL

Y 
LI

V
IN

G
 T

R
U

ST
4

3
9

2
 W

 R
O

U
TE

 6
6

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
4

G
R

A
YS

O
N

 L
LC

3
5

4
3

 S
 1

5
7

TH
 W

A
Y

G
IL

B
ER

T
A

Z
8

5
2

9
7

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
0

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
3

H
A

M
M

ER
 J

O
SE

P
H

 &
 S

A
R

A
H

2
9

3
5

 S
 P

EP
IT

A
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
8

H
A

M
R

EN
 C

A
L 

&
 E

LL
YN

 A
2

0
7

3
5

 N
 6

2
N

D
 D

R
G

LE
N

D
A

LE
A

Z
8

5
3

0
8

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

0
3

B
,

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

0
3

A
H

EL
IN

 B
U

IL
D

IN
G

 L
LC

 (
TH

E)
1

8
0

0
 N

 H
ER

EF
O

R
D

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
5

H
IL

LE
N

D
 J

O
H

N
 D

 &
 E

M
M

A
 A

2
9

2
2

 S
 T

EX
 L

N
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
3

H
IN

D
ER

LI
TE

R
 T

IM
2

0
8

2
 W

 T
O

B
O

G
G

A
N

 C
T

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
0

JA
H

N
 F

A
M

IL
Y 

LI
V

IN
G

 T
R

U
ST

 D
TD

 1
0

/2
0

/1
4

5
3

6
 E

 A
M

ES
 P

LA
C

E 
P

H
O

EN
IX

A
Z

8
5

0
0

4

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
9

K
F 

IN
V

ES
TM

EN
TS

 L
LC

2
0

2
0

 N
 R

IO
 D

E 
FL

A
G

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-0

1
-0

1
9

LA
N

D
M

A
R

C
 C

A
P

IT
A

L 
&

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
T 

C
O

M
P

A
N

Y
1

4
5

5
5

 N
 S

C
O

TT
SD

A
LE

 R
D

 S
TE

 3
4

0
SC

O
TT

SD
A

LE
A

Z
8

5
2

5
4

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
6

LE
TV

IN
 M

A
R

LE
N

E 
J

2
9

0
4

 P
A

Z 
D

E 
A

V
EN

ID
A

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
2

A
LI

N
D

H
O

LM
 R

O
B

ER
T 

LE
E

P
O

 B
O

X
 9

2
7

9
4

A
U

ST
IN

TX
7

8
7

0
9

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
5

LU
C

ER
O

 G
R

EG
O

R
Y 

A
 &

 N
IC

H
O

LE
 M

2
9

2
7

 W
 P

R
ES

ID
IO

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
8

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
9

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
6

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
8

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
5

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
7

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

2
9

,

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

3
0

LU
K

E 
IN

V
ES

TO
R

S 
P

A
R

TN
ER

SH
IP

P
O

 B
O

X
 1

0
7

7
5

P
H

O
EN

IX
A

Z
8

5
0

6
4

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
9

LU
TT

IN
EN

 T
R

EV
O

R
 A

2
9

4
2

 S
 T

EX
 L

N
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
8

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
0

M
A

JE
ST

IC
 P

R
ES

ID
IO

 L
LC

1
0

7
 D

O
G

W
O

O
D

 L
N

P
IT

TS
B

U
R

G
H

P
A

1
5

2
3

8

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
5

M
A

R
TU

SC
IE

LL
O

 M
A

R
IO

 &
 M

A
N

D
EE

2
9

5
3

 C
A

M
EL

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
7

M
C

D
O

W
EL

L 
D

A
N

IE
L 

G
1

0
0

5
 F

O
O

TH
IL

L 
D

R
SA

LT
 L

A
K

E 
C

IT
Y

U
T

8
4

1
0

8

1
1

2
-6

2
-1

8
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
2

M
IR

A
M

A
R

 V
EN

TU
R

ES
 L

LC
P

O
 B

O
X

 3
1

5
9

7
TU

C
SO

N
A

Z
8

5
7

5
1



1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

2
9

A
,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

1
0

A
,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
8

A
,

1
1

2
-6

2
-4

7
1

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-4

8
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

7
4

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
7

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
5

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
6

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

0
4

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

2
8

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
5

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
6

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
2

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
4

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
1

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

4
6

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-2

4
7

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
4

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
5

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
1

,
M

IR
A

M
O

N
TE

 P
R

ES
ID

IO
 L

LC
4

5
7

8
 N

 1
ST

 A
V

E 
 N

O
 1

6
0

TU
C

SO
N

A
Z

8
5

7
1

8

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
9

M
IS

IO
R

EK
 D

A
N

IE
L 

A
2

9
3

7
 S

 C
A

M
EL

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
5

M
O

N
G

IN
I H

O
U

SE
 I 

; L
IO

N
 R

ES
O

U
R

C
ES

 L
LC

P
O

 B
O

X
 2

6
5

C
O

TT
O

N
W

O
O

D
A

Z
8

6
3

2
6

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
9

M
O

R
G

A
N

 J
O

H
N

 L
 &

 D
O

N
N

A
 M

2
9

1
9

 S
 P

EP
IT

A
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
8

M
O

R
LE

Y 
SU

SA
N

3
2

1
6

 S
 G

IL
LE

N
W

A
TE

R
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
1

M
O

R
R

IS
O

N
 W

IL
LI

A
M

 G
 &

 J
A

N
ET

 E
1

4
4

2
 E

 H
ER

M
O

SE
 V

IS
TA

 C
IR

C
LE

M
ES

A
A

Z
8

5
2

0
3

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
3

N
A

IK
 A

LO
K

 K
2

9
5

8
 S

 T
EX

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
2

N
o

 O
w

n
er

 li
st

ed
 a

t 
C

o
u

n
ty

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
6

N
O

YC
E 

JO
D

IE
 L

2
9

0
1

 W
 P

A
Z 

D
E 

A
V

EN
ID

A
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

4
2

O
TT

ER
 H

A
R

O
LD

4
4

1
0

 W
 R

O
U

TE
 6

6
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
9

O
TZ

EN
 L

IN
D

A
2

9
1

0
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
2

O
V

ER
TO

N
 K

IM
B

ER
LY

 A
2

9
3

1
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
3

P
ER

TE
A

 G
H

EO
R

G
H

E 
&

 M
O

N
IC

A
2

9
1

9
 W

 P
R

ES
ID

IO
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-3

3
-0

5
5

P
ET

R
IC

C
I J

O
SE

P
H

 P
 A

N
D

 J
A

N
IC

E 
M

3
0

7
0

 S
 S

U
R

R
EY

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

5



1
1

2
-6

2
-4

3
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-4

3
4

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
3

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
7

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

4
2

P
R

ES
ID

IO
 F

IN
A

N
C

IA
L 

LL
C

2
0

5
2

5
 E

 C
H

A
N

D
LE

R
 H

EI
G

H
TS

 D
R

Q
U

EE
N

 C
R

EE
K

A
Z

8
5

1
4

2

1
1

2
-6

2
-4

7
3

B
P

R
ES

ID
IO

 IN
 T

H
E 

P
IN

ES
 H

O
M

EO
W

N
ER

'S
 A

SS
O

C
 IN

C
3

2
3

 S
. R

IV
ER

 R
U

N
 R

D
 S

TE
 1

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
8

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
7

,

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
9

R
A

P
ER

 G
A

R
Y 

R
3

4
1

6
 N

 4
TH

 S
T

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

4

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

7
3

R
O

B
B

IN
S 

JO
H

N
 E

 &
 A

N
G

EL
A

 R
2

9
1

7
 S

 C
A

M
EL

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
1

R
O

SE
N

FE
LD

 R
O

N
A

LD
 B

 &
 T

IN
A

1
2

6
 P

EA
C

EA
B

LE
 R

ID
G

E 
R

D
R

ID
G

EF
IE

LD
C

T
6

8
7

7

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
4

R
O

ZE
LL

 T
R

U
ST

 D
TD

 1
2

/1
/1

1
6

3
2

2
 W

 M
EG

A
N

 S
T

C
H

A
N

D
LE

R
A

Z
8

5
2

2
6

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

1
6

SC
H

M
IE

D
ER

 J
O

E 
&

 N
A

N
C

Y
3

2
3

0
 N

 S
H

O
W

D
O

W
N

 P
L

TU
C

SO
N

A
Z

8
5

7
4

9

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

1
1

SH
A

Y 
R

O
LA

N
D

 L
2

9
2

7
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
5

SH
ER

M
A

N
 K

A
TH

ER
IN

E 
E

2
9

0
8

 W
 P

A
Z 

D
E 

A
V

EN
ID

A
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
9

SI
EG

 M
A

TT
H

EW
 &

 A
N

TO
N

IN
A

2
9

0
3

 W
 P

R
ES

ID
IO

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
8

SM
IT

H
 J

EF
FR

EY
 L

2
8

9
9

 W
 P

R
ES

ID
IO

 D
R

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

0
2

SN
ID

E 
TH

O
M

A
S 

K
 &

 M
A

R
IE

 G
2

9
2

2
 S

 P
EP

IT
A

 
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

3
1

ST
A

R
A

 IN
V

ES
TM

EN
TS

 L
LC

3
0

2
 N

 V
ER

D
E 

ST
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
3

ST
R

O
U

T 
ER

IN
 M

2
9

1
3

 W
 P

A
Z 

D
E 

A
V

EN
ID

A
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
9

SW
IR

E 
P

A
C

IF
IC

 H
O

LD
IN

G
S 

IN
C

1
2

6
3

4
 S

 2
6

5
 W

D
R

A
P

ER
U

T
8

4
0

2
0

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

7
1

TH
O

M
A

S 
M

A
TT

H
EW

2
9

2
5

 S
 C

A
M

EL
 D

R
FL

A
G

ST
A

FF
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

5
8

TH
O

M
A

S 
R

EV
O

C
A

B
LE

 T
R

U
ST

 D
TD

 5
-1

6
-0

6
2

9
3

8
 S

 T
EX

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
8

TR
U

EB
LO

O
D

 S
U

SA
N

1
8

6
7

 W
A

V
ER

LA
N

D
 C

IR
M

A
C

O
N

G
A

3
1

2
1

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
7

TR
U

M
P

ET
 H

IL
L 

R
EV

O
C

A
B

LE
 L

IV
IN

G
 T

R
U

ST
 D

TD
 4

-

1
8

-1
4

1
8

3
3

4
 W

 D
ES

ER
T 

TR
U

M
P

ET
 R

D
G

O
O

D
YE

A
R

A
Z

8
5

3
3

8

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

3
1

V
A

N
 K

A
M

P
EN

 K
O

R
EY

 &
 A

M
A

N
D

A
2

7
0

0
 S

 W
O

O
D

LA
N

D
S 

V
IL

LA
G

E 
B

LV
D

ST
E 

3
0

0
-2

2
8

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
1

V
IJ

 N
EE

R
A

J 
&

 J
EN

N
IF

ER
3

6
3

6
 E

 S
H

O
M

I S
T

P
H

O
EN

IX
A

Z
8

5
0

4
4

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
7

F,

1
1

2
-3

4
-0

0
1

A
W

 L
 G

O
R

E 
&

 A
SS

O
C

IA
TE

S 
IN

C
P

O
 B

O
X

 2
4

0
0

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

3

1
1

6
-0

4
-0

0
3

T
W

A
ST

E 
M

A
N

A
G

EM
EN

T 
O

F 
A

R
IZ

O
N

A
 IN

C
P

O
 B

O
X

 1
4

5
0

C
H

IC
A

G
O

IL
6

0
6

9
0

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

2
0

ZA
ZU

ET
A

 A
P

R
IL

 D
2

9
2

5
 W

 P
A

Z 
D

E 
A

V
EN

ID
A

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

1
1

2
-6

2
-0

6
2

ZE
R

G
ER

 A
D

A
M

 S
 &

 S
A

R
A

 K
2

9
5

4
 S

 T
EX

 L
N

FL
A

G
ST

A
FF

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1



G
R

O
U

P
 N

A
M

E
A

D
D

R
ES

S 
1

A
D

D
R

ES
S 

2
C

IT
Y

ST
A

TE
ZI

P
C

O
D

E
Fr

ie
n

d
s 

o
f 

Fl
ag

st
af

f'
s 

Fu
tu

re
P

.O
. B

o
x 

2
3

4
6

2
Fl

ag
st

af
f

A
Z

8
6

0
0

2

N
o

rt
h

er
n

 A
ri

zo
n

a 
B

u
ild

in
g 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
1

5
0

0
 E

as
t 

C
ed

ar
 A

ve
n

u
e,

 S
u

it
e 

8
6

Fl
ag

st
af

f
A

Z
8

6
0

0
4

N
o

rt
h

er
n

 A
ri

zo
n

a 
A

ss
o

ci
at

io
n

 o
f 

R
ea

lt
o

rs
Je

ff
re

y 
H

er
d

1
5

1
5

 E
as

t 
C

ed
ar

 A
ve

n
u

e,
 S

u
it

e 
C

-4
Fl

ag
st

af
f

A
Z

8
6

0
0

4

Ti
sh

 B
o

ga
n

-O
zm

u
n

5
2

7
1

 M
t.

 P
le

as
an

t 
D

ri
ve

Fl
ag

st
af

f
A

Z
8

6
0

0
4

M
ar

ily
n

 W
ei

ss
m

an
1

0
5

5
 E

as
t 

A
p

p
le

 W
ay

Fl
ag

st
af

f
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

M
au

ry
 H

er
m

an
C

o
as

t 
an

d
 M

o
u

n
ta

in
 P

ro
p

er
ti

es
3

 N
o

rt
h

 L
er

o
u

x 
St

re
et

Fl
ag

st
af

f
A

Z
8

6
0

0
1

N
at

 W
h

it
e

1
1

2
0

 N
o

rt
h

 R
o

ck
ri

d
ge

 R
o

ad
Fl

ag
st

af
f

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

C
h

ar
lie

 S
ilv

er
7

2
0

 W
es

t 
A

sp
en

 A
ve

n
u

e
Fl

ag
st

af
f

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

Fl
ag

st
af

f 
R

an
ch

 P
ro

p
er

ty
 O

w
n

er
s 

A
ss

o
ci

at
io

n
3

8
5

0
 S

o
u

th
 L

ar
ia

t 
Lo

o
p

Fl
ag

st
af

f
A

Z
8

6
0

0
5

Eq
u

es
tr

ia
n

 E
st

at
es

 H
o

m
eo

w
n

er
 A

ss
o

ci
at

io
n

C
ar

lo
s 

M
en

d
ez

2
5

1
5

 W
es

t 
K

ilt
ie

 L
an

e
Fl

ag
st

af
f

A
Z

8
6

0
0

1

In
te

re
st

ed
 P

ar
ti

es



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit B 



10
00

’ n
ot

ifi
ca

tio
n 

bo
un

da
ry

Ti
m

be
r S

ky



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit C 



November 20, 2015 

Recipient 

Address 

Address 

Request: Zone change and conceptual plat for Timber Sky 
Purpose: Conceptual plat for a master planned community and zone change 

from Rural Residential (RR) and General (G) to High Density 
Residential (HR), Medium Density Residential (MR), Single Family 
Residential (R1), Commercial Service (CS), and Public Open Space 
(POS). 

Location: The south side of Route 66 and west of Woody Mountain Road in 
Flagstaff, Arizona 

Size: Approximately 197 acres 
Owner: VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC 
Applicant: Vintage Partners, LLC 

Walter Crutchfield 
2502 East Camelback Road, Suite 214 
Phoenix, AZ 85016 
Phone: 602-459-9929 
walter@vintagevp.com 

Agent: Carolyn Oberholtzer, Esq. 
Bergin, Frakes, Smalley & Oberholtzer, PLLC 
4455 East Camelback Road, Suite A-205 
Phoenix, AZ 85018 
Phone: 602-888-7860 
Fax: 602-888-7856 
coberholtzer@bfsolaw.com 

The applicant team will hold two neighborhood meetings: 

Tuesday, December 8, 2015 
6:00pm – 8:00pm 
Kilted Cat (Thornager's) 
2640 West Kiltie Lane 
Flagstaff, AZ 86005 

Monday, December 14, 2015 
6:00pm – 8:00pm 
Doubletree by Hilton Hotel 
1175 W. Route 66 
Flagstaff, AZ 86001 

The format of each meeting will be open house style.  Light refreshments will be served. 

mailto:walter@vintagevp.com
mailto:coberholtzer@bfsolaw.com


Map of Area 

An application has been filed with the City of Flagstaff Planning and Development 
Services Department regarding the request above. This notice is being sent to you 
because property listed in your name is located within 600 feet of the site noted above. 
This notice is being sent to you to inform you of this application and to provide you with 
an opportunity to relay any questions, issues, or concerns regarding this application to 
the contact person listed in the top box of this page and/or attend the neighborhood 
meeting(s). 

THIS IS NOT A NOTICE OF A PUBLIC HEARING WITH THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION. HOWEVER, YOU MAY RECEIVE SUCH A NOTICE AT A FUTURE 
DATE IF THE APPLICATION IS SCHEDULED FOR HEARING. 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit D 





Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit E 



December 30, 2015 

Recipient 
Address 
Address 

Due to inclement weather, the neighborhood meeting for the Timber Sky master planned 
community (located on the south side of Route 66 and west of Woody Mountain Road) scheduled 
for December 14, 2015, was cancelled.  The development team is dedicated to giving everyone 
the opportunity to learn about Timber Sky and has rescheduled the meeting for: 

Monday, January 11, 2016 
6:00pm-8:00pm 

Doubletree by Hilton Hotel 
1175 West Route 66, Flagstaff 

The format for this meeting will be open house style, the same as the previously planned 
meeting.  The development team will have project boards throughout the meeting room and will 
be available to answer any questions and receive input.  Because the meeting is an open house, 
please feel free to come at the time most convenient for you. 

If you are unable to attend the meeting, but have questions or comments, please contact: 

Walter Crutchfield Carolyn Oberholtzer, Esq. 
Vintage Partners, LLC Bergin, Frakes, Smalley & Oberholtzer, PLLC 
2502 East Camelback Road, Suite 214 4455 East Camelback Road, Suite A-205 
Phoenix, AZ  85016 Phoenix, AZ  85018 
602-459-9929 602-888-7860
Walter@vintagevp.com COberholtzer@BFSOLaw.com

Thank you and we look forward to seeing you at the upcoming meeting. 



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit F 





Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit G 









Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit H 







Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit I 



From: Nat White [mailto:white@lowell.edu]  

Sent: Monday, January 04, 2016 9:32 AM 
To: Carolyn K. Oberholtzer 

Subject: Re: 12/14 Timber Sky Neighborhood Meeting 

Carolyn, 

    My suggestion is to move the higher density closer to the Woody Mt/66 intersection and widen the 
game way per game and fish suggestions. The closer high density is to town the better.  

 Nat 

On 12/14/2015 9:49 AM, Carolyn K. Oberholtzer wrote: 
Nat, 

Thank you for attending last week’s neighborhood meeting regarding the Timber Sky project.  I wanted 
to personally let you know that due to today’s weather conditions, we are cancelling tonight’s 
neighborhood meeting and postponing until January.  Please let me know if you have any questions- you 
heard it from the horse’s mouth/email  

Hope you have a happy and safe holiday season! 

Carolyn Oberholtzer 
Bergin, Frakes, Smalley & Oberholtzer, PLLC 
4455 East Camelback Road, Suite A-205 
Phoenix, Arizona 85018 
Direct: 602.888.7860 
Cell: 602.300.2560 
Fax: 602.888.7856 

Visit us at www.bfsolaw.com 

The information contained in this message is privileged and confidential.  It is intended only to be read 
by the individual or entity named above or their designee.  If the reader of this message is not the 
intended recipient, you are on notice that any distribution of this message, in any form is strictly 
prohibited.  If you have received this message in error, please immediately notify the sender by 
telephone at 602.888.7860 or by fax at 602.888.7856 and delete or destroy any copy of this 
message.  Thank you. 

mailto:white@lowell.edu
http://www.bfsolaw.com/


Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit J 



From: Walter Crutchfield <walter@vintagevp.com> 
Date: Wed, 13 Jan 2016 10:16:34 -0700 
To: Tina Sieg <tina.sieg@mvpeds.com> 
Subject: Re: Comments for Timber Sky Development Team 

Tina 

Thanks for forwarding your concerns. I was looking forward to seeing you at the neighborhood meeting but I 
am not sure you were there. 

 In terms of your comments I believe we have exceeded your expectations of the trail system and its 
connections both internally and to the FUTS trail system as well as the Flagstaff urban loop. I will put together 
some materials that detail this so you can review and comment further. 

The goal at Timber Sky is to "create the finest dark skies compliant master planned community in Arizona". 
We have designed this community with Flagstaff residents in mind. The amenities are outdoor, athletic, 
affordable and accessible. For example, we have multiple trail systems , we will work to bring the bike lane all 
the way out to the project, we are working with NAIPTA to bring a bus terminal so that every resident has the 
choice to walk to the terminal and leave their car at home. The main community area focuses on Dog Parks, 
Community gardens and athletic pursuits that don't have the barrier to entry like golf (cost). We have also 
made plans to allow wildlife to move through the development and generally created an outdoor focus that 
is oriented toward day time use.  I don't think a project like Timber Sky has been conceived or built in 
Flagstaff. It is certainly a lot of new ground for us. 

If you would like to discuss any of this please consider us here to serve you. 

Walter 

From: Tina Sieg <tina.sieg@mvpeds.com> 
Date: Mon, 11 Jan 2016 19:27:53 +0000 
To: Walter Crutchfield <walter@vintagevp.com> 
Subject: Comments for Timber Sky Development Team 

To whom it may concern, 

My family lives within Presidio in The Pines and enjoy all that Flagstaff Arizona and our subdivision 
offers.  However, in order to create a harmonious flow between your proposed community and our 
existing plan,  we have this submission for the development team.   

1. Pair new single family residences with existing single family residences in adjacent subdivisions.
2. Connect subdivision pathways and sidewalks to the urban trail system.

mailto:walter@vintagevp.com
mailto:tina.sieg@mvpeds.com
mailto:tina.sieg@mvpeds.com
mailto:walter@vintagevp.com


3. Consider single track sidewalks for new secondary trails to connect adjacent subdivisions as
desirable and inexpensive alternative to paved sidewalks.

4. Consider regional trail connections that share utility corridors.
5. Developers participate in as trail stakeholders with trail managers and other stakeholders.

Thank you for taking the time to read and consider the proposals above. 

Tina, Matt and Maddie Sieg 
Presidio In the Pines Homeowners 

PRIVILEGED AND CONFIDENTIAL: This document and the information contained herein are confidential and 
protected from disclosure pursuant to Federal law. This message is intended only for the use of the 
Addressee(s) and may contain information that is PRIVILEGED and CONFIDENTIAL. If you are not the intended 
recipient, you are hereby notified that the use, dissemination, or copying of this information is strictly 
prohibited. If you have received this communication in error, please erase all copies of the message and its 
attachments and notify the sender immediately.  



Timber Sky 
Citizen Participation Report 

September 20, 2016 

Exhibit K 



From: Hannah Griscom <HGriscom@azgfd.gov> 
Date: February 17, 2016 at 11:50:14 AM MST 
To: "walter@vintagevp.com" <walter@vintagevp.com> 
Cc: "Tish Bogan-Ozmun (tishflagstaff@gmail.com)" <tishflagstaff@gmail.com> 
Subject: Timber Sky wildlife recommendations 

Dear Walter Crutchfield, 

It was nice to meet you at the Timber Sky Open House meeting on January 11th, 2011 in Flagstaff.  Thank 
you for the opportunity to provide input on the proposed development project.  After seeing the 
preliminary plan for Timber Sky, the suggestions below represent my thoughts on how to maximize the 
value of the development for the ongoing use of wildlife and the enjoyment of such by residents.  Tish 
Bogan-Ozmun of Flagstaff’s Conservation Study Forum has asked me to copy her on this email so I have 
done so. 

Open Space Corridor   
I commend the set aside of open space/FUTS trail along the drainage that runs SW to N through the 
property.  This will yield benefits to residents and wildlife alike.  Maintaining as many existing trees in 
and adjacent to this open space corridor will foster wildlife use and help maintain the hydrologic 
integrity of the channel.  The current proposed width of this corridor is 100m.  Although this is a 
standard used in developments in the City, I have heard from many residents that it is not enough to 
encourage elk and deer to continue to move through the area.  Unfortunately, the Department has not 
developed firm guidelines in this area, and all I can say is “the wider and the more cover, the better” if a 
goal is to encourage continued wildlife use. I also applaud setting aside the rocky outcrop area on the 
eastern part of the property as open space.  Many rock outcrops in the Flagstaff area are associated with 
rare plants and provide important habitat for small wildlife. 

Fencing Standards 
Many fences prevent wildlife movement, and in some cases, can entangle wildlife.  If the ongoing use of 
wildlife is an objective of this development, I would recommend establishing fencing guidelines in the 
CCNRs that follow wildlife friendly design standards (1).  I would be happy to provide more specific 
guidance if desired, however in many subdivisions passed in the County recently, the idea of having no 
fencing, or wildlife-friendly fencing on the periphery of the development with small wildlife-exclusion 
fences for inner yards has gained traction.  Minimizing fencing along the open space corridor/FUTS 
corridor is especially important.  In contrast, I would recommend a fence that EXCLUDES wildlife along I-
40. This will help reduce road kill and “funnel” wildlife to Flagstaff Ranch or Woody Mountain Roads
where they have a better chance of surviving.

Possible Route 66 Underpass 
We briefly discussed the possibility of creating an underpass where the FUTS trail crosses Route 66.  If 
this comes to pass, it would be beneficial to wildlife and I could work more with you on design 
specifications that would encourage most wildlife to use it, thus reducing wildlife collisions with vehicles 
on Route 66(a problem in Flagstaff). 

Stormwater 
I recognize that the open space corridor is also designed to process stormwater that comes off lots in 
the development.  I would recommend that innovative Low Impact Development designs are used on 

mailto:HGriscom@azgfd.gov
mailto:walter@vintagevp.com
mailto:walter@vintagevp.com
mailto:tishflagstaff@gmail.com
mailto:tishflagstaff@gmail.com


EACH lot and road to minimize runoff before it reaches this main drainage.  These steps will minimize 
soil erosion as well as reduce pollution and degradation of the waterway. 

Maintaining Native Vegetation 
As much as possible, I recommend leaving the native cover on site throughout the design and building 
processes.  As you probably know, weeds can easily infest disturbed ground and be expensive and 
difficult to control.  There are other benefits in maximizing cover of existing and native plants;  they 
provide better habitat for wildlife and consume less water than most cultivars.   

Dark Skies 
I am pleased to hear that you are working diligently with the Naval Observatory on dark sky standards as 
these will yield rewards for wildlife use in the area as well. 

(1). http://www.azgfd.gov/hgis/documents/110125_AGFD_fencing_guidelines.pdf 

Thank you again for the opportunity to comment and do not hesitate to contact me if I can be of help 
moving forward,    
Hannah Griscom 
Urban Wildlife Planner 
Arizona Game and Fish Department 
3500 S. Lake Mary Rd. 
Flagstaff, AZ 86005 
email: hgriscom@azgfd.gov 
phone: 928-214-1252 

http://www.azgfd.gov/hgis/documents/110125_AGFD_fencing_guidelines.pdf
mailto:hgriscom@azgfd.gov


 

  

LIGHTING MITIGATION STANDARDS 

 
1) The purpose of these standards is to establish a set of mitigation strategies to be incorporated 

into  the  Codes,  Covenants  &  Restrictions  (CC&Rs)  for  the  Timber  Sky  Development  with 
significant thresholds required to revise these standards.  The Intent of these standards is that 
all private development within the project will not only meet the City of Flagstaff lighting code 
but will exceed them.  The Pre‐Annexation Development Agreement between the developers of 
Timber Sky and the City of Flagstaff will include these mitigation strategies as requirements of 
the CC&Rs.  For the term of the Development Agreement, the Timber Sky developers will not 
initiate any  lighting‐related amendment without  the  inclusion of  the U.S. Naval Observatory 
Flagstaff Station  in the discussion.    In connection with the project platting, the CC&Rs will be 
recorded against the property to pick up any gap between the application of the Development 
Agreement and  the CC&Rs, and  the CC&Rs will have special amendment criteria  limiting  the 
future homeowners’ association’s ability  to process amendments  related  to  these  standards 
such that amendments to the lighting mitigation standards will require approval by the City of 
Flagstaff City Council. 

2) Section 1—50.70.030 E. Public Rights‐of‐Way Exempt, of the City of Flagstaff Outdoor Lighting 
Standards contained in Division 10‐50.70 of the City code states “The provisions of this Division 
shall not apply to streetlights installed in public rights‐of‐way.”  The developers of Timber Sky, 
the City of Flagstaff (City) and the U.S Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station (NOFS) all agree that 
measures to limit and or reduce the light output of the streetlights and pedestrian lighting used 
to illuminate public rights‐of‐way in Zone 1 including those within the Timber Sky development 
beyond the City’s current standards is not the responsibility of the Timber Sky Development nor 
should revising these standards be a condition of zoning approval.   The developers of Timber 
Sky  commit  to work hand  in hand with  the City and NOFS  to develop  revised  standards  for 
lighting of the streetlights and pedestrian lighting used to illuminate public rights‐of‐way going 
forward, and will incorporate the revised standards into the design of said lighting at the City’s 
request. 

3) Lighting for each single family home developed within the R1, MR and HR zoning categories will 
be  limited  to  a  total of  1350  externally  installed  lumens, whether  attached  to  the dwelling 
structure or installed elsewhere on the lot.  This limit can be exceeded with the use of motion 
sensors on fixtures such that the non‐motion sensor light fixtures do not exceed the 1350 lumens 
limit.  These additional limits should no way be interpreted to allow the current limits set forth 
in the City of Flagstaff lighting code be exceeded for multi‐family residential development in the 
HR category. 



 

  

4) Exterior Lighting on single  family and multi‐family residential structures will be  fully shielded 
fixtures to be installed under canopies or overhangs a minimum of five (5) feet from the nearest 
edge not attached to the structure.  In situations where an overhang is not feasible or practical, 
a fully shielded fixture with motion sensor will be utilized. 

5) All common area property owned or managed by the master homeowner’s association, or one 
of the sub‐associations within a residential block, will be limited to security lighting and lighted 
entry monuments.    For  purpose  of  applying  the  City  of  Flagstaff  lighting  code,  lighted  entry 
monuments will be considered Class 1 Lighting, and security  lighting will be considered Class 2 
Lighting.  Care must be given to minimize lumens and to direct light downward or be completely 
shielded for these applications. 

6) With  the  exception  of  lighting  for  single  family  residential,  and  lighting  for  multi‐family 
residential  that meets  Section  4;  all  outdoor  lighting  will  use  “low‐pressure  sodium  (LPS), 
narrow‐spectrum  amber  LED,  PC  (“phosphor‐converted”)  amber  LED,  or  amber  compact 
fluorescent or equivalent.  An exception to this requirement will be for lighted entry monuments 
or other Class 1 lighting applications where color rendition is required.   

7) Care should be given to selecting building colors and materials where external lighting will be 
installed to minimize reflectivity.   Wall surfaces located below and within ten (10) feet laterally 
of any external light fixture will have a “light reflectance value” (LRV) of 15 or less. 

8) For commercial development within Block 12, Table 10‐50.70.050.D of the City's lighting code 
requires outdoor lighting in Zone 1 to be turned off at 9:00 pm or no later than 30 minutes after 
the business closes, whichever is later.  For any lighting fixtures exempted from this requirement 
in the lighting code, motion sensors will be utilized after 9:00 pm. 



Site

    W
oodlands Village Blvd.

Fl
ag

st
a�

 R
an

ch
 R

d.

Woody M
ountain Rd.

N
or

th
w

es
te

rn
 S

t.

Ra
ilr

oa
d 

Sp
rin

g 
Bl

vd
.

Patio Del Presidio

* Area currently marked has a 2 way 
   left-turn lane may be used as a 
   refuge for Professional River Out�tters

Presidio Dr.

University Ave.

Yale St.

Riordan Rd.

D
un

m
an

 S
t.

Th
om

ps
on

 S
t.

M
ilt

on
 R

d.

1

2

9

3 4 5
6

7
A

B

C

1 2 7

8

3 4

9

10

5 6

LEGEND NORTH

Thru or Turning Movement

Extended Queue

Changes by 2018

Changes by 2022

Changes by 2030

Stop Sign

Speed Limit

Traffic Signal Yield Sign

SPEED
L I M I T

40

Two-Way Left Turn-Lane

Raised Median

Bike Lane

8

10

SP
EE

D
L

I M
I T

45

SPEEDL I M I T35

S
P

E
E

D
L

IM
IT

45

S
P

E
E

D
L

IM
IT

40

SPEED

L
I M

I T

30

SP
EE

D

L
IM

IT 30

SPEED
L I M I T

40

SPEED
L I M I T

30

SPEED
L I M I T

40

SPEED

L I M
I T40

Exhibit A: 
Proposed Improvements to Mitigate Traffic Impacts

AA AB AC

Plaza
 W

ay

11

11

Flagstaff Ranch Rd & Route 66 Woody Mountain Rd & Route 66 Railroad Spring Blvd & Route 66 Thompson St & Route 66 Woodlands Village Blvd & Route 66 Yale St & Route 66 Riordan Rd & Route 66

Milton Rd & Route 66 Woody Mountain Rd & Presidio Dr

Woodlands Village Blvd & University Ave Woodlands Village Blvd & Plaza Way

Access A & Route 66 Access B & Route 66

Undesignated Bike Lane (or Unmarked Bike Lane)

Not Controlled
By Signal

*

Figure 10 - 2021 Total Traffic Volumes.xls
CivTechTimber Sky - Traffic Impact Analysis

Free Flow
Right-Turn Lane



Site

   W
oodlands Village Blvd.

Fl
ag

st
a�

 R
an

ch
 R

d.

Woody M
ountain Rd.

N
or

th
w

es
te

rn
 S

t.

Ra
ilr

oa
d 

Sp
rin

g 
Bl

vd
.

Patio Del Presidio

Presidio Dr.

University Ave.

Yale St.

Riordan Rd.

D
un

m
an

 S
t.

Th
om

ps
on

 S
t.

M
ilt

on
 R

d.

1

2

9

3 4 5
6

7
A

B

C

1 2 7

8

3 4

9

10

5 6

LEGEND NORTH

Thru or Turning Movement Changes by 2018

Changes by 2022

Changes by 2030

Stop Sign

Speed Limit

Traffic Signal Yield Sign

Signal Underground 
and Base

SPEED
L I M I T

40

Two-Way Left Turn-Lane

Raised Median

Bike Lane

8

10

SP
EE

D
L

I M
I T

45

SPEEDL I M I T35

S
P

E
E

D
L

IM
IT

45

S
P

E
E

D
L

IM
IT

40

SPEED

L
I M

I T

30

SP
EE

D

L
IM

IT 30

SPEED
L I M I T

40

SPEED
L I M I T

30

SPEED
L I M I T

40

SPEED

L I M
I T40

Exhibit B: 
Timber Sky Developer Funded Improvements

AA AB AC

Plaza
 W

ay

11

11

Flagstaff Ranch Rd & Route 66 Woody Mountain Rd & Route 66 Railroad Spring Blvd & Route 66 Thompson St & Route 66 Woodlands Village Blvd & Route 66 Yale St & Route 66 Riordan Rd & Route 66

Milton Rd & Route 66 Woody Mountain Rd & Presidio Dr

Woodlands Village Blvd & University Ave Woodlands Village Blvd & Plaza Way

Access A & Route 66 Access B & Route 66

Undesignated Bike Lane (or Unmarked Bike Lane)

Not Controlled
By Signal

*

Figure 10 - 2021 Total Traffic Volumes.xls
CivTechTimber Sky - Traffic Impact Analysis

Free Flow
Right-Turn Lane

Extended Queue

Phase 3 Cash Contribution Toward ADOT Federally Funded Project.

* Area currently marked has a 2 way 
left-turn lane may be used as a 
refuge for Professional River Out�tters



ADOT
Infrastructure Delivery and Operations Douglas A. Ducey, Governor

iohn S. Halikowski, Director
Dallas Hammit, State Engineer

Steve Boschen, Division Director

September 9, 2016

Tiffany Antol, AICP, CFM
Planning Development Manager
City of Flagstaff
Community Development
211 West Aspen Avenue
Flagstaff, AZ 86001

Subject: Timber Sky

Dear Ms. Antol:

ADOT has reviewed the proportional share documents submitted by Vintage for the Timber Ski
development in coordination with the approved TIA. The analysis done is acceptable to ADOT for our
purposes. Thank you for your assistance in the working partnership between ADOT and the City.

Sincerely,

Nate Reisner, P.E.
Northcentral District Development Engineer
1801 S. Milton Road
F’agstaff, AZ 86001

CC:
Audra E. Merrick, P.E. — Northcentral District Engineer

ARIZONA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

1801W. Jefferson St., Suite 120, MD 102M I Phoenix, AZ 85007 I azdot.gov



 

Page 1 of 5   

Proposed Improvements to address the impacts identified in the TIA 

September 9, 2016 

 
The approved Timber Sky Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA) dated June 23, 2016, was prepared by CivTech in 
support of the Rezoning and Preliminary Block Plat applications with the City of Flagstaff and a right‐of‐
way  encroachment  permit with  ADOT.    Figure  19  of  the  Study  identifies  proposed  improvements 
needed to address current deficiencies, the impacts of the Timber Sky project and the impact of other 
future growth  in the area.   Most of the recommended  improvements  involve Route 66 Right‐of‐Way 
(ROW) under ADOT’s jurisdiction with City connecting roads.   

The Traffic Study reflects that the current level of service on Route 66 between Woody Mountain Road 
and Milton Road is currently strained, even without the Timber Sky development and future growth. In 
discussions with ADOT we became aware of the opportunity for ADOT to utilize cash contributions from 
developers, whether they are on account with the City of Flagstaff already or yet to be made with City 
and ADOT funds to seek Federal aid funding for improvements to Route 66.    

A  chart has been prepared by CivTech  as part of  the  approved  TIA  identifying  each of  the needed 
improvements  along  with  the  calculated  Timber  Sky  proportional  share  of  those  improvements.  
CivTech has further estimated the costs of each of those improvements and added that information to 
the chart.  See attached Proportional Share Spreadsheet.  CivTech utilized historical ADOT unit costs and 
created conceptual design exhibits over an existing aerial image.  Through this effort CivTech created a 
conceptual preliminary cost estimate placing the total cost for the related improvements at $6,648,097.  
Applying  the  proportional  share  for  Timber  Sky, which  averaged  out  to  approximately  21%  of  the 
impacts, gave $1,403,494 as the Timber Sky share of these costs. 

The  developers  of  Timber  Sky  recognize  the  difficulty  in  having multiple  entities  all  trying  to work 
together to fund the needed  improvements and have therefore developed the following proposal to 
ADOT and the City as a way to address our impact to the Route 66 corridor transportation infrastructure 
off‐site of the project.    

1. Timber Sky will contribute $1,500,000 total to Offsite Transportation related improvements 

identified in the approved TIA for the Route 66 corridor impacting both ADOT and City 

ROW.  For the sake of this proposal, the cost for improvements on Route 66 immediately 

adjacent to the Timber Sky property, for the intersection of Flag Ranch Road in the County, 

and the Woodlands Village and University intersection in the City are not included in the 

term “Offsite Transportation related Improvement”, and will be in addition to the $1.5M 

contribution discussed herein. The offsite improvements immediately adjacent to Timber 

Sky have been listed in the approved TIA and will be required as part of the encroachment 

permit. 

2. As part of its first phase of development, Timber Sky will make the following Offsite 



 

Page 2 of 5   

Transportation related improvements: 

o Improve the Woodlands Village Blvd. & Route 66 Intersection:  
 To add dual left turn lanes in the west to south movement and provide for 

two thru lanes on Rte. 66 in each direction.  
 The existing eastbound Rte. 66 left turn lane, through lane, bike lane, and 

right turn lane will be converted into a left turn lane, through lane, 
through/right lane and a bike buffer.  

 The existing westbound right turn lane at Woodlands Village Blvd. on Rte. 66 
will be converted to a thru‐right.   

 The northbound Woodlands Village left turn lane / median will be modified 

to 250 to 300 feet of storage, final storage length to be worked out at final 

design. 

 Revise striping to extend westbound receiving lanes as feasible to be worked 

out during design.   

o A second east bound lane will be added to Route 66 from Woodlands Village Blvd. 

and will connect to the existing improvements approximately 300 feet to the east of 

Woodlands Village Blvd. near the existing bus shelter, in front of the Radisson’s 

Hotel.  We will add a lane of pavement, to match adjacent improvements, along 

with curb, gutter and sidewalk.  Where there is curb and gutter we will rebuild if it 

cannot be preserved; where there is shoulder and road side ditch we will add the 

necessary pavement drainage and underground storm drainage necessary to meet 

current ADOT guidelines and standards. 

o A second westbound lane will be added on Route 66 between Pinnacle St. and 

Woodlands Village Blvd.  We will add a lane of pavement, to match adjacent 

improvements, along with curb, gutter and sidewalk.   Where there is curb and 

gutter we will rebuild if it cannot be preserved; where there is shoulder and road 

side ditch we will add the necessary pavement drainage and underground storm 

drainage necessary to meet current ADOT guidelines and standards.  

o ADOT previously installed pull boxes and conduit for a future traffic signal at Woody 

Mountain and Route 66.  Timber Sky will install the remaining underground 

infrastructure for the future signal which will likely include foundations for the 

equipment.  ADOT will seek additional funding or projects to complete the traffic 

signal construction at the time Federal MUTCD warrants are met: this may include 

the utilization of ADOT signal maintenance funding and existing contributions made 

by other developments for the signal installation.  

o New striping will be provided to eastbound Rt. 66 approaching Woodlands Village 



 

Page 3 of 5   

Blvd. to convert the left turn lane, through lane, bike lane, and right turn lane into a 

left turn lane, through lane, through/right lane and a bike buffer 

o New striping will be provided to westbound Rt. 66 to convert the right turn lane at 

Pinnacle St to a thru/right lane.  

o At the request of ADOT and the City, Timber Sky has agreed to add new curb, gutter 

and sidewalk along the south side of Rte. 66 across from the Pinnacle Street 

intersection to close an existing gap in these improvements. 

o All improvements shall be designed and constructed using current ADOT guidelines 

and standards. 

o The attached Proposal Plan sheets for the conceptual design for the proposed 

improvements and the attached cost spreadsheet are consistent with each other 

and were used to estimate the minimum transportation related improvements 

needed to address the traffic impacts identified in the approved TIA. 

3. No Offsite Transportation related improvements or contributions will be made as part of 

the 2nd phase of the Timber Sky development, recognizing the financial burden Timber Sky 

has to develop a new well during phase 2 for the City that will cost over $2M. 

4. As Part of the 3rd phase of development, Timber Sky will make a cash contribution to the 

City of Flagstaff in an amount equal to $1,500,000 less what Timber Sky spent on the 

Offsite Transportation related improvements in Phase 1, if they were less than $1.5M.  This 

contribution will only be used to mitigate traffic congestion on Route 66 between Milton 

and the Timber Sky project.  The City Development Agreement will require this 

contribution be paid in order to obtain final acceptance of the Phase 3 infrastructure 

improvements by the City of Flagstaff. 

5. The portion of Route 66 immediately adjacent to the Timber Sky project will be built to full 
half  street  improvements per ADOT and City  standards as  the agencies have decided,  in 
phases 1 and 4 aligning with  the connection of  the  internal collector  roads  to Route 66.  
Any  transitions  from  one  to  two  lanes  will  be  handled  per  ADOT  Roadway  Design 
Guidelines and AASHTO Design Guidelines.  If pavement widths will accommodate striping 
tapers then they may be used. 

6. At  the  time  of  the  Phase  3  contribution,  if  federal  funding  sources  are  available, ADOT 
and/or  the  City may  use  the  cash  contribution  to  pursue  a  federally  funded  project  to 
improve West Route 66.   The project should address  the anticipated  traffic needs of  the 
approved TIA utilizing  funds  contributed  to  the City by other developers, along with  the 
Timber Sky contribution. 

7. Timber Sky will continue to work,  in good faith, with the City to accommodate the future 
Woody Mountain  /  I‐40  interchange.  If  an  agreement  cannot  be made  prior  to  platting 



 

Page 4 of 5   

Block 4 in Phase 3, the developer will notify ADOT of our intent to move forward with this 
Plat.    

This proposal is based on the following guidelines and/or assumptions: 

 No  additional  Right‐of‐Way  is  anticipated  to  be  needed  to  make  the  Phase  1 
improvements.    If additional  right of way  is needed  for an agreed upon  improvement  in 
Phase 1, Vintage and ADOT may need to renegotiate the terms of this agreement. 

 The Timber Sky development will bear the full cost of the Phase 1  improvements without 
request for reimbursement from other benefitted landowners, the City or ADOT in general.  
These  improvements  will  not  be  required  to  be  procured  through  public  procurement 
regulations. 

 Any  financial  contributions  already  made  to  the  City  by  other  developers  for  the 
improvements being made in Phase 1 will be added to the cash available for future projects 
on Route 66 where the City is able. 

 The  improvements and  contribution described herein constitute  the  full  responsibility of 
the Timber Sky project relative to the impacts identified in the approved TIA, 

 The  transportation  related  improvements  not  adjacent  to  the  Timber  Sky  project  are 
limited to the cost of the Phase 1  improvements  identified  in this proposal or a total cost 
burden  to  the development of $1.5M, whichever  is greater.   Any requests by  the City or 
ADOT to enhance beyond ADOT standard specifications and guidelines and or increase the 
scope of what will be built  in Phase 1 causing the project cost to be greater than $1.5M, 
would need to be funded by other sources but not the developer of Timber Sky. 

 This  proposal  assumes  that  The  Standard  or  others  will  be  making  the  needed 
improvements  to  the Riordan and Route 66  intersection.    If  those  improvements are not 
made, it will not affect the responsibility of the Timber Sky project nor this agreement. 

 The  land  use  identified  in  the  approved  TIA;  volume  of  traffic  produced  by  the 
development;  access  requirements  and  phasing  does  not  change  the  outcome  of  the 
approved TIA or negatively impact the corridor. 

It is worth noting that the Timber Sky TIA was limited in the number of phases that ADOT would allow, 
resulting in the phase 3 and phase 4 improvements of Timber Sky both being analyzed together as the 
2030 horizon year.  Because of the nature of our proposal, we understand the timing of the 3rd phase 
contribution to a Federal aid project for Route 66  is critical to the agencies efforts to secure funding.   
Although the TIA places our 3rd phase in 2030, market conditions could dramatically shorten the time 
frame to bringing phase 3 to market.  Based on a recent study of the current market, housing demand 
projections lead us to believe phase 3 may be needed as early as 2022.  That could change in the case of 
a recession or other factors resulting in reduced demand for new housing in the Flagstaff market.  If a 



 

Page 5 of 5   

reduced  demand  for  housing  causes  our  project  to  slow  down,  it  will  also  be  affecting  other 
development  in  the area of Route 66  thereby delaying  the needed  improvements  for  the Route 66 
improvements.  For these reasons we have proposed to drive the timing of our contribution for phase 3 
to the development of phase 3.  



Flagstaff, Arizona

PHASE 1

ROADWAY DESIGN

FIGURE 01

TIMBER SKY ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

            

          

              

            

CONCEPTUAL

SURVEY IS NEEDED FOR FINAL DESIGN

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

B40/Route 66

New Striping (typ)

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

Signal Modification
For Roadway Widening

New Sidewalk

Replace In Kind

New Sidewalk

Replace In Kind

Signal Modification
For Roadway Widening

Intersection of Woodlands Village Boulevard and Route 66

W
o
o
d
la

n
d
s
 
V
illa

g
e
 
B
o
u
le

v
a
rd

Obliterate Exist Striping

in Conflict (typ)

13’ Roadway

Widening

Remove/Reconfigure

Median

Left Turn Lane

Storage - 250’

Dual Left Turn Lane

Storage - 220’

cccccDGNcSPECIFICATIONccccccccccSYSTIMEccccc

CivTech Inc.
10605 N. Hayden Rd. 

Suite 140

Scottsdale, AZ 85260

480.659.4250 p

480.659.0566 f

info@civtech.com

ONLY

ONLY

ONLY



Flagstaff, Arizona

PHASE 1

ROADWAY DESIGN

FIGURE 02

TIMBER SKY ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONCEPTUAL

SURVEY IS NEEDED FOR FINAL DESIGN

Approximate R/W
To be verified by survey

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

B40/Route 66

Y
a
le
 
S
tr
e
e
t

New Striping (typ)

New Sidewalk
Replace in kind

Intersection of Yale Street and Route 66

New Sidewalk

Replace in Kind

6’ Roadway
Widening

Obliterate Exist Striping
in Conflict (typ)

12’ Roadway
Widening

Right Turn Lane
Storage - 100’

Obliterate Exist Striping
for Turn Lane Gap

cccccDGNcSPECIFICATIONccccccccccSYSTIMEccccc

CivTech Inc.
10605 N. Hayden Rd. 

Suite 140

Scottsdale, AZ 85260

480.659.4250 p

480.659.0566 f

info@civtech.com

ONLY
ONLY



Flagstaff, Arizona

PHASE 1

ROADWAY DESIGN

FIGURE 03

TIMBER SKY ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONCEPTUAL

SURVEY IS NEEDED FOR FINAL DESIGN

Approximate R/W
To be verified by survey

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

B40/Route 66

P
in

n
a
c
le
 
S
tr
e
e
t

6’ Roadway Widening

ROUTE-66, from Pinnacle Street to Riordan Road

R
io
rd

a
n
 

R
o
a
d

New Striping (typ)

New Sidwalk

Replace in Kind

Obliterate Exist Striping
in Conflict (typ)

New Sidewalk

Replace in Kind

cccccDGNcSPECIFICATIONccccccccccSYSTIMEccccc

CivTech Inc.
10605 N. Hayden Rd. 

Suite 140

Scottsdale, AZ 85260

480.659.4250 p

480.659.0566 f

info@civtech.com



Flagstaff, Arizona

TIMBER SKY ROADWAY IMPROVEMENTS

     
    

   

     
     

     
     

         
     

  

CONCEPTUAL

SURVEY IS NEEDED FOR FINAL DESIGN

B40/Route 66

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

Approximate R/W

To be verified by survey

W
O

O
D

Y
 

M
O

U
N

T
A
IN
 

R
O

A
D

Intersection of Woody Mountain Road and Route 66

New Signal Improvements

Underground Only (typ)

New Striping (typ)

PHASE 1

ROADWAY DESIGN

FIGURE 04

Left Turn Lane

Storage - 230’

cccccDGNcSPECIFICATIONccccccccccSYSTIMEccccc

CivTech Inc.
10605 N. Hayden Rd. 

Suite 140

Scottsdale, AZ 85260

480.659.4250 p

480.659.0566 f

info@civtech.com



24‐Aug‐16 3‐year unit rate increase 1.049

Proportional Share Calculations

Timber Sky

Prop share Total Prop Share Phase 1 

Site/Total Site/Background Site/Total

% % Cost Cost Proposal

Intersections

Access B New EB right turn lane 200' 100%

Access B New WB left turn lane 305' 100%

Woodlands & Route 66 New EB through lane 17.3% 20.9% $298,440 $51,630 $298,440

Woodlands & Route 66 New WB dual left turn lane 220' 17.3% 20.9% $240,723 $41,645 $240,723

Woodlands & Route 66 Extend NB left turn lane 100' 250 17.3% 20.9% $44,993 $7,784 $44,993

Woodlands & Route 66 Extend SB left turn lane 70' 200' 17.3% 20.9% $8,639 $1,495 $8,639

Yale & Route 66 New WB through lane 16.6% 19.9% $96,289 $15,984 $96,289

Yale & Route 66 (2030) Extend NB left turn lane 75' 100' 16.6% 19.9% $2,387 $396 $2,387

Woody Mtn & Route 66 (2022) Underground & Foundations 35.8% 55.90% $44,100 $15,788 $44,100

Segments ‐ Route 66 0

Woodlands ‐ Yale New (2nd) WB lane
(1)

16.2% 19.85% $72,217 $11,699 $72,217

Yale ‐ Riordan New (2nd) WB lane(1) 15.7% 19.75% $72,217 $11,338 $72,217

(1) Improvement described as shown in Figure 19 of TIA TOTAL $880,006 $157,759 $880,006

TOTAL WITH 3‐YEAR UNIT RATE ESCALATION $923,127 $165,490 $923,127

Prop share Total Prop Share

Site/Total Site/Background Site/Total

% % Cost Cost

Intersections

Woodlands & Route 66 Extend EB right turn lane 280' 495' 17.3% 20.9% $252,000 $43,596

Milton & Route 66 Extend SB right turn lane 110' 240' 8.5% 9.30% $162,000 $13,770

Riordan & Route 66 Stripe NB left turn lane 125' 16.4% 19.7% $23,250 $3,813

Riordan & Route 66 New signalization 16.4% 19.7% $1,288,000 $211,232

Riordan & Route 66 Stripe EB left turn lane TWLTL 105' 16.4% 19.7% $23,250 $3,813

Riordan & Route 66 Stripe WB left turn lane TWLTL 200' 16.4% 19.7% $23,250 $3,813

Railroad Springs & Route 66 New traffic signal 29.9% 42.7% $455,000 $136,045

Thompson & Route 66 New traffic signal 25.7% 34.5% $520,000 $133,640

Thompson & Route 66 Extend WB left turn lane 170' 345' 25.7% 34.5% $5,306 $1,364

Thompson & Route 66 Extend EB right turn lane 170' 495' 25.7% 34.5% $15,936 $4,096

TOTAL $2,767,992 $555,181

TOTAL WITH 3‐YEAR UNIT RATE ESCALATION $2,903,624 $582,386

Prop share Total Prop Share

Site/Total Site/Background Site/Total

% % Cost Cost

Intersections

Woody Mountain & Route 66 New traffic signal 35.8% 55.9% $396,900 $142,090

Thompson & Route 66 New EB through lane (Dedicated RTL Reconstructed) 25.7% 34.5% $99,761 $25,639

Woodlands & Route 66 Add 2nd NB left turn lane 100' 250 17.3% 20.9% $188,993 $32,696

Milton & Route 66 Extend NB left turn lane 150' 265' 8.5% 9.3% $18,000 $1,530

Segments ‐ Route 66

Railroad Springs ‐ Thompson New (2nd) WB lane 28.6% 42.6% $65,569 $18,753

Thompson ‐ Woodlands New (2nd) EB lane 26.5% 34.4% $132,085 $34,936

Thompson ‐ Woodlands New (2nd) WB lane 25.7% 34.5% $126,248 $32,382

TOTAL $1,027,555 $288,026

TOTAL WITH 3‐YEAR UNIT RATE ESCALATION $1,077,906 $302,140

Prop Share

Prop Share

2018 Proposed Improvement Existing  Proposed

2022 Proposed Improvement Existing  Proposed

Improvements by Others

Phase 1 Proposal

2018 Proposed Improvement Existing  Proposed

Prop Share



Prop share Total Prop Share

Site/Total Site/Background Site/Total

% % Cost Cost

Intersections

Access A New EB right turn lane 85' 100%

Access A New WB left turn lane 180' 100%

Woody Mountain & Route 66 Extend NB right turn lane 95' 265' 35.8% 55.9% $11,889 $4,256.26

Yale & Route 66 Extend NB left turn lane 75' 100' 16.6% 19.9% Improvement made in Phase 1

Railroad Springs & Route 66 New EB through lane 29.9% 42.7% $12,894 $3,855.44

Railroad Springs & Route 66 New WB through lane 29.9% 42.7% $111,029 $33,197.71

Thompson & Route 66 New WB through lane 25.7% 34.5% $14,028 $3,605.07

Woodlands & Route 66 New WB through lane 17.3% 20.9% Improvement made in Phase 1

Segments ‐ Route 66

Woody Mtn ‐ Northwestern New (2nd) WB lane 34.8% 55.8% $8,860 $3,079

Woody Mtn ‐ Northwestern New (2nd) EB lane 32.7% 55.8% $104,036 $33,968

Northwestern ‐ Railroad Springs New (2nd) EB lane 32.7% 42.6% $104,036 $33,968

Railroad Springs ‐ Thompson New (2nd) EB lane 28.4% 42.6% $116,050 $32,958

Woodlands ‐ Yale New (3rd) WB lane 16.2% 19.9% $589,590 $95,514

Yale ‐ Riordan New (3rd) WB lane 15.7% 19.8% $589,590 $92,566

TOTAL $1,662,002 $336,966

TOTAL WITH 3‐YEAR UNIT RATE ESCALATION $1,743,440 $353,478

TOTALS $6,648,097 $1,403,494

2030 Proposed Improvement Existing  Proposed

Prop Share



Site/Total Site/Background

1 Flagstaff Ranch Rd & Route 66 14.50% 17.00%

2 Woody Mountain Rd & Route 66 35.80% 55.90%

3 Railroad Spring Blvd & Route 66 29.90% 42.70%

4 Thompson St & Route 66 25.70% 34.50%

5 Woodlands Village Blvd & Route 66 17.30% 20.90%

6 Yale St & Route 66   16.60% 19.90%

7 Riordan Rd & Route 66   16.40% 19.70%

8 Milton Rd & Route 66   8.50% 9.30%

9 Woody Mountain Rd & Presidio Dr  25.70% 34.50%

10 Woodlands Village Blvd & University Ave 5.70% 6.10%

53 Northwestern St & Route 66   32.70% 48.60%

55 Dunham St & Route 66   28.70% 40.30%

58 Woody Mountain Rd & Patio Del Presidio 14.30% 16.70%

11 Woodlands Village Blvd & Plaza Way 7.30% 7.90%

ID Intersection Name

Proportional Share



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

NEW TRAFFIC SIGNAL L SUM 350,000 $1.00 $350,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $17,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 0% $0.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 0% $0.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 5% $17,500.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $35,000.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $35,000.00

$455,000.00

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 800 $3.50 $2,800.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 375 $4.00 $1,500.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 3,000 $3.00 $9,000.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 100 $75.00 $7,500.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 160 $95.00 $15,200.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 1,100 $1.50 $1,650.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,620 $0.50 $810.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 2 $300.00 $600.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 1 $300.00 $300.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 539 $0.30 $161.70

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 515 $38.00 $19,570.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 4,120 $3.00 $12,360.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$71,631.70

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $3,581.59

EROSION CONTROL 5% $3,581.59

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $7,163.17

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $7,163.17

DESIGN COSTS 15% $10,744.76

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $7,163.17

$111,029.14

WB Through Lane

Subtotal

Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Group B ‐ Improvements by others 

Railroad Springs & Route 66

Traffic Signal

Total



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

EB RTL EXTENSION - THROUGH LANE L SUM 1 $9,374.00 $9,374.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $937.40

EROSION CONTROL 5% $468.70

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $1,874.80

DESIGN COSTS 15% $1,406.10

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $1,874.80

Total $15,935.80

NEW TRAFFIC SIGNAL L SUM 400,000 $1.00 $400,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $20,000.00

EROSION CONTROL 0% $0.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 5% $20,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $40,000.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $40,000.00

Total $520,000.00

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 100 $3.50 $350.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 370 $4.00 $1,480.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 4,410 $3.00 $13,230.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 90 $75.00 $6,750.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 120 $95.00 $11,400.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 930 $1.50 $1,395.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,310 $0.50 $655.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 3 $300.00 $900.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 2 $300.00 $600.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 440 $0.30 $132.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 370 $38.00 $14,060.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 4,410 $3.00 $13,230.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$64,362.00

Estimated Contingency Items

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $3,218.10

EROSION CONTROL 5% $3,218.10

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $6,436.20

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $6,436.20

DESIGN COSTS 15% $9,654.30

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $6,436.20

$99,761.10

Subtotal

Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

GROUP C

 Thompson & Route 66

Traffic Signal

New EB Right Turn Lane ‐ after interim fix for two EB through lanes



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 550 $3.50 $1,925.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 700 $4.00 $2,800.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 5,600 $3.00 $16,800.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 430 $75.00 $32,250.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 590 $95.00 $56,050.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 2,000 $1.50 $3,000.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 3,530 $0.50 $1,765.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 2,350 $0.30 $705.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 700 $38.00 $26,600.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 5,600 $3.00 $16,800.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

RIGHT OF WAY ACQUISITION (2200 LF X 10 FT wide) SQ FT. 22,000 $30.00 $660,000.00

$818,875.00

Estimated Contingency Items

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2% $16,377.50

EROSION CONTROL 2% $16,377.50

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $81,887.50

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $81,887.50

DESIGN COSTS 10% $81,887.50

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $81,887.50

$1,179,180.00Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Group F ‐ Improvements by others

Route 66 Widening Woodlands Village Boulevard to Riordan Road ‐ 3rd Through Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

SB RIGHT TURN LANE L SUM 1 $100,000.00 $100,000.00

ROW Acquisition (50 LF x 12 ft of width) SF 600 $30.00 $18,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2% $2,000.00

EROSION CONTROL 2% $2,000.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $10,000.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $10,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $10,000.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $10,000.00

Total $162,000.00

EXTEND NB LEFT TURN LANE L SUM 1 $10,000.00 $10,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $1,000.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $500.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $1,000.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $2,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 15% $1,500.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $2,000.00

Total $18,000.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Intersection of Milton Road & Route 66



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

STRIPE NB LEFT TURN LANE L SUM 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $1,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $750.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $3,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 0% $0.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $3,000.00

TOTAL $23,250.00

STRIPE EB LEFT TURN LANE L SUM 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $1,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $750.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $3,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 0% $0.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $3,000.00

TOTAL $23,250.00

STRIPE WB LEFT TURN LANE L SUM 1 $15,000.00 $15,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $1,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $750.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $3,000.00

DESIGN COSTS 0% $0.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $3,000.00

TOTAL $23,250.00

NEW SIGNAL AT RIORDAN ROAD L SUM 1 $1,150,000.00 $1,150,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 1% $11,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 1% $11,500.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 0% $0.00

DESIGN COSTS 0% $0.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $115,000.00

$1,288,000.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Intersection of Riordan Road & Route 66

Total



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

EB RIGHT TURN LANE ROADWAY ITEMS L SUM 1 $75,000.00 $75,000.00

SIGNAL MODIFICATION L SUM 1 $100,000.00 $100,000.00

Subtotal $175,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2% $3,500

EROSION CONTROL 2% $3,500.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $17,500.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $17,500.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $17,500.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $17,500.00

$252,000.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Woodlands & Route 66 New EB Right Turn Lane

Total



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 200 $3.50 $700.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 520 $4.00 $2,080.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 5,835 $3.00 $17,505.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 200 $75.00 $15,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 200 $95.00 $19,000.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 3,900 $1.50 $5,850.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 4,860 $0.50 $2,430.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 800 $0.50 $400.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 1,700 $0.30 $510.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 1,100 $0.30 $330.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 520 $38.00 $19,760.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 5,835 $3.00 $17,505.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 3 $2,000.00 $6,000.00

SIGNAL MODIFICATION (FOR WIDENING) L SUM 1 $100,000.00 $100,000.00

$207,250.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 2% $4,145.00

EROSION CONTROL 2% $4,145.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $20,725.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $20,725.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $20,725.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $20,725.00

$298,440.00

Subtotal

Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Woodlands & Route 66 New EB Through Lane

Opinion of Probable Cost



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 500 $3.50 1,750.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 320 $4.00 1,280.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 4,718 $3.00 14,154.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 430 $75.00 32,250.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 650 $95.00 61,750.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 6 $60.00 360.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 2000 $1.50 3,000.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 2990 $0.50 1,495.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 1490 $0.50 745.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") LF 720 $0.80 576.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 6 $300.00 1,800.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 3 $300.00 900.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) LF 2500 $0.30 750.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) LF 990 $0.30 297.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 320 $38.00 12,160.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 4,718 $3.00 14,154.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 2 $2,000.00 4,000.00

Storm Drain Contingency L SUM 1 $100,000.00 100,000.00

SIGNAL MODIFICATION (FOR WIDENING) L SUM 1 $100,000.00 100,000.00

351,421.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 1% $3,514.21

EROSION CONTROL 1% $3,514.21

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $35,142.10

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 5% $17,571.05

DESIGN COSTS 10% $35,142.10

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $35,142.10

$481,446.77

(1) Cost reflects two lanes in each direction of travel while the title refers to the improvement required by the TIA

Subtotal

Total

Route 66 WB Through Lane: Woodlands to Yale & Yale to Riordan(1)

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 0 $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 218 $4.00 $872.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 800 $3.00 $2,400.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 0 $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 0 $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 6 $60.00 $360.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 800 $1.50 $1,200.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,600 $0.50 $800.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 6 $300.00 $1,800.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 1,600 $0.30 $480.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 218 $38.00 $8,284.00

9080201 CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 800 $3.00 $2,400.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

CONCRETE (FOR MEDIAN) SQ FT 800 $8.00 $6,400.00

$24,996.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $2,499.60

EROSION CONTROL 5% $1,249.80

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $2,499.60

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $4,999.20

DESIGN COSTS 15% $3,749.40

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $4,999.20

$44,992.80

Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 0 $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 218 $4.00 $872.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 800 $3.00 $2,400.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 0 $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 0 $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 6 $60.00 $360.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 800 $1.50 $1,200.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,600 $0.50 $800.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 6 $300.00 $1,800.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 1,600 $0.30 $480.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 218 $38.00 $8,284.00

9080201 CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 800 $3.00 $2,400.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

CONCRETE (FOR MEDIAN) SQ FT 800 $8.00 $6,400.00

ROW Acquisition (assume 12 feet width X 400 feet) SF 4,800 $30.00 $144,000.00

$168,996.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $2,499.60

EROSION CONTROL 5% $1,249.80

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $2,499.60

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $4,999.20

DESIGN COSTS 15% $3,749.40

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $4,999.20

$188,992.80

Woodlands & Route 66 add 2nd NB Left Turn Lane

Subtotal

Total

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Woodlands & Route 66 Extend NB Left Turn Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 0 $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 0 $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 0 $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 0 $60.00 $0.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 800 $1.50 $1,200.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 4,800 $0.50 $2,400.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 720 $0.80 $576.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 2,079 $0.30 $623.70

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$4,799.70

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $479.97

EROSION CONTROL 5% $239.99

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $479.97

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $959.94

DESIGN COSTS 15% $719.96

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $959.94

$8,639.46Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Woodlands & Route 66 Extend SB Left Turn Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 100 $3.50 $350.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 20 $75.00 $1,500.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 20 $95.00 $1,900.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 4 $60.00 $240.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 200 $1.50 $300.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,550 $0.50 $775.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 200 $0.80 $160.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 4 $300.00 $1,200.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 600 $0.30 $180.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$6,605.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $660.50

EROSION CONTROL 5% $330.25

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $660.50

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $1,321.00

DESIGN COSTS 15% $990.75

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $1,321.00

$11,889.00Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Woody Mountain & Route 66 Extend NB Right Turn Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 0 $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 0 $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 0 $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 0 $60.00 $0.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 260 $1.50 $390.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,560 $0.50 $780.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 520 $0.30 $156.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE MEDIAN SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$1,326.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $132.60

EROSION CONTROL 5% $66.30

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $132.60

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $265.20

DESIGN COSTS 15% $198.90

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $265.20

$2,386.80Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Yale and Route 66 NB Left Turn Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 200 $3.50 $700.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 200 $75.00 $15,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 200 $95.00 $19,000.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 4 $60.00 $240.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 2,000 $1.50 $3,000.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 900 $0.50 $450.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 600 $0.30 $180.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$38,570.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $1,928.50

EROSION CONTROL 5% $1,928.50

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $3,857.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $3,857.00

DESIGN COSTS 20% $7,714.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $7,714.00

$65,569.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Subtotal

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Route 66: Railroad Springs to Thompson Westbound



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 400 $3.50 $1,400.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 400 $75.00 $30,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 500 $95.00 $47,500.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 5 $60.00 $300.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 3,200 $1.50 $4,800.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 2,900 $0.50 $1,450.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 4,700 $0.50 $2,350.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 1,200 $0.80 $960.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 2,700 $0.30 $810.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 3,100 $0.30 $930.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00
9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$90,500.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $4,525.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $4,525.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $9,050.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $9,050.00

DESIGN COSTS 15% $13,575.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $9,050.00
$140,275.00

Subtotal

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Route 66: Thompson to Woodlands Westbound



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 300 $3.50 $1,050.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 400 $75.00 $30,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 500 $95.00 $47,500.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 0 $60.00 $0.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 2,700 $1.50 $4,050.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 2,880 $0.50 $1,440.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 600 $0.80 $480.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 2,320 $0.30 $696.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00
9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$85,216.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $4,260.80

EROSION CONTROL 5% $4,260.80

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $8,521.60

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $8,521.60

DESIGN COSTS 15% $12,782.40

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $8,521.60
$132,084.80

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Subtotal

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Route 66: Thompson to Woodlands Eastbound



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 0 $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 0 $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 0 $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 0 $1.50 $0.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 2,100 $0.50 $1,050.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 640 $0.50 $320.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 1 $300.00 $300.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 2 $300.00 $600.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 700 $0.30 $210.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 960 $0.30 $288.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$2,948.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $294.80

EROSION CONTROL 5% $147.40

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $294.80

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $589.60

DESIGN COSTS 15% $442.20

TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $589.60

$5,306.40Total

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Thompson & Route 66 ‐ Extend Westbound Left Turn Lane

Subtotal



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. $3.50 $0.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. $75.00 $0.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON $95.00 $0.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 3 $60.00 $180.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 1,500 $1.50 $2,250.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 1,900 $0.50 $950.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 240 $0.80 $192.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 2 $300.00 $600.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 1 $300.00 $300.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 1,500 $0.30 $450.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00
9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$4,922.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 10% $492.20

EROSION CONTROL 5% $246.10

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $492.20

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 20% $984.40

DESIGN COSTS 15% $738.30
TRAFFIC CONTROL 20% $984.40

$8,859.60

Subtotal

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Route 66: Woody Mountain to Northwestern



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 500 $3.50 $1,750.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 400 $75.00 $30,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 500 $95.00 $47,500.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 0 $60.00 $0.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 1,400 $1.50 $2,100.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 2,600 $0.50 $1,300.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00
7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 1,800 $0.30 $540.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00
9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$83,190.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $4,159.50

EROSION CONTROL 5% $4,159.50

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $8,319.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $8,319.00

DESIGN COSTS 15% $12,478.50

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $8,319.00
$128,944.50

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Subtotal

Total

Route 66: Railroad Springs to Thompson Eastbound

Opinion of Probable Cost



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

2020039 REMOVAL OF ASPHALTIC CONCRETE PAVEMENT SQ. YD. 600 $3.50 $2,100.00

2020020 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE CURB L. FT. 0 $4.00 $0.00

2020025 REMOVAL OF CONCRETE SIDEWALK SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00

3030022 AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 2 CU. YD. 600 $75.00 $45,000.00

4090003 ASPHALTIC CONCRETE (MISCELLANEOUS STRUCTURAL) TON 850 $95.00 $80,750.00

7015051 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (ARROW, SYMBOL OR LEGEND) EACH 0 $60.00 $0.00

7015052 OBLITERATE PAVEMENT MARKING (STRIPE) L. FT. 2,300 $1.50 $3,450.00

7040005 PAVEMENT MARKING (WHITE EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT. 4,200 $0.50 $2,100.00

7040006 PAVEMENT MARKING (YELLOW EXTRUDED THERMOPLASTIC) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.50 $0.00

7040072 PAVEMENT MARKING (TRANSVERSE) (THERMOPLASTIC) (ALKYD) (0.090") L.FT 0 $0.80 $0.00

7050023 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, SINGLE ARROW EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7050026 PAVEMENT MARKING, PREFORMED, TYPE I, LEGEND (ONLY) EACH 0 $300.00 $0.00

7080001 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (WHITE) L.FT 2,800 $0.30 $840.00

7080011 PERMANENT PAVEMENT MARKING (PAINTED) (YELLOW) L.FT 0 $0.30 $0.00

9080085 CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER L. FT. 0 $38.00 $0.00

9080201 CONCRETE SIDEWALK (C-05.20) SQ. FT. 0 $3.00 $0.00
9080296 CONCRETE SIDEWALK RAMP EACH 0 $2,000.00 $0.00

$134,240.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 5% $6,712.00

EROSION CONTROL 5% $6,712.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 10% $13,424.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 10% $13,424.00

DESIGN COSTS 15% $20,136.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $13,424.00
$208,072.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Subtotal

Total

Opinion of Probable Cost

Route 66: Woody Mountain Road to Railroad Springs Eastbound



Item No. Description Unit Quantity Unit Price Cost

NEW SIGNAL AT WOODY MOUNTAIN ROAD L SUM 1 $350,000.00 $350,000.00

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY 1% $3,500.00

EROSION CONTROL 0% $0.00

MOBILIZATION, GRADING, SEEDING, TESTING, INSPECTION 0% $0.00

CONTINGENCY (DESIGN ITEMS NOT ACCOUNTED FOR) 5% $17,500.00

DESIGN COSTS 10% $35,000.00

TRAFFIC CONTROL 10% $35,000.00

$441,000.00

Timber Sky Conceptual Roadway Design

Opinion of Probable Cost

Intersection Signalization ‐ Woody Mountain Road & Route 66

Total



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF, 
AMENDING THE FLAGSTAFF ZONING MAP TO REZONE APPROXIMATELY 
197.58 ACRES OF REAL PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED AT 3425 
WEST ROUTE 66 ON PARCEL NUMBERS 112-01-020 AND 112-02-021 
FROM THE RURAL RESIDENTIAL (RR) ZONE TO THE SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL (R1) ZONE FOR 100.48 ACRES, THE MEDIUM DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL (MR) ZONE FOR 34.6 ACRES, THE HIGH DENSITY 
RESIDENTIAL (HR) ZONE FOR 38.97 ACRES, THE COMMERCIAL 
SERVICES (CS) ZONE FOR 10.02 ACRES AND THE PUBLIC OPEN SPACE 
(POS) ZONE FOR 13.51 ACRES AND APPLYING THE RESOURCE 
PROTECTION OVERLAY (RPO) ZONE TO 107.73 ACRES (APN 112-01-021)
WITH CONDITIONS; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, AND ESTABLISHING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE

RECITALS:

WHEREAS, VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC (the “Applicant”) applied for a Zoning Map
Amendment to rezone approximately 197.58 acres of land generally located at 3425 West 
Route 66, Coconino County, Arizona, a legal description of which is provided in Exhibit “A”
attached hereto (“the Property”), in order to construct a 1300 residential dwelling unit 
development known as Timber Sky, including a mix of housing types with supporting commercial 
services and open space areas; and

WHEREAS, approximately 107.73 acres of the Property (APN 112-01-021) is located within
Coconino County, Arizona and Applicant has petitioned to have the parcel annexed by the 
City through Annexation Ordinance No. 2016-38, which is being considered by the City 
Council concurrently with this Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, if Council adopts Annexation Ordinance 2016-38, the entirety of the Property will be 
zoned Rural Residential (RR); and

WHEREAS, the Applicant proposes to develop the Property pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of this Ordinance and a Development Agreement between Applicant and the City 
(“Agreement”), which will be presented to the City Council through a proposed resolution at the 
second reading of this Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the Applicant’s development plans, the Applicant has applied to 
the City of Flagstaff to amend the zoning of the Property from the Rural Residential (RR) zone 
to the Single-family Residential (R1) Zone for 100.48 acres, the Medium Density (MR) Zone for 
34.6 acres, the High Density Residential (HR) Zone for 38.97 acres, the Commercial Services 
(CS) Zone for 10.02 acres and Public Open Space (POS) Zone for 13.51 acres and apply the 
Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 107.73 acres (APN 112-01-021); and 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 2

WHEREAS, the Applicant conducted neighborhood meetings on December 8, 2015 and 
January 11, 2016, to discuss the proposed Zoning Map Amendment with the surrounding 
community, as required by Section 10-20.50.040 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has formally considered the present Zoning 
Map Amendment application following proper notice and public hearings on September 28, 
2016 and October 12, 2016, and has recommended approval of the requested zoning 
application, subject to the Applicant’s compliance with certain conditions set forth below; and

WHEREAS, the Council finds that the Applicant has complied with all application requirements 
set forth in Chapter 10-20 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code; and

WHEREAS, staff have recommended approval of the Zoning Map Amendment application, 
subject to the conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as augmented by 
staff, as set forth below, and the Council has considered each of the conditions and has found 
each condition to be appropriate for the Property and necessary for the proposed development;
and

WHEREAS, the Council has read and considered the staff reports prepared by the Planning
Division and all attachments to those reports, the Applicant’s application, the narrative provided 
by the Applicant, and all statements made by the Applicant during the presentation to Council,
and the Council finds that the proposed Zoning Map Amendment, subject to the conditions set 
forth below, meets the findings required by Section 10-20.50.040(F)(1)(a) of the Flagstaff 
Zoning Code;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1.  The foregoing recitals are incorporated as if fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2.  The amendment requested in the application is consistent with and conforms to 
the goals of the General Plan.

SECTION 3.  The amendment requested in the application will not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience or welfare of the City and will add to the public good as 
described in the General Plan.

SECTION 4.  The affected site is physically suitable in terms of design, location, shape, size, 
operating characteristics, and the provision of public and emergency vehicle access and public 
services and utilities to ensure that the amendment requested in the application will not 
endanger, jeopardize or otherwise constitute a hazard to the property or improvements in the 
vicinity in which the property is located.

SECTION 5.  The Zoning Map designation for the Property is hereby amended from the Rural 
Residential (RR) zone to the Single-family Residential (R1) Zone for 100.48 acres, the Medium 
Density (MR) Zone for 34.6 acres, the High Density Residential (HR) Zone for 38.97 acres, the 



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 3

Commercial Services (CS) Zone for 10.02 acres and Public Open Space (POS) Zone for 13.51, 
as depicted in Exhibit “B”, and applying the Resource Protection Overlay (RPO) zone to 107.73 
acres (APN 112-01-021) through the approval of the application and all other documents 
attached to the staff summary submitted in support of this ordinance.

SECTION 6.  The City is specifically relying on all assertions made by the Applicant, or the 
applicant’s representatives, whether authorized or not, made at the public hearing on the zone 
change application unless the assertions were withdrawn on the record.  Those assertions are 
hereby incorporated into this ordinance.

SECTION 7. That the Zoning Map Amendment be conditioned on compliance with that 
Agreement between the City of Flagstaff and the Applicant, approved by the City Council in 
Resolution No. 2016-35 on November 15, 2016.

SECTION 8.  That the Zoning Map Amendment be further conditioned upon the Applicant’s 
satisfaction of the following conditions proposed by the Planning and Zoning Commission, as 
augmented by staff:

CONDITIONS:

1. The subject property must be developed in accordance with the concept zoning plan and 
narrative dated August 12, 2016 for "Timber Sky" as presented with this rezoning request.  
The development of Timber Sky shall not exceed 1,300 dwelling units and shall have no 
less than 910 dwelling units within the residential zones.  Allowed uses are limited to those 
included in the above referenced concept zoning plan.

2. If any use(s) within the concept zoning plan are proposed but were not modeled in the 
approved Traffic Impact Study or Water and Sewer Impact Analysis, a revised impact 
analysis must be prepared, approved and mitigated.

3. All other requirements of the Zoning Code and other City codes, ordinances and 
regulations, are met by the proposed development.

4. Applicant must install at their expense, with no financial obligation to the County, a left 
turn lane on Route 66 at Flagstaff Ranch Road in the County right-of-way in accordance 
with the recommendations of the approved Traffic Impact Analysis. Improvements must 
be designed to ADOT standards and installed prior to the issuance of the first building 
permit in Phase1.

5. The public utility easement for the portion of the Westside Sewer Line Extension (Route 
66 to I-40) across the subject property shall be provided as a dedication on the final plat 
for Phase 1.

6. Internal connections between Blocks must be provided to the greatest extent feasible 
with special attention to connections from each block to the designated open space/civic 
space areas as well as adjacent activity centers.

7. Each phase of the Timber Sky development must meet all requirements independently.



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 4

8. Applicant must grant permanent public pedestrian easements on all trails within the 
development of Timber Sky. Such easements must be shown on final plats.

9. A new Drainage Impact Analysis must be submitted and approved for the eastern side of 
the property if all drainage flows cannot be directed towards the westerly drainage corridor.  

10. All terms, conditions, and restrictions detailed within the “Timber Sky Annexation and 
Development Agreement” must be fully satisfied.

11. If the applicant fails to obtain final plat approval for Phase 1 of Timber Sky, or obtain an 
extension of zoning within five (5) years of the effective date of the rezoning ordinance, the 
City Council may take action to revert the zoning back to the former classification of RR, 
Rural Residential District, per Section 10-20.50.060 of the Zoning Code.

SECTION 9.  That City staff is hereby authorized to take such other and further measures and 
actions as are necessary and appropriate to carry out the terms, provisions and intents of this 
Ordinance.

SECTION 10. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance 
or any part of the code adopted herein by reference is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall not 
affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.

SECTION 11.  This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days following the effective date 
of Ordinance No. 2016-38. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 15th day of November, 
2016.

MAYOR

ATTEST:

CITY CLERK

APPROVED AS TO FORM:



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 5

CITY ATTORNEY



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 6

Exhibit “A”

Legal Description of Property



ORDINANCE NO. 2016-39 PAGE 7

Exhibit “B”

Legal Description of New Zoning Districts



 

 

 1 

When recorded, mail to: 

 

City Clerk 

City of Flagstaff 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, Arizona  86001 

 

 

 

 

 

 

________________________________________ 

 

 

TIMBER SKY ANNEXATION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

AMONG 

 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 

 

AND  

 

VP 66 & WOODY MOUNTAIN, LLC 

________________________________________ 



 2 

ANNEXATION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS ANNEXATION AND DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made as 

of this 15th day of November, 2016, among the City of Flagstaff, a municipal corporation 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Arizona (“City”), and VP 66 & Woody 

Mountain, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company (“Owner”).   

 

RECITALS 

 

A. The Owner owns approximately 197.58 acres of real property situated south and west of 

the intersection of Route 66 and Wood Mountain Road within Coconino County, Arizona, 

and partially within the incorporated boundaries of the City of Flagstaff, Arizona, as 

depicted generally and described legally in Exhibit A (the “Property” or “Project”), 

attached to this Agreement.   

 

B. The Owner and City desire that the portion of the Property currently within Coconino 

County be annexed into the corporate limits of the City and be developed as part of the 

City.  The Property to be annexed is depicted generally and described legally in Exhibit B 

(the “Annexation Property”), attached to this Agreement.    

 

C. The annexation and development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement and the 

Concept Zoning Plan, dated August 9, 2016 and attached as Exhibit C (the “CZP”) is 

acknowledged by the parties to be consistent with the City’s General Plan, will operate to 

the benefit of the City, the Owner and the general public.  The annexation of the Property 

would allow the City to provide for high-quality development in the area and ensure 

orderly, controlled and quality growth in the City, including enhanced citizen pedestrian 

and vehicular mobility by widening US Route 66 at the western part of the City and creating 

connections to the Flagstaff Urban Trail System and the City Loop Trail.   

 

D. The CZP contains exhibits and conceptual renderings that convey a scope and direction for 

the phasing of the parcels, which will be individually developed pursuant to the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement and subject to all applicable City ordinances, regulations, and 

resolutions, as provided in this Agreement, including requirements for conditional use 

permits.  Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Timber Sky community will provide 

a mix of new housing options, including a minimum of 100 housing units that will be sold 

at 100% of the Area Median Income (“AMI”). 

 

E. The City and the Owner are entering into this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of 

Arizona Revised Statutes (“A.R.S.”) § 9-500.05 (pertaining to development agreements) 

in order to facilitate the proper municipal zoning designation and development of the 

Property by providing for, among other things: conditions, terms, restrictions, and 

requirements for the permitted uses of the Property, the density and intensity of such uses, 

and other matters related to development of the Property as depicted on the CZP.  This 

Agreement will also provide for a mechanism to establish dark skies measures beyond 

current city standards that will govern future development on the Property.  

 



 3 

F. A blank annexation petition was filed on October 11, 2016 with Coconino County and a 

public hearing was held on November 1, 2016, in connection with the annexation of the 

Annexation Property into the City. 

 

G. The City desires to annex the Annexation Property into the incorporated limits of the City 

and intends to rezone the Annexation Property and Property to zoning classifications 

consistent with the Flagstaff Region Plan 2030 (FRP2030) and CZP, and provide for a 

maximum overall residential unit count of 1300 (the “CZP Ordinance”). 

 

H. The City has an interest in ensuring that the development of the Property complies with 

City standards for development and engineering improvements, and the City believes that 

development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement will result in planning, safety and 

other benefits to the City and its residents as enumerated in these Recitals and this 

Agreement.     

 

I.  The Owner acknowledges that development of the Property pursuant to this Agreement 

will be beneficial and advantageous to the Owner by providing assurances to the Owner 

that they will have the ability to develop the Property within the City pursuant to this 

Agreement under the zoning described in the CZP.  

 

J. The public services/infrastructure improvements to be provided by Owner, which are 

necessary to serve development within the Property, will also, in certain instances, facilitate 

and support the development of other projects in the region.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises and covenants 

contained in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 

AGREEMENT 

 

1. Annexation, Effective Date and Term.   

 

 1.1 Annexation.   Concurrently with the execution of this Agreement by the City and 

Owner, Owner will deliver to the City an appropriate Petition for Annexation duly executed by all 

necessary property owners and satisfying the applicable statutory requirements (the “Annexation 

Petition”).  Upon receipt of the Annexation Petition, the City Council will consider the petition 

and, if determined to be in the best interest of the City, adopt a final ordinance annexing the 

Property into the corporate limits of the City (the “Annexation Ordinance”).  The Annexation 

Ordinance will contain a provision requiring, upon Owner’s written request made prior to the 

effective date, the immediate rescission and termination of the Annexation Ordinance by the City 

if the City does not approve the CZP Ordinance at the same meeting, or if any person or entity, 

other than a party to this Agreement, files (i) a valid petition appearing (A) to be in proper form 

and (B) to have the requisite number of valid signatures to cause a referendum challenging this 

Agreement, the CZP Ordinance, and/or the Annexation Ordinance, (ii) litigation in a court of 

proper jurisdiction concerning this Agreement or the annexation or (iii) petition pursuant to A.R.S. 

§ 9-471(C) challenging the validity or approval of the Annexation Ordinance.  The City agrees to 



 4 

use its best efforts to accomplish the intent of this Section 1.1, even if a special meeting of the City 

Council must be called for the purpose of repealing the Annexation Ordinance.  The City will 

schedule and advertise a Council Meeting for this purpose at the latest date reasonably possible 

prior to the Annexation Ordinance becoming final and effective and shall use its best efforts to 

perform in accordance with this Section.  The City and Owner hereby acknowledge and agree that 

this Agreement will automatically terminate and be of no force or effect if the City’s annexation 

of the Property does not become effective and final pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-471(D) on or before 

December 31, 2017.  The City and Owner further agree that this Agreement satisfies the 

requirements under A.R.S. § 9-471(O). 

 

 1.2 Effective Date.  This Agreement will not become effective, and no party will have 

any obligation under this Agreement unless each of the following occurs: (1) this Agreement is 

executed by all parties; (2) this Agreement is recorded as required by A.R.S. § 9-500.05(D), and 

(3) the Annexation Ordinance becomes final and effective.  The date on which all of the foregoing 

items have been completed is the "Effective Date" of this Agreement.  If a challenge is properly 

made to the Agreement, this Agreement will become effective after resolution of such challenge 

in favor of the City.   

 

  1.3 No Default.  Any delay relative to the Effective Date of this Agreement by judicial 

challenge, referendum, or injunction filed by parties acting independently of and not under the 

control of the City will not be deemed a default by the City.   

 

  1.4 Duration.  This Agreement will automatically terminate on the twenty-fifth (25th) 

anniversary of the Effective Date, unless this Agreement is rescinded or terminated earlier as 

provided for herein.   However, if any of the Property still is subject to this Agreement twenty-five 

(25) years after the Effective Date of this Agreement, this Agreement shall automatically extend 

without the necessity of any notice, agreement, or recording by or between the parties an additional 

ten (10) years, for a total of thirty (35) years, at which time this Agreement shall automatically 

terminate as to the Property without the necessity of any notice, agreement, or recording by or 

between the parties.   

 

  1.5 Release of Public Lots.  In order to alleviate any possible concern as to the effect 

of this Agreement on the status of title to any of the Property, so long as not prohibited by law, the 

provisions of this Agreement will not apply to any lot which has been finally subdivided and 

individually (and not in “bulk”) leased (for a period of longer than one year) or sold to third party 

residential end purchasers or users thereof (a “Public Lot”) and thereupon such Public Lot will be 

released from and no longer be subject to or burdened by the provisions of this Agreement. 

 

2. Zoning and Vested Rights.  Owner hereby agrees to be subject to all the terms, conditions, 

and stipulations of the CZP Ordinance (City Ordinance No. 2016-39) approving the CZP, attached 

as Exhibit D and incorporated by this reference.  The City acknowledges and agrees that the 

zoning approved and adopted for the Property through the CZP Ordinance is vested for the term 

of this Agreement (the “Vested Rights”) and that the Owner shall have a right to develop the 

Property consistent with the Vested Rights and the Concept Zoning Plan, subject to the Applicable 

Rules (as defined in Section 3, below) and any changes to the Rules as permitted by this 

Agreement. The City agrees not to initiate any changes or modifications to the zoning of the 



 5 

Property as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, except at the request of the owner of that 

portion of the Property for which such zoning change is sought, or except pursuant to the 

provisions of A.R.S. § 9-462.01(E).  Owner acknowledges that they are still required to satisfy any 

remaining conditions of development of the Property as set forth in this Agreement and the CZP 

Ordinance.   
  

3. Development Standards.  Development of the Property will be governed by the City’s 

codes, ordinances, regulations, rules, guidelines and policies controlling permitted uses of the 

Property, design review guidelines, the density and intensity of uses, the maximum height and size 

of the buildings within the Property, as well as the standards for off-site and on-site public 

improvements in existence as of the Effective Date of this Agreement, except as modified herein 

or otherwise agreed to, in writing, by Owner and the City (collectively, the “Applicable Rules” or 

“Rules”).  Specifically, with regard to Title 10 of the Flagstaff City Code, the version in place as 

of January 1, 2016 shall apply to the Property (“Zoning Ordinance” or “Zoning Code”).       

  

4. Guiding Principles.  The parties acknowledge that development activities for the Property 

may extend over several years and that many of the requirements and procedures provided for in 

this Agreement contemplate that use of the Property in the future may be subject to procedures, 

requirements, regulations and ordinances not presently in effect, as well as actions and decisions 

by City staff and officials which cannot be provided for with particularity at the time the 

Agreement was executed.     

 

5. Project Description, Site Layout, and Design Considerations.   

 

5.1 Development Allocations.  As depicted on the CZP, the overall maximum number 

of residential units to be developed on the Property is 1,300.   

 

  5.1.1 Open Space.  The Parties agree that any residential development within MR 

and HR zoned portions of the Property requires a minimum of 15% gross lot area to be set 

aside as open space.  This open space may include resource protection area, active and 

passive recreation uses, landscape areas, community gardens, roof decks and courtyards.  

Any phase of the project may develop with less than 15% open space, provided that an 

accounting of the Project open space is documented with each plat or site plan, subject to 

reallocations from civic space as provided in Section 5.1.2 below.  Owner agrees that non-

vehicular connectivity between adjacent development parcels will be provided for as set 

forth in the CZP Ordinance to achieve cross-community access to the Project 

neighborhoods and open space areas.  

 

  5.1.2   Civic Space.  The Parties agree that a total of 5% of the gross site shall be 

designated as civic space.  If the Community Center is not included within the first 

developing phase, Owner may provide for the requisite 5% civic space within the first 

phase(s) through various interim civic space amenities such as trails with benches or other 

seating or gathering areas.  Upon the completion of the Community Center, any previously 

allocated civic space elements may be converted to satisfy open space requirements. 

 



 6 

  5.1.3 Densities.  The Zoning Ordinance reflects minimum and maximum 

densities for each non-transect residential zoning category.  Due to the topography of the 

Property and the Resource Protection Overlay requirements, minimum densities are based 

on the total gross acreage for the zoning category and not on a per parcel basis.  Maximum 

density is based on maximum allowable density in the total gross acreage for the zoning 

category within the Resource Protection Overlay District (RPO) and not on a per parcel 

basis.   

 

  5.1.4 Residential Character.  The character of the residential units will be guided 

by the reference materials contained in the CZP.  

 

 5.1.5  PRD Option.  All residential development within the Property may elect the 

Planned Residential Development (“PRD”) option as provided for in Section 10-40.60.270 

of the Ordinance.  

 

 5.1.6  Duration of Preliminary Plat Approvals.  Given the size and significance of 

the project and related infrastructure, an extended duration for preliminary plat approvals 

is warranted such that Section 11-20-60.040(B) of the City Code will not apply.  Instead, 

the initial approval for a preliminary plat of the Property will be for a period of five years 

from the date of the City Council approval.  If a complete final plat submittal has been 

made within the fifth year of the preliminary plat approval, the duration of the preliminary 

plat will be automatically extended for one year from the date of the completeness 

determination.  If the final plat has not been recorded before the expiration of the 

preliminary plat, the plat will expire unless otherwise extended by the Director under 

Section 11-20-60.040(C). 

 

5.2 Workforce Housing. The Project will deliver 100 residential ownership units with a 

minimum of 2 bedrooms and 2 bathrooms that will be sold at or below 100% of the AMI 

affordability level (which as of the date of this Agreement, would be approximately $220,000 

based on an income of $60,200) ("AMI-accessible units").  To ensure that the AMI-accessible 

units remain affordable after the initial sale, Owner will work with the City to develop a program 

("Affordability Plan") to make the AMI-accessible units permanently affordable consistent with 

the definition of Permanent Affordability in the Zoning Code through a land trust program 

administered by the City of Flagstaff.  The Affordability Plan must be in place prior to the first 

final plat that contains residential uses.  The parties acknowledge that restrictions on lending and 

market conditions could require that the terms of the Affordability Plan evolve over 

time.  Further, this Agreement may require amendment if permanently affordable AMI-

accessible units remain unsold or unoccupied after an extended period of time due to market, 

financing or other external conditions.       

  

The location of the units will be determined as the parcels are platted, and it is intended that they 

be located within the MR and HR zoning districts and disbursed throughout the first three phases 

of development, the final location of which is subject to the Owner’s sole and absolute 

discretion.  The intent of this program is for the units to blend in with the surrounding lots and 

the Owner does not plan to identify the units involved, nor cluster them.  Rather, Owner intends 

to keep them distributed throughout the blocks they fall within to the extent feasible.  Once 



 7 

designated, the Owner will work with the City to implement the Affordability Plan to ensure that 

the buyers meet ownership and income eligibility requirements within reasonable time frames 

established by Owner to coincide with the development of the balance of the parcel.     

  

 

  5.3 Commercial Development.  The Commercial Services may be converted to 

residential development, subject to both a PRD option and Conditional Use Permit under Table 

10-40.30.040B of the Zoning Ordinance.  If the property is developed residentially the Resource 

Preservation requirements will be changed to comply with the residential development standard 

requirement of 47.5% or as otherwise provided for in the Zoning Ordinance.  Any commercial 

buildings within the Commercial Services parcel will have four-sided architecture, including 

display windows or other exterior wall treatments along the street frontage(s) designed to provide 

street-level visual interest and provide compatibility with the surrounding residential development. 

 

 5.4 Outdoor Lighting Plan.  Upon completion of the incorporation of the Annexed 

Property into the City’s municipal boundaries, Owner acknowledges that the City’s requirements 

within Zone 1, per Section 10-50.70 of the Zoning Ordinance, included as Exhibit E will impose 

certain restrictions related to lighting on the Property (“Zone 1 Requirements”).  The Owner has 

built upon the Zoning Ordinance requirements to prepare a unique set of Dark Sky Standards that 

will apply to all development on the Property through the implementation of Conditions, 

Covenants & Restrictions (“CC&Rs”), as provided for in Section 5.5 below.  A complete list of 

the standards and concepts that the Owner will record against the Property to supplement the Zone 

1 requirements are provided in Exhibit F (the “Project Lighting CC&Rs”).  The Project Lighting 

CC&Rs will be administered by the HOA for the Property and included in the master CC&Rs.  

Further, the CC&Rs will have special amendment criteria that limit the future Homeowners’ 

Association’s (“HOA”) ability to process amendments to the Project Lighting CC&Rs without 

City Council approval.    

 

5.4.1  Lumen Caps.  Single family homes will be limited to a total of 1350 lumens 

and can only be exceeded with the use of motion sensors on fixtures such that the non-

motion sensor light fixtures do not exceed the 1350 lumen limit.  These additional limits 

set shall not be interpreted to allow the current limits of the City of Flagstaff Zoning Code, 

Division 10.50.70 to be exceeded for multi-family residential development in any zone.   

  

5.4.2 Fully Shielded Fixtures.  Exterior lighting on all residential structures shall be 

fully shielded fixtures to be installed a minimum of five feet from the nearest edge of a 

canopy or overhang.  Where not feasible or practical a fully shielded fixture with a motion 

sensor shall be utilized. 

  

5.4.3  Lighting Source.  All outdoor lighting will use either low-pressure sodium 

(LPS) or narrow-spectrum amber LED except for lighted entry monuments or other Class 

1 lighting applications. 

 

5.4.4  Lighting Curfews.  For any commercial development within Block 12, 

lighting fixtures exempted from the existing curfews imposed by the City of Flagstaff 

Zoning Code shall only be motion sensor fixtures. 



 8 

 

  5.5 Community Identification Signs.  Owner may construct and maintain community 

identification signs in accordance with the Division 10-50.100 of the Flagstaff Zoning Code.  

Owner may not lease any community identification signs to third parties or use the signs for any 

purpose other than community identification. 

 

  5.6 Homeowners’ Association.  Prior to the submittal of the first application for a 

residential building permit to the City and pursuant to a declaration of CC&Rs by the Owner, the 

Owner shall form a master Homeowners’ Association (“HOA”) that governs the single-family 

residential portion of the Property.   

 

5.6.1 Homeowners’ Association Responsibilities.  The CC&Rs will incorporate the 

requirements of this Agreement and further provide that either the HOA, a sub-association, 

or the Owner (until such time as Owner, as “Declarant,” relinquishes control of the HOA 

to the property owners, as provided in the CC&Rs) shall maintain the private trails, 

drainage facilities, landscaping within rights-of-way, medians, bridge abutment fascia, and 

private open spaces, and private common areas within the Property.  The HOA will require 

homeowners to maintain the individual on-lot LID features through the CC&Rs.   

 

 6. Resource Protection Plan.  The Property contains natural resources that warrant its 

inclusion within the City’s Resource Protection Overlay as provided for in the CZP Ordinance.  In 

connection with the Preliminary Block Plat submittal for the Property, a Natural Resource 

Protection Plan was prepared by Woodson Engineering & Survey dated July 13, 2016 that contains 

the approved resource protection strategy for the Property (the “NRPP”).  The City agrees that the 

NRPP will govern future plat submittals for the individual development parcels.  The relocated 

50-foot wide APS corridor, located in McAllister Ranch Road, will be excluded from the resource 

protection calculations as a regional utility corridor.   

 

 7. Infrastructure Plan. The City and Owner acknowledge that the Project will include certain 

infrastructure improvements, including drainage, water, sewer, and traffic circulation plans for the 

infrastructure (such infrastructure improvements hereinafter collectively referred to as the 

“Infrastructure Plan”), and that the following impact analyses are approved in connection with the 

CZP and applicable to the Project: 

 

 Water and Sewer Impact Analysis, dated November 3, 2015 (“WSIA”) 

 Traffic Impact Analysis, dated June 24March 22, 2016 (“Traffic Study”) 

 Preliminary Drainage Report and Drainage Impact Analysis, dated March 10, 2016, 

and its addendum, dated August 16, 2016 (collectively the “DIA”) 

 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement and subject to the Rules and any changes to the 

Rules permitted by Section 3, so long as Owner proceeds with the development of the Property, 

Owner may implement and phase the infrastructure improvements to the Property in conformance 

with the Preliminary Block Plat, including the Infrastructure Phasing Plan provided as Appendix 

5 to the CZP, and City agrees that the required infrastructure improvements for the Project are 

limited to those detailed in this Agreement and the Preliminary Block Plat.   

 



 9 

  7.1 Infrastructure Plan Amendment.  The City and the Owner acknowledge that 

amendments to the approved Infrastructure Plan and/or Infrastructure Phasing Plan may be 

necessary from time to time to adapt to the actual number of units platted within the Property and 

identified uses.  The Owner and the City agree that any such amendments shall be incorporated by 

this reference into this Agreement with the same force and effect as if set forth herein and shall 

not require corresponding amendment to this Agreement. 

 

 7.2 Construction. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that to the extent the 

Owner develops the Property, the Owner shall have the right and the obligation, at any time after 

the execution of this Agreement, to construct or cause to be constructed and installed, in 

accordance with the Rules and all other applicable rules, regulations, construction standards, and 

governmental review processes, all portions of the Infrastructure Improvements that relate to the 

phase or portion of the Property to be developed by Owner at any given time subject to approved 

civil plans.  Owner shall cause the Infrastructure Improvements to be constructed and installed in 

a good and workmanlike manner and in compliance with the Rules and all other applicable 

requirements, standards, codes, rules or regulations of the City.   

 

   7.2.1  Owner, its agents, and employees, shall have the additional right, upon 

 receipt from the City of an appropriate encroachment permit, to enter and remain upon 

 and cross over any City easements or rights-of-way to the extent reasonably necessary to 

 facilitate such construction, or to perform necessary maintenance or repairs of such 

 public Infrastructure Improvements.  Owner’s use of such easements and rights-of-way, 

 pursuant to an encroachment permit, shall not impede or adversely affect the City’s use 

 and enjoyment thereof. 

 

  7.2.2 Owner shall restore such City easements and rights-of-way, used pursuant  

 to the encroachment permit, to their condition prior to Owner’s entry upon completion of 

 such construction, repairs, or maintenance.  Owner, its agent, and employees, also shall 

 have the right, upon receipt from the City of an appropriate encroachment permit, to enter 

 and remain upon and cross over any City easements or rights-of-way to the extent 

 reasonably necessary to install and maintain landscaping material within the portion of 

 the City right-of-way not used for vehicular travel. 

 

  7.3 Infrastructure Assurance.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the City, 

prior to recording the final plat for each subdivision or issuance of a permit for the commencement 

of construction in connection with non-subdivision development, shall require the Owner and/or 

its designees, grantees or buyers under contract, to provide appropriate assurances in such form 

and amount as required by the Rules to assure that the installation of Infrastructure Improvements 

within that subdivision or other Infrastructure Improvements directly related to such building 

permit or permits will be completed (“Infrastructure Assurance”), expect for infrastructure 

improvements detailed below in Sections 8.6.1.1 and 8.6.1.2.  In such case, the Owner may elect, 

with the approval of the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, any one or 

combination of the following methods of Infrastructure Assurance.  All assurances provided by 

the Owner shall comply with the applicable provisions of the City’s subdivision ordinance relating 

to such assurances.  The options, in forms reasonably acceptable to the City (each, an “Acceptable 

Assurance”), are as follows:  



 10 

 

  7.3.1.  Owner and/or its assignees, designees, grantees and purchasers under 

contract is required to file with the City a performance bond; or 

 

  7.3.2 Owner and/or its assignees, designees, grantees and purchasers under 

contract is required to deliver to the City an irrevocable and unconditional letter of credit 

which, if necessary, will be acknowledged by the City in accordance with the appropriate 

lender’s requirements; or 

 

7.3.3 A letter of financial assurance from Owner’s lender or the lender of Owner’s 

assignees, designees, grantees and purchasers under contract; or 

 

7.3.4 Dual Beneficiary Letter of Credit from a recognized financial institution 

acceptable to the City; or 

 

7.3.5 Cash or certified check, which may be deposited into an escrow account and 

administered through an escrow agreement between the parties; or 

 

7.3.6 Such other assurance mechanism as may be approved by the City in the 

exercise of its sole and absolute discretion. 

 

Once the Owner required Infrastructure Assurances have been complied with, the Owner (or, as 

applicable, the Owner’s assignees, designees, grantees and purchasers under contract) shall have 

the right, with the approval of the City, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, to 

replace such initial method of Infrastructure Assurance, either in whole or in part, with any of the 

other form of Acceptable Assurance, as set forth above.  If a discrete and self-sustaining portion 

of the Infrastructure Improvements for which an appropriate assurance has been delivered is 

dedicated to and accepted by the City, the City agrees to release, within twenty (20) days from 

such acceptance by the City, the portion of the assurance that relates to the Infrastructure 

Improvement so completed.  The City agrees that within twenty (20) days from the City acceptance 

of the particular completed Infrastructure Improvements for which the City has required and the 

Owner has provided Infrastructure Assurance, the City shall release such Infrastructure Assurance, 

in whole or in part as may be appropriate under the circumstances, in the manner provided in the 

Rules. 

 

7.4 Necessary Easements.  It shall be a condition precedent to the obligation of Owner 

to construct the Public Infrastructure herein specified or otherwise required to service the Property, 

that Owner shall have obtained any and all easements, rights of entry, and/or other use rights on 

or about all real property other than the Property upon, through or under which will be installed 

all or any portion of said Public Infrastructure, as useful or necessary for Owner to enter and to 

properly perform all activities incident to Owner’s construction obligations hereunder 

(collectively, the “Easements”).  Owner shall use reasonable efforts to obtain the Easements; 

provided, however, that if despite the exercise of such reasonable efforts, Owner is unable to obtain 

any necessary Easements, the City upon request by Owner shall obtain said necessary Easements 

through the City’s power of condemnation and the obtaining of immediate possession, all in 

accordance with applicable law.  Such costs of obtaining the Easements (including, without 



 11 

limitation, the costs of condemnation including legal fees and court costs) shall be paid by Owner 

and shall be included in the costs of any and all Public Infrastructure for which Owner is entitled 

to a reimbursement, as hereinafter specified.  

 

  7.5 Rights-of-Way Dedication.  All right-of-way dedications required within the 

developing phase of the Property will be completed in conjunction with the Final Plat or Block 

Plat, whichever comes first 

 

7.5.1 Right-of-Way Acquisition.  Owner shall be responsible for acquiring the 

right(s)-of-way necessary for all required public improvements through good-faith 

negotiation with the property owner.  Owner shall follow the requirements in Title 12 of 

the Arizona Revised Statutes for acquisition of the property as if the Owner was a 

government entity obtaining property by eminent domain.  Owner will work with the City’s 

Real Estate Manager from the beginning of the negotiation process to ensure compliance 

with stature and to expedite the process.  If the Owner is unable to acquire the right(s)-of-

way within a reasonable timeframe and after the exercise of reasonable diligence, then 

Owner shall request in writing that the City initiate eminent-domain proceedings to acquire 

the right(s)-of-way.  The City shall be the arbiter of whether or not the Owner has exhausted 

its ability to negotiate with the property owner, but shall be reasonable in its judgment.  

Once the City has determined that the Owner has exhausted its ability to negotiate with the 

property owner, the City shall promptly proceed in accordance with the state’s eminent 

domain laws, (ARS 12-1111, et. Seq.) and use its best efforts to expedite acquisition.  

Owner must provide funding for all costs of such acquisition, including the fair-market 

value of the subject property, severance damage, cost to cure, appraisal costs, expert 

witnesses, legal costs including attorney’s fees, and City staff and administrative costs, as 

the City may deem necessary and appropriate. 

 

8.   Water & Sewer Improvement Requirements 

 

8.1  Water & Sewer Impact Analysis.  Owner shall adhere to all of the requirements of 

the WSIA dated November 3, 2015, prepared by Civil Design & Engineering, Inc. for City of 

Flagstaff Utilities Department except as modified herein. 

 

8.2  On-Site Water & Sewer Improvements Phasing.  As identified in the WSIA and 

Preliminary Block Plat, construction of On-Site Water and Sewer Improvements shall be phased 

appropriately as provided for in this Agreement to ensure stand-alone water and sewer availability 

within each Phase.  All phased on-site water and sewer infrastructure shall be designed and built 

in accordance with the City of Flagstaff Engineering Standards and Arizona Department of 

Environmental Quality.  The Owner is required to dedicate the entire sewer line easement through 

the Property with the final plat of Phase 1.  Owner will not be required to post assurances for sewer 

infrastructure beyond Phase 1, with the dedication of the entire easement. 

 

8.3  On-Site Water & Sewer Improvements Requirements.  Owner agrees to provide all 

on-site water and sewer systems required to support the overall development plan, including a 12” 

diameter looped water system from W Route 66 to Woody Mountain Road.  Each of the 

development blocks will be connected to the water main within the collector roadway.  The water 



 12 

system will be extended in coordination with the phasing and as need for individual parcels. Owner 

agrees to provide a new 8” PVC waterline connection to the eastern boundary as part of the 

development of Block 2 as shown on the Preliminary Block Plat.  All required improvements must 

be completed and accepted by the City prior to the issuance of any certificates of occupancy for 

the Project.   

 

8.4   Water System Improvement Requirements. 

  

8.4.1  The City has allocated up to 420,000 GPD for the development.  In order to 

exceed the City’s water allocation of 420,000 GPD, Owner shall, at its own expense, install 

Well Systems required in the WSIA (adjusted to 260.5 gpm based on the 1300 residential 

unit cap) to ultimately meet the Project’s average daily usage requirements at full build out 

and dedicate the Well Systems to the City.  The portion of the Well System required to 

allow development over 420,000 GPD, must be operable prior to Owner obtaining any 

building permit for Unit(s) that will exceed the water demand of 420,000.  If the Owner 

changes its plans for development such that more water is required than currently forecast, 

Owner must update the WSIA and amend this Agreement accordingly.  The City may 

withhold any and all building permits until the Owner complies with this provision. 

 

 The Parties further agree as follows: 

 

8.4.1.1 Well System Sites.  Each well site shall be located on a parcel of 

land no smaller than 150’ x 150’, and the Parties agree to evaluate and select well 

sites.  If necessary, Owner agrees to obtain any necessary easements from third 

parties to connect the well to the existing City infrastructure, and dedicate these 

easements to the City before the first permit for construction of the water-

distribution system; easement must be at least 20-feet wide to allow for well 

operation and maintenance. The City shall not require Owner to obtain easements 

over City-owned properties that contain well sites.  The City shall grant any 

required temporary-construction easements on City property at no cost to the 

Developer. 

 

8.4.1.2  Construction Standards.  Owner shall construct the Well System in 

accordance with all City, State, and Federal rules and regulations. 

 

8.4.1.3 Cost Sharing.  If the Well System production exceeds what is 

necessary to meet the Property’s water demand at full build out, the City agrees to 

share in the proportionate cost of the design and construction of the Well System.  

The proportionate cost is based dollars per gallon for the Well Systems’ excess 

production as compared to the Project’s total water demand at full build-out.  A 

simple example of the calculation is as follows:  If the well produces an average of 

500 gallons per minute, and if the Owner is required to provide 100 gallons per 

minute, the City would be responsible for paying for the difference, or 400 gallons 

per minute.  In this instance, the City would pay for 80% of the design and 

construction of the Well System.  If the City’s financial responsibility is 

$250,000.00 or less, the City shall pay the Developer within 180 days after written 



 13 

demand, which may only occur after the well has been constructed and the City 

concurs that there is excess production.  If the City’s financial responsibility is over 

$250,000.01, then the City is not responsible for paying its proportionate share until 

the payment is approved in the current year’s capital improvement plan. 

 

8.5   Off-Site Sewer Improvement Requirements. 

 

8.5.1  Increased Sewer Capacity.  The Parties agree that pursuant to the WSIA, 

the Project will create the need for Off-Site Sewer Improvements, specially identified 

below.  Owner acknowledges that modifications to the existing sewer collection system are 

required as part of this project as the existing downstream sewer collector system is not 

adequate for the proposed development.  Prior to the issuance of the first building permit, 

the following off-site sewer modifications must be completed and accepted by the City.  

 

8.5.1.1 The replacement of the 8” sewer line connecting manholes 2A-422 

and 2A-360 with an 18” diameter pipe.  This reach is approximately 3,100 feet in 

length and runs along Thompson Street and West Kaibab.  This is a planned City 

project that is budgeted for fiscal year 2021.  The City agrees to reimburse the 

Owner for the cost of the design and construction of this sewer improvement.  

Owner has requested that the City move the project to fiscal year 2020 

(reimbursement available July 1, 2019) subject to approval by the Flagstaff City 

Council.   

 

8.5.1.2 The installation of approximately 5,170 feet of sewer line to connect 

MH 2A-472 at the existing Adirondack Avenue 18” sewer interceptor line for this 

drainage basin through manhole #18, which is approximately 300 feet north of W 

Route 66.  The line must be upsized to an 18” sewer line as the result of the 

additional load and to accommodate future load.  Infrastructure improvements shall 

include the sewer line, manholes and any other incidental utility improvements 

necessary for construction.  The City is scheduled to construct this sewer extension 

in fiscal year 2017.  Should the Owners construct the sewer line in advance of the 

City, the City agrees to reimburse the Owner the cost of the improvements unless 

the City’s Core Facilities project is terminated, in which case the Owner will only 

receive upsizing contributions for the difference between an 8” and an 18” sewer 

line.   

 

8.5.2 Sewer Line Design and Construction Standards.  The design and construction 

of the above Off-Site Sewer Improvements, and shall do so in accordance with all City, 

State, and Federal rules and regulations.    

 

9.  Stormwater Drainage Impact Analysis.  

 

9.1  Drainage Mitigation.  Owner agrees to mitigate the Project’s identified drainage 

impacts in accordance with the DIA and ensure maintenance of individual on-lot LID features.   

 



 14 

9.2  New Impact Analysis.  Pursuant to the conditions of the Concept Zoning Map 

Amendment a new Drainage Impact Analysis must be submitted and approved for the eastern side 

of the property if all drainage flows cannot be directed towards the westerly drainage corridor.  

 

10.  Road Improvement Requirements. 

 

 10.1  General Off-Site Roadway Improvements. The Owner provided a Traffic Impact 

Analysis (“Traffic Study”) to determine the necessary traffic mitigation for the Project.  The Parties 

agree that the Owner’s traffic mitigation will be accomplished in two ways: 1. Owner will be solely 

responsible for the design and construction of certain Off-site Roadway Improvements in Phase 1 

as identified below; 2. Owner may make a cash contribution to the City toward additional Off-site 

Roadway Improvements in Phase 3 as described in Section 10.4 below. 

 

10.1.1 Construction Standards.  Owner agrees to construct all of the On-site and 

Off-site Roadway Improvements in accordance with all applicable City, State, and Federal 

rules, regulation, and design standards. 

 

10.1.2 Construction Timing.  All Phase 1 On-site and Off-site Roadway 

Improvements shall be substantially completed in accordance with the Section 13-10-013-

001 of the Engineering Design and Construction Standards and Specificationsconstructed 

and accepted by the City prior to issuance of the first building permit in Phase 1.  To obtain 

building permits in Phases 2, 3, and 4, the remaining improvements for each individual 

phase must be constructed and accepted.  All Phase 1 Off-site Roadway Improvements 

shall be completed prior to the issuance of the first certificate of occupancy[TA1].   

  

10.2    On-site Roadway Improvements.  On-site Roadway Improvements shall consist of 

all internal roadway construction including but not limited to curb, gutter, sidewalks, pedestrian 

ways, FUTS trails, bicycle ways, medians, and turn lanes.  On-site Roadway Improvements 

include all property frontage improvements along West Route 66 and Woody Mountain Road. 

 

 10.3  Phase 1 Off-site Roadway Improvements.  The Parties agree that the Traffic Study 

has identified the Phase 1 need for improvements at two City intersections, as described below. 

 

10.3.1  Woodlands Village Boulevard and W. Route 66.  Phase 1 Improvements 

include the modification of the northbound Woodlands Village left turn lane/median to 250 

feet or more of storage, final storage length to be worked out at final design. 

 

10.3.2. Woodlands Village Boulevard & University Avenue.  Phase 1 

Improvements include the addition of an exclusive/permitted left turn phasing to both 

eastbound and westbound approaches. 

 

 10.4 Additional Contributions for Future Roadway Improvements. As provided in the 

September 9, 2016 letter from ADOT, ADOT and the Owner has agreed to certain phasing and 

improvements, as well as a mechanism by which a cash contribution may be paid to the City prior 

to the acceptance of the Phase 3 block plat infrastructure improvements.   This contribution is 

subject to the financial assurance under Section 7.3 required for the recordation of the final block 



 15 

plat for Phase 3.  The cash contribution will be $1.5 million dollars (Owner’s approximate 

proportional share for all off-site roadway improvements) minus the amount of the Owner’s actual 

cost (limited to the following items: _____________,  and any other cost as approved by the City 

Engineer and will be established within days of acceptance by City and ADOT) of the off-site 

roadway improvements for Phase 1 in relation to Route 66 transportation corridor (excluding the 

improvements referenced above in section 10.3.2 of this Agreement).  However, should the Phase 

1 improvements exceed $1.5 million dollars no cash contribution will be given to the City and 

Owner will not make any additional contributions to future roadway improvements and Owner 

shall be solely responsible for all costs exceeding the $1.5 million dollars.  The City intends to 

utilize this cash contribution in partnership with ADOT to improve the West Route 66 corridor 

between Flagstaff Ranch Road and Milton Road. 

 

11.  Additional Conduit.  Owner has agreed at the time of Phase 1 infrastructure construction 

to install an additional conduit so that APS can provide three-phased power to the north side of 

Route 66 at Alvin Clark Way to support the Core Facilities Project and installation of a new well 

pump. 

  

12. Infrastructure Financing. 

 

 12.1 Impact Fees.   Subject to the provisions of this Agreement and to the extent 

permitted by law, Owner agrees to pay all current and future enacted impact fees provided such 

impact fee is generally and uniformly applicable to the City and is consistent with the provisions 

of A.R.S. § 9-463.05 if such fee is charged by the City at the time of construction permit issuance.  

The City of Flagstaff does not currently have adopted utility impact fees.  Notwithstanding any 

contrary provision of this Agreement, if Owner provides, dedicates or pays for any public sites or 

public infrastructure, the value or costs of which are included as a component of an impact fee 

pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-463.05, Owner shall receive a credit equal to the value or cost of such public 

site or infrastructure (the “Impact Fee Credit”), to be applied in lieu of existing or future impact 

fees imposed by the City which relate to or otherwise apply to the Property.  In no event may the 

Impact Fee Credits in each category of impact fees exceed the actual impact fees paid or to be paid 

by or in connection with development on the Property.  Wherever this Agreement provides that 

Owner shall be entitled to an Impact Fee Credit against any impact fee imposed by the City, the 

Impact Fee Credit shall be credited to Owner in increments equal to one hundred percent (100%) 

of the particular impact fee otherwise applicable to each building permit issued with respect to a 

home or building or structure to be constructed on the Property, up to the maximum total credit 

provided for in this Agreement. 

 

  12.2 Reimbursement for Oversizing that Benefits Other Properties.  The parties 

acknowledge that if Owner provides or pays for any dedicated public sites or public infrastructure 

that will directly benefit property or developments other than the Property and the developments 

thereon, and Owner may seek reimbursement pursuant to City Code Chapter 7-08. 

 

13.  City Services.  Upon the Effective Date for the Annexation Property, City shall include the 

Property in the City’s municipal service area and, upon completion of the construction and 

installation of the necessary Infrastructure Improvements by Owner as provided in or as required 

by this Agreement and the Rules, the City shall provide to the Property such utility and other 



 16 

services in a manner that is similar to that by which the City provides such utilities and services 

generally to the residents of similarly situated property in the City, including sewer, water, 

garbage, fire and police, provided that Owner has constructed and installed the necessary 

Infrastructure Improvements as provided in or as required by the Rules and the Infrastructure 

Improvement Schedule. The City agrees to assess and collect user fees or rates for each municipal 

utility service provided by the City consistent with the fees or rates established by the City and 

applied for other similarly-situated property and projects (residential property and projects greater 

than five acres) in areas of the City receiving similar municipal services.  Failure by the Owner to 

promptly pay any amount owed, including but not limited to the obligations set forth in this Section 

9, will constitute a breach of this Agreement and the City may collect such amounts owing by 

utilizing the remedies set forth this Agreement, and further may withhold the issuance of building 

permits for improvements on the Property until such amount is paid. 

 

14. Notices.  Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given under this 

Agreement will be in writing and will be deemed to have been given if (1) delivered to the party 

at the address set forth below during normal business hours, (2) deposited in the U.S.  Mail, 

registered or certified, return receipt requested, to the address set forth below, with sufficient 

postage, or (3) given to a recognized and reputable overnight delivery service, to the address set 

forth below, with the person giving the notice paying all required charges and instructing the 

delivery service to deliver on the following business day or at such other address, and to the 

attention of such other person or officer, as any party may designate in writing by notice duly given 

pursuant to this Section. 

 

To City: 

 

To Owners: 

City Manager 

City of Flagstaff 

211 West Aspen Avenue 

Flagstaff, Arizona 86001 

Walter Crutchfield 

VP 66 & Woody Mountain, LLC 

2502 E. Camelback Road, Suite 214 

Phoenix, AZ 85016 

 

Notices will be deemed received (1) when delivered to the party, (2) three business days after being 

sent by U.S. mail, certified and return receipt requested, properly addressed, with sufficient 

postage, or (3) the following business day after being given to a recognized and reputable overnight 

delivery service.   

 

15. General Provisions.   

 

 15.1 Further Assurances.  Each party, promptly upon the request of the other, will take 

such further actions and will execute, acknowledge and deliver to the other any and all further 

instruments as may be necessary or proper to carry out the purpose and intent of this Agreement.   

 

 15.2 Successors and Assigns.  All of the provisions hereof will inure to the benefit of 

and be binding upon the successors and assigns of the parties hereto pursuant to A.R.S. § 

9-500.05(D), except as provided below.  Owner’s rights and obligations hereunder may only be 

assigned to a person or entity that has acquired the Property or a portion thereof and only by a 

written instrument, recorded in the official records of Coconino County, Arizona, expressly 



 17 

assigning such rights and obligations.  All rights and obligations of the Owner under this 

Agreement will constitute covenants that run with the land and will be binding on all of the 

Owner’s respective successors and assigns, except as provided in Section 1.5. 

 

 15.2.1  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City agrees that each Owner’s 

ownership, operation, and maintenance obligations provided by this Agreement may be 

assigned to HOA(s) to be established by the respective Owner.  Owner individually agrees 

to provide the City with written notice of any assignment of an Owner’s rights or 

obligations within a reasonable period of time following such assignment.   

 

 15.2.2  Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, any Owner may 

assign all or part of its rights and duties under this Agreement to any financial institution 

from which such Owner has borrowed funds for developing the Property or a portion 

thereof.   

 

 15.3 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire understanding and 

agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes any prior 

written or oral understandings or agreements between the parties. 

 

 15.4 Modification of Agreement.  This Agreement may be amended at any time by 

written amendment executed by and between the City and the Owner of the portion of the Property 

which is the subject of any such amendment.  The balance of the Owners need not execute any 

such amendment for any such amendment to be effective, so long as such amendment does not 

alter the Applicable Rules for any portion of the Property owned by others.  Where the amendment 

alters the Applicable Rules for Property owned by another party, that Owner must be a party to 

that amendment.  All amendments to this Agreement must be recorded in the official records of 

Coconino County, Arizona, within ten (10) days following execution, as required by A.R.S. § 9-

500.05(D). 

 

 15.5 Default.  Failure of a party to perform a material obligation of this Agreement shall 

constitute a breach by that party of this Agreement and, if the breach is not cured within thirty (30) 

days after written notice thereof from the other party (the "Cure Period"), shall constitute a default 

under this Agreement provided; however, that if the failure is such that more than thirty (30) days 

would be reasonably required to perform such action or comply with any term or provision thereof 

then the breaching party shall have such additional time as may be necessary to perform or comply 

so long as the party commences performance or compliance within said 30 day period and 

diligently proceeds to complete such performance or fulfill such obligation.  In the event a breach 

is not cured within the Cure Period, the non-defaulting party shall have all the rights and remedies 

that may be available under law or equity, including the right to institute an action for damages.  

Any Owner not in default shall not be liable under this Section for the default of any other Owner. 

 

 15.6 Waiver.  No delay in exercising any right or remedy shall constitute a waiver 

thereof and no waiver by the parties of the breach of any provision of this Agreement shall be 

construed as a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach of the same or any other provision of 

this Agreement.  Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or be deemed to be a waiver by an 

Owner of its right to request future rezonings or changes in development standards for all or any 



 18 

portion(s) of the Property pursuant to City procedures and requirements existing at the time of the 

request.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to be a waiver by the City of the right to act, 

by approval or denial, on such rezoning or change.  Further, nothing in this Agreement shall 

constitute or be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment by an Owner of its rights to continue 

nonconforming uses of all or any portion(s) of the Property which may exist, or have existed, as 

of the date of this Agreement, subject to legal principles applicable to such non-conforming uses. 

 

 15.7 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which will constitute an original, but all of which will constitute one and the same 

agreement. 

 

 15.8 Terms.  Common nouns and pronouns will be deemed to refer to the masculine, 

feminine, neuter, singular, and plural, as the identity of the person may in the context require; 

and the word “person” or “party” will include a corporation, limited liability company, firm, 

partnership, proprietorship, or other form of association. 

 

 15.9 Descriptive Headings.  The descriptive headings throughout this Agreement are for 

convenience and reference only, and the words contained therein will in no way be held to explain, 

modify, amplify, or aid in the interpretation, construction, or meaning of the provisions of this 

Agreement. 

 

 15.10 Construction of Agreement.  This Agreement has been arrived at by negotiation 

and will not be construed against either party or against the party who prepared the last draft. 

 

 15.11 Recordation and Effect.  This Agreement will be recorded by the City in its entirety, 

inclusive of all exhibits, in the official records of Coconino County, Arizona, as required by A.R.S. 

§ 9-500.05(D). 

 

 15.12 Governing Law.  This Agreement and the rights of the parties shall be governed by 

and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona.   

 

 15.13 Cancellation for Conflict of Interest.  This Agreement is subject to the cancellation 

provisions of A.R.S. § 38-511. 

 

 15.14 Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence in implementing the terms of this 

Agreement. 

 

 15.15 Authorization.  The execution and performance of this Agreement has been duly 

authorized by all necessary laws, resolutions, or corporate actions of the respective parties.  The 

parties to this Agreement represent and warrant that the persons executing this Agreement have 

full authority to bind the respective parties. 

 

 15.16 Severability.  If any provision or provisions of this Agreement, or the application 

thereof to any person or circumstance, is determined to be invalid or unenforceable to any extent, 

the remainder of this Agreement, or the application of such provision to persons or circumstances 

other than those as to which it is so determined invalid or unenforceable, will not be affected 



 19 

thereby, and each provision hereof will be valid and will be enforced to the fullest extent permitted 

by law. 

 

 15.17 Exhibits.  All exhibits attached hereto are incorporated herein by reference as 

though fully set forth herein.   

 

 15.18 Dispute Resolution.  If a dispute arises out of or relates to this Agreement and if the 

dispute cannot be settled through negotiation, the parties agree first to try in good faith to resolve 

the dispute by mediation before resorting to litigation or some other dispute resolution procedure. 

 

 15.18.1   Mediation Procedure.  Mediation will take place in Flagstaff, Arizona, be 

self-administered and be conducted under the CPR Mediation Procedures established by 

the CPR Institute for Dispute Resolution, 366 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 

10017, (212) 949-6490, www.cpradr.org, with the exception of the mediator selection 

provisions, unless other procedures are agreed upon by the parties. 

 

      15.18.1.1 Commencement of Mediation.  Either party may refer the 

dispute to mediation by sending by U.S. mail, certified and return receipt 

requested, to the other party or parties a written notice (the “Mediation Notice”) 

calling on the other party or parties to proceed to mediation.  The party or parties 

who have received a Mediation Notice will contact the party calling for mediation 

7 days from receipt of the Mediation Notice to confirm receipt of the Mediation 

Notice and to begin the mediator selection process. 

 

 15.18.1.2 Mediator Selection.  Unless the parties agree otherwise, the 

parties will select the mediator(s) from the roster of attorney mediators trained 

under the Alternative Dispute Resolution Program of the Coconino County 

Superior Court.  If the parties are unable to agree upon a mediator within 10 

business days of the confirmation of receipt of Mediation Notice, each party will 

independently inform the Director of the Alternative Dispute Resolution Program 

of the Coconino County Superior Court (the “Director”) of three attorney 

mediators from that roster that are acceptable to the party, and further, inform the 

Director of any preference as to matters such as whether co-mediation is 

preferable, mediation style, subject matter expertise, or other factors pertinent to 

the case.  The Director will then select one or more attorney mediators from the 

parties’ lists or such other attorney mediator(s) from the above noted roster as the 

Director may deem, in the Director’s sole discretion, appropriate under the 

circumstances.  

 

15.18.1.3 Fees and Costs.  Each party agrees to bear its own fees and 

costs in mediation.  The parties will enter into a written agreement with the 

mediator(s) regarding the mediator(s)’ fees and expenses before the first mediation 

session.  The parties will share equally the mediators’ fees and mediation 

expenses. 

 



 20 

 15.18.1.4 Subsequent or Contemporaneous Contracts.  The parties will 

include this provision in all subsequent or contemporaneous contracts relative to 

this matter, absent specific written agreement of the parties otherwise.   

 

15.18.1.5 Participation in Mediation.  The parties agree to encourage 

participation in mediation by all relevant parties.  The parties will not be obligated 

to mediate if an indispensable party is unwilling to join the mediation.  

 

15.18.1.6 Waiver.  This section does not constitute a waiver of the 

parties’ rights to arbitrate or initiate legal action if a dispute is not resolved through 

good faith negotiation or mediation, or if provisional relief is required under the 

Arizona Rules of Civil Procedure. 

 

 15.19 Venue and Attorneys Fees.  Except as otherwise agreed by the parties, any litigation 

brought by either party against the other to enforce the provisions of this Agreement must be filed 

in the Coconino County Superior Court or in the United States District Court for the District of 

Arizona, if appropriate under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  In the event any action at law or in equity is 

instituted between the parties in connection with this Agreement, the prevailing party in the action 

will be entitled to its costs including reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs from the non-

prevailing party, as well as expenses incurred in connection with the prosecution or defense of 

such action.  For purposes of this Agreement, the term "attorneys' fees" or "attorneys' fees and 

costs" will mean the reasonable fees and expenses of in-house and outside counsel to the parties 

hereto, which may include reasonable printing, photocopying, duplicating and other expenses, air 

freight charges, and fees billed for law clerks, paralegals and other persons performing services 

under the supervision of an attorney, and the reasonable costs and fees incurred in connection with 

the enforcement or collection of any judgment obtained in any such proceeding.  The provisions 

of this Section will survive the entry of any judgment, and will not merge, or be deemed to have 

merged, into any judgment. 

 

 15.20 Negation of Partnership.  The parties specifically acknowledge that the Project will 

be developed as private property, that no party is acting as the agent of any other party in any 

respect, and that each party is an independent contracting entity with respect to the terms, 

covenants, and conditions contained in this Agreement.  None of the terms or provisions of this 

Agreement are intended to create a partnership or other joint enterprise between the parties. 

 

 15.21 No Obligation to Develop Property.  Except as expressly set forth in this 

Agreement, neither the City nor any Owner will be required to complete any part or all of the 

development of the Property. 

 

 15.22 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  The City and Owner acknowledges and agree that 

the terms, provisions, and conditions of this Agreement are for the sole benefit of, and may be 

enforced solely by, the City and Owner, and none of the terms, provisions, conditions, and 

obligations are for the benefit of or may be enforced by any third party. 

 

 15.23 Compliance with All Laws.  Owner will comply with all applicable Federal, State, 

County and City laws, regulations and policies. 



 21 

 

 15.24 Recitals.  The Recitals set forth above are incorporated in this Agreement by 

reference as though fully restated. 

 

16. Waiver of Claim for Diminution in Value.  Each Owner hereby waives and fully releases 

any and all financial loss, injury, claims and causes of action that the Owner may have, now or in 

the future, for any “diminution in value” and for any “just compensation” under the Private 

Property Rights Protection Act, codified in A.R.S. §§ 12-1131 through 12-1138, (the “Act”) in 

connection with the application of the City’s existing land use laws and including Ordinance No. 

2016-39 regarding the Property (collectively, the “Laws”).  This waiver constitutes a complete 

release of any and all claims and causes of action that may arise or may be asserted under the Laws 

with regard to the subject Property.  Owner agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend City, 

its officers, employees and agents, from any and all claims, causes of actions, demands, losses and 

expenses, including attorney’s fees and litigation costs, that may be asserted by or may result from 

any of the present or future owners of any interest in the Property seeking potential compensation, 

damages, attorney’s fees or costs under the Act that they may have, as a result of the application 

of the Laws upon the Property. 

 

17. Estoppel Certificate.  Any Owner may request of the City Manager, and the City Manager 

shall, within thirty (30) calendar days, respond and certify by written instrument to the requesting 

party that (a) the CZP Ordinance is unmodified and in full force and effect, or if there have been 

modifications, that the CZP is in full force and effect as modified, stating the nature and date of 

such modification; (b) there is or is not a default under the CZP or this Agreement and the scope 

and nature of the default; and (c) the City has or does not have any existing or pending legal or 

equitable claims against any party with an ownership interest in the Property.   In the event an 

Owner has not received an estoppel certificate within thirty (30) days from the date of the request, 

then in such event, that Owner shall be entitled to prepare an estoppel certificate and deliver the 

certificate to the City Manager, and such estoppel certificate shall be binding upon City. 

[Signature page follows.] 

  



 22 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly 

authorized representatives, and the other Owner has signed the same on or as of the day and year 

first above written. 

 

City of Flagstaff, 

an Arizona municipal corporation 

“City” 

 VP 66 & Woody Mountain, L.L.C.,  

an Arizona limited liability company 

“Owner” 

 

 

 

  

By:   

Its:  

Jerry Nabours, Mayor 

 

 

 

Attest: 

  

City Clerk   

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

 

  

 

City Attorney 

  

 

   

 

  



 23 

STATE OF ARIZONA ) 

COUNTY OF COCONINO ) 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

On this __________ day of ____________________, 2016, before me, a Notary Public, personally 

appeared Jerry Nabours, Mayor of the City Flagstaff, known to be or satisfactorily proven to be 

the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that he 

executed the same on behalf of the City of Flagstaff, for the purposes therein contained. 

 

 

 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF ARIZONA ) 

COUNTY OF Maricopa ) 

 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

 

On this __________day of____________________, 2016, before me, a Notary Public, personally 

appeared     , known to be or satisfactorily proven to be the person 

whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged that he executed the 

same on behalf of VP 66& Woody Mountain, L.L.C., an Arizona limited liability company, for 

the purposes therein contained. 

 

 

 

Notary Public 

My Commission Expires: 

 

  



 24 

LIST OF EXHIBITS 
 

 

Exhibit A  Legal Description of Property 

   

Exhibit B Legal Description of Annexation Property 

 

Exhibit C Concept Zone Plan 

 

Exhibit D Concept Zone Plan Ordinance 

   

Exhibit --- REMAINING EXHIBITS TO BE INCLUDED AS DRAFT PROCEEDS 



  15. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Charity Lee, Real Estate Manager

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Ordinance No. 2016-40:  An ordinance of the Flagstaff City
Council authorizing the acquisition of certain real property along the east side of Fourth Street for public
right-of-way and approving Real Estate Purchase and Sale Contracts. (Acquisition of public
right-of-way for Fourth Street sidewalks)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
At the November 1, 2016, Council Meeting:
1) Read Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only for the first time
2) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only (if approved above)
At the November 15, 2016, Council Meeting:
3) Read Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only for the final time
4) City Clerk reads Ordinance No. 2016-40 by title only (if approved above)
5) Adopt Ordinance No. 2016-40

Executive Summary:
September 29, 2015 Work Session, Council was supportive of the project and directed Staff to conduct
open houses to notify the businesses and neighborhood.

April 5th, 2016 Council passed and adopted Ordinance 2013-10 authorizing the acquisition of real
property for pedestrian ramps on Fourth Street at Third Avenue and at Dortha Avenue.  In August, 2016
the property rights were acquired and recorded with the Coconino County Recorder's Office.

Staff has met with the property owners and business owners on various occasions, and have reached
agreements for sale of the real property along the east side of Fourth Street for construction of a public
sidewalk.  



Financial Impact:
Right of Way Acquisition                   $319,009.00 

Additional estimated costs for the improvements:
  
Pavement Preservation Treatment $      14,500.00
Restriping Parking Lot     34,800.00
Parking Lot Lighting 24,000.00
Landscaping 187,059.00
Street Lighting 137,760.00
Sidewalk Construction
 

391,629.00
 

TOTAL $1,094,257.00

These funds would come from the BBB Beautification Funds. Ordinance No. 2016-40 simply
authorizes expenditure for acquisition of real property and other expenditures will be separately approved
as part of other budget and/or contract approvals.
 

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
1) Invest in our employees and implement retention and attraction strategies
3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics
6) Provide a well-managed transportation system 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
September 29, 2015 work session.
April 5th, 2016 Council meeting.

Options and Alternatives:
Approve the ordinance and purchase agreements to acquire real property for a public sidewalk along the
east side of Fourth Street.
Not approve the ordinance and consider other pedestrian options.

Community Involvement:
Inform
Consult
Involve
Collaborate

Staff sent an extensive mailing to all the businesses and the residence of the Sunnyside area.  An open
house was held on November 19, 2015, staff received 5 comment cards, none from a business concern.
Staff has met with the property owners and business owners and we are working to finalize a
improvement design acceptable to all parties.

Attachments:  Sidewalk Concept



Purchase Agreement with John Beamer
Ordinance 2016-40
4th Street Sidewalk Acquisition location map
Purchase agreement with Greenlaw Properties





































































  15. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-36: A resolution of the Flagstaff City
Council, Coconino County, Arizona, opposing certain portions of the National Park Service proposed
Backcountry Management Plan which would reduce the number of use authorizations issued to local
entities which are an important asset to the local tourism industry.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2016-36 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-36 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-36

Executive Summary:
On September 20, 2016, Councilmember Evans presented a Future Agenda Item Request (F.A.I.R.) to
consider a resolution in opposition to portions of the National Park Service Grand Canyon Backcountry
Management Plan. At that meeting, Council heard from Councilmember Evans as well as members of
the tour community. After that input, a majority of Council directed staff to bring back a resolution for
consideration.

The City Attorney's Office has drafted the attached resolution for consideration, with input from members
of the tour community. The members from the tour community that were present at the previous meeting
have been notified of this item being on the Work Session and Regular Meeting agendas.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
9) Improve the economic quality of life for Flagstaff through economic diversification, and by fostering
jobs and programs that grow wages and revenues 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Council briefly discussed this issue at the September 20, 2016, Regular Council Meeting, and received
comments from the public supporting such a resolution.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Adopt the resolution



1) Adopt the resolution
2) Amend the resolution and adopt
3) Not adopt the resolution

Community Involvement:
Inform
Consult

Attachments:  Res. 2016-36



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-36 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL, COCONINO 

COUNTY, ARIZONA, OPPOSING THE PORTION OF THE NATIONAL PARK 

SERVICE PROPOSED BACKCOUNTRY MANAGEMENT PLAN THAT 

GRANTS THE MAJORITY OF COMMERCIALLY GUIDED BACKPACKING 

TRIPS THROUGH A LIMITED NUMBER OF CONCESSIONER CONTRACTS, 

WHICH MAY NEGATIVELY IMPACT THE LOCAL TOURISM INDUSTRY 

AND LOCAL ECONOMY 

 
 
RECITALS: 

 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Charter, Article VII, authorizes the Flagstaff City Council to adopt 
resolutions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff area is surrounded by many national parks including the Grand Canyon 
National Park, the Lake Powell National Recreation Area and other similar parks, monuments 
and natural resources; and   
 
WHEREAS, the City of Flagstaff considers these areas managed by the National Park Service 
to be valuable resources to the Flagstaff community at large; and 
 
WHEREAS, the National Park Service is considering revisions to its Backcountry Management 
Plan and the City of Flagstaff recognizes that, through these revisions, the National Parks Service 
is seeking to protect sensitive desert ecosystems from damage or overuse; and  
 
WHEREAS, many local businesses in the Flagstaff community guide backpacking trips in 
national parks, which are allowed through the National Park Service’s commercial use 
authorization process; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff tourism industry and local economy benefit from commercially guided 
backpacking trips allowed through commercial use authorizations issued to local businesses; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed Backcountry Management Plan would grant the majority of 
commercially guided backpacking trips through a limited number of concessioner contracts, 
which would drastically reduce the number of commercial use authorizations; and 
 
WHEREAS, any reduction in the number of commercial use authorizations may negatively impact 
the local tourism industry and local economy.  
 
ENACTMENTS: 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 
 

THAT the City of Flagstaff does hereby oppose the portion of the National Park Service’s 
proposed Backcountry Management Plan that grants the majority of commercially guided 
backpacking trips through a limited number of concessioner contracts and drastically reduces the 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-36  PAGE 2 
 

number of commercial use authorizations, as this change could have a severe financial impact 
on Flagstaff businesses that utilize the commercial use authorization process.  

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 1st day of November, 
2016. 
 
 
 
    
       __________________________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY 

 

 



  15. C.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Elizabeth A. Burke, City Clerk

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE: 
Consideration and Possible Adoption of Resolution No. 2016-37: A resolution of the Flagstaff City
Council supporting the City joining with other entities to form the Northern Arizona Military Advocacy
Council .

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
1) Read Resolution No. 2016-37 by title only
2) City Clerk reads Resolution No. 2016-37 by title only (if approved above)
3) Adopt Resolution No. 2016-37

Executive Summary:
At the October 18, 2016, Regular Council Meeting Mayor Nabours brought forward a Future Agenda Item
Request (FAIR) to consider a resolution of support for the City joining with other entities to create the
Northern Arizona Military Advocacy Council. At that meeting, a majority of Council supported moving this
item to a future agenda. The attached resolution is provided for consideration, should Council wish to
take formal action at this meeting.

Financial Impact:
None

Connection to Council Goal and/or Regional Plan:
COUNCIL GOALS:
9) Improve the economic quality of life for Flagstaff through economic diversification, and by fostering
jobs and programs that grow wages and revenues 

Has There Been Previous Council Decision on This:
Council briefly discussed this issue at the October 18, 2016, Regular Council Meeting.

Options and Alternatives:
1) Adopt the resolution
2) Amend the resolution and adopt
3) Not adopt the resolution

Community Involvement:
Inform



Inform

Attachments:  Res. 2016-37



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-37 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE FLAGSTAFF CITY COUNCIL, COCONINO 

COUNTY, ARIZONA, SUPPORTING THE CITY JOINING WITH OTHER 

ENTITIES TO FORM THE NORTHERN ARIZONA MILITARY ADVOCACY 

COUNCIL 

 
 
RECITALS: 

 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff City Charter, Article VII, authorizes the Flagstaff City Council to adopt 
resolutions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff community has military installations such as Camp Navajo, the Naval 
Observatory, and the Navy Precision Optical Interferometer; and 
 
WHEREAS, the installations mentioned above and other similar installations are important to 
national defense, military training and scientific advance; and 
 
WHEREAS, Flagstaff takes pride in having such prestigious and important facilities in the 
Flagstaff community; and 
 
WHEREAS, Flagstaff recognizes the beneficial economic impact such facilities bring to the 
Flagstaff community; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Flagstaff community would benefit from knowing more about installations such 
as those mentioned above; and 
 
WHEREAS, in the event the military installations mentioned above were being considered for 
substantial reductions or elimination it would be important to have citizens reviewing such plans 
and, if appropriate, advocating in favor of the installations; and 
 
WHEREAS, other entities, in addition to the City of Flagstaff, largely share the same views 
regarding these installations and would also want to inform the public about the functions of the 
installations and review and comment on any plans to reduce the scope of these installations. 
 
 
ENACTMENTS: 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
AS FOLLOWS: 

 

That the City of Flagstaff does hereby join with the following entities to form the Northern Arizona 
Military Advocacy Council for the purposes as stated above:   

 

Coconino County 

Lowell Observatory 

Northern Arizona University 

Northern Arizona Leadership Associates 



RESOLUTION NO. 2016-37  PAGE 2 
 

Greater Flagstaff Chamber of Commerce 

Economic Collaborative of Northern Arizona 

 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Flagstaff this 1st day of November, 
2016. 
 
 
    
       __________________________________ 
       MAYOR 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
CITY CLERK 
 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

CITY ATTORNEY 

 

 



  16. A.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Jeff Bauman, Traffic Engineer

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE
Discussion:  Street Lighting to Enhance Dark Skies (SLEDS) Status Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
This is a Project Update discussion item, no action is requested or required.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
The SLEDS Project’s primary objective is to find a solution to Flagstaff’s current street lighting
predicament while balancing dark skies, safety and maintenance/cost effectiveness objectives.
 
The SLEDS Project is the result of several years of discussions between the City and the local
observatories (USNOFS and Lowell Observatory) that started in May 2012.  At that time, the City found
itself in a lighting predicament as Low Pressure Sodium (LPS), the preferred lighting source since 1989,
was becoming increasingly more expensive to purchase, quality replacement parts were becoming more
difficult to acquire and we were experiencing structural failures of the pole/mast arm connection due to
the size and weight of the LPS fixture, especially in wind prone areas. 
 
In June 2015, Council approved an Inter-Governmental Agreement (IGA) with ADOT to secure funding
for the SLEDS Project.  This was in the form of $100K (FY16) to hire a Consultant Team (ultimately
Monrad Engineering), $200K (FY16) for test fixtures to support the Consultant Team’s work, and $370K
(FY18) for the first phase of lighting replacements, all of the funding coming from the Flagstaff
Metropolitan Planning Organization’s (FMPO) Surface Transportation Program (STP).
 
The June 2015 Staff Summary Report concluded with “This SLEDS Project is an opportunity for Flagstaff
to demonstrate to other municipalities an innovative lighting solution for dark sky preservation with Light
Emitting Diode (LED) technology that achieves municipal objectives for safety and cost effectiveness and
astronomical objectives for maintaining dark skies.”  That description is, of course, a partial and
generalized list of priorities that the SLEDS Team is balancing.
 
The subsequent Request for Proposals (RFP) utilized to procure the best qualified Consultant Team has
similar language to the Staff Summary Report:
 
“The City seeks cost effective replacement technologies that (1) maintain or approximate current lighting
levels and (2) do not adversely impact the City’s dark sky natural resource or the missions of the Lowell
Observatory and the U.S. Naval Observatory.  In consideration of cost effectiveness, the City seeks to
utilize existing light pole infrastructure." 

"Measures of Effectiveness may include: 



Light uniformity
(1) Brightness and (2) spectrum analysis from several perspectives including: 

On the street
At the observatories
General sky brightness
Identification of ambient light levels (i.e. absence of streetlights)

Color rendition
Wind loading (Effective Projected Area)
Public commentary on lighting levels and color rendition
Life cycle costs including, but not limited to, initial capital expense, energy use, and maintenance” 

In September 2015, the Consultant Team, led by Monrad Engineering, was awarded a $100K contract to
conduct applied research in order to develop a replacement strategy for the City’s increasingly obsolete
LPS street lights with newer technology (LED).

PROJECT UPDATE:

The SLEDS Team has worked through several tasks to date: 

An assessment of the viability of continuing to use LPS
A structural analysis of existing light pole/mast arm assembly and retrofit recommendation for
existing poles/masts
Pre-installation observations and measurements of “sky glow” of the Cheshire test area have been
completed through ground, aerial and satellite measuring techniques
Full sky spectrum measurements to determine the composition of the Artificial Light at Night
(ALAN) has been collected from various locations throughout the City including the Mars Hill area 
Test fixture recommendations divided into two categories 

Arterials and selected Major Collectors
Selected Major Collectors, Minor Collectors and Local Roads

Developed specifications for the Minor Collector / Residential Narrow Band Amber Light Emitting
Diode (NBALED) test fixtures and Arterial Hybrid Light Emitting Diode (HLED) 80% NBALED/20%
2700K LED test fixtures

 
SLEDS Project items that are currently in progress: 

Draft SLEDS Project Report – SLEDS Team is reviewing the report prior to public release
Working with Arizona Department of Transportation on SLEDS test fixture procurement
United States Naval Observatory Flagstaff Station (USNOFS) is running calculations on the
anticipated spectral impact/differences between the test fixtures and the existing fixtures in
Flagstaff based on manufacturers lab data and the City’s street lighting inventory
SLEDS Team meeting to discuss where the Arterial test strips should be located and discuss the
results/implications of the USNOFS calculations for the test fixtures
SLEDS Team meetings have been scheduled for November, December, January and February to
develop test strip locations and maintain project momentum

 
SLEDS Project next steps: 

Installation of test fixtures on various Arterial (TBD) and Residential (Cheshire) locations
Solicit public feedback on the test installations
SLEDS Team meetings to discuss results of the test areas and begin developing proposed new
City Engineering Standards for Street Lighting for eventual Council Adoption
Establish City Wide replacement scenarios 

Evaluate Life cycle costs for Alternatives including: 
Initial capital expense
Energy use



Maintenance
Evaluate citywide lumen output for Alternatives

Finalize SLEDS Project Report
City Council Work Session/Regular Meeting to discuss SLEDS Team recommendations and
consideration of Engineering Standards adoption.

INFORMATION:
COUNCIL GOALS:

3) Provide sustainable and equitable public facilities, services, and infrastructure systems in an efficient
and effective manner to serve all population areas and demographics

REGIONAL PLAN: 
Goal T.2. Improve transportation safety and efficiency for all modes. 
                Policy T.2.1. Design infrastructure to provide safe and efficient movement of vehicles, bicycles, and
pedestrians. 
                Policy T.2.2. Consider new technologies in new and retrofitted transportation infrastructure. 
                Policy T.2.3. Provide safety programs and infrastructure to protect the most vulnerable travelers,
including the young, elderly, mobility impaired, pedestrians, and bicyclists. 
  
Goal T.3. Provide transportation infrastructure that is conducive to conservation, preservation, and development
goals to avoid, minimize, or mitigate impacts on the natural and built environment. 

Policy T.3.6. Seek to minimize the noise, vibration, dust, and light impacts of transportation projects on
nearby land uses.  
Goal T.4. Promote transportation infrastructure and services that enhance the quality of life of the communities
within the region. 
  
Goal T.5. Increase the availability and use of pedestrian infrastructure, including FUTS, as a critical element of a
safe and livable community. 
                Policy T.5.2. Improve pedestrian visibility and safety and raise awareness of the benefits of walking 
  
Goal T.6. Provide for bicycling as a safe and efficient means of transportation and recreation.
  
Goal E&C.5. Preserve dark skies as an unspoiled natural resource, basis for an important economic sector, and
core element of community character. 
                Policy E&C.5.1. Evaluate the impacts of the retention of dark skies regarding lighting infrastructure and
regulatory changes, land use decisions or changes, and proposed transportation developments within the region. 
                Policy E&C.5.2. Encourage and incentivize voluntary reduction of “exempt” lighting that degrades night
sky visibility, and work to prevent light trespass whenever possible in both public and private areas. 
Goal LU.19. Develop a manageable evolution of the main corridors into contextual place makers. 
                Policy LU.19.4. Balance automobile use, parking, bicycle access, while prioritizing pedestrian safety along
all corridors. 

  
  
  

Attachments:  SLEDS RFP
SLEDS Update PPT



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                                  Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 

 

 

 

 
 

CITY OF FLAGSTAFF 
 

 
REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 

 
SOLICITATION FOR:  FMPO-STREET LIGHTING FOR ENHANCING DARK SKIES (SLEDS) 

 
SOLICITATION NO.:   2015-69 

 
CLOSING DATE AND TIME:  Wednesday, July 15th, at 3:00 PM 

 
WHERE TO SUBMIT PROPOSALS (“OFFERS”):  Offers shall be submitted prior to the Closing 
Date and Time in a sealed envelope as addressed below: 
 

Attention Buyer:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
SEALED OFFER:  Solicitation No. 2015-69 Street Lighting for Enhancing 
Dark Skies, (SLEDS) 
Closing Date and Time:  Wednesday, July 15th, 3:00 PM 
City of Flagstaff, Management Services-Purchasing Division 
211 West Aspen Avenue 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

 
 
CITY NEEDS:  The City of Flagstaff seeks a qualified research team to evaluate the impact of 
different street lighting applications on its dark skies, a resource highly valued by the City and the 
community.  The City seeks proposals to partner on the application or development of an 
innovative light fixture technology to replace the current LPS technology and is particularly 
interested in narrow band amber LED, phosphor-coated amber LED, and various filtered LED 
options.  The City seeks proposals that effectively and appropriately mitigate the impacts of these 
lighting options on the community’s dark sky natural resource. 
 
INFORMATION:  The Solicitation and all related materials and any addenda may be downloaded from 
the City Website, www.flagstaffaz.gov. 
 
BUYER:   Candace Schroeder, CPPB, Telephone No.:  (928) 213-2278, Facsimile No.: (928) 
213-2209, Email Address: cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov.   If the Buyer cannot be immediately 
reached, you may contact the receptionist for the City Management Services Purchasing Division 
at (928) 213-2206. 
 
PRE-OFFER MEETING:  Wednesday, May 20, 2015 at 10:00 AM, Finance Conference Room, City 

Hall, Second Floor. A pre-proposal conference call will be held to answer questions. Members of the 

scoring panel will attend the teleconference to ensure all proposers have equal opportunity to present 
their questions and ideas to evaluators. 
 
QUESTIONS:  Any questions must be received by the Buyer via telephone, email, or facsimile 
at least five (5) calendar days prior to the Closing Date and Time.      

http://www.flagstaffaz.gov/
mailto:cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

2 

   

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

SECTION                                                                                                      PAGE 
 

 

Solicitation Description  3 
 

Instructions In General  6 
 

Contract With The City  8 
 

Financial and Tax Considerations for Offer  8 
 

Evaluation of Offer and Contract Award  9 
 

 Offer Format  12 
 

FORMS 
 

Acknowledgment of Receipt (Form)  16 
 

No Response (Form)  17 
 

Offer (Form)  18 
 

Vendor Questionnaire (Form)  19 
 

References (Form)  21 
 

Exceptions (Form)  23 
 

Confidential Materials (Forms)  24 
 

Cooperative Purchases (Form)  25 
 

Disclosure (Form)  26 
 

Declaration Related to Solvency (Form)  27 
 

Declaration Related to Gratuities (Form)  27 
 

Declaration of Non-Collusion (Form) 27 

 

  
  

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

3 

   

SOLICITATION DESCRIPTION 
 
PURPOSE 

 
The City of Flagstaff seeks a qualified research team to evaluate the impact of different street lighting 
applications on its dark skies, a resource highly valued by the City and the community. 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
Street lighting in Flagstaff 
 
The city of Flagstaff was the first to be recognized by the International Dark Sky Association as an 
International Dark Sky City.  Flagstaff earned this distinction, in part, by the establishment in 1989 of a 
lighting code and engineering standards specifying the use of low-pressure sodium (LPS) light fixtures 
for all roadway and parking lot lighting.  Today, LPS lights are increasingly difficult to acquire as low 
demand has prompted many manufacturers and distributors to stop production.  In addition, the use of 
the largest 180 watt LPS fixtures on the current poles and mast arms along arterial streets creates high 
wind loads.  The City seeks proposals to partner on the application or development of an innovative 
light fixture technology to replace the current LPS technology and is particularly interested in narrow 
band amber LED, phosphor-coated amber LED, and various filtered LED options.  The City seeks 
proposals that effectively and appropriately mitigate the impacts of these lighting options on the 
community’s dark sky natural resource. 
 
LED lighting relative to LPS 
 
Flagstaff adopted LPS due to the very close proximity (2-10 miles from city limits) of major astronomical 
observatories established in 1894 (Lowell Observatory) and 1955 (the U. S. Naval Observatory).  The 
low-pressure sodium spectrum covers 589-590 nm – only 1 nm spectral coverage.  In contrast, the 
standard white LED spectrum has significant emission over more than 300 nm and filtered LEDs 
(FLED) over about 220 nm.  Conversion of Flagstaff street lighting to 4100K CCT white LEDs has been 
estimated to increase sky glow by a factor of 7 relative to LPS, and conversion to FLED by a factor of 
3.7, severely compromising the observatories’ missions and greatly degrading the visual appearance 
of the night sky in the city. 
 
Other LED options exist, however. Phosphor-coated amber LEDs (PCALED) has a narrower spectrum 
than FLED, cutting off at about 530 nm.  True narrow band amber LEDs (NBALED) have only a 20nm 
bandpass centered near 590 nm; this is wider than LPS but entirely acceptable from an astronomical 
perspective.  Filters that cut off the blue end of the spectrum at 550 nm (FLED550) create an LED 
option reasonably closely resembling high-pressure sodium (HPS, with a roughly 120nm bandpass).  
True narrow band LED options are also available at slightly redder wavelengths than amber (about 620 
nm rather than 590 nm).  See Figure 1 for representative spectra of some of these options. 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

4 

   

Figure 1.  Representative lighting spectra.  At present, Flagstaff is a mix of LPS and HPS, 
as over 50% of the city’s street lights have been replaced by LPS since adoption of the 
1989 ordinance. Metal halide (MH), LED, and FLED all result in dramatically increased sky 
glow relative to LPS or even HPS. (Figure of spectral distributions prepared by Jeffrey Hall, 
Lowell Observatory) 

 
Challenges and opportunities presented by this RFP 
 
At issue are the relative efficiencies of the lamps.  NBALED is less efficient, at present, than FLED or 
white LED, making it less cost effective for citywide implementation.  At the same time, it is the only 
LED option that preserves the current level of sky glow above the city.  As an example scenario, if the 
City were to convert all its 180-watt LPS street lighting to NBALED and all of its HPS to FLED550, sky 
glow would be roughly conserved – but this solution would at present be extremely expensive. 
 
We seek to identify how the City can affect a solution to this challenge.   At the same time, we identify 
it as an opportunity for Flagstaff to demonstrate to other municipalities an innovative lighting solution 
for dark-sky preservation with LED technology.  This entails: 
 

 A cost effective solution to long-term street lighting needs that achieves municipal objectives for 

safety and cost effectiveness and astronomical objectives for maintaining dark skies. 

 Innovation that advances the industry or best practices for technology transfer that advances 

the purpose of preserving dark skies. 

PARAMETERS FOR PROPOSERS 

Available funds 

The Flagstaff Metropolitan Planning Organization has secured FHWA Surface Transportation 
Program funding to (1) conduct innovative research and monitoring, and (2) purchase new lighting 
technology, within the municipal region of the City of Flagstaff.  This contract is subject to all federal 
compliance requirements set forth in 2CFR200, as administered through Arizona Department of 
Transportation. 
 
The City will commit the following to the street lighting research collaborative: 

 $100,000 toward monitoring and research.* 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

5 

   

 $200,000 toward the purchase of light fixtures.* 

o It is the intent of the City to seek a phased approach to evaluating light fixture 

technologies by conducting small scale evaluations first to potentially eliminate some 

choices prior to purchases for the larger scale evaluations. 

 $11,000 of in-kind labor for installation of lighting technology (in-kind).* 

(*The City’s indirect cost allocation plan will be charged against all federal grant funding.) 

General guidelines 

 Proposals must support widespread applicability for the City’s entire lighting inventory. 

 Proposals must provide a clear plan and timeline for LPS to LED transition that maintains the 

City’s dark-sky quality as new technology is implemented. 

 Baseline data must be established across a range of measures of effectiveness. 

 Proposals for modeling will not be accepted in the place of field testing, but existing evaluation 

or estimation software may be used for preliminary analysis during test designs and post-test 

estimates for city-wide impacts of new lighting recommendations. 

 
The City is open to several ideas, including, but not limited to: 
 

 Prototype – collaboration with a manufacturer to identify paths toward development of a cost-

effective, narrow band LED replacement for a 180 Watt LPS fixture as the highest priority. 

 Evaluation of selected corridors in the City for testing of one or multiple light sources including 

adaptive (i.e., time-of-day) technologies. 

 Proof of concept: Using available models to predict light levels on the streets and changes in 

sky glow and under different scenarios employing varying amounts of lumens emitted by 

different lamps and fixture arrangements. 

 
Measures of Effectiveness (MOE) 
 
The City seeks cost-effective replacement technologies that (1) maintain or approximate current lighting 
levels and (2) do not adversely impact the City’s dark-sky natural resource or the missions of the Lowell 
Observatory and the U.S. Naval Observatory.  In consideration of cost effectiveness, the City seeks to 
utilize existing light pole infrastructure. Measures of effectiveness may include: 

 Light uniformity 

 (1) Brightness and (2) spectrum analysis from several perspectives, including: 

o on the street 

o at the observatories 

o general sky brightness 

o identification of ambient light levels (i.e., absence of streetlights) 

 Color rendition 

 Wind loading (Effective Projected Area) 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

6 

   

 Public commentary on lighting levels and color rendition 

 Life Cycle Costs including, but not limited to, initial capital expenses, energy use, and 

maintenance 

 

INSTRUCTIONS 
 
INSTRUCTIONS IN GENERAL 
 

DUE DILIGENCE:  It is your responsibility to examine the entire Solicitation prior to completing your 
offer, including the form of contract, City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions and Special Terms 
and Conditions. 
 
INSPECTION OF WORK SITE:  Before submitting an offer, you are required to inspect any work sites 
referenced in the Solicitation and notify the Buyer if you believe the work sites or conditions do not 
match the description found in the Solicitation or are unsafe. 
 
PRE-OFFER MEETING: If a Pre-Offer Meeting is scheduled, you are strongly encouraged to attend. If 
scheduled, the date and time of this meeting will be indicated on the cover page of the Solicitation.  The 
purpose of this meeting shall be to clarify the Solicitation in order to prevent any misunderstandings.  
Any questions, apparent omission or discrepancy should be presented to the City at this time.  The City 
shall then determine the appropriate action necessary, if any, and issue a written amendment to the 
Solicitation.  Oral statements or instructions shall not constitute an amendment to this Solicitation. 
 
DISABILITIES: A person with a disability may request a reasonable accommodation in the Solicitation 
process by contacting the Buyer as early as possible to allow time to arrange the accommodation. 
 
SUBMITTAL OF OFFER:  Clearly label your offer as follows: 

 

Attention Buyer:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
SEALED OFFER:  Solicitation No. 2015-69 FMPO-Street Lighting for  

  Enhancing Dark Skies, (SLEDS) 

Closing Date and Time:  Wednesday, July 15th, 3:00 PM 
City of Flagstaff, Management Services-Purchasing Division 
211 West Aspen Avenue 
Flagstaff, AZ  86001 

 
on the outside of the sealed envelope. Submit four (4) original hard copy and an electronic version 
in Adobe Acrobat ® (PDF) on either a compact disc or disc drive of your offer in the sealed 
envelope (or box if needed) prior to the Closing Date and Time specified on the first page of the 
Solicitation.   Submit your offer by mail or hand delivery to the address as labeled. Offers submitted by 
facsimile, email, telegraph or mailgram will not be considered. 
 
COST OF OFFER:  You are responsible for all costs related to preparation and submittal of an offer. 
The City will not reimburse any such costs. 
 
LATE OFFERS:  Late offers shall not be accepted.  The City will return any late offers. 
 
WITHDRAWAL OF OFFERS:  You may withdraw an offer before the Closing Date and Time.  A 
withdrawal must be signed by the vendor’s authorized representative and submitted to the Buyer by 
hand delivery or mail. 
 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

7 

   

OFFER ACCEPTANCE PERIOD:  An offer made in response to this Solicitation shall be valid and 
irrevocable for ninety (90) days after the Closing Date and Time. 
 
QUESTIONS:  If you have any questions about this Solicitation, contact the Buyer.  The City will only 
respond to questions at least five (5) calendar days before the Closing Date and Time. Questions 
should be submitted in writing.   The Buyer may require you to submit any question in writing.  Any 
question shall refer to the Solicitation number, page and paragraph number in question. The City will 
not be responsible if you adjust your offer based on any verbal statements made by employees or 
officers of the City, particularly if such statements conflict with the Solicitation.  You may request the 
Buyer to issue an addendum to the Solicitation. 
 
ADDENDA:  The City will issue any interpretation or correction of the Solicitation only by written 
addendum and a copy of each addendum will be mailed, faxed or delivered only to those vendors who 
have returned an Acknowledgment of Receipt (form).  Submit this form immediately.  Addenda will also 
be posted on the City website. 
 
RETURN OF SIGNED ADDENDA:  You are required to sign and return each Addendum along with 
your offer.  Failure to return a signed copy of each Addendum shall result in rejection of the offer. 

IMPROPER CONTACT WITH CITY EMPLOYEES:  All vendors submitting an offer (including the firm’s 
employees, representatives, agents, lobbyists, attorneys, and subcontractors) will refrain from direct or 
indirect contact for the purpose of influencing or creating bias in the evaluation/selection process with 
any person who may play a part in the evaluation/selection process.  This includes but is not limited to 
the evaluation committee, City Council Members, City Manager, Assistant City Manager(s), Deputy City 
Manager(s), Department Directors or other staff (“City Staff”).  This policy is intended to create a level 
playing field for all potential firms, assure that contract decisions are made in public, and to protect the 
integrity of the selection process.  Vendor is responsible for bringing all questions and concerns to the 
Buyer identified on Page One of this document.  If the Buyer is unresponsive, the vendor may contact 
the City Manager. A vendor may be disqualified if the vendor:  (a) contacts a quorum of the Council or 
contributes to an open meeting law violation; (b) offers political support or gratuities in exchange for 
approval or support of vendor’s offer; (c) obtains information from City Staff not available to other 
vendors which may result in an unfair advantage in the competitive procurement process and fails to 
notify Buyer of this fact within 48 hours thereafter; or (d) engages in any other egregious conduct. 

 
SAMPLES:  If you are requested to provide sample materials to the City, all samples submitted shall 
become the property of the City for testing purposes and/or future comparison at no charge to City.  
Any sample not destroyed by testing or retained for future comparison will be returned to you. (You 
may be required to pick up the sample from the City). 
 
PROCUREMENT PROCESS:  The City’s procurement process is described in the Procurement Code 
Manual, which can be accessed at http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=2991.  You are not 
required, but may review this Manual.  The Solicitation is intended to provide all relevant information 
related to the procurement so that you may submit an offer. In the event of any conflict, the procedure 
outlined in this Solicitation will be followed or the conflict will be resolved by an Addendum. 
 
 
 
 

 

CONTRACT WITH CITY 
 

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=2991


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

8 

   

FORM OF CONTRACT:  The City’s proposed form of contract is included as part of this RFP for your 
review (Attachment A).  The final form of contract will be conformed to match this Solicitation prior to 
Contract award. 
 
INSURANCE:  The City’s insurance requirements can be accessed at 
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=3054.  The insurance requirements are an explicit part of 
the Solicitation and any resulting contract with the City.  Please see the attached Exhibit C. 
 
STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS: The City of Flagstaff Standard Terms and Conditions can 
be accessed at http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?NID=3052 and are an explicit part of the 
Solicitation and any resulting contract with the City, unless otherwise specified in the Solicitation. 
 
SPECIAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS:  The City of Flagstaff Special Terms and Conditions (attached 
if applies) are an explicit part of the Solicitation and any resulting contract with the City. 
 
EXCEPTIONS: You may request changes to the form of contract, insurance or any terms and 
conditions as part of your offer.  (Use the Exceptions form) 
 
CHANGES TO CONTRACT AFTER CONTRACT AWARD: Requests to change the contract after 
contract award, including but not limited to changes to insurance may be rejected by the City. The 
contract shall not be modified within the first year after contract award where: (a) an amendment may 
result in a competitive advantage that was not made available to other vendors; (b) requests for 
changes may delay commencement of performance. 
 
 

FINANCIAL AND TAX CONSIDERATIONS FOR OFFER 

 
QUANTITIES:  Unless the Solicitation states otherwise (in the Solicitation Description or Special Terms 
and Conditions), the Contract will be non-exclusive, and the City makes no guarantees as to the 
quantities of materials or services to be purchased from a vendor. 
 
PARTIAL AWARD:  The City reserves the right to make multiple awards or to award by individual line 
item, by group of line items, or as a total, whichever is deemed most advantageous to the City. 
 
ALL CHARGES:  The offer should separately list all applicable fees, charges, and taxes.  The failure to 
include such information may cause the City to consider the offer as non-responsive or non-responsible. 
 
UNIT PRICES:  Please check all math prior to submittal of your offer. If the offer unit prices do not 
correspond with the multiplied subtotal or total, the unit price shall prevail unless there is a blatant clerical 
error in the unit price. 
 
PAYMENT:  The City’s standard form of contract provides that payment will be made within 30 days 
following receipt and acceptance of material/ service and a correct invoice. 
 
DISCOUNTED PAYMENT:  You may offer discounted pricing if the City pays in less than 30 days.  If 
you offer discounted pricing, the payment discount period shall be computed from the date the City 
receives the material/service or correct invoice, whichever is later, to the date the City’s warrant is 
mailed.  Unless freight and other charges are itemized, any discount provided shall be taken on full 
amount of invoice.  Payment discounts given for payment within ten (10) calendar days or more after 
City’s receipt of the materials/service and correct invoice shall be deducted from the offer price when 
evaluating the offer.  However, the City shall be entitled to take advantage of any payment discount 
offered by the offer provided payment is made within the discount period. 

http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?nid=3054
http://www.flagstaff.az.gov/index.aspx?NID=3052


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

9 

   

 
TRANSACTION PRIVILEGE (SALES)/USE TAX:  State and local transaction privilege or use tax, as 
required, shall be indicated as a separate item on the offer. The State of Arizona and City of Flagstaff 
both impose a transaction privilege tax and use tax. Information concerning current tax rates can be found 
on the Arizona Department of Revenue website, www.azdor.gov. The City will not pay any taxes on 
invoices received unless an Arizona Transaction Privilege/Use Tax License Number is listed in the offer.  
The City also requires submittal of a City Business License Number from any vendor operating any portion 
of its business from a building located within City limits. The City will figure applicable taxes to offers 
received from out of state vendors who do not list an Arizona Transaction Privilege/Use Tax License 
number for tabulation and total cost evaluation. 
 

FEDERAL EXCISE TAXES: The City is exempt from Federal Excise Tax, including the Federal 

Transportation Tax. 
 
DELIVERY CHARGES:  Delivery charges are considered non-taxable and exist only when the total 
charges to the ultimate customer or consumer include, as separately charged to the ultimate customer, 
charges for delivery to the ultimate consumer, whether the place of delivery is within or without the City, 
and when the taxpayer's books and records show the separate delivery charges.  Delivery charges if 
separately stated are considered to be non taxable. 
 
FREIGHT CHARGES:  Freight charges for delivery from place of production or the manufacturer to the 
Proposer either directly or through a chain of wholesalers or jobbers or other middlemen are deemed 
"freight-in" and are not considered delivery.  Freight-in charges are taxable. 
 
 

EVALUATION OF OFFER AND CONTRACT AWARD 
 
PROPOSAL MOST ADVANTAGEOUS TO THE CITY:  The City will award a contract to a responsible 
and responsive vendor whose offer is the most satisfactory and advantageous to the City based on the 
Evaluation Criteria set forth in the Solicitation.  Notwithstanding, any other provision of the RFP, the 
City reserves the right to waive any immaterial defect or informality; or reject any or all proposals or 
portions thereof; or reissue the RFP.  A response to a RFP is an offer to contract with the City based 
upon the terms, conditions, and specifications contained in the City’s RFP.  Proposals do not become 
contracts unless and until they are formally executed as a separate contract document by the City (See 
Attachment A – Sample Contract). 

 
EVALUATION CRITERIA:  The following evaluation criteria will be used by the City’s selection 
committee comprised of FMPO, City of Flagstaff, and representatives from the local 
observatories to score proposals based on the following: 
 
The following evaluation criteria will be used for selection of a vendor. 
 

RELATIVE IMPORTANCE 
 
 

EVALUATION CRITERIA PERCENTAGE 

 

 Experience of the Team:      20 points 

 Research Approach       40 points 

http://www.azdor.gov/


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

10 

   

o Creativity 

o Effectiveness of MOEs 

 Cost effectiveness of proposed work    15 points 

 Residual Value to the City      15 points 

 Transferability       10 points 

 
TOTAL POINTS POSSIBLE            100 
 

 
EVALUATION PROCESS:  The City of Flagstaff’s evaluation committee will review the initial offers 

and score them according to the Evaluation Criteria.  To evaluate these outcomes, the City will 
evaluate research collaboration proposals based on: 
 

 Experience and qualifications of the research team. 

 Identification of the best path forward to finding and implementing a resolution to lighting 
issues.  The manner in which MOEs are identified and presented will be considered 
here. 

 Cost effectiveness, and for teams including universities, clear identification of indirect 
or administrative overhead for grant or project management. 

 Potential for residual value to the City – the degree to which the proposed research 
project may leave in place light fixtures and other material for use by the City. 

 Potential for transferability – the degree to which the project can be applied and scaled 
to other communities, establishing Flagstaff as a precedent for dark-sky applications of 
LED technology. 

 
The committee will then: 
 

a. Engage in discussions with highest scoring vendor.  If the parties are unable to reach an 
agreement, the evaluation committee may engage in discussions with the second-highest 
scoring vendor. 
 
Or 
 

b. Engage in discussions with the highest scoring vendors (“short list”).  Following such 
discussions, the City may request such vendors to make “Best and Final” offers. 

 
PURPOSE OF DISCUSSIONS:  The purpose of discussions with a vendor (pursuant to Section 11.9 
of the Procurement Code Manual) shall be to: 
 

a. Determine in greater detail such vendor’s qualifications; 
 

b. Explore with the vendor the scope and nature of the project, the vendor’s proposed 
presented approach, the relative utility of alternate methods of approach and method of 
performance; 

 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

11 

   

c. Determine that the vendor will make available the necessary personnel and facilities to 
perform within the required time; 
 

d. Agree upon compensation which is fair and reasonable, taking into account the estimated 
value of the required services/equipment, the scope and complexity of proposed project and 
nature of such services/equipment. 

 
In conducting discussions, there shall be no disclosure of any information derived from offers submitted 
by competing vendors. 
 
REVISIONS TO OFFERS:  If the City calls for “best and final” offers, those vendors will be accorded 
fair and equal treatment with respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of offers prior to 
contract award. 

 
FINANCIAL STATUS: If requested by the City following the Closing Date and Time, you must provide 
a current audited financial statement, a current audited financial report, or a copy of a current federal 
income tax return.  Failure or refusal to provide this information within five (5) business days after 
communication of the request by the City shall be sufficient grounds for the City to reject an offer, and/or 
to declare the offer as non-responsive or non-responsible. 
 
REQUESTS FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:  After the Closing Date and Time, the City may 
request you to provide additional information related to your offer. Failure to provide this information 
within five (5) business days after communication of the request by the City will be grounds for the City 
to reject an offer, and/or to declare the offer as non-responsive or non-responsible. 

 
RESERVATION OF RIGHTS:  The City reserves the right to reject any and all offers, or any part 
thereof.  The City reserves the right to accept any offer in whole or in part, or any line item, and to 
award a contract for purchase of the same. The City reserves the right to waive any clerical error or 
nonmaterial defect in the offer when it is deemed to be in the City's best interest.  The City reserves 
the right to cancel or reissue a Solicitation. 
 
NOTICE OF PROPOSED CONTRACT AWARD OR RECOMMENDATION:  All vendors will receive 
an email notifying them of the City’s proposed contract award or recommendation to reject all offers.  
This notice will be posted as part of the agenda for the regular meeting of the City Council, on the City 
website. The agenda is typically posted at least one (1) week prior to the Council Meeting. 
 
PUBLIC RECORDS:  Offers received by the City are available for public inspection after a contract has 
been awarded, subject to any confidentiality restrictions. 
 
PROTESTS:  If you wish to protest the Solicitation, a protest shall be in writing and shall be personally 
delivered or served upon the City Purchasing Director.  A protest related to the Solicitation (such as 
specifications, requirements, or scope) shall be received by the City Purchasing Department before the 
Closing Date and Time. A protest of a proposed award or of an award shall be personally delivered or 
served upon the City Purchasing Director within ten (10) days after the protester knows or should have 
known the basis of the protest.  A protest shall include: 
a. The name, address and telephone number of the protester; 
b. The signature of the protester or its representative; 
c. Identification of the solicitation or contract number; 
d. A detailed statement of the legal and factual grounds of the protest including copies of relevant 

documents; and 
e. The form of relief requested. 
 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

12 

   

OFFER FORMAT 
 

QUALITY OF OFFER: The City will evaluate the quality of the offer as evidence of your qualifications 
and competence. The offer should be: (1) complete, (2) thorough, (3) accurate, (4) comply with 
Solicitation instructions, (5) organized, and (6) concise. 
 
PAGE LIMIT:  The offer shall not exceed a total of 20 pages, except the Cover, Cover Letter, 
and City Forms will not be counted in the page limit.  Any pages attached to the City Forms shall 
be counted toward the page limit.  The City may reject an offer that exceeds the page limit as non-
responsive. 
 
NUMBER OF COPIES:  Submit FOUR (4) ORIGINAL HARD COPY AND AN ELECTRONIC 
VERSION IN ADOBE ACROBAT ® (PDF) ON EITHER A COMPACT DISC OR DISC DRIVE of 
your offer. The original hard copy must be bound. 
 
MATERIALS USED FOR OFFER:  The offer must be submitted in packaging/packing materials that 
meet at least one of, and preferable all of the following criteria:  (a) Made from 100% post-consumer 
recycled materials; (b) Non-toxic; (c) Bio-degradable; (d) Reusable; (e) Recyclable.  The original hard 
copy should be printed on recycled paper (minimum 50% post-consumer waste) and printed double-
sided. 
 
OFFER FORMAT: 
 
Cover: 
The cover should contain the following: 

 Solicitation Number 

 Solicitation Name 

 Closing Date and Time 

 Company name (and logo if desired) 

 Other information/graphics as desired 
 
Tabbed Sections of Bound Proposal: 
 

Cover Letter (1 page) 
 

All proposals must follow the general guidelines and format outlined below exactly.  Proposals 
that do not follow these criteria will be returned without review. 
 
General guidelines 
 
To ensure easy readability, proposals should use at least one-inch page margins and 12-point 
font of an easily legible font face.  The content of Section 5.2.2 below, including all graphs, 
figures, and tables, may not exceed 20 pages. 
 
 
Proposal contents 
 
The proposal should present a plan to provide a comprehensive recommendation for a 
transition from legacy technology (LPS and HPS, and non-dark-sky-compliant lighting that may 
be in use in Flagstaff or other communities) to LED.  The City of Flagstaff and Lowell 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

13 

   

Observatory see this as an opportunity for proposers to devise an innovative solution to 
support municipal priorities while maintaining exemplary dark-sky practice and policy. 
 
Title and Abstract 
 
The first page of the proposal should provide a descriptive title and an abstract of no more than 
300 words.  The abstract should provide an effective summary statement of the problem 
addressed, identify the solution, and specify the objectives and methods of the proposed 
solution. 
 
Project description 
 
The project description must contain four sections in the order given below.  These sections 
are designed to encourage a step-by-step evaluation of the evolution of an LED-based, dark-
sky lighting solution in Flagstaff, and to create a roadmap for other communities that wish to 
embark on similar efforts.  Proposers must source in the reference section all statements from 
the primary or secondary literature, case studies, and municipal codes and strategic plans. 
 
Evaluation of lighting pole infrastructure in Flagstaff 
 
As stated above, the City desires to maintain existing lighting pole infrastructure in the interest 
of cost effectiveness. Proposers should provide a plan and timeline for assessment of this 
infrastructure. The City will provide the selected team with its lighting pole inventory 
documentation for the purposes of this evaluation. Critical questions include 

 Where mast arm overloading by 180 watt LPS fixtures is of critical urgency 

 Where poles themselves require engineering or replacement 
 
Evaluation of LPS lighting technology 
 
Proposers must outline a plan to evaluate the state of low pressure sodium lighting in industry. 
This should include plans and a timeline to provide 

 A review of LPS usage generally, showing usage trends and evolution of demand 

 A projection for the future availability, cost, and efficiency of LPS lighting, to establish 
timescales on which LPS must be phased out in favor of LED 

 
Evaluation of LED lighting options 
 
The proposal must provide a plan for evaluation of LED lighting technology.  Options that must 
be explored include but are not limited to: 

 FLED (500 nm cutoff) 

 PCALED (530 nm cutoff) 

 FLED550 (550 nm cutoff) 

 NBALED (20 nm band width at 590 nm) 

 Other NBALED-analogous options (e.g., narrow band centered at 620-630 nm) 
Parameters that must be evaluated are: 

 Current efficiency 

 Prospects and timescale for improvements in efficiency 

 Cost implications to the City of implementation of the various options if it 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

14 

   

o Replaces 180-watt LPS fixtures in critical engineering areas identified in section 
5.2.2.1 above 

o Replaces all current 180-watt LPS fixtures citywide 
o Replaces additional HPS fixtures citywide 

 Examination of hybrid solutions for LPS/HPS replacement is acceptable and welcomed 
 
Plan for transition of lighting in Flagstaff from LPS/HPS to LED 
 
Narrow band LED lighting preserves the viability and the missions of the local observatories.  
Proposers should describe a clear path to transitioning Flagstaff from LPS to dark-sky 
preserving LED.   Elements of this plan should include, but are not limited to 

 Maintenance of LPS through mechanical solutions (e.g., additional support of mast 
arms, removal of mast arms and attachment of fixtures directly to poles) while LED 
solutions are explored and implemented, and timescales for viability of such 
maintenance 

 Temporary installation of broad-spectrum LED (e.g., FLED) in areas of critical urgency 
identified above while narrower band (PCALED, FLED550, NBALED, orange NBALED) 
options and improvements are explored 

 Proposals for installation of the various types of LED options for public evaluation 

 Timescale and limits of improvement in narrow band LED technology 

 Plan for phased conversion of LPS and HPS streetlight fixtures to a mix of LED that 
maintains the dark sky standards in the city 

 Projections for change in sky glow under the various scenarios presented 
 
References cited 
 
All references included in the Project Description should be assembled in an alphabetical list.  
Proposers may use a citation style of their choosing, but they should be consistent throughout 
the reference list. 
 
Project personnel 
 
Proposers should provide an explanation of the proposed personnel arrangements and the 
biographical data sheets for each of the main contributors to the project. The explanation 
should specify how many persons at what percentage of time and in what academic categories 
will be participating in the project. If the program is complex and involves people from multiple 
firms or institutions, the organization of the staff and the lines of responsibility must be made 
clear. 
 
 
 
Budget and Budget Narrative 
 
Proposers should present a budget including the following line items. 

 Effort level and salary or hourly rate for all personnel involved in the project (FTE levels 
expected for exempt personnel, hours to be invested for non-exempt personnel). 

 Total fringe benefits. 

 Direct costs including but not limited to 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

15 

   

o Travel and lodging 
o Computers, software, and software licenses 
o Equipment 
o Subcontracts and consultant fees 
o Supplies 
o Administrative costs 

 Indirect costs, accompanied by documentation of negotiated rate as appropriate. 

 A budget narrative of 1-2 pages should accompany the full budget. 
 

A. Offer (form) (attach signed Solicitation Addenda) 
 

B. Vendor Questionnaire (form) (attach copies of licenses) 
 
C. References (form) 

 
D. Exceptions (form) (attach information) 

 
E. Confidential Materials (form) 

 
F. Cooperative Purchases (form) 

 
G. Disclosure (form); Declaration Related to Solvency (form); Declaration Related to 

Gratuities (form); Declaration of Non-Collusion (form) (attach explanations) 
 

 
 
 

All completed forms must be submitted 

with offer! 

 

 

 

 

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

16 

   

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF RECEIPT AND  
REQUEST FOR ADDENDA (FORM) 

 
 
 

SOLICITATION FOR:  FMPO-STREET LIGHTING FOR ENHANCING DARK SKIES, 
(SLEDS)  

 
SOLICITATION NO.:  2015-69 
 
CLOSING DATE AND TIME:  Wednesday, July 15th, 3:00 PM 

   

 

Please complete this form and return it to the City Buyer via e-mail at 
cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov, facsimile at (928) 213-2209 or mail it to the Buyer at the 
address listed above to acknowledge your receipt of this Solicitation and to receive 
notification of any addenda or responses to questions regarding this Solicitation.   
 

Company Name:         __________ 
 
Name / Title of Contact:           
 
Address:             
  
             
 
             
 
Phone #:  (         )      Fax #: (         )    
 
E-Mail 
Address:_________________________________________________________ 
 
Signature:         Date:     
 
 
 

 
 
  

mailto:cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

17 

   

NO RESPONSE (FORM) 
 

SOLICITATION FOR:  FMPO-STREET LIGHTING FOR ENHANCING DARK SKIES, 
(SLEDS) 

 
SOLICITATION NO.:  2015-69 
 
CLOSING DATE AND TIME:  Wednesday, July 15th, 3:00 PM 
   
If you are not responding to this Solicitation, please complete and return this form to the 
Buyer at the address listed above, fax to (928) 213-2209 or email to 
cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov.     
 
Company Name:            
 
Address:              
 
City:           State:      Zip:   
             
Phone:          Fax:       
 
Reason for NO OFFER: 
 
  Do not provide the materials or services requested 
 
  Unable to respond due to current staff availability and/or business conditions  
 

Insufficient time  
 

Unable to meet terms, conditions, specifications or requirements as described within 
the solicitation due to: 

   
              
 
              
  
 
  Other:            
 
This NO OFFER response is authorized by:          
             Signature 
 
               
                Title 
      
Please check one:    Retain our company on the mailing list for future solicitations.   
 

Please remove our company from the mailing list.   
 

Please remove our company from this commodity or service only.

mailto:cschroeder@flagstaffaz.gov


CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                                  Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 

 

 

 

 

OFFER (FORM)  
 
 

 TO THE CITY OF FLAGSTAFF:  
 
 The undersigned hereby offers and agrees to furnish materials and/or services in compliance 

with the Solicitation, including Addenda, and as described in this offer made to the City.   
 
 
 
 Representative or Contact Person’s Name:    _______   
  
    
    Telephone:      ______________      Fax:____________________ 
 
 
 Offeror (Vendor):         ______ 
 
 
 Address:            
 
 
 City, State, Zip:        ____________ 
 
              
   Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Offer    Title 
 
 
              
    Printed Name        Date 
 
 

 
 Attach:  Addenda signed by vendor (if addenda were issued).   
 
 
 

 

 

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 19 - 

VENDOR QUESTIONNAIRE (FORM) 
 

Vendor: 
 
Company Name:   
 
Doing Business As (if different than above):   
 
Address:   
 
City:   State:   Zip:   -   
 
Phone:   Fax:   
 
E-Mail Address:   Website:   
 
Taxpayer Identification Number:    
 
Mailing Address (if different than above): 
 
Address:   
 
City:   State:   Zip:   -   
 
Vendor Contact for Questions about Offer: 
 
Name:   Fax:   
 
Phone:   E-Mail Address:   
 
Transaction Privilege (Sales)Tax/Use Tax Information (check one): 
 
_____ Vendor is located outside Arizona (The City will pay use tax directly to the AZ Dept of 

Revenue) 
 
 OR  
 

_____ Vendor is located in Arizona (The vendor must invoice the applicable state and local tax 
to City, and remit taxes.) 

 
 Arizona Department of Revenue TPT License Number:  ______________   
 (Attach proof of registration) 
 
Business License Information (check one): 
 
_____Vendor does not have a business location within the City of Flagstaff 
 
 OR 
 
_____Vendor has a business location (uses a building) within the City of Flagstaff 
 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 20 - 

          Flagstaff Business License Number:_____________________ 
 
Other Licenses (list any existing licenses you have required for work, e.g. Arizona 
Registrar of Contractor licenses, and attach copies): 
 
 
____________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 
Insurance (who will provide required coverages): 
 
Insurance Company Name__________________________________. 
 

  
          Contact & Phone Number __________________________________________ 

 
 
Subcontractors: 
 
List any subcontractors to be utilized, if any. 
 
   ___________________________________________________________
  
 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 21 - 

REFERENCES (FORM) 

 
REFERENCES.  Please submit at least three (3) and no more than five (5) references for projects 
your company has performed in the last five (5) years demonstrating your experience with 
providing the services comparable to the Solicitation. The project description should include 
sufficient detail for the City to evaluate your experience. You should also include the name, title, 
and telephone number of both the current project owner and the project owner at time of work.   
 

Firm/Government Agency Name: 

Contact Person: Phone: 

Title: Fax: 

Address: E-Mail Address: 

Reason for Selecting as Reference: 

 

Project Date,  Size, Complexity, Scope and Duration:  

Firm/Government Agency Name: 

Contact Person: Phone: 

Title: Fax: 

Address: E-Mail Address: 

Reason for Selecting as Reference: 

 

Project Date, Size, Complexity, Scope and Duration:  

 

 

 

 

Firm/Government Agency Name: 

Contact Person: Phone: 

Title: Fax: 

Address: E-Mail Address: 

Reason for Selecting as Reference: 

 

Project Date, Size, Complexity, Scope and Duration:  

 

 

 

 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 22 - 

Firm/Government Agency Name: 

Contact Person: Phone: 

Title: Fax: 

Address: E-Mail Address: 

Reason for Selecting as Reference: 

 

Project Date, Size, Complexity, Scope and Duration: 

 

 

 

  

Firm/Government Agency Name: 

Contact Person: Phone: 

Title: Fax: 

Address: E-Mail Address: 

Reason for Selecting as Reference: 

 

Project Date, Size, Complexity, Scope and Duration:  

 

 

 

 

 

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 23 - 

EXCEPTIONS (FORM) 
 
Notations.  Any strikeouts, notes or modifications to the Solicitation documents shall be initialed 
in ink by the authorized person who signs the offer. If notations are made, they must be submitted 
with your offer and are considered Exceptions. 
 
Exceptions:  In addition to any notations on the Solicitation documents, please identify and list 
any exceptions to the Solicitation, by section/paragraph, on this Exceptions Form.  The City 
reserves the right to reject, accept or further negotiate Exceptions.  Exceptions may render the 
offer non-responsive. 
 
Exceptions to Form of Contract:  You may request changes to the form of contract (including any 
Standard or Special Terms and Conditions) on the Exceptions Form.  You may also submit your 
own form of contract. The City will consider these in the same manner as any other exceptions. 
 
You must indicate any and all exceptions taken to the requirements, specifications, and/or terms 
and conditions of this Solicitation, including the contract.   
 
Exceptions (INITIAL ONE): 

   No exceptions 

   Exceptions taken (describe).  Attach additional pages if needed. 
 
 
 
 
 

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 24 - 

CONFIDENTIAL MATERIALS (FORM) 
 
If you believe part of your offer is confidential, mark the page(s) “CONFIDENTIAL” and isolate the 
pages as an attachment to this form. Also include an explanation why they are confidential. 
 
Requests to deem the entire offer as confidential will not be considered. 
 
If you want confidential information returned to you after contract award (and you are not selected 
for contract award), then note this below.  You will be responsible for pick up. 
 
Generally, information submitted in response to a Solicitation is subject to disclosure pursuant to the 
Arizona Public Records Law after contract award. 
 
The information identified as confidential shall not be disclosed until the City makes a written 
determination whether the information may be treated as confidential. If the City determines it is 
necessary to disclose the information, the City will inform you in writing.  
 
 
Confidential/Proprietary Materials (INITIAL ONE): 

   No confidential/proprietary materials have been included with this offer 

 

   Confidential/Proprietary materials are included in this offer. See attached. 
 
 

  



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 25 - 

COOPERATIVE PURCHASES (FORM) 
 
   The City of Flagstaff is a member of Flagstaff Alliance for the Second Century, along with the 

Coconino County Community College District, Northern Arizona University, Coconino County 
and Flagstaff Unified School District.  

 
The City is also a member of S.A.V.E. (Strategic Alliance for Volume Expenditures), which 
consists of numerous municipalities, counties, universities, colleges, schools and other 
Arizona State agencies.   
 
Cooperative purchasing arrangements such as the above are sanctioned by state law and 
allow a vendor to sell services and materials to any member of a cooperative group under the 
same pricing, terms and conditions of contract awarded to the vendor by any other member, 
following a competitive procurement process.  
 
Is your company willing to offer the goods and services solicited under the terms and conditions 
of this solicitation to other members of the Flagstaff Alliance for the Second Century and 
S.A.V.E. under the same pricing, terms and conditions? 

 
 ___ Yes   No   (INITIAL ONE) 

 
 If you answered No, that is acceptable. The City will not reject your offer or consider it to be 

non-responsive.   
 

If you answered Yes, and a contract is approved, others may seek to do business with you 
under the same terms and conditions, subject to your approval. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 26 - 

DISCLOSURE (FORM) 
Any offer must include this completed form. For any item checked YES, you must provide an 
explanation, including dates, company name(s), enforcing authority, court, agency, etc.  
Answering YES to one or more questions does not necessarily mean that you will be disqualified 
from this Solicitation. FAILURE TO PROVIDE TRUE AND COMPLETE INFORMATION MAY 
RESULT IN DISQUALIFICATION FROM THIS SOLICITATION.    
 
Has your company or any affiliate* in the past 5 years: (i) had a permit revoked or suspended, (ii) 
been required to pay a fine, judgment or settlement of more than $100,000, (iii) been convicted of 
a criminal offense (including a plea of guilty or nolo contendere), or (iv) been found in contempt of 
court, as a result of or in connection with any of the following: 
 
1.  Any offense indicating a lack of business integrity or honesty, 

including fraud, bribery, embezzlement, false claims, false 
statements, falsification or destruction of records, forgery, 
obstruction of justice, receiving stolen property, theft, price fixing, 
proposal rigging, restraint of trade or other antitrust law violation? 

 

 
 
 
 
 
YES______  NO______ 

 
 

 

2. Violation of the terms of any public contract? YES______  NO______ 
 
 

 

3. Failure to pay any uncontested debt to any government agency? YES______  NO______ 
 
 

 

4. Violation of any law or regulation pertaining to the protection of 
public health or the environment? 

 
YES______  NO______ 

 
*An “affiliate” of your company means any person, company or other entity that, either directly or 
indirectly (for example, through stock ownership by family members), controls, is controlled by, or 
is under common control with, your company. 
 
Has your company or any affiliate of your company in the past 5 years been named as a party in 
any lawsuit related to performance of a contract (you do not need to list subcontractor lien claims 
which have been fully paid/satisfied)?   
 
YES_____ NO_____ 
If yes, provide the case name and number, brief description, and disposition or current status. 
 
Has your company or any affiliate of your company in the past 5 years been debarred, disqualified 
or suspended from submitting proposals on public contracts? 
 
YES_____ NO_____ 
 
I hereby verify that the foregoing information, and any explanation attached are to the best 
of my knowledge, true and complete. 
 
 
             
Signature  Title  Date 



CITY OF FLAGSTAFF PURCHASING DIVISION                                                          Solicitation No. 2015-69 
211 WEST ASPEN AVE.  BUYER:  Candace Schroeder, CPPB 
FLAGSTAFF, ARIZONA  86001               PH: (928) 213-2278    FX: (928) 213-2209 
 
 

 

- 27 - 

 

DECLARATION RELATED TO SOLVENCY (FORM) 
 
Is your firm currently involved in an ongoing bankruptcy as a debtor, or in a reorganization, 
liquidation, or dissolution proceeding, or has a trustee or receiver been appointed over all or a 
substantial portion of the property of your firm under federal bankruptcy law or any state 
insolvency law? 
 
_____ Yes  _____No   (INITIAL ONE) 
 

 

DECLARATION RELATED TO GRATUITIES (FORM) 
 
I hereby verify and declare that, to the best of my knowledge, neither the vendor nor anyone 
associated with the vendor has given, offered to give, or intends to give at any time hereafter any 
economic opportunity, future employment, gift, loan, gratuity, special discount, trip, favor, or 
service to a public servant in connection with the offer (“Gratuities”).   

 
____________________________________  ______________________ 
Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Offer  Title 
 
 

DECLARATION OF NON-COLLUSION (FORM) 
 

I hereby verity and declare that: 
 
The pricing for this offer has been arrived at independently and without consultation, 
communication or agreement with any other vendor who may submit an offer. 

 
The pricing for this offer has not been disclosed to any other vendor who may submit an offer, 
and will not be, prior to the Closing Date and Time. 

 
No attempt has been made or will be made to induce any firm or person to refrain from submitting 
an offer, or to submit an offer with higher pricing than this offer, or to submit an intentionally high 
or noncompetitive offer or other form of complementary offer. 

 
This offer is made in good faith and not pursuant to any agreement or discussion with, or 
inducement from, any firm or person to submit a complementary or other noncompetitive bid. 
 
Offeror, its affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, and employees are not currently under 
investigation by any governmental agency and have not in the last four years been convicted or 
found liable for any act prohibited by state or federal law in any jurisdiction, involving conspiracy 
or collusion with respect to bidding on any jurisdiction, involving conspiracy or collusion with 
respect to bidding on any public contract. 
 
____________________________________ ______________________ 
Signature of Person Authorized to Sign Offer Title 
 



SLEDS Project Update

• Background / History

• Completed Tasks

• In Progress

• Next Steps

• Questions / Discussion



Background / History

• Low Pressure Sodium in Flagstaff

• 1989

• Today

• SLEDS 

• IGA – RFP – Consultant Contract

• Monrad Engineering



Background / History
• Low Pressure Sodium in Flagstaff

• 1989

• The most efficient source

• Readily available

• The best option for Flagstaff

• Today
• Less efficient than modern solid state sources

• High maintenance costs

• Obsolescence

• Structural deficiencies

• No longer an option for Flagstaff



Background / History
• SLEDS 

• IGA with ADOT, June 2015 

• FMPO – Surface Transportation Program

• FY 16 - $100K - Consultant Contract

• FY 16 - $200K – Test Fixtures

• FY 18 - $370K – First phase replacements

• Monrad Engineering



Highlights of RFP –

Challenges and Opportunities
“We seek to identify how the City can affect a solution to this 
challenge.   At the same time, we identify it as an opportunity for 
Flagstaff to demonstrate to other municipalities an innovative lighting 
solution for dark-sky preservation with LED technology.  This entails:

• A cost effective solution to long-term street lighting needs that 
achieves municipal objectives for safety and cost effectiveness 
and astronomical objectives for maintaining dark skies.

• Innovation that advances the industry or best practices for 
technology transfer that advances the purpose of preserving dark 
skies.”



Highlights of RFP – Project Direction
(1) Maintain or approximate current lighting levels and 

(2) Do not adversely impact the City’s dark sky natural resource or the missions of the Lowell 
Observatory and the U.S. Naval Observatory.

• Utilize existing light pole infrastructure.

Measures of Effectiveness may include:

• Light Uniformity

• Brightness and Spectrum Analysis from several perspectives

• Color rendition

• Wind loading (Effective Projected Area)

• Public commentary on lighting levels and color rendition

• Life cycle costs including, but not limited to, initial capital expense, energy use, and 
maintenance”



Completed Tasks
• Assessment of viability of LPS

• Structural Analysis of Mast Arms

• Existing Condition Measurements

• Cheshire Residential Test Area

• General Citywide 

• Selected Test Fixtures

• Arterials and selected Major Collectors

• Selected Major Collectors, Minor Collectors, Locals



In Progress Tasks
• Draft SLEDS Report

• ADOT procurement

• SLEDS Team assessment of Lab Data for test 
fixture scenarios

• Test Fixture test strips
• Cheshire and TBD Arterials

• Meetings…



Next Steps

• Meetings…

• Public feedback

• SLEDS Team feedback on testing



Next Steps

• Develop recommended standard

• Establish Citywide replacement scenarios

• Finalize SLEDS Project Report

• City Council Adoption of new Engineering 

Standards for Roadway Lighting



Questions / Conclusions



  16. B.             
CITY OF FLAGSTAFF
STAFF SUMMARY REPORT

To: The Honorable Mayor and Council

From: Dan Folke, Planning Director

Date: 10/24/2016

Meeting Date: 11/01/2016

TITLE
Review: Regulations to Park Trailers, RVs and Boats.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The item is presented at the request of City Council. At the conclusion of the discussion, City
Council may direct staff to prepare an amendment to the Zoning Code if desired.   

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Staff will present information on the current rules pertaining to the parking and storage of trailers, RVs
and boats including how the current rules have evolved since 1991.  The rules have evolved from
keeping all vehicles out of the front and side yard setbacks, to specifically prohibiting trailers, RV's and
boats from parking in driveways.  Potential amendments could consider expanding where these types of
vehicles may be parked on private property or what times of year.  Enforcement has been
consistent during the past decade.  Code Compliance staff responds to reports of non-compliance with a
campaign to educate and seek voluntary compliance.  This has been done in a variety of ways from
mailed information to entire neighborhoods to direct contact with property owners.  Staff has not issued
summons to appear in municipal court for these violations.            

INFORMATION:

Attachments:  RV CCR 2016



1 | P a g e  

 
 

CITY COUNCIL REPORT 
PUBLIC 

 
DATE:  September 23, 2016 

 
TO:    Mayor and Council Members 

 
FROM: Daniel Folke, AICP, Planning Director  

  
CC: Josh Copley, Barbara Goodrich, Shane Dille, Mark Landsiedel 

 
SUBJECT: Parking for Trailers, RVs and Boats    

 
 

 
The Planning Director was asked to provide the legislative history on the current rules 
for parking trailers, RVs and boats on residential properties.   
 
Land Development Code (1991-2011) 
In 2002 the Flagstaff City Council adopted amendments to the Land Development Code 
(LDC), 10-07-002-0002 OFF STREET PARKING STANDARDS, which included the 
following language: 
 

TRAILERS, RV’S, BOATS.  A camping or vacation trailer, recreational vehicle 
or boat may be stored in the rear or interior side yard, garage or carport on any 
lot in any district, provided that: 1) there is a principal use of the property, to 
which such storage would be accessory; 2) no living quarters shall be 
maintained or any business conducted in connection therewith while such trailer 
or vehicle is so parked or stored; and 3) the required parking on the lot is 
maintained in addition to the area used for the stored vehicle(s).  

 
 This section worked in conjunction with the following language which already existed: 
   

LOCATION. All off-street parking shall be on-premises parking unless the 
requirements of Section 10-07-002-0004 are met for off-premise parking 
facilities.  In all established zoning districts, required parking is not permitted in 
the required front and exterior side yard setbacks unless provided otherwise in 
individual districts, and is also regulated by bufferyard requirements in Chapter 
10-6 when applicable. … 

 
The combination of these two paragraphs is that no vehicles were permitted to park 
within the front and exterior side yard setback.  The 2002 amendment made it clear that 
trailers, RV’s and boats, which may not have been considered “required parking”, may 
only be stored in the rear, interior side yard or within a garage or carport.  The language 
in the LOCATION paragraph which prohibits parking of all vehicles in the front and 
exterior side yard setbacks may date back to the adoption of the LDC in 1991. 
 



City Council Report 
September 23, 2016 
Trailers, RVs and Boats 
Page 2 

 

2 | P a g e  
 

Zoning Code (2011) 
In 2011 City Council adopted the Zoning Code which included a section on parking of 
Trailers, RV’s and Boats.  These rules and enforcement were addressed in the May 22, 
2015 CCR attached to this report.  The 2011 Zoning Code includes the same prohibition 
from the LDC that prohibits parking these types of vehicles in the front and exterior side 
yard.  The 2011 zoning code added language to clarify that these vehicles are allowed 
to be stored in the rear or interior side yard behind the front of the building, garage, or 
carport.   
 
Zoning Code (2016)   
The 2016 Zoning Code amendments attempted to address several issues that came 
out of enforcement.  Current rules for required on-site parking are found in the Zoning 
Code Section 10-50.80.080 Parking Spaces, Parking Lot Design and Layout and are 
attached to this CCR.  Rules for the location of residential parking begin on page 50.80-
20.  The amendments attempt to accomplish the following: 
 

• Provide a visual depiction of where and what types of vehicles may park on 
residential properties  

• Differentiate between storage and short term parking of trailers, RVs and boats 
by defining storage as more than 5 days per month 

• Created rules to allow parking of trailers, RV’s and boats on site for 5 days or 
less per month 

• Allows parking of these vehicles in a driveway, in front of a home for 5 days per 
month 

• Allows overnight parking of trailers, motor homes and RVs on commercial and 
industrial properties where camping is not specifically permitted with the 
permission of the property owner 

 
Summer 2016 Enforcement 
As has been the case each of the past several summers, Code Compliance staff has 
been provided lists of properties that are not in compliance with the rules for parking of 
these vehicles.  This year we responded to a list of 43 properties in University Heights.  
The Code team has systematically worked through the list and if a violation was 
observed have made contact with each of the owners.  We have received a mix of 
responses from property owners and tenants and are working on a report of the current 
status.     
 
 
Attachments: CCR Parking RVs Trailer May 2015; Flagstaff Zoning Code 10-50.80.080 
 
    

  
 



CCR_Parking RVsTrailers May2015 V3 Page 1 

CITY COUNCIL REPORT 
Public 

DATE:  May 22, 2015 

TO: Mayor and Councilmembers 

FROM: Mark Landsiedel, Dan Folke AICP, Roger E. Eastman AICP 

CC: Jeff Meilbeck, Josh Copley, Jerene Watson, Leadership Team 

SUBJECT: REGULATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH PARKING TRAILERS, RVs 
and BOATS IN RESIDENTIAL NEIGHBORHOODS 

This CCR is in response to a request from City Council for information regarding the 
City’s regulations pertaining to park trailers, RVs and boats. 

DISCUSSION 
The Flagstaff Zoning Code includes a section that specifically addresses the parking of 
RVs, trailers and boats: 

Section 10-50.80.080.L Trailers, RV’s and Boats 
1. Parking or placement of a camping or vacation trailer, recreational vehicle, utility

trailer or boat in any zone for residential or storage purposes shall be prohibited 
except as determined by Subsection 2 below. 

2. A camping or vacation trailer, recreation vehicle, utility trailer, or boat may be stored
in the rear or interior side setback behind the front of the building, garage, or carport
on any parcel in any zone, provided that:

a. There is a principal use of the property, to which such storage would be
accessory;

b. No living quarters shall be maintained or any business conducted within a parked
or stored trailer or vehicle; and

c. The required parking on the parcel is maintained in addition to the area used for
the stored vehicle(s).

3. Overnight parking of travel trailers, motor homes, boats or other recreational vehicles
is prohibited in commercial zones where camping activities are not specifically
permitted by this Zoning Code. Owners of such properties shall be prohibited from
posting signs indicating that camping is permitted.

Residential Zones: The Code states that RVs, trailers, and boats may not be parked or 
placed for residential or storage purposes in any zone except as permitted under 
paragraph 2. Pursuant to paragraph 2, such vehicles may be stored inside yards behind 
the front of a residence or garage and rear yards subject to certain standards. RVs, 
trailer, and boats may not be stored in the front yard. During the year when the snow 



 Page 2 

ordinance is not in effect (April 2nd through October 31st), RVs, trailers, and other 
vehicles that are licensed and operable may be parked legally on the street. 
 
Staff does receive complaints from citizens about RV, trailer and boat parking.  They 
often provide a list of multiple properties that are not in compliance because a vehicle is 
parked in the driveway or other portion of the front setback.  It is not unusual to receive a 
list of 20-30 properties.  Staff investigates the properties to determine if a violation exists.  
Once confirmed, staff will contact the property owner with a door hanger and seek 
voluntary compliance.   
 
Staff also takes proactive steps to educate homeowners about the restrictions. In 2012, 
staff mailed over 400 letters to the Swiss Manor neighborhood to inform residents about 
the RV, boat and trailer parking requirements.  Similar mailings have been completed in 
University Heights and Upper Greenlaw.  The mailings generate a significant number of 
phone calls to clarify the rules and do result in increased compliance. 
 
One of the issues staff faces when enforcing the parking restrictions is that the current 
code language does not differentiate between storage and short term parking. Staff 
receives frequent complaints about short term parking of RVs while owners are actively 
using the vehicle, preparing for a trip, performing maintenance, or hosting an out of town 
guest with an RV. During the summer months when an RV, boat or trailer is being 
intermittently used, staff believes it is reasonable to allow short term parking in the 
driveway.  In addition, not all side yards are either wide enough or flat enough to allow 
for the parking of an RV, boat or trailer.  For these reasons, Staff has a number of ideas 
to improve the Zoning Code’s standards regarding the parking of RVs, trailers, and 
boats. These ideas will be presented as part of the Zoning Code amendments currently 
being presented to the Planning and Zoning Commission and will proceed to City 
Council.  The proposed amendments may include: 
 
1. A definition of short term parking and long term storage.  
 
2.   An illustration to clearly show where RVs, trailers and boats may be stored – in the 

side and rear yard only. 
 
3. A suggestion that long term storage may also be allowed on the side of the driveway 

between the driveway and the nearest property line generally in front of the side yard 
area. 

 
4. A standard that would allow RVs, trailers, and boats to be parked on a driveway or to 

the side of the driveway as described in #2 above for the purposes of loading, 
unloading, replenishing, maintenance and similar short term uses.  Consideration will 
be given to whether this should be limited to the time of year when the winter parking 
ordinance is not in effect, or whether it should be allowed year round. 

 
5. A standard that would allow for visitors to a residence to stay in their RV on the 

property, subject to certain standards. 
 
Commercial Zones: Paragraph 3 states that RVs and travel trailers may not be parked in 
commercial zones for the purposes of an overnight stay, and on a number of occasions 
staff has been asked to deal with this, especially at the Wal-Mart parking lots. Council 
held a work session on this topic in February 2014 and provided general direction to 
staff. As part of the Zoning Code amendments that will be presented to the Council after 
the summer recess, staff will present two options for the Council’s consideration, one to 



 Page 3 

allow overnight parking of RVs and travel trailers subject to specific standards, and an 
alternative that specifically prohibits such parking and that updates the definition of 
camping as it would be applied through the Zoning Code. 
 
RECOMMENDATION / CONCLUSION 
This report is for information only. 




















	Agenda
	Minutes
	Att1_10.11.2016.CCWS.Minutes
	Att2_10.18.2016.CCRM.Minutes
	Att3_10.25.2016.CCSMES.Minutes
	Liquor License Application for Patrick Flanigan, _Carmels Flagstaff_, Series 12, New License
	Att1_Carmels - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 12 Description
	Att4_Carmels - PD Memo
	Att5_Carmels - Code Memo
	Att6_Carmels - Tax Memo
	Att7_Carmels - Map
	Liquor License Application for Paul Moir, _Grand Canyon Cafe_, Series 12, New License
	Att1_Grand Canyon Cafe - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 12 Description
	Att4_Grand Canyon Cafe - PD Memo
	Att5_Grand Canyon Cafe - Code Memo
	Att6_Grand Canyon Cafe - Tax Memo
	Att7_Grand Canyon Cafe - Map
	Liquor License Application for Brent Schepper, _Fratelli Pizza_, Series 12, New License
	Att1_Fratelli - Letter to Applicant
	Att2_Hearing Procedures
	Att3_Series 12 Description
	Att4_Fratelli - PD Memo
	Att5_Fratelli - Code Memo
	Att6_Fratelli - Tax Memo
	Att7_Fratelli - Map
	Intergovernmental Agreement between City of Flagstaff and Northern Arizona University (Neighborhood Liaison)
	Att1_IGA
	Att2_Job Description
	Consideration and Approval of Purchase_  Two (2) Police Interceptor Utility Vehicles
	Att1_Planet Bids IFB2017-14
	Bomb Robot Upgrade
	Att1_Remotec Inc Qoute
	Att2_Sole Source Letter
	Consideration and Approval of Transaction Privilege (Sales) Tax Write-Offs
	Agreement with AZ Dept of Emergency and Military Affairs (ADEM) - Camp Navajo
	Att1_Interagency Agreement
	Wildfire Crew Operability
	Att1_SFandMD Crew IGA
	Att2_PFD Crew IGA
	Library RFID Project
	Att1_Tech Logic RFID Contract
	Att2_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit A
	Att3_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit B
	Att4_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit C
	Att5_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit E
	Att6_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit F
	Att7_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit G
	Att8_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit H
	Att9_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit I
	Att10_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit J
	Att11_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit K
	Att12_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit L
	Att13_Tech Logic RFID Contract - Exhibit M
	Att14_Library RFID Project PowerPoint
	Att15_Sole Source Justification
	Att16_Sole Source Attachment
	Coconino Ridge at Pine Canyon
	Att1_Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 1
	Att2_Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 2
	Att3_Coconino Ridge Final Plat Sheet 3
	Timber Sky Annexation
	Att1_Annexation Application
	Att2_PandZ Staff Report
	Att3_Annexation Legal Description
	Att4_Public Hearing Notice
	Att5_Letter from Coconino County
	Att6_Timber Sky Annexation Ordinance
	Timber Sky Concept Zoning Map Amendment
	Att1_Concept Zoning Map Amendment Application
	Att2_Planning and Zoning Commission Staff Report
	Att3_Project Narrative
	Att4_Concept Zoning Plan
	1 2016-08-12 TS Rezone Narrative Cover 11x17
	2 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 1 Cover
	3 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 2 Vicinity Map
	4 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 3 Context Analysis Map
	5 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 4 Site Analysis Map
	6 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 5 Concept Zone Plan
	7 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 6 Community Connectivity
	8 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 7 Utility & Drainage Plan
	9 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 8 Phasing Plan
	10 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 9 Residential Illustrations
	11 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 10 Commercial Illustrations
	12 2016-08-12 TS CZP Sheet 11 Commercial Site Plan

	Att5_Notice of Public Hearing
	Att6_FRP 2030 Applicable Goals and Policies
	Att7_FRP 2030 Map 7 Enlargement of subject property
	Att8_FRP 2030 Map 22 Enlargement of subject property
	Att9_FRP 2030 Map 25 Enlargement of subject property
	Att10_Citizen Participation Plan
	Exhibit B.pdf
	Slide Number 1


	Att11_Timber Sky Lighting Mitigation Standards
	Att12_Traffic Impact Analysis Exhibits
	Att13_ADOT Letter
	Att14_ADOT Timber Sky Traffic Mitigation Agreement
	Att15_Zoning Map Amendment Ordinance
	Att16_Development Agreement
	Authorization to enter into a purchase contract to acquire property along 4th Street for the construction of sidewalks
	Att1_Sidewalk Concept
	Att2_Purchase Agreement with John Beamer
	Att3_Ordinance 2016-40
	Att4_4th Street Sidewalk Acquisition location map
	Att5_Purchase agreement with Greenlaw Properties
	Res. Opposing Portion of Grand Canyon Backcountry Management Plan
	Att1_Res. 2016-36
	_2424
	Att1_Res. 2016-37
	SLEDS Status Update
	Att1_SLEDS RFP
	Att2_SLEDS Update PPT
	Review of Parking Requirements for 
	Att1_RV CCR 2016

